# PERCEPTIONS JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS

US Foreign Policy towards Northeast Asia Joel R. CAMPBELL

Japan's Security Policy towards East Asia Kaseda YOSHINORI

> Russia's East Asia Policy: New Opportunities and Challenges Anna KIREEVA

Recent Political Developments in Taiwan: Facing Beijing and Washington Wan-Chin TAI

Security Conditions and Regional Competition in East Asia: A South Korean

> Perspective Chong Jin OH

Turkey's East Asian Policy: From Security Concerns to Trade Partnership Selçuk ÇOLAKOĞLU

Turkey's Search for a "New" Subjectivity in World Politics and US- Turkish Relations Ali ASLAN

> Turkish Foreign Policy and the KRG Marianna CHAROUNTAKI

> Afghanistan: Human Cost of Armed Conflict since the Soviet Invasion Imtiyaz Gul KHAN

> > **Book Reviews**

Winter2012 Volume XVII - Number 4 ISSN 1300-8641

center for strategic research Republic of Turkey Ministry of Foreign Affair



# PERCEPTIONS

#### **Editor in Chief**

Bülent Aras

#### **Deputy Editors**

Şaban Kardaş • Mesut Özcan • Murat Yeşiltaş

#### **Book Review Editor**

Şule Toktaş

#### Managing Editor

Engin Karaca

#### **International Advisory Board**

Nuri Yurdusev	Middle East Technical
	University
Fuat Keyman	Sabancı University
Talip Küçükcan	Marmara University
Ayşe Kadıoğlu	Sabancı University
Mustafa Kibaroğlu	Okan University
Pınar Bilgin	Bilkent University
<b>Burhanettin Duran</b>	Istanbul Şehir University
Selçuk Çolakoğlu	Yıldırım Beyazıt University
Tuncay Kardaş	Sakarya University
Oktay Tanrısever	Middle East Technical
	University
Şaban Kardaş	TOBB-ETU
Mesut Özcan	Center for Strategic Research

Homepage: http://www.sam.gov.tr

The Center for Strategic Research (Stratejik Araştırmalar Merkezi-SAM) conducts research on Turkish foreign policy, regional studies and international relations, and makes scholarly and scientific assessments of relevant issues. It is a consultative body of the Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs providing strategic insights, independent data and analysis to decision makers in government. As a nonprofit organization, <u>SAM is chartered by law and has been active since May 1995</u>.

SAM publishes Perceptions, an English language journal on foreign affairs. The content of the journal ranges from security and democracy to conflict resolutions, and international challenges and opportunities. Perceptions is a quarterly journal prepared by a large network of affiliated scholars.

**PERCEPTIONS** is a peer-reviewed journal and is included in the following databases and indexes: CSA Index, Current Contents of Periodicals on the Middle East, EBSCO, Index Islamicus, International Political Science Abstracts (IPSA), Lancaster Index to Defense & International Security Literature, PAIS Index, Pro Quest, Turkish Academic Network and Information Center (TÜBİTAK - ULAKBIM).

To subscribe, write to the Center for Strategic Research, Dr. Sadık Ahmet Caddesi No: 8, Balgat / 06100 Ankara - TURKEY Phone: (+90 312) 292 40 76 - 292 22 30 Fax: (+90 312) 253 42 03 e-mail: perceptions@mfa.gov.tr

Printed in Ankara by: AFŞAROĞLU MATBAASI

# PERCEPTIONS JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS

Winter 2012 Volume XVII Number 4

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Editorial
3	US Foreign Policy towards Northeast Asia Joel R. CAMPBELL
27	Japan's Security Policy towards East Asia Kaseda YOSHINORI
49	Russia's East Asia Policy: New Opportunities and Challenges Anna KIREEVA
79	Recent Political Developments in Taiwan: Facing Beijing and Washington Wan-Chin TAI
105	Security Conditions and Regional Competition in East Asia after the New Millennium: A South Korean Perspective Chong Jin OH
129	Turkey's East Asian Policy: From Security Concerns to Trade Partnership Selçuk ÇOLAKOĞLU
159	The Foreign Policy- Hegemony Nexus: Turkey's Search for a "New" Subjectivity in World Politics and Its Implications for US- Turkish Relations
	Ali ASLAN
185	Turkish Foreign Policy and the Kurdistan Regional Government Marianna CHAROUNTAKI
209	Afghanistan: Human Cost of Armed Conflict since the Soviet Invasion
	Imtiyaz Gul KHAN
225	Book Reviews
-	PERCEPTIONS - Winter 2012



# Editorial

Perceptions continues publish to special issues on subjects and debates in international relations, and this issue and the next will focus on the international politics of East Asia. Member of our Editorial Board Selçuk Colakoğlu, managing editor Engin Karaca and I, have worked closely to collect valuable analyses on different dimensions of this topic. East Asia is at the centre of the scholarly debate and occupies a great deal of policy makers' time in different parts of the globe. The US's Asia pivot policy is a visible example of the policy interest in the region. The scholarly debate examines intra-regional relations and relations with outside actors. There is also a new debate on the role of East Asia in a new multilateral world order.

We will touch upon almost all of these topics in these two special issues on East Asia. The geographical distribution of the contributors is also representative of the subjects of these special issues. This first issue consists of six articles on the international politics of East Asia. Based on the historical evolution of the US becoming a major player in the Pacific region, Joel Campbell discusses the US's relations with the Asian countries of Japan, South Korea, China, and Taiwan. Concerning Sino-American relations, the author identifies a transformation from the reintegration of China into the global political economy to increased tensions, especially in strategic and economic issue areas, and also from America's unofficial relationship with Taiwan. Kaseda Yoshinori discusses Japan's realist foreign policy towards East Asia and looks at how Japan is strengthening its own missile capability, enhancing its alliance, and building new security ties with states that have similar security concerns.

Kireeva discusses Russia's Anna relations with China, examining how relations both relate to creating a new axis of power in the region and to Russia's policy in its own East Asian region. Kireeva argues that ASEAN's desire to welcome Russia as a balancer in the region which provides new opportunities for Russia to intensify its cooperation with East Asian countries. Considering the recent political developments in Taiwan, including the development of a weaker ruling party, Wan-Chin Tai discusses the major issues concerning Taiwan's relations with the United States, Japan and China. Chong Jin Oh discusses how the North Korean nuclear problem, the revision of the South Korean-US alliance, Japanese militarisation, and the

rise of China have overshadowed South Korea's emergence as an international player. Selçuk Çolakoğlu discusses the main determinants of Turkey's foreign policy towards East Asia with a focus on security concerns and economic interests, examining Turkish-East Asian relations in four historical periods, highlighting the basic characteristics of relations in each period.

In addition to the articles focusing on East Asia, there are two on Turkish foreign policy and one on Afghanistan. Ali Aslan uses post- foundational/poststructural analytical tools to study the nexus between hegemony and foreign policy in his article. He examines the transformation in Turkish-American relations in the two main periods since the AK Party came to power: the era of a "lack of understanding" between the years 2002 and 2006, and the era after the parties had come to a "new understanding" in 2006. Marianna Charountaki discusses the increasing importance of northern Iraq in regional politics and examines Turkey's recent foreign policy towards the Kurdistan Regional Government (KRG). On Afghanistan, Imtiyaz Gul Khan presents a comprehensive record of the impact of the conflicts on the country's human capital from the Soviet occupation up to the US invasion. Khan also examines how civilians have been affected from US and NATO operations.

The Center for Strategic Research (SAM) organises conferences, expert meetings and lectures with the participation of academics, experts and policy makers. SAM also publishes two other series, namely Vision Papers and SAM Papers. Vision Papers present primary information on Turkish foreign policy through the writings of Turkish Minister of Foreign Affairs Ahmet Davutoğlu. SAM Papers present highquality analysis by academics and policy makers. These publications and activities are accessible on our website, sam.gov.tr

Stay tuned for more!

**Bülent ARAS** Editor-in-Chief

# US Foreign Policy towards Northeast Asia

#### Joel R. CAMPBELL<sup>\*</sup>

#### Abstract

Since the mid-19th century, the US has been a Pacific power. Through three wars and the Cold War, America became a major regional player. Modern Japanese-American relations were shaped by the Cold War, and a strong political-military alliance served the geopolitical needs of both countries. As Japan's economy matured and its politics transformed in the 1990s, Tokyo sought greater political independence, and used an upgrading of the alliance as part of its effort to achieve the more "normal" status as a great power. US relations with South Korea have been driven by a shared perception of threat from North Korea. Since the Cold War, the nature of this threat has shifted from immediate concern about conflict to danger from an essentially failed state. Sino-American relations centre on the interaction of two great powers. China's quasi-alliance with the US and market-oriented reforms meant that the relationship in the 1980s centred on reintegration of China into the global political economy. Since the mid-1990s, Chind's "rise" has led to increased tensions, especially in strategic and economic issue areas. America's close but unofficial relationship with Taiwan remains an irritant to overall Chinese-American ties.

#### Key Words

Japanese-American relations, Japanese-American alliance, Korean-American relations, North Korea, Sino-American relations, Taiwan Strait issue.

#### Introduction

The date 7 December 2011 was the 70<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the surprise Japanese air attack on Pearl Harbor, Hawaii. That "day of infamy" long ago not only brought America into a global war, but propelled the US towards becoming the dominant military and political power in East Asia. US foreign policy in Asia was shaped by four wars, three hot and one cold. The outcome of the Second World War created a permanent American military presence in the region and transformed Japan into a key ally. The Korean War, America's first war fought entirely on the Asian mainland, saved South Korea, which became another US ally. It also created a defensive perimeter for the Cold War, in which the US faced down both the Soviet Union and the

<sup>\*</sup> Associate Professor in the Masters of Science of International Relations program of Troy University, teaching on the Pacific Region (Japan and Korea).

newly communist China. The Vietnam War, which has been perceived as a US loss, inserted America into Southeast Asian politics, with Japan as a key staging area. Two more recent wars, in Afghanistan and Iraq, relied on Japanese bases for supply and training.

The outcome of the Second World War created a permanent American military presence in the region and transformed Japan into a key ally.

Post-Vietnam US foreign policy downplayed East Asia. America withdrew from mainland Southeast Asia in the 1970s, and lost its Philippine bases by 1991. China aligned itself with America in the latter days of the Cold War, while it introduced economic reforms and opened up to foreign trade and investment. The end of the Cold War eased regional tensions, with only the Korean peninsula remaining a flashpoint. Japan continued to rely on American defence guarantees as a foundation of its own foreign policy, but its outsized economic presence in the 1980s seemed on the wane by the mid-1990s.

America has long seen itself as a Pacific power, and a key goal of US foreign policy has been to prevent any major power or combination of powers gaining control of Eurasia.1 Much was made of the Obama administration's "pivot" from South Asia and the Middle East to the Asia-Pacific in 2011. The President spent most of last November bolstering US trade, political, and military ties in the region. The US hosted the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation forum (APEC) summit in Hawaii. Obama's opening address noted that "the Asia Pacific region is absolutely critical to America's economic growth... we consider it a top priority."2 He promoted the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP), a free trade area that would span the Pacific, which is in preliminary negotiations and has been signed up to by Australia, Malaysia, New Zealand, Singapore, and Vietnam (Japan, Canada, and Mexico have expressed interest in joining the talks). Visiting Australia, Obama joined with Prime Minister Julia Gillard to reaffirm their alliance, and both agreed that 2,500 US Marines would begin rotating through an Australian base near Darwin. His speech to the Australian parliament focused on freedom, some observers viewing this as an obvious contrast with China. He then attended the East Asia Summit in Indonesia, where he announced that the US was considering normalising relations with Burma/Myanmar, based on the military government's recent preliminary reforms. Secretary of State Hillary Clinton quickly visited Yangon,

and met with both the leaders of the ruling junta and opposition leader Aung San Suu Kyi.<sup>3</sup>

The first week of 2012, accompanied by Defence Secretary Leon Panetta, Obama announced a new military strategy to support this Asia pivot. America would draw down forces stationed in Europe and reduce its overall military strength, while maintaining force levels in East Asia and deploying US Marines to the Philippines and Thailand.

America has long seen itself as a Pacific power, and a key goal of US foreign policy has been to prevent any major power or combination of powers gaining control of Eurasia.

This article surveys American foreign policy in Northeast Asia since the Cold War, focusing on shared history and current issues. It discusses relations with four key states or entities: Japan, the Republic of Korea (hereafter called Korea), China, and Taiwan. It suggests that Asia is once again becoming central to US policy. The Obama administration's recent "pivot" to Asia is only the latest manifestation of American preoccupation with the region, and heralds an enhanced role for Asia in American thinking over the next decade.

# US-Japanese Relations A History of Mutual Dependence

The United States and Japan first encountered each other as mid-19th century rising Pacific powers. The US sought to open Japan ostensibly to establish ports of call for American whaling ships, and to promote Asian trade. It was also a way to insert itself into the imperialistic politics of Asia. Japan was perhaps fortunate that a relatively small power like the US came to call in 1853, rather than the hegemonic Great Britain, which was preoccupied with its efforts to dominate India and China. It took the Japanese 15 years to fully decide how to respond to Western encroachment, but the Meiji Restoration in 1868 thrust Japan into the modern world along a path of economic and political modernisation. At first, America viewed Japan's transformation positively, as a nation replicating the Anglo-Saxon model, and as a counter to Russia and a collapsing China.4

America's positive view gradually changed as Japan aggressively entered the Asia imperialism game. Unlike European powers, Japan's colonial efforts were mostly contiguous, creating immediate tension with other Asian countries. America protested Japan's moves into China in the 1930s, and rising bilateral tension culminated in the attack on Pearl Harbor. Japan greatly miscalculated American willingness to fight, and paid dearly for it. The subsequent Pacific War (1941-1945) was marked by intense brutality, and ended in Japan's overwhelming defeat. The crushing nature of the victory, followed by the benevolence of the occupation, helped make Japan's political and economic transformation relatively smooth.<sup>5</sup>

Unlike European powers, Japan's colonial efforts were mostly contiguous, creating immediate tension with other Asian countries.

Japan emerged as America's key Asian ally in the 1950s. The first key event that shaped the relationship was the San Francisco Treaty of 1951 which restored Japan's sovereignty after the American occupation; along with the later Mutual Security Treaty, it made Japan America's junior partner in East Asia.6 The alliance was based on three implicit understandings: Japan would accept an inferior position in return for an American guarantee of its security, Japan would concentrate on economic development and gain access to the US market, and Japan could have a degree of independence in its foreign policy but would do nothing that would challenge the new regional order in Asia or US

hegemonic leadership.7 This trade-off became known as the Yoshida Doctrine after Prime Minister Yoshida Shigeru, and which stated that the US would lead in the security area, and Japan would concentrate on developing its economy. A second key event was the 1960 renewal of the Mutual Security Treaty which, despite anti-treaty riots, put security ties on a more permanent basis.8 The relationship held through a number of challenges, notably the drawn out reversion of Okinawa, popular opposition to the Vietnam War, and the "Nixon Shocks" of the early 1970s (Nixon slapped punitive tariffs on Japanese exports, and decided to forge a quasi-alliance with China without informing Japanese leaders).

As Japan became one of the world's largest economies in the 1970s, the bifurcated nature of the relationship became painfully clear. While Japan continued to defer to the US on regional and global security, and remained a steadfast Cold War ally, Japanese neomercantilist exports and predatory business behaviour created huge trade surpluses with the US, helped destroy several key American industries, and led to a number of high-profile takeovers of American companies. "Trade friction" reached a peak in the mid-1980s, as American calls for appreciation of the undervalued yen led to the Plaza Accord in 1985. Japanese banks and industrial

firms began to recycle export earnings to the US economy, and Japan became America's leading creditor.

The alliance faced its greatest post-Cold War test (and third key event) not in East Asia but in the Middle East. During the 1991 Gulf War, Japan was roundly criticised by American lawmakers and pundits for its failure to robustly support the American-led alliance. Tokyo belatedly pledged US \$4 billion (with an additional US \$9 billion later) to help defray the US \$500 million daily war costs, and dispatched a mine sweeper to the Persian Gulf after the war had ended. Responding to international criticism, Japan within two years undertook two major changes: it markedly increased financial support for US forces in Japan, and committed to joining UN peacekeeping operations. After its first successful postwar overseas troop deployment in Cambodia (1992-1993), it participated in UN operations in several other countries.9

### Upgrading the Partnership

A fourth key episode was the drafting of bilateral defence guidelines in 1997. Earlier agreements from the 1970s stated that Japan would build up sufficient forces to provide its own self-defence, though the Japanese Self-Defence Force (SDF) would carry out most of its operations within the land and territorial

waters of Japan, and would only work with American forces in functional areas such as operations, logistics, and intelligence. After a three-year process, Tokyo and Washington specified conditions under which the two nations would jointly operate in future conflicts. The two militaries would now cooperate in peacetime conditions, would work together to thwart attacks on the Japanese homeland, and would react to regional threats that could affect Japan's security. They also listed new areas of cooperation, such as relief operations of US forces, support in rear areas, and joint work on operations.<sup>10</sup>

As Japan became one of the world's largest economies in the 1970s, the bifurcated nature of the relationship became painfully clear.

Beginning in the 1960s, various leaders in the Japanese Liberal Democratic Party (LDP), the governing party at the time, sought ways to achieve two goals: greater independence for Japanese foreign policy and more equality in Japanese-American relations. Comprehensive security was an effort in the 1970s to give Japan more breathing room in an era of oil shortages. Meanwhile, Tokyo became a more active partner with America. By the 1970s, Japan funded 75 % of the costs of the US

bases in Japan, and had enacted a range of legal measures to support US forces. Japan's fading economic pre-eminence and China's rising economic power meant that Japan received less attention from American political leaders, and "Japan bashing" gave way to "Japan passing" in recent years. Domestic political changes in Japan in the 1990s, including the meltdown of the pacifist Socialist Party, allowed conservative leaders to promote the notion of Japan as a "normal nation," in other words one that could project its own military might as a great power. The ascent of Koizumi Junichiro to the premiership was a game-changer in that it brought a full upgrading of the Japanese-American relationship. Koizumi believed that the 9/11 attacks created a new global security reality, and that participation in the US-led coalition in Afghanistan would provide an opportunity for Japan to attain both greater independence and equality with America. Koizumi was one of the first allies to pledge support for the US campaign. He pushed the Anti-Terrorism Special Measures Law through the Diet, the Japanese parliament, in October 2001, and then sent Maritime Self-Defence ships to the Indian Ocean in support of the war.<sup>11</sup>

The Iraq War two years later provided an even more potent opportunity for Koizumi to boost ties with Washington. One of the few American allies to

pledge support in this war, Koizumi agreed to send an SDF force to do humanitarian and reconstruction work in Iraq. Koizumi was lucky that there were no casualties, and the two-year deployment took place with only mild protests in Japan.<sup>12</sup> Koizumi and US President George W. Bush also generally agreed about the need to put pressure on North Korea about its nuclear weapons programme, and both were equally alarmed about the Chinese military build up. As long as Bush, Koizumi, and Koizumi's LDP successors were in office, the relationship remained fairly close, though disagreements over North Korea surfaced when the US's hard-line stance did not produce tangible results (Japanese leaders were encouraged when Bush's team made some temporary progress with Pyongyang during his last 18 months in office). The two governments made headway on realignment of US bases to limit their impact on Okinawa, the creation of a ballistic missile defence system for Japan, and on allowing Japanese SDF a stronger role in national defence.13 The two governments also worked together on a range of security issues, such as ballistic missile defence, maritime security, and inter-operability of defence systems.14

Perhaps the biggest recent challenge to the bilateral relationship was the landslide victory of the Japanese opposition party, the Democratic Party of Japan (DPJ), in September 2009. The DPJ platform called for major changes in the alliance, such as gaining more equality in the relationship, promoting stronger regional ties, and lessening the impact of American bases on Okinawa. Once Hatoyama Yukio took office as prime minister, bilateral tensions mounted.<sup>15</sup> However, Japanese people gave the LDP a landslide victory, ejecting the DPJ from power after three years during the general election on 16 December 2012. Japan's recently elected Prime Minister Shinzo Abe met with President Barack Obama on 22 February 2013 in Washington, seeking to reinforce US-Japanese relations in a time of high tensions for Japan, caused by a territorial dispute between Japan and China over the Senkaku/Diaoyu Islands in the East China sea, and a North Korean nuclear test. At the summit with Abe, Obama called the alliance with Japan the central foundation of U.S. policy on Asia.<sup>16</sup>

#### Futenma

The Futenma issue encapsulates those unresolved tensions in Japanese-American relations. Sixty years after the postwar occupation of Japan ended, Japan still depends on American security guarantees, and a large American military presence remains, but it does not sit easily there. Unwilling to accept large numbers of American military

personnel in mainland Japan, Tokyo prefers basing in the southern island prefecture of Okinawa. Over 70 % of US forces stationed in Japan are based there, and bases take up around 30 % of land on the tiny island. Due in part to a string of crimes and various accidents involving US service personnel, there is significant opposition to the bases on the island. While many Okinawans work on the bases, large numbers of people would like to reduce the impact of US operations, and eventually move American bases off the island. After a 1995 rape of a 12 year-old girl by three US servicemen, which sparked mass protests throughout the country, President Bill Clinton and Prime Minister Hashimoto Ryutaro promised to reduce the American "footprint" on the island. Tokyo and Washington later agreed to move 8,000 US Marines to Guam, and to relocate the Futenma Marine Air Station from its urban location to Henoko in northern Okinawa.17

The Okinawan prefectural government, along with local environmental activists, has long pressed for the closing of Futenma without relocation to Henoko. LDP leaders were committed to the agreement, but in 2009 the DPJ came to power promising to reopen the issue. The Obama administration dug in its heels, and Secretary of Defence Robert Gates insisted that the agreement would not be renegotiated. Prime Minister Hatoyama

was unable to convince the prefectural leaders to accept the agreement, his position became politically untenable, and he resigned after only nine months in office. The fiasco indicated a clear political failure by the DPJ to transform the incident: attempting to follow public opinion on the issue, it politicised security policymaking, but was not able to come up with coherent policy alternatives, and bilateral security policy outcomes remained largely unchanged.18 Curtis, for one, suggests that the Obama administration deserves much of the blame for the crisis, especially for Secretary of Defence Robert Gates putting pressure on Hatoyama's government immediately after the election, and then Obama's reluctance to help the prime minister as he began to flounder.<sup>19</sup> The Futenma agreement remains in place but, 16 years after the rape incident, it is uncertain when the base will be moved.

#### Recent Issues

The 11 March 2011 earthquake, tsunami and nuclear disaster precipitated the worst humanitarian and political crisis in Japan of the postwar era. The impact on an already struggling Japanese economy was incalculable, and the sluggish handling of the crisis led to the downfall of Kan Naoto, Hatoyama's successor as prime minister. Ironically, the

disaster's aftermath marked an upswing in US-Japanese relations as American military units stationed in Japan assisted in relief operations in the Tohoku region (called Operation Tomodachi, or "friend"), and US government agencies advised their Japanese counterparts on dealing with the crippled Fukushima Daiichi nuclear plant. Overall relations had been improving since mid-2010, when a Chinese fishing trawler rammed a Japan Coast Guard vessel in the East China Sea. A mini-crisis over Japan's holding of the boat's captain was averted when Kan agreed to return him to China, but this hurt the prime minister's public approval. Suddenly, Tokyo's old fear of a rising China trumped any desire to equalise relations with America, and the DPJ government began to realise the value of the alliance.<sup>20</sup>

Tokyo and Washington have discussed new frameworks for cooperation, including to take bilateral agreement issues to the World Trade Organisation (WTO), drafting new sector-specific agreements, and creating a bilateral free trade agreement (FTA).

Japanese and American policymakers have worked to reduce economic

US Foreign Policy towards Northeast Asia

friction over the past decade, and have cooperated on economic recovery since the 2008-2009 global recession. Gone were the high-profile trade disputes of the 1980s and 1990s, despite continued Japanese trade surpluses, and Tokyo did not protest the Obama administration's efforts to revive the American automobile industry. Japan has attempted no major devaluation of its currency to take advantage of the recession, and continued its conservative monetary and fiscal policy. Tokyo and Washington have discussed new frameworks for cooperation, including agreement to take bilateral issues to the World Trade Organisation (WTO), drafting new sector-specific agreements, and creating a bilateral free trade agreement (FTA).<sup>21</sup>

Obama's policy pivot to Asia was taken in part to reassure Japanese leaders, especially DPJ leaders who felt that the US had sabotaged Hatoyama over the Futenma issue. Obama sees the Japan alliance as bedrock for his Asia policy, since American forces will continue to be based in Japan for the long term. For their part, Japan's DPJ leadership by 2011 seemed much more willing to cooperate with the US on Asia-Pacific regional and security issues. Japan's January 2012 announcement that it wished to join multilateral negotiations on the TPP indicated that the DPJ had embraced the LDP policy to link efforts towards regional integration to continued strong trade ties with the US. The need to keep diversified trade relations became manifest in late 2011 and early 2012, as increased energy imports due to a posttsunami nuclear shutdown combined with softness in the Chinese market caused Japan to run its first general trade deficits in a generation.

## US-South Korean Relations A Shared Threat Relationship

America's relations with South Korea are a bond forged in blood, and are dominated by one issue: the threat to the South from North Korea. US troops occupied the southern half of the peninsula at the end of the Second World War, while the Soviet army took the northern half. The wartime allies agreed that the two halves would be reunited into a democratic Korea, but they could never agree on the terms under which an election would take place. In 1948, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK) under the Soviet-installed leader Kim Il Sung, and the Republic of Korea (ROK) under the authoritarian Syngman Rhee (Lee Sung Man) began as separate states. Soviet and American forces withdrew from the peninsula, and the Americans unintentionally signalled that they would not defend the South if it was attacked. North Korea invaded the ROK in June 1950 and the Truman administration quickly intervened in

the conflict. The ensuing Korean War lasted over three years, taking the lives of over one million Koreans, perhaps 300,000 Chinese, and more than 33,000 Americans.

With the collapse of the Soviet Union in 1991, North Korea lost its most important source of foreign aid and trade, and its economy cratered.

When the war ended in the stalemate of an armistice, American troops remained in the impoverished South, which was incorporated into the US-East Asian alliance. Like Japan, the ROK signed a mutual security treaty with Washington, and America provided heavy military and economic aid to the struggling country. Since the 1950s, the primary motivation of the Korean-American alliance has been to prevent another North Korean attack on the South. Unlike Japan, South Korea faced an antagonistic state bound on its destruction across a heavily fortified border, the ironically named Demilitarised Zone (DMZ). Outside threats to the country were more immediate, and the American role in the defence of the country more heavy handed and direct. American forces were intended as a "trip-wire," i.e., sufficiently large that Pyongyang would always know that, in the event of another Korean war, they would again face overwhelming American firepower. This deterrence has apparently worked. Despite various attempts to destabilise the South with infiltration, assassination attempts and terrorist acts, North Korea has never mounted a sustained breach of the armistice, at least until two serious incidents in 2010.

Also unlike Japan, Korean politics remained authoritarian under Rhee's traditional strong-man government until 1960, and then under the military governments of Park Chung Hee and Chun Doo Hwan from 1961 until 1987. However, Korea followed a Japanesestyle state-led, export-oriented growth path, and its economy took off in the 1960s, achieving very high growth rates in the 1970s and 1980s and becoming one of the prosperous East Asian "Tiger" economies (or newly industrialising economies). As with Japan before it, bilateral trade issues emerged as sources of friction from the 1980s onward. Trade disputes have been generally more muted than those with Japan, and the two allies concluded a free trade agreement in 2007 (see below).

With the collapse of the Soviet Union in 1991, North Korea lost its most important source of foreign aid and trade, and its economy cratered. The nature of the northern threat now shifted, as the DPRK was now trapped in its own selfreliance (Juche) ideology and seemed like a dangerous wounded animal. It was at this point that the North began to develop nuclear weapons, leading to the first nuclear crisis in 1994. This was defused with the Agreed Framework, by which Pyongyang would give up its weapons programme in return for a non-weapons grade reactor and a supply of fuel oil. In the midst of the crisis, Kim Il Sung died, leaving the country in the hands of his son, Kim Jong Il. A subsequent crisis over missile development led to another deal in 1998. Due to poor agricultural practices, the country descended into a prolonged famine, but the Clinton administration made progress towards normalisation of relations in its last year. The South Korean governments of Kim Dae Jung and Roh Moo Hyun tried to engage the North through their "Sunshine Policy," but it produced limited results.<sup>22</sup>

The George W. Bush administration was uninterested in accommodation with Pyongyang, and saw North Korea as regional threat equal to that of Iraq or Iran in the Middle East. The North's admission that it was refining uranium sparked a long-running second nuclear dispute. The DPRK claimed that it tested its first nuclear device in 2006, and experts debated over whether the country might already possess several weapons. Bush's insistence that the communist regime agree to give up nuclear development as a precondition for bilateral talks accomplished little, and so American negotiators tried informal bilateral talks, leading to the North's agreeing to dismantle its nuclear facilities. The Obama administration refused to follow what it viewed as largely reactive approaches of Clinton and Bush. North Korea reacted to perceived US indifference by going back on the nuclear deal, and a series of provocations, including another nuclear test in 2009, the sinking of the ROK corvette Cheonan in early 2010, and shelling of ROK-controlled Yeongpyeong Island off the west coast at the end of the year.<sup>23</sup>

#### Current US-Korean Issues

The Bush administration concluded a free trade agreement (FTA) with Korea in June 2007. Despite significant opposition in both countries, the agreement was ratified by the US Congress in October 2011 and by the Korean National Assembly the next month. The FTA is the largest for the US outside North America, and significantly lowers tariffs and encourages lessened regulation of key sectors such as automobiles and beef. Within five years, the agreement will eliminate tariffs on 95 % of traded goods, and both sides committed to opening up trade in services.<sup>24</sup> Implementing the agreement in ways that avoid protectionism on either side will test the agreement going forward.

North Korea remains the most important concern between the two allies. While liberals Kim Dae Jung and Roh Moo Hyun publicly opposed Bush's hard-line approach, Lee Myung Bak has been eager to work with both Republican and Democratic administrations, and his approach to Pyongyang parallels that of the Obama administration. Both leaders have insisted that they will not reward the North for provocations, and will insist on good-faith negotiations through established north-south and six-party talks mechanisms. Since the Youngpyoung Island incident, Lee has maintained a hard-line stance towards North Korea, but support for his ruling Grand National Party (renamed the Saenuri, or New Frontier, Party in February 2012) has fallen.<sup>25</sup>

According to a Council on Foreign Relations (CFR) task force, the North's nuclear stockpile represents the "gravest threat" in the region, and this includes multiple problems: the nuclear devices themselves, their relationship with advanced missile technology, and chances that nuclear technology or materials might be given to other nations or groups, especially in the Middle East. The task force noted that these issues have become more difficult due to an "unpredictable" and "reclusive" regime whose future is uncertain, and progress in persuading that regime to give up its nuclear programme has been "elusive," as the six-party talks have remained stalled since 2008. The CFR called on the Obama administration to use a combination of sanctions, incentives, "sustained political pressure," and cooperation with China to achieve the goal of denuclearisation.<sup>26</sup>

Both leaders have insisted that they will not reward the North for provocations, and will insist on good-faith negotiations through established north-south and six-party talks mechanisms.

North Korea's medium and longrange missiles also remain a concern to both allies. Pyongyang has substantially upgraded its missile arsenal since an earlier agreement with the Clinton administration in 1998 to curb development. The DPRK may have 800-1,000 medium-range missiles, including 600-plus Scud-types and 200 Nodongs, which were developed by the North on its own. It has made progress with its long-range Taepodong-2 missile, tests for which were only partially successful in 2006 and 2008. Most worrying for the US, the North tested the very longrange Unha-2 missile, which could reach the western half of the continental US in 2009. The North has also exported its Nodong technology, and Pakistani Ghauri and Iranian Shahab rockets are based on it.<sup>27</sup>

Ultimately, many observers note. comprehensive negotiations with Pyongyang may be needed. Perhaps the most effective approach would be a "package deal" in which the DPRK would trade its nuclear weapons (and maybe missile development and a basket of market-oriented reforms) for recognition, aid, and non-aggression pledges from South Korea, Japan, and the US. The North's desire for regime survival may be key to its embrace of such an approach, and China's involvement in such negotiations could help reassure of continued Pyongyang political support during implementation.<sup>28</sup>

# US-Chinese Relations Love and Loathing Between Two Great Powers

For 2,000 years of its long history, China was the predominant East Asian power, and most countries on China's borders acknowledged the "Middle Kingdom" and its emperor as their suzerain. Due to population pressures, economic stagnation, and gradual encroachment of Western powers, that dominance waned during the "century of shame" from 1839 to 1949. The 1911-1912 revolution easily swept aside the Qing dynasty, but the successor republican government was unable to consolidate political power until the 1930s. Just as that was happening, Japan conquered much of the industrial and agricultural heartland of the country, eventually plunging China into the Second World War.

Most worrying for the US, the North tested the very longrange Unha-2 missile, which could reach the western half of the continental US in 2009.

By contrast, the young and dynamic United States expanded across the North American continent, enjoyed heady economic growth averaging roughly 4 % per year, built the world's largest industrial structure, became the world's leading economic and military power by 1945, and led the Western allies to victory in the Second World War. Unlike the other Western powers, America never made any territorial claims in China. Benefiting from the "China trade," it pushed for an evenhanded "Open Door" policy in China. During the Second World War, US air and ground forces fought alongside the Chinese army, American aid propped up the Chinese economy, and US advisors assisted Communist forces in the north.

The sudden triumph of Mao Zedong's Communists in the civil war (1947-1949) shocked the Americans and, in the tense climate of the early Cold War, conservatives questioned "who lost China?" The massive corruption and ineptitude of the ruling Guomindang party (the Nationalist party) virtually guaranteed their ousting, but the "fall" of China seemed like a major defeat in the developing global struggle. There were then two Chinas: the Peoples Republic of China (PRC) on the mainland and ruled by the Communist Party, and the Republic of China on Taiwan ruled by the Guomindang. American and Chinese forces battled each other in the Korean War and, as a result, the two countries had no formal relations for over 20 years and the US fully embraced Guomindang-ruled Taiwan. A low point in Sino-American ties came at the 1954 Geneva Conference on Indochina, when US Secretary of State John Foster Dulles reportedly refused to shake hands with Chinese Premier Zhou En-lai. The two countries also faced off in two crises in the 1950s over the Taiwan Strait. American elites and public viewed China as part of a Communist monolith, and were slow to grasp a growing rift between the Soviets and Chinese. The John F. Kennedy administration even contemplated bombing China's nuclear weapons facilities.29

The election of Richard Nixon as US president changed everything. Nixon

had been one of the most ardent Cold Warriors, often lambasting "Red China," during the 1950s. By 1968, the realist Nixon saw an opportunity to exploit a growing Sino-Soviet rift and create a triangular diplomacy that would allow the US to manage great power relations, nudge the Soviets towards negotiation in the superpower arms race, and allow a political settlement of the Vietnam War, which had become a US quagmire. For China's leaders, re-establishing relations with Washington could gain valuable manoeuvring room and relieve Soviet pressure (the two Communist giants fought a brief border war in 1969, and Nixon insisted that the Soviets back off from a full-blown attack on China). Beijing and Washington cautiously edged towards rapprochement, culminating in Nixon's visit to China in 1972. On the trip's final day, the two sides issued the Shanghai Communiqué, which became the basis for all subsequent Sino-American relations. It called for the two sides to work towards normalised relations, for the US to accept Beijing's One China concept (i.e., that the PRC allows for only one China, either in Beijing or Taipei, to have diplomatic recognition), and for Taiwan's status to be resolved peacefully. Americans now viewed China quite favourably, business ties began to grow, and bilateral good feelings lasted well into the 1980s.

Jimmy Carter took the next step by formally recognising the People's Republic of China in 1979, and ending formal ties with Taiwan. China quickly became a quasi-ally of the US, and the two nations' militaries shared intelligence. Ronald Reagan, who had been one of Taiwan's staunchest defenders, as president accepted the alliance with China in the interest of defeating the Soviets in the Cold War. Trade and other bilateral tensions emerged, and the Communist Party remained determined to hold onto its political power monopoly.

Nixon had been one of the most ardent Cold Warriors, often lambasting "Red China," during the 1950s.

Both powers gained significantly from rapprochement. The US got China to abandon the path of revolutionary change abroad, and to focus on tradefriendly, market-friendly economic development. Beijing also obtained US assistance to re-enter the global economy. Deng Xiaoping's "reform and opening" policies created a hybrid socialist-capitalist economy that became a major trading nation and one of the world's largest economies. The quasialliance also helped bolster America's "weakened position" in Asia, and to step up containment of the Soviet Union in the wake of the perceived loss in Vietnam War. China got to be taken seriously as America's partner in the Cold War, and the Chinese pressure on the Soviets may have hastened the end of the global conflict.<sup>30</sup>

The 1989 bloody crackdown on prodemocracy protesters in Beijing was a major turning point, as it forced a reassessment on both sides of the Pacific. George H.W. Bush, another realist, tried to continue the relationship, but highlevel contacts remained largely frozen. His successor, Bill Clinton, came to office with promises to get tough on human rights but, in his second term, moved to create a "strategic partnership" on trade and security and pushed for Chinese membership in the WTO. George W. Bush faced a mini-crisis only three months into his term when a US spy plane was forced to land on Hainan Island. The issue was hastily defused, and bilateral relations quickly warmed up after the 9/11 attacks. China was one of the first countries to support the Bush administration's "Global War on Terrorism". In return for support of American efforts in South Asia and the Middle East, the US took no action against China for its suppression of Uighur nationalists in the western Xinjiang province, and issued relatively mild condemnations of a 2008 Chinese

crackdown in Tibet. During the Bush years, there was a good deal of discussion of the implications of the "rise of China". Much of the American elite reacted negatively to China's semi-official notion of a "peaceful rise", which Hu Jintao then reformulated as a "harmonious international society". A number of bilateral strains began to surface in 2004-2005, including American concern over China's overtures to the Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) member countries and Latin America.<sup>31</sup>

# Current and Emerging Bilateral Issues

The Obama administration has taken a harder line with China since early 2011. China has done a "range of things," asserted Obama in his press conference after the APEC meeting, "that disadvantage not just the United States but a whole host of their trading partners in the region... enough is enough."32 The US has been particularly concerned by China's assertion of territorial claims in the East and South China Seas, and its refusal to condemn its North Korean ally after Pyongyang's 2010 provocations. American officials also have expressed alarm over China's military build-up and double-digit spending increases since the early 1990s,33 while concern about Chinese suppression of human rights and religious freedom is never far from the surface.

Despite these recent strains, China has generally adopted a conciliatory foreign policy line over the past 20 years, focused on improving relations with both regional neighbours and the US, and robust multilateralism. China now cooperates more completely with international non-proliferation initiatives.<sup>34</sup> It has also resorted to use of "positive nationalism," which is much more pragmatically and is economically oriented, yet is more harshly reactive and defensive than its ideological Maoist counterpart.35 This nationalism has often impacted relations with other major powers, most notably in the anti-American protests after the bombing of the Chinese embassy in Serbia during the Kosovo War (1999).

China has generally adopted a conciliatory foreign policy line over the past 20 years, focused on improving relations with both regional neighbours and the US, and robust multilateralism.

China's "peaceful rise" has enhanced its ability to use soft power and economic power to reassure neighbours and make friends in both developing and developed countries.<sup>36</sup> The "unrestricted" nature of China's economic aid and loans, i.e., with no political conditions attached, has gained it many potential allies in Africa and Latin America. China's huge state-owned enterprises and sovereign wealth funds, with vast funds and no shareholder accountability, can sustain losses for extended periods. Even so, China may not yet be completely competitive with the US and its Western allies, since it has a "narrower base" and limited experience abroad. The latter has led to various socio-cultural conflicts and misunderstandings, especially in Africa.<sup>37</sup>

America's China policy is continually constrained by economic interdependence. US officials upbraid China on a range of issues beyond China's growing trade surplus, such as its undervalued currency, the yuan, limited intellectual property protection, curbs on rare earth exports, and various forms of protectionism. For its part, China accuses the US of heightened protectionism since the financial crisis. However, America cannot afford to alienate the Middle Kingdom, due to continued reliance on China to fund its budget deficits and to fuel its stock markets. American companies depend on China as a manufacturing platform and market. The 2008 financial crisis was a chance to get China to partially coordinate its economic policies with the US.38 The centrality of the Sino-American economic relationship has led various pundits to suggest that the two countries would shape the management of the globalised economy through a "G-2" arrangement. Given obviously diverging interests on such matters as climate change and global governance, that is probably fanciful, but the notion underlines the importance of bilateral economic ties.

The centrality of the Sino-American economic relationship has led various pundits to suggest that the two countries would shape the management of the globalised economy through a "G-2" arrangement.

A recent Beijing foreign policy white paper noted that the external environment is becoming more challenging and, like America, sees the Korean peninsula as one of the most troublesome. To be sure, 21st century great power competition in East Asia will be largely shaped by Sino-American competition. The question is whether this will result in a second Cold War, or even military conflict. China clearly seeks a return to its traditional dominance of East Asia, and this could undoubtedly create tensions with three other regional powers, namely the US, Japan, and India. Beijing hopes gradually to push the US out of what it calls the first island chain (the Ryukyus), to the second chain (the Marianas), and eventually the third chain (Hawaii). As a Pacific power, America has no intention of pulling back from the Ryukyus for the foreseeable future, and it would never leave US territories in the Marianas. Obama announced at the 2009 ASEAN Regional Forum a return to Southeast Asia, and has opposed Chinese moves in the South China Sea.<sup>39</sup> The challenge for China is to improve its constrained geostrategic position while not openly threatening either neighbours or America, and the challenge for America is to maintain its forward position in East Asia and robust economic ties with China while avoiding great power conflict in the region or globally.

### America and Taiwan: A Special Relationship

The thorniest issue between the US and the PRC has always been Taiwan. Though it has had no diplomatic relations with the US since 1979, the island enjoys a particularly close informal relationship with the US that shares similarities with the even but formal Israeli-American closer relationship. Both Taiwan and Israel are small, politically isolated, embattled states facing larger hostile powers within their respective regions. Both countries have been, to varying degrees, shunned by some of the international community, in Taiwan's case maintaining diplomatic recognition with only 23 nations, mostly aid-seeking states in Central America, the Caribbean, and West Africa. Both countries have depended on US military aid and economic assistance (access to US markets and investment, along with sales of military equipment for Taiwan). Both have long been protected by powerful political lobbies and bipartisan political coalitions in Washington, the longstanding "China lobby" and conservative Republicans in Taiwan's case.

The Taiwan relationship traces its roots to Americans' sentimental attachment to "Free China" before 1949. American traders, missionaries, and writers presented the Chinese as a noble people that needed to be saved from war and poverty. During the Second World War, the Guomindang regime of Chiang Kaishek appeared in American propaganda as a stalwart ally, and the Truman administration outraged conservatives by cutting off military aid during the subsequent civil war, but quickly embraced the Guomindang during the Korean War.

With US support, Taiwan retained China's seat on the UN Security Council for a generation. US forces were stationed in Taiwan, and the Seventh Fleet patrolled the Taiwan Strait. All this suddenly changed in 1971, when America did not oppose a resolution to give China's seat to the PRC (Taiwan walked out of the General Assembly before the vote). As the price for US recognition of the PRC in 1979, Congress passed the Taiwan Relations Act. This legislation specified that America would continue informal relations with Taiwan. and guaranteed that the island would continue to be supplied with the latest military hardware so that it could keep up with the mainland. Military sales to the Taiwan have been a constant source of strain with Beijing. Approving a moderate US \$5.85 billion sales package in September 2011, Obama attempted to satisfy Taiwan while not antagonising China<sup>40</sup>

Like Korea, Taiwan became a dynamo industrial and high tech economy, and its IT industry was heavily tied to America's Silicon Valley.

As Sino-American relations warmed, American interest in Taiwan cooled only slightly. Like Korea, Taiwan became a dynamo industrial and high tech economy, and its IT industry was heavily tied to America's Silicon Valley. The island gained much legitimacy with Americans by becoming (also like Korea) a full-fledged democracy in the 1990s. The Taiwanese issue came to the fore again in 1995, when the Clinton

**Taiwan's** administration permitted President Lee Teng Hui to visit his alma mater, Cornell University. Beijing was outraged, since it seemed like an American acknowledgement of Taiwan officialdom, and this led directly to the third Taiwan Strait crisis the next year: China tested missiles and conducted war games, as two US aircraft carrier groups patrolled north and south of the island. Both countries backed away from the brink, but Chinese leadership was determined to erase its military disadvantage in the Strait, and so accelerated its military build up.

The US-Taiwanese relationship was strained with the election of Chen Shui Bian, leader of the opposition Democratic Progressive Party, in 2000. A Taiwanese nationalist, Chen wanted to push towards eventual independence from China by creating a Republic of Taiwan that would replace the Taiwanese Republic of China. China became increasingly angered by Chen's moves, which they viewed as violations of the One China principle. The Bush administration found Chen irritating, as his actions distracted from Washington's efforts to cultivate China as a partner in the Global War on Terror. Under US pressure and suffering from personal scandals, Chen moderated his rhetoric in his last years in office. Guomindang leader Ma Ying-jeou, who won the presidency back in 2008, and was subsequently reelected in 2012, has begun to build a more cooperative relationship with the mainland. His efforts have been viewed more positively by US officials. Taiwan's government seeks to upgrade relations with Washington by concluding a free trade agreement, a visa waiver programme, and an extradition treaty, while resuming cabinet-level visits to the US. So far, none of these has been concluded.<sup>41</sup>

### Conclusion

assertiveness China's recent has encouraged various Asian countries to upgrade relations with the US. Openings to Vietnam and Burma have been applauded by both realists and liberals as a "new paradigm in international relations": a judicious application of balance of power politics that can advance human rights and democracy.42 However, intractable conflicts remain, and the pivot is unlikely to have any immediate effects on regional hot-spots, such as the Korean peninsula. America may only be able to make gains there to the extent that it is able to work with other parties, especially China.43

Is America's pivot to Asia likely to remain a long-lasting development? So far, Obama has had more room to manoeuvre than his two predecessors, who also sought to shift to Asia but were diverted by events elsewhere.<sup>44</sup> Hillary Clinton insists that the future of global politics will be decided in Asia. Asia, she declares, is the "key driver of global politics," and that is "misguided" to merely "come home" as the Iraq and Afghanistan wars wind down. "Harnessing Asia's growth and dynamism is central to American economic and strategic interests".<sup>45</sup> From a realist perspective, America naturally will stay in Asia as it tries to check the rise of China as a strategic competitor.<sup>46</sup>

The importance of trade and economic development naturally suppresses age-old natural strategic rivalries in the region, and assists East Asia's multilayered regional integration centred on ASEAN.

Assessments of Obama's foreign policy have been mixed in political circles, but many media and academic assessments have been fairly positive, one noting that "on balance, Obama has proved tough, disciplined and, overall, reasonably successful."<sup>47</sup> For the short term, much will be determined by, among other things, the state of the American economy. Observers have questioned the sustainability of an Asia-centred strategy, and the pivot could be more like an Indian summer of American power in the region.<sup>48</sup> However, given East Asia's centrality in the global economy, any Republican successors are unlikely to completely abandon this Pacific shift.<sup>49</sup>

Despite periodic crises over North Korean missiles and nuclear weapons, and concerns about Chinese assertiveness in the East and South China Seas, there are many reasons to be optimistic about Asia's future. First, as the most economically dynamic region in the world, Asia generates perhaps a third of global production and trade. Second, the importance of trade and economic development naturally suppresses age-old natural strategic rivalries in the region, and assists East Asia's multilayered regional integration

centred on ASEAN. Third, Japan has played generally constructive regional economic and political roles, and Asian suspicions about its history and possible re-militarisation make it a quite cautious power. Fourth, China has proved a fairly cooperative international player since the mid-1990s, and has committed itself to working with other East Asian countries, the US, and the wider international community.<sup>50</sup> America has clearly signalled that it intends to perform its traditional role as a major power in East Asia, and that it intends to upgrade its regional presence for the foreseeable future. And that constitutes a fifth reason: America will continue to act as East Asian stabiliser.

#### Endnotes

- 1 Stephen M. Walt, "Explaining Obama's Asia Policy", *Foreign Policy*, at http://walt. foreignpolicy.com/posts/2011/11/18/explaining\_obamas\_asia\_policy [last visited 14 December 2012].
- 2 The White House Office of the Press Secretary, "Opening Remarks by President Obama at APEC Session One", at http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2011/11/13/opening-remarks-president-obama-apec-session-one [last visited 20 March 2013].
- 3 Steve Jones, "Obama's November 2011 Asia-Pacific Trip: President Unveils Policy Shift toward Pacific Region", *About.com Guide*, at http://usforeignpolicy.about.com/od/ alliesenemies/a/Obamas-November-2011-Asia-Pacific-Trip.htm [last visited 14 November 2012].
- 4 Michael Cox and Doug Stokes, *US Foreign Policy*, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2008, p. 277.
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 Arpita Mathur, "Japan's Changing Role in the U.S.-Japan Security Alliance", *Strategic Analysis*, Vol. 28, No. 4 (October 2004), pp. 504-506.
- 7 Cox and Stokes, US Foreign Policy, p. 278.
- 8 Mathur, "Japan's Changing Role in the U.S.-Japan Security Alliance", pp. 504-506.
- 9 Yoshihide Soeya, "Redefining Japan's Security Profile: International Security, Human Security, and an East Asian Community", *Institute for International Policy Studies*, at http:// www.iips.org/04sec/04asiasec\_soeya.pdf [last visited 18 February 2013].
- 10 Mathur, "Japan's Changing Role in the U.S.-Japan Security Alliance", pp. 506-507.
- 11 Heigo Sato, "Japan-U.S. Security Relations under the Koizumi Administration: Implications for Bush's Second Term", at http://www.nids.go.jp/english/event/symposium/pdf/2004/ e2004\_09.pdf [last visited 12 February 2013].
- 12 Mathur, "Japan's Changing Role in the U.S.-Japan Security Alliance", p. 509.
- 13 Ibid., pp. 513-514.
- 14 Emma Chanlett-Avery, "The U.S.-Japan Alliance", Congressional Research Service Report, 18 January 2011, pp. 11-13.
- 15 Ibid., pp. 14-15.
- Colette Beukman, "The Abe-Obama Presidential Meeting", *The Journal of Turkish Weekly*, 23 February 2013.
- 17 William L. Brooks, "The Politics of the Futenma Base Issue in Okinawa: Relocation Negotiations in 1995-1994, 2005-2006", Edwin O. Reischauer Center for East Asian Studies, Johns Hopkins University, Washington, 2010, pp. 4-10.

- 18 Vivian Wong, "The DPJ Effect: Implications of Leadership Changes in Japan on the Management of the U.S.-Japan Alliance", *The United States and Japan in Global Context:* 2010, The Edwin O. Reischauer Center for East Asian Studies, Johns Hopkins University, Washington, 2010, pp. 10-13.
- 19 Gerald Curtis, "Future Directions in US-Japan Relations", JCIE New Shimoda Conference, Tokyo, February 2011, pp. 2-5.
- 20 Justin Logan, "Asia's Free-Riders", *Foreign Policy*, at http://www.foreignpolicy.com/ articles/2011/11/09/asias\_free\_riders?page=0,1 [last visited 14 December 2012].
- 21 William H. Cooper, "U.S.-Japan Economic Relations: Significance, Prospects, and Policy Options", *Congressional Research Service Report*, 14 February 2012, pp. 6-15.
- 22 Andreas Henneka, "Reflections on Korean History and its Impact on the U.S.-North Korean Conflict", *Journal of Science and World Affairs*, Vol. 2, No. 1 (2006), pp. 19-27.
- 23 Albert Chang, "The North Korean Nuclear Crisis: Addressing the Problem with Carrots and Sticks", *Policy Background and Options Paper 1.04*, Nathan Hale Institute Asia Program, March 2004, p. 2.
- 24 Jeffrey Schott, "Prospects for Implementing the Korea-US Free Trade Agreement", *Policy Brief*, Peterson Institute for International Economics, October, 2010, pp. 1-4; US Trade Representative Office, "U.S.-Korea Free Trade Agreement", at www.ustr.gov/trade-agreements/free-trade-agreements/korus-fta [last visited 21 February 2013].
- 25 International Crisis Group, "South Korea: The Shifting Sands of Security Policy", Asia Briefing No. 130, Seoul/Brussels, 1 December 2011, pp. 6-8.
- 26 Scott Snyder, Charles L. Pritchard and John H. Tilelli Jr., "U.S. Policy Toward the Korean Peninsula", Council on Foreign Relations, *Independent Task Force Report No. 64*, 2010, pp. ix-x, 3-4.
- 27 Joel S. Wit, Andrew Hood, Jeffrey Lewis, Scott Pace and Leon Sigal, "Missile Negotiations with North Korea: A Strategy for the Future", US-Korea Institute at SAIS- Report, Johns Hopkins University, October 2011, pp. 3-5.
- 28 Chang, "The North Korean Nuclear Crisis", p. 16.
- 29 Cox and Stokes, US Foreign Policy, p. 280.
- 30 Ibid., pp. 280-281.
- 31 Aaron L. Friedberg, "The Future of U.S.-China Relations: Is Conflict Inevitable?", *International Security*, Vol. 30, No. 2 (Fall 2005), pp. 7-8.
- 32 "U.S. Foreign Policy Turns Toward Asia", The Washington Post, 16 November 2011.
- 33 Jin Canrong, "Reason for Optimism in Sino-American Relations", *East Asia Forum*, at http:// www.eastasiaforum.org/2010/02/14/reason-for-optimism-in-sino-american-relations/ [last visited 13 March 2012].
- 34 Bates Gill, *Rising Star: China's New Security Diplomacy*, Washington, Brookings Institution, 2007, pp. 1-21.

25

- 35 Chen Zhimin, "Nationalism, Internationalism and Chinese Foreign Policy", *Journal of Contemporary China*, Vol. 14, No. 42 (February 2005), pp. 46-48.
- 36 Zheng Bijian, "China's Peaceful Rise to Great-Power Status", *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 84, No. 5 (September/October 2005), pp. 22-24.
- 37 Kerry Dumbaugh, "China's Foreign Policy: What Does It Mean for U.S. Global Interests?", *Congressional Research Service Report*, 18 July 2008, pp. 12-16.
- 38 Tianjin Shi and Meredith Wen, "Avoiding Mutual Misunderstanding: Sino-U.S. Relations and the New Administration", *Carnegie Endowment Policy Brief*, January 2009, pp. 2-3.
- 39 Jin, "Reason for Optimism in Sino-American Relations", p. 3.
- 40 Carlyle A. Thayer, "US Arms Sales to Taiwan: Impact on Sino-American Relations", *China-US Focus*, at http://chinausfocus.com/slider/us-arms-sales-to-taiwan-impact-on-sino-american-relations/ [last visited 13 March 2012].
- 41 Shirley A. Kan and Wayne M. Morrison, "U.S.-Taiwan Relationship: Overview of Policy Issues", *Congressional Research Service Report*, 4 August 2011, pp. 9-14.
- 42 Dan Twining, "Burma's Opening and the Balance of Values in Asia", *Foreign Policy*, at http://shadow.foreignpolicy.com/posts/2011/12/02/burmas\_opening\_and\_the\_balance\_of\_values\_in\_asia [last visited 14 December 2012].
- 43 "U.S. Pivot Toward Asia Unlikely to Have Quick Impact on Korea", *The Korea Herald*, 12 December 2011.
- 44 "U.S. Foreign Policy Turns toward Asia", p. 1.
- 45 Hillary Clinton, "America's Pacific Century", *Foreign Policy*, at http://www.foreignpolicy. com/articles/2011/10/11/americas\_pacific\_century?page=0,6 [Last visited 14 December 2012].
- 46 Stephen M. Walt, "Explaining Obama's Asia Policy".
- 47 Martin S. Indyk, Kenneth G. Lieberthal and Michael E. O'Hanlon, "Obama's Foreign Policy: Progressive Pragmatist", at http://www.brookings.edu/opinions/2012/0309\_obama\_ foreign\_policy.aspx [last visited 11 March 2012].
- 48 Logan, "Asia's Free-Riders", pp. 1-2.
- 49 John T. Bennett, "US Foreign Policy to Refocus on Asia", *The Hill*, at http://thehill.com/ news-by-subject/defense-homeland-security/185341-us-foreign-policy-to-refocus-on-asia [last visited 14 February 2013].
- 50 Cox and Stokes, US Foreign Policy, p. 287.

# Japan's Security Policy towards East Asia

#### Kaseda YOSHINORI\*

#### Abstract

After the Second World War, Japan was occupied by the United States, regaining its sovereignty in 1952 with the signing of the San Francisco Peace Treaty and the Japan-US Security Treaty. During the Cold War, Japan maintained a low military profile, refraining from developing strong military forces and from deploying them overseas. Its security relations with East Asian countries were not very tense. However, Japan's security policy has undergone significant transformation after the Cold War. This change was prompted by the weakening of the left in Japanese domestic politics, North Korea's missile and nuclear development programmes, and the rise of China's power. Instead of making active efforts at improving its relations with its neighbouring states, Japan has taken a realist policy of strengthening its own military capability, enhancing its alliance, and building new security ties with states that have similar security concerns.

#### Key Words

Japan, the United States, China, North Korea, South Korea, Australia, India.

#### Introduction

Japan was the first Asian country in modern history to become an imperial power. However, its devastating defeat in the Second World War and subsequent occupation by the United States (US) transformed the country. In 1946, during that occupation, Japan adopted a constitution that prohibited the country from possessing military forces, relinquished the right of belligerency, and adopted a policy of refraining from developing, or deploying, a strong military. In 1954, Japan established the Self-Defence Forces (SDF), regarding them as exclusively defensive, rather than military, forces. Japan has kept a low military profile ever since, even though it rose to become the second biggest economy in the world. During the Cold War, Japan never engaged directly in military conflicts with other countries, but its military policy underwent a significant transformation immediately afterwards, as the Soviet Union collapsed, North Korea developed militarily, and China's rise to economic and military power became evident.

<sup>\*</sup> Kaseda Yoshinori is Associate Professor of Politics at the University of Kitakyushu, Japan.

This paper examines Japan's security policy, with particular focus on relations with East Asian countries and the US. More specifically, it presents an overview of the transformation of Japan's security policy in response to the change in the security environment in East Asia, particularly North Korea's military development and the rise in China's power. For this purpose, the paper pays particular attention to change in the content of its basic policy document, the National Defense Program Guidelines (NDPG), compiled in 1976 and subsequently revised three times, in 1995, 2004, and 2010.

#### The 1976 NDPG

In October 1976, Japan adopted the first National Defense Program Guidelines (1976 NDPG) to take effect from the beginning of fiscal year (FY) 1977. It remained in effect until 1995. It expressed a view on the international situation that "[w]ithin the general neighborhood of Japan, an equilibrium exists, involving the three major powers of the United States, the Soviet Union and China" although "[t]ension still persists on the Korean Peninsula" and "military buildups continue in several countries nearby Japan."1 The NDPG considered it unlikely that a major military conflict, one that would seriously threaten Japan's security, would arise.

The military posture and capability advocated by the 1976 NDPG was "the maintenance of a full surveillance posture in peacetime and the ability to cope effectively with situations up to the point of limited and small-scale aggression."<sup>2</sup> With regard to its alliance with the US, it acknowledged the importance of "maintaining the credibility of the Japan-US security arrangement and insuring the smooth functioning of that system"<sup>3</sup> but did not stress the need for strengthening the alliance.

Japan acknowledged the importance of "maintaining the credibility of the Japan-US security arrangement and insuring the smooth functioning of that system".

The 1976 NDPG made a very short reference to the tension on the Korean peninsula as cited above, but made no specific references to North Korea (also known as the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, or DPRK) or China. Apparently, Japan was not very concerned about either, as North Korea had a limited power projection capability, and China not only had limited military power, but also enjoyed generally friendly relations with Japan.<sup>4</sup>

# Developments after the Adoption of the 1976 NDPG

During the Cold War, Japan's security policy was rather simple. The hostility between the US and the Soviet Union prompted Japan, which had its own tension with the Soviet Union, to maintain an alliance with the US. Soviet attacks on Japan were sufficiently unlikely, however, to allow it to continue a passive, limited military stance after the adoption of the 1976 NDPG. In November 1978, Tokyo and Washington compiled the Guidelines for Japan-US Defence Cooperation to clarify the roles each should play during military contingencies, thus ensuring the smooth functioning of their joint military operations. These guidelines endured without revision for the rest of the Cold War.

Japan reviewed its security policy when the Soviet Union collapsed after the end of the Cold War because the alliance with the US, premised on the presence of the Soviet Union as a common enemy, had been undermined. However, the Gulf War (August 1990- April 1991), as well as North Korea's nuclear and missile developments, prompted Japan to reconsolidate the alliance and change its passive, limited defence posture. During the Gulf War, Washington demanded that Japan contribute to the allied action

against Iraq on the grounds that it was a major beneficiary of a secure supply of oil from the Gulf region. Unable to make a military contribution, Japan made a financial contribution instead, providing as much as US\$13 billion, most of which went to the US. After a formal truce was reached in April 1991, Tokyo dispatched minesweepers to the Persian Gulf. It was the first overseas military operation of the SDF.5 Then, in June 1992, Tokyo enacted the International Peace Cooperation Law (the PKO Law), allowing the SDF to take part in United Nations peacekeeping operations (UN PKOs), but limited its participation to non-combatant operations. The SDF first participated in a UN PKO in Cambodia, starting in September 1992.6

During the Gulf War, Washington demanded that Japan contribute to the allied action against Iraq on the grounds that it was a major beneficiary of a secure supply of oil from the Gulf region.

North Korea started operating its first experimental, graphite-moderated nuclear reactor in around 1986, and by late 1988 American satellite surveillance had detected construction of a spentfuel reprocessing facility. This generated international suspicion of North Korea's plutonium extraction. However, in March 1989, a joint delegation from Japan's ruling Liberal Democratic Party (LDP) and the Japan Socialist Party (JSP), the largest opposition party, visited Pyongyang and agreed to make efforts at normalising diplomatic relations between Japan and North Korea. This meeting was followed by official normalisation talks that started in January 1991. These were suspended in November 1992, largely because of the mounting US-DPRK tension over the nuclear issue, and partly because of lack of support from South Korea (also known as the

The end of the Cold War and

the collapse of the Soviet Union

nuclear and missile development

North

accelerated

programmes.

Korea's

Republic of Korea, or ROK). Against this backdrop, Japan and the United States held a summit in January 1992 in Tokyo, issuing the Tokyo Declaration

on the US-Japan Global Partnership, reaffirming their commitment to their alliance, and expressing their recognition that their alliance remained important to the peace and stability of the Asia-Pacific region.

Japan's security concerns about North Korea increased in May 1993 when the DPRK test-launched its first mediumrange ballistic missile, the Nodong, and showed that Japan had come within the reach of North Korean missiles. While North Korea's missile capability became a new concern, the nuclear issue was resolved, if not conclusively, through a US-DPRK agreement, the Agreed Framework (AF), in October 1994. That did not lead to Japan-DPRK diplomatic normalisation, however, partly because of the lack of progress toward US-DPRK diplomatic normalisation, and partly because of the lack of support from South Korea's Kim Young-sam administration whose relations with Pyongyang were very bad. Unlike North Korea, post-Cold War China did not become a major security concern for Japan, although Tokyo was alarmed by

> Beijing's enactment of the Law of Territorial Waters in February 1992, in which their disputed islands, known as Senkaku in Japanese, were clearly stated to be Chinese territory.

The end of the Cold War and the collapse of the Soviet Union accelerated North Korea's nuclear and missile development programmes. Both events also had a significant impact on Japan's domestic politics, weakening the left led by the JSP and strengthening the right led by the LDP that had advocated easing constitutional constraints on Japan's military activities. As of 1990, it had 136 seats out of 512 seats in the more powerful lower house. Yet, its presence dropped to 70 out of 511 in 1993.

30

#### The 1995 NDPG

The rise of the right prompted Japan to compile a new NDPG in November 1995 (the 1995 NDPG), to take effect from the beginning of fiscal year (FY) 1996. The NDPG stressed the international expectations for Japan's contribution to building a more stable security environment through participation in international peace cooperation activities, and expressed its willingness to "[c]ontribute to efforts for international peace through participation in international peace cooperation activities."7 This reflected new international military activities, such as the US-led war against Iraq (the Gulf War) and UN peacekeeping operations.8

The 1995 NDPG looked upon North Korea as the primary destabilising factor in the security of Northeast Asia that increased the importance of the Japan-US alliance.

The new NDPG still made no specific reference to North Korea, but strongly suggested Japan's particular concern about the DPRK's development of nuclear weapons and ballistic missiles, as can be seen from the statement that "new kinds of dangers, such as the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, including nuclear arms and of missiles, are on the increase,"<sup>9</sup> and from the following passage: "There remain uncertainty and unpredictability, such as continued tensions on the Korean Peninsula, and a stable security environment has not been fully established. Under these circumstances, the possibility of a situation in this region, which could seriously affect the security of Japan, cannot be excluded."<sup>10</sup>

The 1995 NDPG made no reference or allusion to China. As far as Japan-US alliance is concerned, the NDPG stressed its importance, regarding it as "indispensable" to Japan's security and key to "achieving peace and stability in the region surrounding Japan and establishing a more stable security environment.",<sup>11</sup> Apparently, the 1995 NDPG looked upon North Korea as the primary destabilising factor in the security of Northeast Asia that increased the importance of the Japan-US alliance.

# Developments after the Adoption of the 1995 NDPG

After the adoption of the new NDPG in 1995, the presence of the left in Japanese politics declined further. In January 1996, the JSP changed its name to the Social Democratic Party (SDP), but about the half of its members left, due mainly to their concern about

being re-elected in the next lower house election to be held under a new electoral system, adopted in 1994, combining the plurality and proportional representation systems, with 300 seats elected by the former and 200 seats by the latter. The new system was more advantageous to big parties. The first election to the lower house under the new system was held in October 1996 and gave victory to the LDP, increasing its seats by 28 to 239, while the SDP's were reduced by 15 to a mere 30. The weakening of the left made it easier for those on the right to realise their long-held desire to ease the restrictions posed on Japan's military activities by the constitution, and they lost no time in doing so.

After the Taiwan Strait crisis of March 1996, on 15 April 1996, Tokyo and Washington signed an Acquisition and Cross-Servicing Agreement (ACSA) under which Tokyo would contribute to the smooth and effective operation of US forces. Two days later, Prime Minister Hashimoto held a summit meeting with President Clinton in Tokyo and issued a Japan-US Joint Declaration on Security, in which the two countries stressed the importance of the alliance to the peace and stability of the Asia-Pacific region and their intention to strengthen the alliance. Tokyo and Washington then revised the 1978 Guidelines for Japan-US Defence Cooperation in September 1997, with the aim of improving their cooperation in order to deal with any situations in the areas surrounding Japan that could seriously affect Japan's national security.

The new guidelines raised China's concern about the possibility of Japan's assistance in a US intervention in China's military actions against Taiwan. Japan's relations with China deteriorated further because of Tokyo's rejection of Beijing's request that Tokyo provide a formal, written apology for its past military aggression toward China to President Jiang Zemin during his visit to Japan in 1999, as it had done for South Korea's President Kim Dae-jung in 1998. In this context, in May 1999 Tokyo enacted a series of laws to strengthen the Japan-US alliance, namely the Law on the Situations in Areas Surrounding Japan, the revised SDF Law, the revised ACSA, and the Ship Inspection Operations Law.

The legal changes were also spurred on by two developments involving North Korea. One was its launch of a rocket, allegedly for putting a satellite into orbit, on 31 August 1998. The rocket, called Taepodong-1 by Washington and others, flew over Japan and fell into the seas off the coast of Alaska, proving that North Korean missiles could now reach any part of Japan. The other development was Japan's detection of suspicious vessels, apparently North Korean, in Japanese territorial waters on 23 March 1999, an event that led to unprecedented mobilisation of SDF warships and airplanes to chase them.

The Hashimoto administration and conservative media regarded the rocket launch and the ship incursion as serious threats to Japan's national security, and thereby heightened anti-North Korean public sentiment, already strong as a result of the February 1997 media report of suspicion that a Japanese junior high school girl, Yokota Megumi, had been abducted by the DPRK.

In effect, the conservatives used the North Korean "threat" as an excuse to strengthen the Japan-US alliance and weaken the constitutional constraints on Japan's military activities. In response to the launch of a Taepodong-1, in December 1998 Tokyo decided to conduct joint research with Washington on ballistic missile defence (BMD). In the same month, the Japanese government also decided to introduce "Information Gathering Satellites" (IGS), de facto spy satellites, discarding the long-standing policy of the non-military use of space based on a resolution in the Diet, the parliament, in 1969 on the peaceful development of space.

Japan's hard-line stance towards North Korea was temporarily eased by South Korea's "Sunshine Policy", a conciliatory policy of President Kim Dae-jung who came to power in February 1998. Kim Dae-jung was eager to improve inter-Korean relations and urged Washington and Tokyo to improve their relations with Pyongyang. This led to the first DPRK-ROK summit in June 2000, the visit of Secretary General Kim Jong-il's aide, Cho Myong-rok, to Washington in October 2000, and the reciprocal visit to Pyongyang of Secretary of State Madeleine Albright later in the month. The first Japan-DPRK summit, between Prime Minister Koizumi (April 2001-September 2006) and Kim Jongil, took place in September 2002 and resulted an agreement to make every possible effort for early diplomatic normalisation.

However, it became difficult for them to realise it because of the Bush administration's revelation of Pyongyang's enrichment uranium programme in October 2002 and the subsequent collapse of the Agreed Framework of 1994. The resurgence of the nuclear issue reduced Japan's diplomatic domestic support for normalisation with North Korea and strengthened the voice for hard-line policy toward it. Tokyo largely followed the Bush administration's hard-line policy, although South Korea's Kim Daejung administration and the Roh Moohyun administration, which succeeded it in 2003, continued a conciliatory policy toward Pyongyang. Koizumi held a second summit with Kim Jong-il in May 2004, but his primary objective was to bring to Japan the children of those Japanese citizens who had been abducted by North Korea and had returned to Japan in October 2002, not to make any breakthrough on the nuclear or missile issues.

In Koizumi showed contrast. eagerness to strengthen military ties with Washington. He supported the Proliferation Security Initiative (PSI) proposed by Bush in May 2003, while Seoul distanced itself from it. Japan actively participated in the first and succeeding meetings and exercises of the PSI, hosting two exercises in October 2004 and October 2007. Japan was also eager to follow Bush's policy of constructing a BMD system despite doubts that it could be effective, while South Korea showed little interest. In December 2003, Tokyo decided to construct a BMD system by purchasing SM-3 surface-to-air missiles and PAC-3 ground-to-air missiles from Washington.

Tokyo's decision to strengthen its security ties with Washington seems to have had a negative impact on its relations with Moscow and Beijing.

Besides its cooperation with Washington on the PSI and BMD, Tokyo enhanced the Japan-US alliance by enacting the Law on Measures against Military Attacks in June 2003 and the Law for Smooth Operations of US Forces in June 2004. Tokyo also strengthened security ties with Washington by enacting the Special Law on the Iraq War in July 2003, and then dispatching the SDF to Iraq to assist with the US occupation of Iraq. Koizumi argued that it would be necessary to meet Washington's request for assistance so that Washington would be ready to support Tokyo should the need arise (He apparently had contingencies on the Korean peninsula in mind).<sup>12</sup>

Tokyo's decision to strengthen its security ties with Washington seems to have had a negative impact on its relations with Moscow and Beijing. In December President Bush 2001. antagonised Moscow by withdrawing from the ABM treaty with Russia and starting to deploy BMD systems. Moscow was presumably unhappy with Tokyo's joint development of more effective BMD systems with Washington. In the case of China, the unilateral stance of the Bush administration and its policy of strengthening security ties with its allies and other countries prompted Beijing and Moscow to strengthen their relations with each other. Japan's relations with China and South Korea both deteriorated, too, because of Koizumi's visit during his 2001-2006 tenure to the Yasukuni Shrine, which commemorates dead Japanese military personnel and class-A war criminals, despite repeated criticism from Beijing and Seoul.13 In August 2003, the Six-Party Talks (SPT) to discuss the North Korean nuclear issue started. In essence, Tokyo followed Washington's lead and exerted little influence at the talks.

While Japan's relations with North Korea saw little improvement, its relations with China deteriorated even further. This was triggered partly by China's development of a gas field close to the bilateral demarcation line of their exclusive economic zone (EEZ), a line that Japan regarded as valid but China did not. China announced a plan to develop the gas field in August 2003, and Japan expressed strong concern, arguing that the gas field spread over the line onto its side. The bilateral relations deteriorated again in November 2004, when a Chinese submarine passed through Japanese territorial waters without surfacing. The incursion prompted Tokyo to order the Maritime SDF (MSDF) to go on alert, for only the second time in history after its mobilisation in 1999 (the first had been for the incursion, mentioned above, by the suspicious vessels widely deemed North Korean).

### The 2004 NDPG

In December 2004, in the context of Tokyo's strained relations with Pyongyang and Beijing, Tokyo adopted a new NDPG, the 2004 NDPG, which took effect in FY2005. The new guidelines clearly stated that their adoption was prompted by Japan's December 2003 decision to introduce BMD systems. In December 2004, Tokyo also decided to ease its long-standing policy of not exporting weapons so that it could export BMD-related weaponry to the US. The new NDPG regarded the introduction of BMD systems as a measure to "adequately respond to the threat of nuclear weapons"<sup>14</sup> and supplementary to the extended US nuclear deterrence.

The 2004 NDPG made a clear reference to North Korea for the first time and identified it as a major destabilising factor to regional and international security: "North Korea is engaged in the development, deployment and proliferation of weapons of mass destruction and ballistic missiles, and it maintains a large number of special operations forces. Such military activities by North Korea constitute a major destabilizing factor to regional and international security, and are a serious challenge to international efforts."15 The non-proliferation 2004 NDPG was compiled after the collapse of the Agreed Framework of 1994, following Washington's October 2002 announcement of Pyongyang's possession of a uranium enrichment programme and its November 2002 decision to terminate its provision of heavy fuel oil to North Korea as agreed in the Agreed Framework.

The 2004 NDPG is also notable in that it made a (very brief) reference to the tension between China and Taiwan for the first time: "The situation on the Korean Peninsula is unpredictable and cross-Taiwan Strait relations remain uncertain.<sup>"16</sup> Also for the first time, the new NDPG named China as a security concern: "China, which has a major impact on regional security, continues to modernise its nuclear forces and missile capabilities as well as its naval and air forces. China is also expanding its area of operation at sea."<sup>17</sup> The new NDPG stressed the importance of the security of sea lanes as "indispensable to the country's prosperity and growth,"<sup>18</sup> implying its concern about China's extended maritime operation.

The 2004 NDPG proposed to develop military capability as an effective response to new threats and diverse situations, particularly "ballistic missile attacks" (apparently with North Korea in mind), "guerrillas and special operations forces attacks" (also apparently with North Korea in mind), "the invasion of Japan's offshore islands" (apparently with the territorial dispute with China in mind), "the intrusion of armed special-purpose ships operating in waters surrounding Japan" (apparently with North Korea in mind) and "submerged foreign submarines in Japan's territorial waters" (apparently with China in mind).<sup>19</sup>

The 2004 NDPG regarded the US military presence as "critically important to peace and stability in the Asia-Pacific region, where unpredictability and uncertainty continue."<sup>20</sup> It expressed

Japan's need "to improve the international environment so as to reduce the chances that any threat will reach Japan in the first place" in cooperation particularly with the US, and stated its intention to strengthen the alliance with the US and harmonise "perceptions of the new security environment and appropriate strategic objectives."<sup>21</sup>

In short, the 2004 NDPG regarded North Korea and China as Japan's primary security concerns, proposing to strengthen security ties with the US and to enhance its own military capability.

## Developments after the Adoption of the 2004 NDPG

After the adoption of the 2004 NDPG, Japan's relations with North Korea and China deteriorated further, while ties were strengthened with the US, South Korea, Australia, and India. Japanese-DPRK relations became more hostile because of the DPRK's July 2006 missile tests and its first nuclear test in October 2006, both triggered by Washington's imposition of financial sanctions on North Korea on 16 September 2005, just before the first joint statement of 19 September at the SPT (the 9.19 joint statement). Tokyo responded particularly strongly to the missile and nuclear tests, imposing unilateral sanctions. Against

this backdrop, in December 2006 Tokyo decided to elevate its Defence Agency to a Defence Ministry and legalise international peace cooperation activities as one of the primary duties of the SDF.

After the nuclear test, the Bush administration softened its stance toward the DPRK. That led to two agreements at the SPT on 13 February 2007 (the 2.13 agreement) and on 3 October 2007 (the 10.3 agreement), establishing concrete steps to realise the denuclearisation of the DPRK. Following the agreements, Pyongyang froze its nuclear facilities and proceeded with their dismantlement. Washington eased its economic sanctions and provided heavy fuel oil along with Seoul, Beijing, and Moscow, though Tokyo refused to take part on the grounds of insufficient progress on the abduction issue. Maintaining a hard-line policy, Tokyo established, in March 2007, a new mobile unit for rapid deployment in the Ground SDF and deployed its first unit of PAC-3 missiles as part of its BMD systems. Japan also hosted a PSI drill in October 2007, when Seoul held a second summit with Pyongyang in which the two Koreas agreed to improve their relations. The denuclearisation process came to a deadlock when Pyongyang rejected Washington's demand to accept inspections to verify the content of the documents on nuclear activities, submitted by Pyongyang in May 2008, on the grounds that verification should

come at the final stage of normalisation of Pyongyang's relations with Washington.<sup>22</sup> The rejection hardened Washington's stance toward Pyongyang again and reduced policy difference between Washington and Tokyo.

In December 2006, Tokyo decided to elevate its Defence Agency to a Defence Ministry and legalise international peace cooperation activities as one of the primary duties of the SDF.

Japan's relations with China worsened as well. In April 2005, anti-Japan demonstrations took place in parts of China over their strained bilateral relations on historical and territorial issues. In turn, the demonstrations aggravated Japan's anti-China sentiments and concerns about China. In addition, in an apparent response to the deepening Japan-US alliance and Washington's efforts at forging stronger security ties with other allies and friendly countries, China held its first joint military exercise with Russia in August 2005. The Abe administration that started in September 2006 tried to mend Japanese-PRC relations, in stark contrast with his tough stance toward North Korea. In fact, Abe and his successors refrained from visiting the Yasukuni Shrine. Tokyo's appeasing stance toward Beijing could be

attributed to the business circle's strong preference not to antagonise China. Abe visited Beijing and held a summit with President Hu Jintao in October 2006, the first of its kind since October 2001, agreeing to build "strategic, mutually beneficial relations."

However, the bilateral relations did not improve very much. Apparently in response to Washington's development of BMD systems with Tokyo, Beijing conducted a test in January 2007 to destroy a satellite with a ballistic missile. In October 2007, Tokyo decided to deploy 20 F-15 fighter jets to Okinawa in order to strengthen its defence of the southern part of its territory close to China. In June 2008, Tokyo and Beijing agreed to jointly develop the disputed gas field near their EEZ demarcation line, but little progress was made after that. Meanwhile, Tokyo became sensitive to China's growing maritime activities, such as the first passage of Chinese warships through the Tsugaru Strait in October 2008, and the incursion into Japanese waters of two Chinese maritime surveillance ships in December 2008.

The historic 2009 power shift from the LDP to the Democratic Party of Japan (DPJ) appeared to improve Japan-PRC relations because the DPJ, led by Hatoyama, advocated the creation of an East Asian community and was eager to improve relations. Those hopes were

dashed, however, by an incident on 7 September 2010 that severely hurt relations. Japan's Maritime Security Agency (MSA) patrol ships found Chinese fishing vessels in Japanese territorial waters near the disputed Senkaku Islands. They ordered them to leave the waters, but one ship refused and collided with two MSA ships. The MSA arrested its crew. Beijing was angered by the action and demanded their immediate release, but instead of doing so, Tokyo prosecuted the captain. Beijing's retaliatory actions included a de facto embargo of its rare earth metals to Japan that crippled production of hightech equipment because more than 90 % of those resources had come from China. In the end, Tokyo accepted Beijing's demand for the captain's release, but the incident made the Japanese very bitter toward China.

As its relations with Pyongyang and Beijing deteriorated, Tokyo's relations with Washington deepened further under the leadership of LDP Prime Ministers Koizumi (April 2001-September 2006), Abe (September 2006–September 2007), Fukuda (September 2007–September 2008), and Aso (September 2008- September 2009). Tokyo and Washington held meetings of the Security Consultative Committee (SCC) consisting of foreign and defence ministers (2+2 meetings)

Japan's Security Policy towards East Asia

in February and October 2005, May 2006, and May 2007. At the February 2005 meeting, they confirmed their common strategic objectives, which included ensuring the security of Japan, strengthening peace and stability in the Asia-Pacific, supporting the peaceful unification of the Korean peninsula, seeking the peaceful resolution of issues related to North Korea, encouraging the peaceful resolution of issues concerning the Taiwan Strait through dialogue, and encouraging China to improve transparency in its military affairs. At the following meetings, they discussed measures to achieve their common 2007 strategic objectives. At the meeting, they reviewed the common objectives and adopted new ones that included strengthening security and defence cooperation with Australia, and enhancing partnership with India.

Tokyo's relations with Washington became somewhat unstable after the victory of the DPJ in the July 2007 upper house elections and the resultant loss of the LDP-led ruling coalition's majority. The DPJ's political altitude tended to the right with more rightist members than leftist ones. Even so, it was critical of Japan's support for the US war against Iraq, the continuation of the SDF's refuelling activities in the Indian Ocean for the US-led military operations in Afghanistan, the effectiveness of the BMD systems, and the massive host nation support costs for US forces in Japan despite its huge public debt of more than 900 trillion yen. The DPJ called for a close but more equal and independent alliance with the US. The party won a landslide victory in the August 2009 lower house elections and formed a coalition government with the SDP and the People's New Party (PNP) in the next month.

In January 2010, the DPJ-led coalition government headed by Prime Minister Hatoyama (September 2009-June 2010) ended the refuelling activity that had started in December 2001, despite Washington's request for its continuation. It also tried to lessen the concentration of US forces in Okinawa by reducing the presence of US Marines there. Yet the implementation was so difficult that Hatoyama eventually gave up. Whether it was an excuse or not is unclear, but Hatoyama referred to the sinking of the South Korean warship Cheonan in March 2010- South Korea's conservative Lee Myung-bak administration had attributed it to a North Korean torpedo attack in its report of May 2010- and justified his policy reversal on the grounds that the North Korean threat necessitated the presence of US Marines in Okinawa at the current level.

The DPJ virtually gave up on the idea of building a more independent alliance with the US and came to adopt

a security policy very similar to that of the LDP. For instance, in December 2005 Tokyo decided to upgrade its joint BMD research with Washington to actual development. Also, with the help of Washington, Tokyo conducted tests of shooting down missiles with its SM-3 missiles from Japanese Aegis destroyers, first in December 2007 and then in November 2008, October 2009, and October 2010. Meanwhile, Washington conducted a test to destroy a dysfunctional satellite, using a US SM-3 missile, in February

In response to its aggravated

relations with North Korea and

China, Japan also developed

closer security ties, bilaterally

with Australia, India, and South

Korea, and multilaterally with

Washington.

2008.

In response to its aggravated relations with North Korea and China, Japan also developed closer security ties, bilaterally with

Australia, India, and South Korea, and multilaterally with Washington. Tokyo and Canberra held a summit in Tokyo on 13 March 2007, issuing a Japan-Australia Joint Declaration on Security Cooperation in which they agreed to strengthen their security cooperation. Australia became the second country (after the US) with which Japan had issued a bilateral security declaration. They held two more summit meetings in September 2007 and December 2009, agreeing to compile an action plan to substantiate the joint declaration at the 2007 meeting and to revise the plan at the 2009 meeting. They also started a defence and foreign ministers' meeting (2+2 meeting) in June 2007, held again in December 2008 and May 2010. At the 2010 meeting, they signed an ACSA, making Australia the second country to sign such a treaty with Japan. Tokyo and Canberra also held defence ministers' meetings in May 2009, May 2010, and October 2010. To substantiate their talks and agreements, they have conducted

military exercises.
The SDF took part in a multilateral maritime exercise, Kakadu IX, hosted by Australia in July and August 2008, and conducted three bilateral exercises in
September 2009,

May 2010, and August 2010. Japan and Australia also held security talks and conducted exercises with the US, starting director-level trilateral security talks called the Security and Defence Cooperation Forum (SDCF) in April 2007. Their first trilateral defence ministers' meeting was held in June 2007, and two more SDCF meetings followed in April 2008 and November 2009. Trilateral exercises were held in October 2007, September 2009, and June 2010.

Tokyo also expanded its security relations with New Delhi. They held summit meetings in December 2006, August 2007, October 2008, and December 2009, agreeing to strengthen their security cooperation. At the 2006 meeting, they agreed to establish a strategic global partnership. At the 2008 meeting, they singed a Joint Declaration on Security Cooperation, making India the third country with which Japan signed such a declaration. At the 2009 meetings, they compiled an action plan to strengthen their security cooperation. The two countries also held defence ministers' meetings in August 2007, November 2009, and April 2010. Tokyo and New Delhi did not hold bilateral military exercises but held multilateral ones. In April 2007 they held their first trilateral maritime exercise with Washington. Tokyo took part in Malabar 07-2 in September 2007 and Malabar 09 in April 2009. Malabar is traditionally a bilateral exercise between the US and Indian navies, but Malabar 07-2 included Japan, Australia, and Singapore, and Malabar 09 included Japan.

Tokyo's bilateral security cooperation with Seoul has been limited, due largely to unsettled historical issues associated with Japan's invasion and colonisation of Korea. The only bilateral military drills were joint search and rescue exercises (SAREX), started in 1998 and held again in 2002, 2003, 2005, 2007, and 2009. Tokyo and Seoul also held a SAREX with Washington in August 2008. Although their bilateral exercises went no further than SAREX, there were some notable developments. At their April 2009 meeting, their defence ministers agreed to expand their military exchanges, including talks between top ranking officers and interactions between the two military forces, such as the dispatch of observers to each other's military exercises.

Tokyo's bilateral security cooperation with Seoul has been limited, due largely to unsettled historical issues associated with Japan's invasion and colonisation of Korea.

Washington was eager to facilitate greater security cooperation between Tokyo and Seoul, for instance, by holding a first trilateral defence ministerial meeting with them in May 2009, and a second in June 2010. In July 2010, for the first time, Japan sent observers to a US-ROK exercise (Invincible Spirit), and South Korean observers took part for the first time in a Japan-US exercise (Keen Sword) in December 2010. In between, two Japanese warships, with some US warships, took part in the first PSI drill hosted by South Korea in October 2010. These developments were prompted by the conservative Lee Myong-bak administration that adopted a North Korea policy more in line with Washington's and Tokyo's since its inception in February 2008.

#### The 2010 NDPG

In December 2010, Tokyo adopted the 2010 NDPG, which took effect in FY 2011. The new NDPG takes particular note of unstable security situations in the Asia-Pacific region, citing disputes over territories and issues over the Korean peninsula and the Taiwan Strait. It also makes special reference to the apparent shift in the region's balance of power and designates prevention of "threats from emerging by further stabilizing the security environment in the Asia-Pacific region"23 as a security policy objective, apparently with China in mind. To achieve this and other security objectives, it stresses Japan's intention to facilitate cooperation not only with the US but also with countries in the Asia-Pacific. The new NDPG identifies North Korea's military activities as serious security concerns, just like the preceding NDPG. Yet, it differs from its predecessor in that it regards North Korea's military activities as not only grave but also immediate destabilizing factor to regional security.<sup>24</sup>

More significant difference between the 2004 and 2010 NDPG is a much greater attention to China by the latter. References to China have tripled, exceeding, for the first time, references to North Korea, indicating a shift in Japan's primary security concern: "China, a growing major power, is beginning to play an important role for regional and global security. On the other hand, China is steadily increasing its defense expenditure. China is widely and rapidly modernizing its military force, mainly its nuclear and missile force as well as navy and air force, and is strengthening its capability for extended-range power projection. In addition, China has been expanding and intensifying its maritime activities in the surrounding waters. These trends, together with insufficient transparency over China's military forces and its security policy, are of concern for the regional and global community."25 The 2010 NDPG for the first time refers to China's military stance as a security concern. Apparently out of its concern about China's maritime activities, the new NDPG stresses that "securing maritime security and international order is essential for [Japan's] prosperity."26

Having expressed concerns with North Korea and China, the 2010 NDPG regards the strengthening of US engagement in the Asia-Pacific region, and US efforts to enhance security ties with its allies and partners, as "important contributions to the peace and stability of the Asia-Pacific region".<sup>27</sup> It then says that Japan intends to "actively tackle both regional and global security challenges in cooperation with its ally, partners and other countries concerned," particularly Australia. South Korea. member countries of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), and India and to "actively engage in encouraging China to take responsible actions in the international community," with those countries.<sup>28</sup> The new NDPG argues that "the military presence of the US armed forces in Japan allows countries in the Asia-Pacific region to have a strong sense of security by functioning as deterrence against and response to contingencies in this region."29 It regards the extended deterrence provided by the US as "indispensable" as long as nuclear weapons exist, and expresses Japan's intention to cooperate closely with the US to maintain and improve the credibility of the extended deterrence, as well as to "take active measures for the smooth and effective stationing of US forces in Japan, including Host Nation Support" and to study other measures to enhance its bilateral cooperation with the US to "strengthen the U.S. forces' deterrent and response capability to regional contingencies" apparently having North Korea and China in mind.30

Besides stressing the importance of Japan's alliance with the US, the new NDPG announces Japan's new security policy of building a "dynamic defense force" as well as "raising levels of equipment use and increasing operations tempo."<sup>31</sup> It argues that "[c] lear demonstration of national will and strong defense capabilities...., not just maintaining a certain level of defense force, is a critical element for ensuring credible deterrence and will contribute to stability in the region surrounding Japan."32 As an initial step toward a dynamic defence force, the new NDPG expresses Japan's plans to "permanently station the minimum necessary units on off-shore islands where the SDF is not currently stationed" and to augment submarine units, apparently to show China Japan's will to defend its territorial integrity. The 2010 NDPG also states Japan's intention to enhance the capability of its BMD system by developing a multi-layered defence posture, in order to "respond effectively to ballistic missiles capable of evading interceptors."33 This policy may indicate a shift in Japan's concern from less sophisticated North Korean missiles to more sophisticated Chinese ones.

The 2010 NDPG also expresses Japan's determination to participate more actively in, and to enhance its capabilities for, international peace cooperation

activities and shows an eagerness to ease existing restrictions on the use of firearms when participating in UN peacekeeping operations. Besides, for the first time, the NDPG expresses the need to consider participating in international joint development and production of defence equipment, thereby indicating Tokyo's willingness to ease the long-held policy of strict restrictions on weapons exports.

In sum, the 2010 NDPG expresses Tokyo's greater security concerns about Pyongyang and Beijing and advocates deepening the Japan-US alliance and strengthening security ties with Seoul, Canberra, and New Delhi, while developing a dynamic defence force.

# Developments after the Adoption of the 2010 NDPG

In January 2011 the DPJ-led coalition government headed by Prime Minister Kan (June 2010-September 2011) decided to maintain thecurrent level of the host nation support for US forces in Japan (188 billion yen in 2010) for the next five years, although the DPJ used to advocate its reduction, and signed a new pact with Washington. Tokyo and Washington held 2+2 meetings in June 2011 and April 2012. At the former meeting, they renewed their common strategic objectives. Newly stated objectives included strengthening trilateral security and defence cooperation with South Korea. At the latter meeting, they expressed their intention to enhance bilateral security cooperation and to strengthen engagement with countries in the Asia-Pacific region.

References to China have tripled, exceeding, for the first time, references to North Korea, indicating a shift in Japan's primary security concern.

Japanese and South Korean defence ministers met in Seoul in January 2011. It was the first visit to South Korea by a Japanese defence chief since 2005. The two ministers agreed to start discussions on concluding an ACSA and a General Military Information Security of Agreement (GSOMIA). It was reported that the Japanese side showed greater enthusiasm for stronger security ties and conclusion of the two pacts.<sup>34</sup> The two ministers met again in June 2011, which was followed by another meeting in a trilateral setting with their US counterpart in June 2012. Tokyo and Seoul also held a SAREX in November 2011 and another one with Washington in August 2012, while conducting their first extensive trilateral maritime exercise with Washington in June 2012, in which the USS George Washington aircraft carrier took part. Yet, it became difficult to Tokyo to improve its security relations with Seoul because the bilateral relations were soured due particularly to their territorial dispute over Takeshima/ Dokdo islands that was rekindled by President Lee's visit there in August 2012.

Tokyo also continued efforts to strengthen security relations with Canberra and New Delhi. In June 2011 Japan and Australia held defence ministers' meetings in June 2011 and May 2012 and a 2+2 meeting in September 2012. In May 2012 the two countries concluded a GSOMIA, while in September 2012 they agreed on their common security vision and objectives. The SDF sent observers to an Australian army military exercise in November 2011, while in January-February 2012 Australia, for the first time, sent observers to a Japan-US bilateral command post exercise, Yamasakura-61. Then, in February 2012, Tokyo, Canberra, and Washington held joint military exercises in July 2011, February 2012, and June 2012. With regard to India, Tokyo and New Delhi held a defence ministers' meeting in November 2011 and a summit meeting in December 2011 and confirmed their commitment to strengthening their security relations. Then, in June 2012, they held their first joint maritime military exercise.

With regard to Japan's relations with China and North Korea, they

deteriorated further. Its relations with China were strained severely by the purchase by the Noda administration (September 2011- December 2012) of three of the five Senkaku islands from their private owner on 11 September 2012 and the subsequent violent demonstrations in many parts of China that accompanied attacks on Japanese companies and products particularly cars. The demonstrations were even bigger and more damaging than those in 2005. The escalation of anti-Japan sentiments resulted in sharp decline in sales of Japanese products in China. Besides the demonstrations, it became more frequent for Chinese government vessels and aircraft to enter into Japanese territorial waters and airspace around and over the Senkaku islands. Tokyo's relations with Pyongyang worsened because of Pyongyang's satellite launch on 12 December 2012 that Tokyo regarded a *de facto* long-range ballistic missile test and because of Pyongyang's third nuclear test on February 2013.

In response to the increased tension with Beijing and Pyongyang, the Abe administration, which was formed after the LDP's landslide victory in the lower house election on 16 December 2012, has given the priority to strengthening Japan's alliance with the US. Also, it has expressed its intention to ease constitutional restrictions on Japan's military activities and revise the NDPG.

### Conclusion

Tokyo has described Japan as peace loving and pacifist. However, the transformation of its security policy, described above, makes one doubt this self-description. Japan does not seem to be an idealist state that actively tries to foster peace through peaceful means. Rather, it is more like a realist state, focusing on the change in military capabilities of neighbouring countries and pursuing countermeasures of strengthening military capability, enhancing alliances, and building new security ties with states that have similar security concerns.

Military countermeasures may be necessary and effective in dealing with some cases. However, it is questionable whether such measures are effective North Korea vis-à-vis and China. Japan's lopsided focus on military countermeasures carries a serious risk of undermining its security by triggering a spiralling military competition with the two countries. It would be too optimistic for Japan to assume that it can outcompete China, considering its serious weaknesses such as population decline

and the resultant further economic decline. To reduce the security threat posed by North Korea and China, Japan needs to improve relations with them. Yet, its diplomatic effort to do so has been limited. In a way, Japan's nationalistic, hard-line policy has helped undemocratic, hostile forces in the two countries to retain power, and has undermined those who support the policy of improving relations with Japan.

It is questionable that the Japanese government has tried to maximise the security and well-being of the Japanese people as a whole. Improving Japan's relations with China and North Korea could bring more benefit to the security and well-being, not only of the Japanese as a whole, but also of the Chinese, the North Koreans, and other peoples in East Asia and beyond. However, it requires a strong political leadership to abandon a nationalistic, hard-line policy and adopt a compromising policy in the face of strong criticism from hardliners. Unfortunately, leadership of that calibre is particularly lacking in Japan. Therefore, it seems highly unlikely that Japan's current security policy toward East Asia will change significantly in the foreseeable future.

### Endnotes

- 1 National Defense Program Outline (NDPO) (Official translation presented in Defense of Japan 1989), "Section 2: International Situation". NDPO and NDPG refer to the same document; the government currently uses NDPG.
- 2 NDPO, "Section 3: Basic Defense Concept, (2) Countering Aggression".
- 3 NDPO, "Section 3: Basic Defense Concept, (1) Prevention of Armed Invasion".
- 4 Japan and China normalised relations in 1972 and then signed a peace treaty in 1978.
- 5 Excluding overseas military exercises.
- 6 Since then, the SDF has participated in several UN peacekeeping operations, in Mozambique (1993), Golan Heights (1996), East Timor (1999, 2002), Nepal (2007), Sudan (2008), Haiti (2010), and South Sudan (2012). For a detailed review of Japan's involvement in UN PKOs, see, Gunjishi gakkai (Military History Association) (ed.), *PKO no shiteki kensho (Historical Investigation of PKO)*, Tokyo, Kinseisha, 2007.
- 7 National Defense Program Outline in and after FY 1996 (NDPO FY1996) (Official translation presented in Defense of Japan 2000), "III: Security of Japan and Roles of Defense Capabilities, (Role of defense capability), (3) Contribution to Creation of a More Stable Security Environment".
- 8 In Japan's definition, both US-led activities and UN peacekeeping operations fall into the category of international peace cooperation activities.
- 9 NDPO FY1996, "II. International Situation, 1".
- 10 Ibid., "II. International Situation, 3".
- 11 Ibid., "III. Security of Japan and Roles of Defense Capabilities (Japan-US Security Arrangements)".
- 12 Yomiuri Shimbun, 20 March 2003, evening edition, p. 1.
- 13 President Roh Moo-hyun (February 2003–February 2008) came to Japan only twice, in June 2003 and December 2004.
- 14 National Defense Program Guidelines, FY 2005- (NDPG FY2005) (Official translation presented in Defense of Japan 2008), "V. Future Defense Forces, 1. Role of the Defense Forces, (1) Effective Response to the New Threats and Diverse Situations, a. Response to Ballistic Missile Attacks".
- 15 Ibid., "II. Security Environment Surrounding Japan, 2".
- 16 Ibid.
- 17 Ibid.
- 18 Ibid., "II. Security Environment Surrounding Japan, 4".
- 19 Ibid., "V. Future Defense Forces, 1. Role of Defense Forces, (1) Effective Response to the New Threats and Diverse Situations, d".

- 20 Ibid., "III. Basic Principles of Japan's Security Policy, 3. Japan-U.S. Security Arrangements".
- 21 Ibid.
- 22 "Foreign Ministry's Spokesman on DPRK's Decision to Suspend Activities to Disable Nuclear Facilities", *KCNA*, 27 August 2008.
- 23 "II. Basic Principles of Japan's Security", National Defense Program Guidelines for FY 2011 and beyond (NDPG FY2011) (Provisional translation, presented at the website of the Japanese Ministry of Foreign Affairs, at www.mofa.go.jp/policy/security/pdfs/h23\_ndpg\_en.pdf [last visited 22 February 2013].
- 24 NDPG FY2011, "III. Security Environment Surrounding Japan, 2".
- 25 Ibid.
- 26 Ibid., "III. Security Environment Surrounding Japan, 3".
- 27 Ibid., "III. Security Environment Surrounding Japan, 2".
- 28 Ibid., "V. Basic Policies to Ensure Japan's Security, 3. Multi-layered Security Cooperation with the International Community, (1) Cooperation in the Asia-Pacific region, I".
- 29 Ibid., "IV. Basic Policies to Ensure Japan's Security, 2. Cooperation with its Ally".
- 30 Ibid.
- 31 Ibid., "IV. Basic Policies to Ensure Japan's Security, 1. Japan's Own Efforts (3) Japan's defense force -Dynamic Defense Force".
- 32 Ibid.

- 33 Ibid., "V. Future Defense Forces, 1. Roles of Defense Forces, (1) Effective deterrence and response, e. Response to ballistic missile attacks".
- 34 Furukawa Hajime, "Japan, ROK to Push Defense Cooperation", *Yomiuri Shimbun*, 12 January 2011.

# Russia's East Asia Policy: New Opportunities and Challenges<sup>\*</sup>

#### Anna KIREEVA\*\*

#### Abstract

Since the demise of the Soviet Union, Russia's foreign policy has evolved from a Westernoriented one to a multi-dimensional one, with substantial focus on East Asia. Russia's East Asian policy is stimulated by its bid for great power status in the region. Russian-Chinese relations have been the axis of Russia's East Asian foreign policy, though the relations have not been without their challenges. Overdependence on China threatens Russia's independent policy in the region and encourages Russia to search for ways to diversify its ties. The rise of China and the US counter-offensive have resulted in a changing strategic environment in East Asia. A need for balancing between the US and China has brought about ASEAN countries' desire to welcome Russia as a "balancer" in the region. It corresponds with Russia's course on intensifying cooperation with East Asian countries in order to facilitate the development of Siberia and the Russian Far East.

### Key Words

Russia, East Asia, Foreign Policy, Security.

### Introduction

Asia has every reason to view Russia as a crucial element of military and political stability as well as of sustainable development.... We may effectively contribute to solving the region's energy, transport, scientific, technological and environmental problems, and our partners are well aware of that. Regional military and political stability, collective efforts counter international terrorism, to emergency response cooperation, or dialogue between civilizations are unimaginable without Russia.... We accord priority to the development of economic cooperation focusing on the areas where we have distinct advantages. I am primarily referring to the energy sector, including atomic energy, transport and space exploration.<sup>1</sup>

Russian Foreign Minister Sergey Lavrov

<sup>\*</sup> The article is prepared with the support of Russian Foundation for Humanities (grant project № 12-03-00538a). I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Alexei D. Voskiressenski and Associate Professor Ekaterina V. Koldunova for their comments on a draft of this article, and to Associate Professor Natalia V. Rodoman for giving me a tool of English political vocabulary to write it.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Anna Kireeva is a PhD candidate at MGIMO-University, the MFA of Russia. She is a Coordinator of the MA degree programme in World Regional Studies and International Relations, "Politics and Economics of World Regions", and a Lecturer in Asian and African Studies at MGIMO-University, the MFA of Russia.

A need for balancing between the US and China brings about ASEAN's desire to welcome Russia as a "balancer" in the region.

As incumbent Russia's Foreign Minister Sergey Lavrov noted, Russia is not a newcomer in East Asia. Russia has enjoyed contacts with the countries there since the 17th century, and played an important role in international relations in the region in the 19th and 20th centuries. Although it might be a disputed point, one cannot deny the role of the Soviet Union in the victory of the national liberation movements in Asia.<sup>2</sup> Not to be overlooked is the fact that though a vast Russian empire was made up of numerous peripheral territories situated in Asia, including Siberia, the Far East and Central Asia, they cannot be regarded as classical colonies for a number of reasons. Firstly, Russia's expansion was supported, or at least not opposed, by the local elites. Secondly, Russia's periphery, which was integrated into the empire, was not plundered, as in classical colonial model, but on the contrary subsidised. Thirdly, the peripheral elites were not discriminated against, but incorporated into the national elite.<sup>3</sup>

Since Russia has never been a classical colonial power and has been significantly

influenced by both the West and the East, in domestic discourse there has never been clarity about what kind of a country Russia actually is. One school of thought believes that Russia is a European power, and President Medvedev described Russia as one of the three main pillars of the European civilisation, alongside the European Union and the United States. As two thirds of its territory lies in Asia and one third in Europe, Russia throughout its history has been under the influence of both Eastern and Western civilisations. The Russian political system has differed considerably from those in Europe, while Russian culture has been notably distinct from Asian ones. Hence, according to another long-standing tradition, Russia is often regarded as both a Western and Eastern country, a Eurasian one, whereas outside it is mostly perceived as neither a Western country nor an Eastern one. There is a school of thought that holds that Russia is an Asian power, although this point of view is mostly rejected by the majority of the Russians. The 2000s witnessed an attempt to overcome this dilemma of Russia's ambivalence. A newly emerging concept of Russian geopolitical positioning being discussed at the moment argues that Russia is a Euro-Pacific power, which means it has both European and Asia-Pacific dimensions in geographical terms, but in terms of its political characteristics is a European power.4

The existence of so many contradictory perceptions makes Russian foreign policy very complicated. Moreover, the Soviet legacy has imposed certain limitations upon it. The Soviet bloc, which also included many Asian and African countries, served as a self-contained military, political and economic system. After the collapse of the Soviet Union the main foreign policy goal of the Russian elite was to gain recognition and support from the developed Western world. The logic of this strategic course was quite justified: with the collapse of the bipolar system the basic aim of those which "had lost" was to join the "winners" in order to become a part of the international political and economic system. However, practical implementation of this Westernoriented policy in the mid-1990s clearly demonstrated its imbalances and contributed to re-launching the Eastern dimension of Russia's foreign policy. Although such regions as the Middle East, North and South Africa and others are of great importance to Russian foreign policy, its primary focus has been on East Asia. Dwelling on the reasons for such a decision, it could be argued that a number of East Asian countries. including Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, Singapore and others, which are now perceived as sources of economic growth, have quite successfully managed to integrate Eastern and Western political and economic models and represent

a desirable model of development for Russia.<sup>5</sup>

However, before exploring the nature of Russia's East Asia policy, it is necessary to establish some conceptual clarity in the use of the key concept, namely that of a "great power". The meaning of this concept in Russia's foreign policymaking cannot be underestimated. because aspiring to a great power status has been a unifying theme for the Russian ruling elite from Yeltsin to Putin and to Medvedev.<sup>6</sup> There have been a number of studies concerning great powers in history, but for the aims of this article only the term itself and its criteria are of actual importance, and it is worth dwelling on the approaches to define a great power. Paul Kennedy defines a great power as a state which is able to stand up to any other state in war.<sup>7</sup> Robert Gilpin characterises great powers as countries that are able to establish and enforce the basic rules that influence their behaviour and that of inferior states in the system hierarchy.8 Kenneth Waltz lays down five criteria for being a great power: population and territory, resource endowment, economic capability, political stability and competence, and military strength.9

Barry Buzan and Ole Weaver offer a more coherent definition for and criteria of a great power, which can be explained by the fact that their regional security complex theory (RSCT)10 has constructivist roots and is quite operable both in the realist and liberal perspectives. According to them, classifying any actor as a great power requires a combination of material capability (as understood by Waltz), formal recognition of that status by others, and a response by the other great powers on the basis of systemlevel calculations about the present and future distribution of power in world politics. The last criterion is behavioural in nature and means that great powers are taken into consideration not only when dealing with the countries of the region they belong to, but also when operating in different regions and on the global political system level.<sup>11</sup> This understanding of a great power concept will serve as the methodological basis of the article.

During the early 1990s the primary direction of Russian foreign policy was the Western one, and the Eastern was subordinate to the former.

The objective of this article is to provide an account of Russia's foreign policy evolution towards East Asia, its relations with key partners, and the prospects of its role as one of the new poles in the region. This article is structured around three issues. The first part examines the evolution of Russia's foreign policy from Yeltsin to Putin and to Medvedev, with special reference to competing visions on Russia's strategic goals within the political elite. The second part concentrates on the achievements and blemishes of the Russian-Chinese strategic partnership as well as Russian relations with other East Asian states and Russia's accession to regional multilateral organisations. The third part is devoted to the analysis of the Russia's new bid for great power status in the East Asia region-the impediments to, and prospects of-its implementation.

# An Evolution of Russia's East Asian Policy from Yeltsin to Putin and Medvedev

After the demise of the Soviet Union and the emergence of a democratic but considerably weaker Russian Federation a new foreign policy course was proclaimed by the political elite. In the early 1990s this course was put forward by the Russian President Boris Yeltsin's (1991-1999) first team, which had little experience in foreign policymaking in a democratising country. Moreover, they could not rely on any historical experiences. Foreign Minister Andrey Kozyrev, who appeared to be an advocate of a Western-oriented foreign policy, and the President believed that good relations with Europe and the USA were important for Russia to become a part of the international community. This idea in fact corresponded with Mikhail Gorbachev's concept of building a common "European house". The main goal of this policy was quite pragmatic, however, and entailed enjoying Western support not only in the political sphere, but also in gaining access to financial assistance and credit lines in order to ensure a Western-oriented development. Consequently, such a foreign policy course left little room for other dimensions. However, it is instructive to note that East Asia was not completely forgotten during this period. The Russian Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA) viewed major Asian countries as the rear of Russia's relations with the West, Above all China was considered a key country, and good neighbourly and pragmatic relations, most notably border trade, were emphasised.<sup>12</sup> A reliable partner was of vital importance for Russia in its bid to ensure security through good relations with NATO and the USA, which was seen as the only way to stabilize Russia after the collapse of the USSR.13 Therefore, we can conclude that during the early 1990s the primary direction of Russian foreign policy was the Western one, and the East was subordinate to the former. Russian leaders were preoccupied with the internal agenda, including reforming the political system and establishing a market-based economy. As Russia's GDP roughly declined in Yeltsin's period (by

60 % compared with 1990), by 1998 Russia had lost its erstwhile role and almost all influence in East Asia.<sup>14</sup>

Primakov voiced out a strategic triangle of three states: Russia, China and India with a stress on a multipolar world, aimed at counterbalancing American unilateralism in world politics.

The mid-1990s saw a new figure in Russian foreign policy, Yevgeny Primakov, who epitomised an urgent need for altering the strategic course following Russia's economic troubles, political turbulence. and reduced influence in the international arena. But one of the most important factors that contributed to a change in the foreign policy course was the dissolution of Yugoslavia and the West's unilateral decision to agree to the emergence of new states after the collapse of the Soviet Union. By 1994 President Yeltsin had begun reconsidering Russia's lean towards the West, and partnership with China was regarded as the centrepiece of Russian diplomacy. Primakov argued that there was a strategic triangle of three states, Russia, China and India, and stressed a multipolar world, which was aimed at counterbalancing American politics.<sup>15</sup> unilateralism in world However, as the changes took some time

to implement, the 1990s are usually characterised as a decade of degradation in Russia's role in East Asia.

In 2010 Asia was named as an additional source for Russian modernization, while previously these sources included only the EU and the USA.

The late 1990s and the early 2000s witnessed a shift in Russian foreign policy to a more pragmatic and balanced stance, better aimed at realising the country's national interests. It was aimed in general at providing the necessary safeguards on Russia's borders in order to pay attention to domestic concerns, preventing conflicts in the proximity of Russian territory, facilitating economic cooperation with all Eastern countries their notwithstanding ideological standing if it proves profitable to Russia, and ensuring the territorial integrity and control over the Russian Far East (RFE).<sup>16</sup> Under President Vladimir Putin (2000-2008) Russia managed to stop internal political and economic chaos, to reduce armed conflicts inside the country, and to restore a decent level of social and economic development. As Russia has returned as a strong state,<sup>17</sup> many foreign policy experts called this phenomenon **Russia's** resurgence.<sup>18</sup> As a result, Russia's foreign policy

under Foreign Ministers Igor Ivanov and Sergey Lavrov its Eastern dimension gained momentum. It became especially clear after the 2007 Munich speech by Putin, which demonstrated divergence in positions with the West and Russia's more assertive foreign policy<sup>19</sup>. Emphasis has mostly been put on the Asia-Pacific region, as only these countries could provide resources for the development of Siberia and the RFE.<sup>20</sup> In 2008's The Foreign Policy Concept of the Russian Federation's list of regional priorities Asia-Pacific held the fourth position after the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS), Europe and the USA. In addition to the region's role in developing Siberia and the RFE the government's concept of 2008 highlights "the need for strengthening regional cooperation in the fields of countering terrorism, ensuring security and maintaining a dialogue between civilizations".<sup>21</sup>

abandoned its pro-Western stance and

President Dmitry Medvedev (2008-2012), Putin's successor, proposed a modernisation agenda as the strategy for Russia's development.<sup>22</sup> Some experts believe that despite the differences in the foreign policy strategies of the three leaders- Yeltsin, Putin and Medvedev-the main goal has been to restore Russia's status as one of the main actors in the world, a status it had lost with the collapse of the Soviet Union. However, the end of the 2000s highlighted a

definite shift in Russia's foreign policy priorities towards Asia. In 2010 Asia was named as an additional source for Russian modernisation, while previously these sources included only the EU and the USA.23 As the "centre of gravity" of economic growth and geopolitics is shifting to East Asia, Russia's MFA sees its priority in taking proactive measures to establish favourable external conditions for the modernisation and innovative development of Russia. The East Asia region is described as one of the key priorities in Russia's foreign policy. Moreover, the economic and technological rise of the region should be used in order to facilitate economic and social development of Siberia and the Russian Far East. Two main tracks in this process include improving bilateral relations and participation in multilateral organisations.<sup>24</sup> This is called multivector cooperation in Russian foreign policy discourse, and reflects a necessity to foster economic ties and take part in shaping a new security architecture in the Asia-Pacific region.<sup>25</sup>

Analysing the effects of Russia's foreign policy, one can state that while there was a consensus over the main foreign policy goals in the 1990s, there were many difficulties in shaping policies and taking practical actions to attain these goals.<sup>26</sup> Along with this, underestimating economic security and "great-power overzealousness" has been viewed by many scholars as the main impediments to a successful Russian foreign policy in the region.<sup>27</sup> However, the latter is a rather controversial point. There has been a plethora of more recent studies that have cast doubt on the idea that aspiring to great power status has had a negative impact on Russia's policy towards the region. Thus, the view that Putin's aim of restoring Russia's great power status has led to a more coherent policy in East Asia seems to be more reasonable.<sup>28</sup>

In this respect, special reference should be made to the key actors in Russia's East Asia policymaking. Determining the actual influence of various factions in Russia's foreign policymaking would be a very thorny way, because the actual process highly depends on personal contacts, which are difficult to define and can differ considerably from those roles outlined in the constitution. Finally, although the president has a final say in foreign policy, the entities that influence his decisions remain obscure. This has lead to a scarcity of literature on this topic, as researchers focus on more accessible subjects. Moreover, a bulk of Western works are dominated either by the stereotypes of imperialistic thinking in Russia's foreign policy or, in contrast, by the perceptions of genuine democratic transition in policymaking.<sup>29</sup> However, this issue is of significant importance, because only a thorough insight into who the Russian

foreign policy elite are can one make a substantiated assessment of this or that policy and grasp the idea of who are the proponents and opponents of this or that decision. The most influential actors comprise the President, the Presidential Administration (PA), the Security Council (SB), the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MID), the intelligence services, both internal (FSB) and external (SVR, and the GRU), the Defence Ministry (MO), and the Russian Armed Forces.<sup>30</sup>

Different factions competed over the influence on the President, which turned out to be one of the reasons of Russia's incoherent policy in the 1990s.

As Russia is a presidential republic and a federation, it comes as no great surprise that the apex of executive authority lies within the institute of the president, with all the ministers and agencies directors reporting directly to him. The functions of the Security Council seem to be quite significant since it is in charge of responding to security challenges and oversees national security.<sup>31</sup> While there is a view that it primarily acts as a forum and has no real influence,32 another outlook argues that it serves as a kind of president's private council, where major foreign policy decisions are discussed and decided upon.<sup>33</sup> The president also has a

50

foreign policy aide and there is a special foreign policy division in the PA.<sup>34</sup>

Nevertheless the role of these institutions was different during the terms of Presidents Yeltsin and Putin. Some scholars argue that the profile of relations with East Asia was low in the 1990s as under Yeltsin there was a marked dichotomy between aspirations to assert a great power role in the region, to participate in the regional decision-making process and regional fora on the one hand, and economic and political chaos in the country, resulting in confusion in foreign policy decision making on the other. During that period the role of Russia's MFA was frequently sidelined because other domestic actors, such as individual ministries agencies, acted independently and and without any central control.35 As a result, different factions competed over influence on the President, which turned out to be one of the reasons for Russia's incoherent policy in the 1990s. Vladimir Putin, in contrast, began by building his own team around him with his own people, mostly his colleagues from St. Petersburg, including former President Dmitry Medvedev. Under Putin and Medvedev the bureaucratic rivalry became covert and the PA and foreign policy aide Sergey Prihod'ko enjoyed primacy in a more centralised foreign policymaking process. However, the PA staff is relatively small and there are few experts on East Asia, and their scope of responsibility is mostly limited to organisation and protocol work. The relationship between the PA and MFA can be depicted in the following way: the president and the PA set out the overall East Asia agenda, whereas the MFA proposes more detailed initiatives to be discussed with the PA.<sup>36</sup> In addition to that, the prime minister can be quite influential in the foreign policy hierarchy, taking concrete measures and steps, as was epitomised by Putin when he was the prime minister under President Medvedev.

As far as the other "traditional" foreign policymakers are concerned, the main function of the intelligence services, especially of the SVR, is to provide the president with information and advice on all major foreign policy security decisions, including on East Asia. Its role as the key source of information was especially valued by President Yeltsin, and is still relatively high under Putin. The functions of Russia's Ministry of Foreign Affairs are much more numerous and it can be regarded as the core foreign policy body, coordinating, initiating and implementing foreign policy in East Asia in practically all spheres. It is characterised as the most influential body in terms of resources, experience and specialists. Though its role as a foreign policy coordinator was frequently undermined under Yeltsin, the MFA was, and still is, considered to be the main actor in Russia's East Asian policy.<sup>37</sup> Practically, the MFA enjoys almost undisputable authority over specific foreign policy issues, for example, Russia's "strategic partnership" with China.<sup>38</sup>

As for sectoral actors, which include economic and energy ministries, state companies like Rosoboroneksport<sup>39</sup> and Rostekhnologii<sup>40</sup> and others, they have enjoyed some kind of authority over the issues within their scope of responsibility, but mostly have had to coordinate their actions with the MFA.41 The Russian parliament's role in foreign policymaking was reduced to a minimum under the 1993 Constitution and includes the ratification of international treaties. Under Putin it became a "mouthpiece for views which Putin would like the outside world to ponder, but which he would prefer not to express himself".42 Academic institutions and think-tanks specialising on Africa and Asia have been playing quite a marginal role in foreign policymaking, and they diminished over time because they receive less state support now. Most of the academic influence on Russian initiatives is considered to be wielded through personal contacts with elites rather than through institutional methods.43 Deprived from any significant influence on Russia's foreign policy as a whole, the Russian Far East elite did have some impact on the resolution of the border issues, especially as there was strong opposition to a border resolution with Japan and China.<sup>44</sup>

Summarising the above, Yeltsin mostly employed the "divide and rule" attitude to foreign policymaking, which resulted in chaos and factional rivalry, led to an incoherent foreign policy course, and the absence of a clear strategy at re-establishing a great power status. Russian policy during the 1990s is often described as reactive, ad hoc, and often contradictory. On the contrary, power consolidation under Putin resulted in a more comprehensive and proactive approach towards the region. A bid for great power status made Russian foreign policy elite better define its interests and goals in East Asia and understand that a substantial economic presence in the region as well as internal strength are of vital importance in this respect.45

# China and Beyond: Bilateral and Multilateral Dimensions of Russia's Foreign Policy

As China has been the core East Asian country in Russia's foreign policy towards the region, a special mention should be made of the Russian-Chinese strategic partnership as the "axis" of Russian policy in the East. Russian-Chinese relations managed to overcome a confrontational period in the 1960-1980s, and have now created a strategic partnership. Their foundation was laid down by Mikhail Gorbachev's visit to China in 1989, and the 1990s saw the beginning of political and militarytechnical cooperation between the states. In 1996 a strategic partnership aimed at promoting cooperation in the 21st century was proclaimed. In 2001 a Treaty of Good-Neighbourliness and Friendly Cooperation was signed, which paved the way for enhanced political, economic and military cooperation. In 2004 a border dispute was finally settled after long negotiations and there were a number of border agreements. Russian and Chinese leaders voiced a vision of a "new world order" in 2005 and a joint initiative on strengthening security in the Asia-Pacific in 2010. The 2000s saw advanced energy cooperation, in particular in 2010 when a spur from the East Siberia-Pacific Ocean (ESPO) pipeline was completed from Russian Skovordino to Chinese Daqing. As far as regional framework is concerned, 1996 saw the creation of Shanghai Five, including Russia, China, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan on the basis of Treaty of Deepening Military Trust in Border Regions. It laid foundations for the Shanghai Cooperation Organization, formed in 2001 after Uzbekistan's accedence, which comprises security and economic agenda.

It is instructive to note that the rationale for the **Russian-Chinese** strategic partnership included opposition to unilateral actions and support for a polycentric world order, based on respect for mutual sovereignty. The concept of a polycentric world was originally proposed by Chinese policymakers and was then supported by Russian leaders.<sup>46</sup> In this respect America's unilateral actions in Kosovo and Iraq objectively strengthened this partnership. There is a divergence of opinions whether the strategic partnership has an ultimate aim to curb American unipolar preeminence or has a pragmatic, non-confrontational side, which helps contain Western global politics.<sup>47</sup> China's rapid economic development and Russia's relative 1990s economic weakness in the stimulated Russia's favourable policy towards China as it was seen as best serving Russia's national interests. As far as the economic rationale is concerned, China was in need of Russia's high-tech exports, including arms, and there was no distinguished asymmetry in the trade balance in the 1990s. Trade ties, military exchanges and diplomatic support vis-avis the West was used in both countries to underpin their standing in the world, as direct competition with it would have been difficult for both countries if they acted separately. However, as Russian scholar Alexei Bogaturov notes, China has been considered as both "a sea of potentials" and "an ocean of fears".48 While some experts emphasize the benefits of Russian-Chinese cooperation, based on distinguishing non-Western political systems, others maintain that such policy could lead to a more archaic and authoritarian regime in Russia, subordinate to Chinese strategic, political and economic interests. China's rise facilitated the discussion in Russia's political elite whether to pursue a policy aimed to foster a common political space with Europe and the USA in cooperation with China or to create a common anti-American, anti-Western and pro-authoritarian Chinese- centered economic, political and security space<sup>49</sup>. Nevertheless, present Russian-Chinese relations should be distinguished from an anti- US alliance, as both sides value their relations with the world leader too much to start such a rivalry. Even if despite all the problems such an alliance emerged, Russia would be likely to play a subordinate role in it, which does not correspond to its national interests.<sup>50</sup>

A number of blemishes and challenges within Russian-Chinese relations should also be touched upon. First of all, at issue here is the imbalanced trade structure: though the 1990s saw a different situation, since the beginning of the 2000s Russian exports have mostly consisted of energy, raw materials, fishery and timber, while Chinese exports have been to a large degree composed of machinery and manufactured goods. The Chinese economic orientation generates

a threat of Russia becoming a resource appendix, leaving it on the "other side of the barricades" from the leading world, including China itself.51 In this sense experts argue that China cannot serve as a "beacon of innovation-based model of development" or supply Russia with high-tech equipment, as it is interested only in Russia's resources (except military know-how to a certain extent) and itself uses second-hand Western technologies purchased or copied outright from the West.<sup>52</sup> Secondly, there is a threat to Russia's independent policy in East Asia due to the concept of the "Beijing consensus", which entails restructuring the world order with China in the lead<sup>53</sup> and, inevitably, accepting Chinese interests as priorities.54 Thirdly, many experts believe that China is trying to "squeeze Russia out of" Central Asia, wielding "soft power" and enhancing energy cooperation through the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO).<sup>55</sup> Fourthly, the development of the RFE should be regarded as the most important issue and goal, as far as Russia's East Asian policy is concerned. Only 7 million people live to the east of Lake Baikal, while the Chinese population in the neighbouring provinces totals more than 280 million people. Such circumstances provide а breeding ground for perceptions of the so-called "yellow peril" (zheltaya ugroza), which is manifested in the fear of uncontrolled

Chinese migration and Chinese business control over the RFE's and Siberia's natural resources.<sup>56</sup>

Russia's relations with Japan were a top priority in Russia's Asian policy in the beginning of the 1990s as Japan was considered as one of the leaders of the developed world.

In this context special reference should be made to the development problems in the Russian Far East. Despite several economic plans to foster development in the RFE and to present the region as Russia's gate to the Asia-Pacific region, the reality falls short of this idea. A new model of its development has not been devised yet, and the region is currently facing an array of problems: dwindling population, de-industrialisation, deforestation (due to a vast export to China), largescale corruption, "black market" trading schemes, and general degradation.<sup>57</sup> Some experts maintain that a Chinese takeover of the region is likely to take forms not of migration, but of trade and investment domination and that Russia is already increasingly showing signs of economic dependence on China.58

The Programme for Cooperation between the Regions of the Far East and Eastern Siberia and the Provinces of Northeast China up to 2018, adopted in 2009, is aimed at constructing new border crossings, boosting cooperation transportation, and developing in "cooperation zones" and other spheres of bilateral relations. Many Russian scholars have been especially critical of it since most of the projects planned are connected with either developing raw materials, timber harvesting and agriculture on the Russian territory with increasing Chinese staff, or with producing final products on Chinese territory. Labelled This in turn is likely to lead only to the economic and ecological deterioration of the RFE.59 The illegal Russia-China trade is estimated at large sums, from one forth to a half of official trade turnover, and only contributes to underdevelopment in the RFE.60 Moreover, in exchange for US \$15 and US \$10 billion Chinese credits for, respectively, Russian oil companies Rosneft and Transneft to complete the ESPO oil pipeline, Russia guaranteed the supply of 300 million tons of oil over the next 20 years at a fixed price (lower than the average price level in recent years).<sup>61</sup> This means that despite proclaiming Russian-Chinese relations in the political sphere as strategic and enjoying convergent opinions on building a "new world order", economic disparity, aggravated by China's lack of interest in buying more highly processed Russian goods, and ambivalent perceptions that

Russia "still owes" the Chinese part of the Far Eastern territories threaten the status of this partnership.<sup>62</sup>

Yet there is a strong belief that a strategic partnership with China is a major safeguard against Russia's diminishing position in East Asia, and that despite all the imbalances China is the most likely country to facilitate modernisation and development in the RFE since it enjoys priority in the region's investment list. Russia's ability to promote multipolar world order is heavily dependent on its cooperation with China, which can be regarded as a kind of force multiplier for Russia's foreign policy. The strong point of Russian-Chinese relations is that if a way to overcome their drawbacks is found, they will significantly contribute to the development of both countries and their standing in East Asia.63 The new quality of China's role and place in world politics and global economy has made many Russian scholars suggest that Russian-Chinese relations need a complete restructuring and even a "reload" in order to form a mutually beneficial pragmatic strategic partnership.64

It would also be unfair to say that Russia's government does not realise the urgent need to develop the RFE. For instance, even on the energy issue Russia has been trying to diversify its directions: despite China's lobbying that the ESPO

pipeline should end in Chinese Daqing, the main pipeline extends to the Sea of Japan without passing through Chinese territory, thus giving access to other consumers in the Asia-Pacific region (Japan, Korea, etc) and making it impossible for the Chinese to dictate oil prices.65 The Russian government also adopted a Federal Target Programme of Economic and Social Development of the Far East and Transbaikalia 2008-2013, which entails allocating large sums of money on development of the RFE, especially on developing Vladivostok's infrastructure in the run-up to the 2012 Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) Summit there. The plan drew substantial criticism because although it implied pouring extensive funds into several grandiose projects, such as building a bridge to Russky island, it was believed to do little to promote good governance and tackle corruption and bureaucratic impediments to developing business in the region.<sup>66</sup> However, APEC Summit proved to be quite a success for Russia's bid to present Vladivostok as Russian gates to the Asia-Pacific and Russia's seriousness in becoming an integral part of the region, although President Putin's concept of Russia's role in the integration of Eurasian common space was not widely appreciated.<sup>67</sup> About 650 billion rubbles (US \$ 21 billion) were spent on developing the region's infrastructure due to the summit.68

In addition to that, a recent decision to create a state-owned corporation in charge of development in Siberia and the RFE with approximately US \$60 billion in funds up to 2020<sup>69</sup> and the creation of Ministry for Development of Russian Far East in May, 2012 in charge of the region's development<sup>70</sup> raises hopes of a new strategic course for the modernisation of RFE.

Russia's official position is primarily concerned with North Korea abandoning nuclear tests, constructing a new security architecture in the region and securing a place in the North Korean talks.

As for other countries of East Asia, Russia's relations with Japan were a top priority in Russia's Asian policy in the beginning of the 1990s as Japan was considered one of the leaders of the developed world. Mikhail Gorbachev's visit to Japan in 1991 was considered a breakthrough, as it inaugurated the beginning of a new era of normalisation in Russian-Japanese relations with a hope of signing a peace treaty and settling the territorial dispute, remnants from the end of the Second World War. The dispute over the Kuril Islands resulted from the Kuril Islands and Sakhalin being passed from Japan to the Soviet Union under the terms that ended the Second World War. However, Japan does not recognise it owing to the fact that the Soviet Union was not a signatory state to the 1951 San Francisco Treaty.

Japan's ambition settle the to territorial dispute with an emerged democratic Russia promptly and on its terms turned out to be unsuccessful, as Japan failed to connect this issue with economic cooperation and financial assistance for Russian reforms.71 The Tokyo Declaration of 1993 brought out divergent positions on the border issue and, in spite of numerous top-level meetings in 1997 and 1998, where a goal was proclaimed to sign a peace treaty by 2000, nothing has been achieved on this matter. Economic and technical cooperation stagnated despite the enormous potential of its development, reaching a new low in 2002. This was mainly due to Japan's reluctance to invest in a Russia lacking economic transparency and having numerous bureaucratic impediments. In 2003 a joint action plan was signed, aimed at a comprehensive development of political, cultural relations.72 economic and In 2005 additional agreements were concluded, adding momentum to economic cooperation between Russia and Japan, and resulting in Japanese business entering the Russian market (especially the automobile industry). Japan also took an active part in energy

cooperation in the Sakhalin-2 project, and is a major consumer of Russian liquefied natural gas (LNG). Japan is Russia's second largest trading partner in the region after China and ranks eighth as far as investment in Russia is concerned.<sup>73</sup>

Nevertheless, despite the fact that economic cooperation has been on the rise, no progress has been made on settling the territorial dispute so far and President Medvedev's visit to the Kuril Islands in 2010 evoked fierce criticism from Japan's leaders, exacerbating mutual perceptions of bilateral relations. The territorial dispute is constantly raised as a domestic issue in Japan, serving the goals of gaining internal support pending another forthcoming election.<sup>74</sup> Despite this, Russian- Japanese relations have been progressing constructively and have a huge potential for development.

The Soviet imbalance towards North Korea shifted in favour of South Korea in the 1990s. After recognising South Korea in 1990, Moscow put an emphasis on developing economic relations and technical cooperation with this country, which is currently Russia's third largest trading partner in East Asia after China and Japan, and a promising source of high technology. This had negative impact on Russian-North Korean relations as Russia became marginalised in Korean affairs despite its valid claim

of having a direct interest in the issue. Moscow was completely left out of the US-negotiated Agreed Framework in 1994, and negotiations in 1996, in which the USA. China and both Koreas took part. Despite Russian initiatives to promote multilateral talks on the North Korean issue, its earlier disengagement from North Korea mainly for economic reasons reduced its clout on the Korean peninsula. However. Moscow as supported the South Korean "sunshine policy" and took steps to improve relations with North Korea, including Putin's visit and the signing of the Russian-North Korean friendship treaty in 2000. Russia has tried to create the image of an active mediator in the nuclear issue. The friendship treaty replaced the 1961 Friendship and Mutual Assistance Treaty, although the provisions of Russia's military assistance in the case of military attack were removed from the new agreement. However, despite these successful steps and some improvements time had already been lost.75

The second Korean nuclear crisis (2002-2006) gave Russia an opportunity to exercise its influence over North Korea and to convene a multilateral organisation, namely the six-party talks. Russia's unofficial aim was also to prevent the breakdown or collapse of the North Korean regime as that would have unpredictable consequences for Russian security with Russia's 19- kilometer

border with North Korea. Russia's participation in the six-party talks was mainly perceived as an acknowledgement of its great power status by the major northeast Asian players and that it had an ability to maintain the current balance in the region between the US alliance system and China.<sup>76</sup> Russia's official position is primarily concerned with North Korea abandoning nuclear tests, constructing a new security architecture in the region, and securing a place in the North Korean talks. The latter is of utmost importance for Russia, since a place in the talks is perceived as a way to wield its influence in the region and to establish itself as a reliable economic. partner for both Koreas. The breakdown of the talks owing to the third nuclear crisis in 2009 is considered a major loss for Russia from this perspective, and stimulates Russia to promote the revival of the talks on North Korea.77 Russia made efforts to improve its position on the Korean peninsula in the absence of the talks as the only available mechanism to make its words heard. In 2009-2010, Russia took steps to improve its relations with North Korea (such as debt rescheduling and food aid in 2011), and proposed a number of major trilateral economic projects including the linking of the Trans-Siberian railway to the Korean railroad infrastructure, constructing powerlines through North Korea to South Korea, and a natural

gas pipeline throughout the Korean peninsula. Given the political risks of their implementation, these projects present a real opportunity to transform South-North Korean relations into constructive ones and thus strengthen Russia's standing on the Korean peninsula.<sup>78</sup> In October 2011 a railway road connecting Russian Khasan with North Korean Rajin port was completed with Russia developing a container pier in Rajin.<sup>79</sup>

Russia's relations with East Asian states vary from strategic partnership and closer economic ties with China to developing economic cooperation with Japan, South Korea and ASEAN states.

The dissolution of the Soviet Union augmented Taiwan's interest in a new democratic country not merely as an export market but as a potential ally against China. Despite Taiwan's attempts to create a powerful lobby in favour of establishing official diplomatic relations, it seemed a desperate goal because of a history of fierce political antagonism, lack in pro-Taiwanese politicians, and Russia's objective interest in the vast potential of the Chinese market. In 1992 Taiwan successfully erected the institutional foundations for quasiofficial relations with Russia: the Moscow-Taipei Economic and Cultural Coordination Commission and the Taipei-Moscow Economic and Cultural Coordination Commission, which remain the main channels. Presumably, the decision to focus on China in its East Asian policy made the Russian government reject the Taiwan Relations Act, proposed by a marginal populist Liberal Democratic Party (LDPR), and possible arms sales to Taiwan. Russia has officially expressed "firm support" for the "one China" principle since the early 1990s, and publicly adopted it in 2001 strategic partnership treaty with China. This did not prevent Russia from enjoying economic cooperation, mostly in importing Taiwanese machinery and electronics. It should also be noted that a complete resolution of the "Taiwanese issue" is not beneficial to Russia in terms of geopolitics, as it would boost China's might dramatically, and thus have an unpredictable impact on Russia's role in the region.80

Though Russia became a dialogue partner with the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) in 1996 and in 2004 signed the Treaty of Amity and Cooperation in Southeast Asia. Russia's regional role was initially perceived mostly with great scepticism owing to its inability to project economic and military power in the region. It was

not until 2005 that the first ASEAN-Russia summit took place. The main problem, however, was that Russian-ASEAN relations were far from being characterised as "substantive" because of poor trade turnover as well as a low investment rate. On these grounds in 2005 Russia was rejected for both making these meetings regular and joining the East Asia Summit (EAS).81 Above all, Vietnam is considered to be a reliable traditional friend in Southeast Asia, making it one of Russia's strategic partners in East Asia.82 Besides joint projects on oil and gas exploration with Vietnam and other Southeast Asian states, Russia is also enjoying growing cooperation in the arms trade (for instance with Indonesia and Vietnam), biotechnologies, pharmaceuticals, information and education technologies, natural exploration, disaster space relief, tourism, civil aviation, and in implementing a number of infrastructure projects, including the construction of electric power plants (for example with Cambodia) and nuclear power stations (for example with Vietnam and Myanmar).83

A prior analysis of Russia's foreign policy in East Asia shows that Russia's aspirations to become a great power have been manifested through establishing the country as an indispensible and unalienable part of the region, and in strengthening existing bilateral relations while forging new ones. Russia also took steps to assure that it acceded to all regional multilateral institutions. Russia has been a member of the ASEAN Regional Forum (ARF) since its establishment in 1993, promoting preventive diplomacy and conflict resolution mechanisms and a multipolarity vision. In 1998 Russia joined APEC and hosted its 2012 summit, with an aim to make Vladivostok Russia's economic outpost in the Asia-Pacific region.84 In 2010 Russia joined the Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM) and in 2011 the newly established East Asia Summit (EAS) to integrate itself into the world economy and to take part in building the regional security architecture.

Strategic partnership with China gives Russia opportunities to influence China by means of bilateral contacts more successfully than any agreements or negotiations in the China-US relations can.

Taking all the aforesaid into consideration, Russia has worked hard on joining virtually all regional fora and has become an ASEAN dialogue partner. Russia's relations with East Asian states vary from the strategic partnership and close economic ties with China, to developing economic cooperation with Japan, South Korea and ASEAN states. Despite various impediments, Russia is currently implementing largescale projects with regional partners and Russia's economic relations with East Asia will undoubtedly have a huge potential.

# Russia's New Role as a Balancer in East Asia: Perils and Prospects

All in all, Russia's relations with East Asia have improved steadily over the last decade, not only in political, but also in economic and industrial domains. For instance, successful joint projects, such as Sakhalin-1 and Sakhalin-2, are being implemented.85 In the 1990s Russia's trade with East Asian countries (see Table 1) amounted to approximately one fifth of Russia's total turnover, but Russia's share in the total trade of the region was absurdly small, less than 1 %. Experts consider weak infrastructure and unfavourable legal conditions as the major reason for limited economic links. Another distinguishing feature of this period was overdependence on exporting raw materials and natural resources, labelled the "primitivisation" of trade. The late 1990s witnessed a consensus over the necessity to boost economic engagement with the region. Putin launched a more pragmatic economic policy, aimed at pursuing achievable goals reflecting the national interests of Russia. Moreover, developing economic ties were perceived as a means of matching words with deeds in Russia's foreign policy.<sup>86</sup>

Trade dynamics in the 2000s (See Table 2) show that Putin's course to improve investment conditions, legal protection, and developing infrastructure did have a positive effect as far as economic relations with East Asia are concerned. Japan, South Korea, China and other states initiated substantial investment projects in Russia in the late 2000s,87 President Medvedev's modernisation agenda also contributed to advancing economic ties, as the emphasis has been put on developing high-tech production. Though Russia's trade turnover with East Asia significantly decreased in 2009 on account of the global economic crisis, it managed to restore its pre-crisis level in 2010 and achieved new heights in 2011. In the 12 years since 2000 Russia's trade figures with East Asia have grown more than tenfold, although East Asia's share still roughly equals one fifth of the total Russian trade turnover. An interesting fact is that the Russian trade with East Asia saw faster restoration rates than that with other countries. It should also be noted that during the economic crisis Western investment in Russian economy dropped by 20 %, while investment from East Asia tripled over the last two years.<sup>88</sup> However, despite this favourable dynamics it should be taken into consideration that Russia still ranks low in East Asian countries' external trade and investment list.

Those pursuing pragmatic economic policies stress energy supply or energy interdependence or arms export as principal means to enhance Russia's standing in the region.

Hence, here arises a question: why has Russia been recognised as a regional actor and invited into regional institutions, such as ASEM and the EAS, despite the fact that relations with the region were not regarded as "substantive" a little more than half a decade ago, when Russia's application into the EAS was politely rejected? Apparently, enhanced economic cooperation was not a reason, because, for example, while Russia's total trade turnover with the ASEAN countries has more than doubled since 2005, from about US\$5 billion dollars to about US\$12.5 billion dollars in 2010 in sheer numbers, this accounts for less than 1 % of ASEAN's total trade turnover, which is not meaningful at all.<sup>89</sup> The answer is that the regional balance of power changed dramatically at the beginning of the 21st century. If just recently Japan was East Asia's economic leader and the main source of investment and economic trends, China's vibrant economic growth has made it the new centre of economic gravity and turned it into a regional superpower as well, especially given the fact that China has become the main trade partner of the majority of regional economies.<sup>90</sup> The economic rise of China has contributed to its political rise and its more assertive foreign policy in East Asia.<sup>91</sup> This in turn has provoked the US counter-offensive, namely the US ambition to strengthen its alliances with key partners and to remain an inherent part of the region, its self-proclaimed "back to Asia" strategy.<sup>92</sup>

These circumstances have created a new environment in East Asia: a need for balancing between a rising China and the US. A strategic partnership with China gives Russia opportunities to influence China by means of bilateral contacts more successfully than any agreements or negotiations in the Chinese-US relations can. Russia, whose foreign policy towards the region has always been a peaceful one due to the fact that it is a relatively weak regional player and any conflict in the region is able to downplay Russia's role in the region even more, was regarded by the ASEAN and the other countries in the region as a good power, capable of counterbalancing Chinese and the American influence. In other words, a change in the balance of power in the region brought about the need for Russia's more vigorous participation as a balancer (in other words as a counterweight).93

ASEAN countries find it beneficial to sustain competition among China,

the US and other major actors, since it helps them develop economically and retain political autonomy as well.94 This trend coincides with Russia's desire to play a "balancer role": the Russian political elite believes that despite its reduced influence in the world arena. it still possesses "assets for exerting influence" as a "variable force" or "honest intermediary" when addressing regional conflicts (especially the Korean crisis), the China-Japan-US strategic triangle, and ASEAN's response to China's rise.95 Surprisingly, at first sight Russia's options in East Asia resemble that of ASEAN: if Russia is to play a substantial role in the politics and security in East Asia and develop economic cooperation with dynamically growing economies, under no circumstances should it take sides between the US and China. If Russia or ASEAN decided to choose between these two centres, the region would be seriously polarised and would spiral into chaos.96

To elaborate on this point, it can be added that Russia and ASEAN are also facing the same problems of the socalled unfinished modernisation, which defines their subordinate position in the world economy. Creating a more stable regional security architecture will definitely foster economic cooperation as well.<sup>97</sup> Moreover, Russia is a very advantageous partner for ASEAN, because as a strong modernising military state and a weak economic one it possesses military capability but does not wield an economic influence equal to that of the Chinese or the American, and it is seriously interested in broadening its economic presence. Thus, ASEAN countries feel freer in economic relations with Russia than they do with China or the USA, which makes them natural partners.

Russia is facing many challenges in its bid for a great power status in East Asia. Some of them are quite objective: Russia has not got enough resources to alone boost the RFE in the long term. Though the MFA sees East Asian states as potential means for the development of the RFE, it remains only a future possibility and prospects remain unclear.98 Internal challenges to Russia's policy towards East Asia also include competing schools of thought and ideological perspectives. They comprise liberal and balance-ofpower approaches, Russia's identity as a European or a Eurasian country as well as many others. A challenge to Russian foreign policy has been to navigate among competing perceptions of East Asia, including a free-for-all competition among the great powers and the consequent need to play the balance of power game; East Asia as a "field of dreams", ripe for economic integration and misgivings cooperation; and that sparse population and economic deterioration in Asiatic Russia may lead to grave consequences and that the best strategy would be to shield itself behind a "fortress mentality". The latter has its manifestation in an alarmist worldview. Firstly, it is directed at the USA, which is perceived to be masterminding an

assault on Russia's great power standing and aiming at turning the Asian part of Russia into a cheap source of raw materials and energy supplies. Secondly, it is aimed at China, which is seen as scheming for a quiet expansion into Siberia and the Far East, masquerading the seizure of Russian territory with its resources and massive migration as border trade, and thirdly at Japan, which is believed to be reiterating its territorial demands in order to take control of Russian resources and venting its revived nationalism.<sup>99</sup>

Moreover, notwithstanding the fact that there is a consensus both within Russian society and the political elite that Russia actually is a great power and should act accordingly, there has been no consent as to what characteristics this great power should possess and what means should be employed to realise this goal. For instance, the advocates of Russia as a Eurasian power place emphasis on Russia's role as a bridge between the East and the West in both civilisational and economic aspects, though this is not clearly defined. Those pursuing pragmatic economic policies stress energy supply or energy interdependence or arms export as principal means to enhance Russia's standing in the region.<sup>100</sup>

The abovementioned factors present a challenge to Russia's foreign policy in East Asia. It is instructive to note that given stable political and economic development and active participation in the regional agenda, Russia's role in East Asia is likely to increase gradually, although the forms of this increase are still under discussion. In any way, it rests upon Russia's ability to foster the development of Siberia and the Far East.

#### Conclusion

Drawing on statistical evidence and the above analysis, we can conclude that Russia still cannot be regarded as a full-fledged great power in East Asia, though its presence in the region has stabilised and gained prominence if compared to the 1990s.<sup>101</sup> The reason for this is primarily economic: of all the criteria proposed by Buzan and Weaver, Russia undoubtedly satisfies all the material criteria, if taking into consideration Russia's largest territory, ample resources, considerable political stability under Putin and Medvedev, and military strength as Russia is one of the five official nuclear states. Russia also meets the criterion of formal recognition of its status, which can be seen from Russia's successful accession to ASEM in 2010 and the EAS in 2011. The Russian-Chinese strategic partnership can be considered an issue of system-level calculations in international relations, though its influence on the existing world order is still unclear. However, Russia's economic involvement in the region still leaves much to be desired. Russia fails to actively participate in banking and investment cooperation and the number of joint ventures is still relatively small. This is primarily due to the fact

that the Russian business community is relatively weak in the world and cannot boast a freedom of functioning as it is still controlled by the government in many respects. The Russian Federation accounts for 0-1 % of East Asian countries' exports and 0-3 % of their imports, except for Mongolia and North Korea.<sup>102</sup> Despite its economic weakness, Russia can still aspire to a great power status in East Asia since recent events have demonstrated that it is taken into consideration by the regional powers. Thus, fostering economic cooperation is the most logical way to increase Russia's influence in the region.

Consequently, it is no exaggeration to say that Russia's involvement in the region needs to be amplified and strengthened. Russia's future rests upon its standing in East Asia, both in security and economy. Its political standing in East Asia should be well secured, which implies that Russia must be a member of all prominent regional organisations and conduct a flexible policy on multiple regional fora. As contemporary Russia's economic positions in East Asia are considerably weak and Russia is far from being characterised as a systemic factor in the region, it is evident that a too strong focus on the Chinese vector in its Asian policy is a major threat to independence of Russia's relations with East Asia. In this respect developing multi-vector network diplomacy in East Asia, proposed by

Russia's Foreign Minister Sergey Lavrov, which implies flexible and mutually beneficial interaction of different states to promote coinciding interests,<sup>103</sup> can be regarded as a reasonable course.

However, one has to bear in mind the fact that in order to qualify as a great power a country has to possess considerable economic might in the first place, as economic factor comes to the fore when defining core actors in world politics. There is an ongoing debate whether Russia should concentrate on relations with key partners like China, Japan, Vietnam and others, or develop economic relations with relatively new partners. Some scholars view a more vibrant economic cooperation between ASEAN and Russia as a good opportunity to improve Russia's standing in the region. Not without its problems due to geographical remoteness and often called fragile as far as trade turnover is concerned, Russian-ASEAN cooperation could be advanced through joint projects and mutual investment.<sup>104</sup> Others put a premium on selective partnerships with key regional actors in the most promising spheres, such as the debt problem and its historic legacy with Vietnam, military and technical cooperation with Malaysia, tourism with Thailand, high-tech cooperation with Japan and South Korea, and joint ventures with China.<sup>105</sup>

Country	1996	1999	2000	2005	2012
China	5,724.5	4,495	6,335	20,664	89,008.4
Japan	3,890.7	2,564	3,336	9,581	31,220
North Korea	64.8	55.7	46	233	81
South Korea	1,984	1,142	1,330.8	6,363	24,880.4
Taiwan	568	325.3	492.6	1,931	5,338.2
Indonesia	135.6	57.3	108	551	2,871.8
Malaysia	167.3	475.2	388	823	1,745.6
Vietnam	154	183	204.7	913	3,660.6
Singapore	798.7	220	520.5	626	2,004.1
Thailand	274.8	163	170	998	3,381
Philippines	155.3	77.3	58.4	271	1,647.2
Laos	68.8	2.2	1.6	11	n/a
Cambodia	19.4	n/a	1.5	8	n/a
Myanmar	13.4	n/a	3.8	3	146
Total trade with East Asia	14,019.3	9,760.7	12,997	42,976	165,984.3
Total trade with the World	131,141	102,003	136,971	339,857	837,294.9

#### Table 1: Russia's Total Trade Turnover with East Asia (1996-2012) (US\$ million)

Source: Figures compiled from: Paradorn Rangsimaporn, *Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia: Perceptions and Policies from Yeltsin to Putin*, Basingstoke, Palgrave Macmillan, 2009, p. 62 and p. 66; *Russian Federal Custom Service Statistics*, at http://www.customs.ru/index.php?option=com\_newsfts&view=categor y&id=125&Itemid=1976 [last visited 29 April 2012]; Ministry of Economic Development of the Russian Federation, *Ekonomicheskoe sotrudnichestvo so stranami Azii i Afriki (Economic Cooperation with Asian and African Countries*), at http://www.economy.gov.ru/minec/activity/sections/foreignEconomicActivity/ cooperation/economicAA/ [last visited 30 April 2012].

\*Total Trade with East Asia has to be larger in fact, as trade turnover figures with a number of countries (North Korea, Laos, Cambodia, and Myanmar) are currently unavailable.

Table 2: Russia's Total Trade Turnover with East Asia (2000-2012) (US\$ million)

China         6,335         5           Japan         3,336         3           North Korea         46         7           South Korea         1,330.8         7	7,292.7 3,219 78.3						7007	2002	2009	2010	1107	2012
3,336 46 1,330.8	3,219 78.3	9,432	11,875	15,180	20,664	29,108	40,744	56,344	40,251.4	60,160.6	84,560.7	89,008.4
46 1,330.8	78.3	2,783	4,296	7,345	9,581	12,244	20,094	28,913.5	14,515.6	23,120.8	29,705	31,220
1,330.8		79.6	113.6	210	233	210	159,8	110.8	49.4	95.2	113.7	81
	1,593	2,201	2,650	3,989	6,363	9,515	14,986	18,383.4	10,554.3	17,694.6	24,979,6	24,880.4
<b>Taiwan</b> 492.6	418.6	672	1,099	2,330	1,931	1,687	2,109	2,859.5	1,712.5	3,332	4,159,5	5,338.2
Indonesia 108	125.8	193	418	366	551	607	916	1,409.7	974.2	1,912.3	2,166,5	2,871.8
Malaysia 388	424.6	577	725	537	823	1,134	1,903	2,442.6	1,632.6	1,711.5	1,935,1	1,745.6
<b>Vietnam</b> 204.7	241	403	433	808	913	653	1,092	1,432.9	1,561.8	2,445.1	3,061,0	3,660.6
Singapore 520.5	682.5	610	248	351	626	1,227	1,540	1,655.2	2,019.6	2,340.2	2,636,1	2,004.1
Thailand 170	177	323	431	728	998	907	1,336	2,729.5	1,369.8	2,904.5	4,117,3	3,381
Philippines 58.4 (	67	128.6	222.5	267	271	167	241	414.4	573	1,067.6	1,643,2	1,647.2
Laos 1.6	3.8	4.2	2.4	6.7	11	4	3.2	6.8	11.4	8.7	45.9	n/a
Cambodia 1.5	4.8	3.6	1.6	4	8	10	29	34.1	38.5	36.3	73.5	n/a
Myanmar 3.8	33.5	100.8	11	25	3	9.5	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	146
Total trade with 12,997 East Asia	14,362	17,510.8	22,526	32,146.7 42,976	42,976	57,482	84,993.2	116,733.4 65,754.1		116,829.4	159,197.4*	165,984.3
<b>e with</b> 136,971	140,725	152,885	190,713	257,232	339,857	439,051	552,181	734,681.3	734,681.3 469,014.5 625,395.1		821,353.1	837,294.9

view=category&id=125&Itemid=1976 [last visited 29 April 2012]; Ministry of Economic Development of the Russian Federation, Ekonomicheskoe sotrudnichestvo so stranami Azii i Afriki (Economic Cooperation with Asian and African Countries), at http://www.economy.gov.ru/minec/activity/sections/ pup.opu 1111h./ / foreignEconomicActivity/cooperation/economicAA/ [last visited 30 April 2012]. . د ۱ 

\*Total trade with East Asia has to be larger in fact, as trade turnover figures with a number of countries (Myanmar in 2011 and Laos and Cambodia in 2012) are currently unavailable.

#### Endnotes

- Sergey Lavrov, "Russia's Policy in Asia Pacific: Towards Peace, Security and Sustainable Development", at http://www.mid.ru/brp\_4.nsf/0/0783A1264F6F63FA442579D70052 5C04 [last visited 22 December 2012].
- 2 Ibid.
- 3 Alexei D. Voskressenski, "Istoricheskie Omuty Knigi Professora Akihiro Iwashita" (Historic Whirlpools of Professor Akihiro Iwashita's Book), in Akihiro Iwashita (ed.), 4000 Kilometrov Problem: Kitaisko-Rossiyasksya Granitsa (4000 Kilometres of Troubles: The Russia-China Border), Moscow, AST, 2006, pp. 15-16.
- 4 Vyacheslav Nikonov, "Article", Russia as a Euro-Pacific Power: New Trends in Asian Regional Architecture and Russia's Role in Asia- Proceedings of the International Conference of the Russian National Committee of the Council for Security Cooperation in the Asia-Pacific (CSCAP), Moscow, Moscow University Press, 2011, pp. 85-87.
- 5 Vyacheslav Y. Belokrenitsky and Alexei D. Voskressenski, "Vneshnaya Politika Rossii Na Aziatskom Napravlenii" (The Asian Dimension of Russia's Foreign Policy), in Anatoly V. Torkunov (ed.), Sovremennye Mejdunarodnye Otnosheniya i Mirovaya Politika (Contemporary International Relations and World Politics), Moscow, Prosveshenie, MGIMO, 2004, pp. 858-860, 881.
- 6 Paradorn Rangsimaporn, *Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia: Perceptions and Policies from Yeltsin to Putin*, Basingstoke, Palgrave Macmillan, 2009, p. 156.
- 7 Paul M. Kennedy, *The Rise and Fall of Great Powers: Economic Change and Military Conflict from 1500 to 2000*, New York, Vintage Books, 1989, p. 539.
- 8 Robert Gilpin, *War and Change in World Politics*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1981, p. 30.
- 9 Kenneth N. Waltz, Theory of International Politics, New York, McGraw Hill, 1979, p. 131.
- 10 RSCT implies a complication of leadership in world politics and offers a view of the world order with one superpower (the USA), four great powers (China, Russia, Japan and the EU), and a number of regional powers composing poles of influence in regional subsystems of international relations.
- 11 Barry Buzan and Ole Weaver, *Regions and Powers: The Structure of International Security*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2003, pp. 32-35.
- 12 Alexei Voskressenski, "'Sterzhen' Aziatskogo Azimuta Vneshney Politiki Rossii" (The Axis of Russia's Asian Foreign Policy), *Pro et Contra*, Vol. 6, No. 4 (Fall 2001), p. 75.
- 13 Alexei D. Voskressenski, "The Three Structural Changes of Russo-Chinese Cooperation after the Collapse of the USSR and Prospects for the Emergence of a Fourth Stage", *Eurasian Review*, Vol. 5 (November 2012), p. 3,
- 14 Vladimir N. Kolotov, "Main Trends of Russia's Foreign Policy in Transforming East and Southeast Asia", *Brookings Northeast Asia Commentary*, at http://www.brookings.edu/ opinions/2008/04\_asia\_kolotov.aspx?p=1 [last visited 18 April 2012].
- 15 Gilbert Rozman, Mikhail G. Nosov and Koji Watanabe (eds.), *Russia and East Asia: The 21st Century Security Environment*, New York, East West Institute, 1999, p. 5.

- 16 Voskressenski, "Sterzhen' Aziatskogo Azimuta Vneshney Politiki Rossii", p. 90; Rozman, Nosov and Watanabe (eds.), *Russia and East Asia*, pp. 5-6.
- 17 Kolotov, Main Trends of Russia's Foreign Policy in Transforming East and Southeast Asia.
- 18 Among others, see: "Eye on Russia: Russia's Resurgence", CNN, at http://edition.cnn. com/2007/WORLD/europe/06/18/chance.intro/ [last visited 22 April 2012]; Alex Palmer, "Russia Rising: Moscow's Quiet Resurgence", Harvard International Review, Vol. 33, No. 3 (Fall 2011), pp. 32-35.
- 19 Andrey P. Tsygankov, *Russia's Foreign Policy: Change and Continuity in National Identity*, Plymouth, Rowman & Littlefield, 2013, p.175.
- 20 "The Foreign Policy Concept of the Russian Federation", at http://www.mid.ru/Bl.nsf/ar h/1EC8DC08180306614325699C003B5FF0?OpenDocument [last visited 21 December 2012].
- 21 "The Foreign Policy Concept of the Russian Federation", at http://archive.kremlin.ru/eng/ text/docs/2008/07/204750.shtml [last visited 21 December 2012].
- 22 Dmitry Medvedev, "Go Russia!", at http://archive.kremlin.ru/eng/text/ speeches/2009/09/10/1534\_type104017\_221527.shtml [last visited 22 December 2012].
- 23 Fedor Lukyanov, "Article", Russia as a Euro-Pacific Power: New Trends in Asian Regional Architecture and Russia's Role in Asia, p. 121.
- 24 Alexey Borodavkin, "Article", *Russia as a Euro-Pacific Power: New Trends in Asian Regional Architecture and Russia's Role in Asia*, p. 88.
- 25 Vladimir N. Kotlov, *Main Trends of Russia's Foreign Policy in Transforming East and Southeast Asia*, Brookings Northeast Asia Commentary.
- 26 Rozman, Nosov and Watanabe (eds.), Russia and East Asia, pp. 6-7.
- 27 Ibid., p. 217.
- 28 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, pp. 155-156.
- 29 Dmitry Trenin and Bobo Lo, *The Landscape of Russian Foreign Policy Decision-Making*, Washington, DC, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2005, p. 6.
- 30 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, pp. 11-12.
- 31 "The Foreign Policy Concept of the Russian Federation".
- 32 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, p. 13.
- 33 Trenin and Lo, The Landscape of Russian Foreign Policy Decision-Making, p. 11.
- 34 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, pp. 13-14.
- 35 Leszek Buszynski, "Russia and Northeast Asia: Aspirations and Reality", *The Pacific Review*, Vol. 13, No. 3 (2000), p. 400.
- 36 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, pp. 14-15.
- 37 Ibid., pp. 15-16.
- 38 Trenin and Lo, The Landscape of Russian Foreign Policy Decision-Making, p. 12.
- 39 Rosoboroneksport is an agency in charge of import and export of defence-related products.
- 40 Rostekhnologii is an agency in charge of high-tech development.
- 41 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, pp. 17-18.

- 42 Cited in Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, p. 19; Trenin and Lo, The Landscape of Russian Foreign Policy Decision-Making, p. 13.
- 43 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, p. 20.

- 45 Ibid., pp. 153-154.
- 46 Alexey Vosskresenski, "Sterzhen' aziatskogo azimuta vneshney politiki Rossii", pp. 74-75, 83.
- 47 Voskressenski, "The Three Structural Changes of Russo-Chinese Cooperation after the Collapse of the USSR", pp. 1-2.
- 48 Ibid, p.4; Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, p. 111-112.
- 49 Voskressenski, "The Three Structural Changes of Russo-Chinese Cooperation after the Collapse of the USSR", pp. 5-7.
- 50 Yomg Deng, "Remolding Great Power Politics: China's Strategic Partnerships with Russia, the European Union and India", *The Journal of Strategic Studies*, Vol. 30, No. 4-5 (August-October 2007), pp. 878-880.
- 51 Vasili Mikheev, "Russia-China: 'Reloading' the Relationship", *Russian Politics and Law*, Vol. 49, No. 6 (November-December 2011), p. 79.
- 52 Evgenii Verlin and Vladislav Inozemtsev, "Russia-China: Time for a Course Correction", *Russian Politics and Law*, Vol. 49, No. 6 (November-December 2011), pp. 63, 66.
- 53 Joshua Cooper Ramo, *The Beijing Consensus*, The Foreign Policy Centre, pp. 3-4, at http:// fpc.org.uk/fsblob/244.pdf [last visited 5 December 2012].
- 54 Voskressenski, "The Three Structural Changes of Russo-Chinese Cooperation after the Collapse of the USSR", p. 11.
- 55 Mikheev, "Russia-China: 'Reloading' the Relationship", pp. 79-80.
- 56 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, pp. 74-75.
- 57 Gilbert Rozman, "Strategic Thinking about the Russian Far East", *Problems of Post-Communism*, Vol. 55, No. 1 (January/February 2008), p. 37.
- 58 Stephen Blank, "At a Dead End: Russian Policy and the Russian Far East", *Demokratizatsiya*, Vol. 17, No. 2 (Spring 2009), pp. 123-124, 130.
- 59 Vilya G.Gelbras, "Rossiya i Kitay v Usloviyah Global'nogo Krizisa" (Russia and China Amidst the Global Crisis), *Mirovaya Ekonomika I Mejdunarodnye Otnosheniya*, No. 11 (2011), pp. 68-70.
- 60 Ibid., p. 67.
- 61 Verlin and Inozemtsev, "Russia-China: Time for a Course Correction", p. 62.
- 62 Ibid., p. 86; Alexey D. Vosskresenski, "Osnovnye vyzovy i riski vostochnoaziatskih regional'nyh otnosheny Rossii" (Major Challenges and Risks to Russian Regions' Relations with East Asia), in Alexey D. Vosskresenski (ed.), *Bol'shaya Vostochnaya Aziya:* Mirovaya Politica i Regionalnye Transformatsii (Greater East Asia: World Politics and Regional Transformations), Moscow, MGIMO-University, 2011, pp. 254-258.
- 63 Alexei D. Voskressenski, "Perspektivy rossiyskoy vneshney politiki na vostochnoaziatskom napravlenii" (Russia's East Asia Foreign Policy Prospects), in Alexei D. Voskressenski (ed.),

<sup>44</sup> Ibid., p. 21.

Bol'shaya Vostochnaya Aziya: Mirovaya Politica i Regionalnye Transformatsii (Greater East Asia: World Politics and Regional Transformations), Moscow, MGIMO-University, 2011, pp. 312, 317; Jeffry Mankoff, Russian Foreign Policy: The Return of Great Power Politics, Plymoth, Rowman & Littlefield, 2011, p. 178, 209.

- 64 Among others, see: Voskressenski, "The Three Structural Changes of Russo-Chinese Cooperation", pp. 1-13, Mikheev, "Russia-China: 'Reloading' the Relationship," pp. 74-93, Verlin and Inozemtsev, "Russia-China: Time for a Course Correction", pp. 54-73.
- 65 Verlin and Inozemtsev, "Russia-China: Time for a Course Correction", p. 62.
- 66 Rozman, "Strategic Thinking about the Russian Far East", p. 41.
- 67 Alexei Fenenko, "APEC Remains an American Project", at http://valdaiclub.com/asia/48800. html [last visited 28 February 2013].
- 68 Expert Journal, at http://expert.ru/2012/09/10/sammit-na-vyirost/ [last visited 6 March 2013].
- 69 Ria-novosti News Agency, at http://www.ria.ru/economy/20120428/637185553.html [last visited 1 May 2012].
- 70 Ministry for Development of Russian Far East, at http://minvostokrazvitia.ru/ [last visited 28 February 2013].
- 71 Alexandr Panov, Rossiya i Yaponiya: Stanovlenie i Razvitie Otnosheniy v Kontse XX Nachale XXI Veka (Russia and Japan: The Establishment and Development of Bilateral Relations at the end of the 20<sup>th</sup> beginning of the 21<sup>st</sup> century), Moscow, Izvestiya, 2007, p. 76.
- 72 Ibid., p. 144.
- 73 Ministry of Economic Development of the Russian Federation, *Ekonomicheskoe Sotrudnichestvo so Stranami Azii i Afriki (Economic Cooperation with Asian and African countries)*, at http://www.economy.gov.ru/minec/activity/sections/foreignEconomicActivity/ cooperation/economicAA/ [last visited 30 November 2012].
- 74 Dmitry Streltsov, "Moskva I Tokio: vyiti iz spyachki" (Moscow and Tokyo: how to end hibernation), *Rossiya v Global'noi Politike (Russia in Global Politics)*, at http://www. globalaffairs.ru/number/Moskva-i-Tokio-vyiti-iz-spyachki-15365 [last visited 28 February 2013].
- 75 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, pp. 125-128.
- 76 Younkyoo Kim and Stephen Blank, "Russia and the Six-Party Process in Korea: Moscow's Quest for Great Power Status", *Problems of Post-Communism*, Vol. 57, No. 4 (July/August 2010), pp. 38-39.
- 77 Ibid., pp. 41-42.
- 78 Georgy Toloraya, "The Security Crisis in Korea and its International Context: Sources and Lessons from a Russian Perspective", *The Korean Journal of Defence Analysis*, Vol. 23, No. 3 (September 2011), pp. 347-348.
- 79 "Rail Link Between Russia and North Korea Repaired", at ajw.asahi.com/article/asia/ korean\_peninsula/AJ2011101414514 [last visited 8 December 2012].
- 80 Czesław Tubilewicz, "The Little Dragon and the Bear: Russian-Taiwanese Relations in the Post-Cold War Period", *The Russian Review*, Vol. 61 (April 2002), pp. 296-297.
- 81 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, p. 111.

- 82 Kolotov, Main Trends of Russia's Foreign Policy in Transforming East and Southeast Asia.
- 83 Evgeny Kanaev, "Fenomen 'Driver's Seat'", *Mejdunarodnaya Jizn (International Affairs)*, No.10 (October 2010), pp. 33-34.
- 84 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, p. 157.
- 85 Ekaterina Koldunova, "Post-Crisis Regional Cooperation in East Asia: New Trends and Developments", in Lorenzo Fioramonti (ed.), *Regions and Crises: New Challenges to Contemporary Regionalisms*, Basingstoke, Palgrave, 2012, p. 205.
- 86 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, pp. 62-65.
- 87 Ibid., p. 67.
- 88 Vyacheslav Nikonov, "Article", *Russia as a Euro-Pacific Power: New Trends in Asian Regional Architecture and Russia's Role in Asia*, p. 86.
- 89 Victor Sumsky, "The Enlargement of the East Asia Summit: the Reasons and Implications of Bringing Russia in", in Victor Sumsky, Mark Hong, and Amy Hugg (eds.), ASEAN-Russia: Foundations and Future Prospects, Singapore, ISEAS, 2012, pp. 68-69.
- 90 Koldunova, "Post-Crisis Regional Cooperation in East Asia", pp. 202-204.
- 91 Ekaterina Koldunova, "Defitsit Liderstva v Vostochnoy Azii: Shansy Dlya Maluh I Srednih Stran" (Leadership Deficit in East Asia: Chances for Small and Middle States), *Mezhdunarodnye Protsessy (International Trends)*, Vol. 9, No. 2 (May-August 2011).
- 92 Sumsky, "The Enlargement of the East Asia Summit", p. 71-72.
- 93 Ibid., p. 75-76.
- 94 Koldunova, "Defitsit liderstva v Vostochnoy Azii".
- 95 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, p. 109.
- 96 Viktor Sumskiy, "Article", *Russia as a Euro-Pacific Power: New Trends in Asian Regional Architecture and Russia's Role in Asia*, pp. 124-125.
- 97 Ekaterina Koldinova, "Article", *Russia as a Euro-Pacific Power: New Trends in Asian Regional Architecture and Russia's Role in Asia*, p. 109.
- 98 Rozman, "Strategic Thinking about the Russian Far East", p. 36.
- 99 Rozman, Nosov and Watanabe (eds.), Russia and East Asia, p. 5.
- 100 Rangsimaporn, Russia as an Aspiring Great Power in East Asia, p. 156.
- 101 Koldunova, "Defitsit liderstva v Vostochnoy Azii".
- 102 Voskressenski, "Perspektivy Rossiyskoy Vneshney Politiki Na Vostochnoaziatskom Napravlenii", p. 314.
- 103 For more details, see, Sergey Lavrov, "O Predmete I Metode Sovremennoi Diplomatii" (About the Subject and Method of Contemporary Diplomacy), at http://interaffairs.ru/ print.php?item=377 [last visited 10 November 2012].
- 104 Koldinova, "Article", pp. 109-110.
- 105 Voskressenski, "Perspektivy Rossiyskoy Vneshney Politiki Na Vostochnoaziatskom Napravlenii", pp. 316-317.

### Recent Political Developments in Taiwan: Facing Beijing and Washington

#### Wan-Chin TAI\*

#### Abstract

In 2012, political developments in Taiwan were somewhat different from what observers predicted at the beginning of the year. The ruling party is now weaker than what it appeared earlier. The United States and mainland China are the two most crucial factors which will determine the future of Taiwan, and at the moment the US's influence on the political landscape and political orientation in Taiwan is, in general, larger than that of mainland China. This chapter will discuss the major issues in current cross-strait relations and analyse Taiwan's relations with the United States, China and Japan.

#### Key Words

Future of Taiwan, Cross-strait Relations, US Policy towards Taiwan.

### The 2012 Presidential Election

President Ma Ying-jeou was re-elected president of Taiwan on 14 February 2012. The turnout in the presidential election was lower than previous ones, with around 13.2 million voters, about 74 % of eligible voters, casting ballots. It was widely considered a greater-thanexpected victory as before the balloting, the ruling party, the Kuomintang, was confronted with mounting pressures. The Kuomintang captured 6.89 million votes, accounting for 51.6 % of the total ballots cast, while the Democratic Progressive Party (DPP) received 6.09 million votes, about 45.6 %, a difference of 790,000 votes. The decline in the turnout was also interpreted as a reflection that democracy in Taiwan, the Republic of China (ROC), had got more mature. It is hoped that Taiwan can demonstrate that a democratic system can work in an ethnically Chinese society.

The election of the parliament, known as the Legislative Yuan, was held simultaneously with the presidential election. While the Kuomintang retained the majority in the Legislative Yuan, its strength there declined. The Kuomintang won 64 seats out of a total

<sup>\*</sup> Professor at the Institute of Americas, Tamkang University, Taiwan.

of 113. The number of parliamentary seats captured by the DPP increased to 40, a marked rise from the previous 27. Additionally, a pro-independence party, the Taiwan Solidarity Union, led by former president Lee Teng-hui, unexpectedly won three seats.

### The US Factor in the Presidential Election

previous In Taiwan's presidential election in 2008, the United States did not openly side with the Kuomintang. Then, the DPP was in its most difficult period as the corruption of former president Chen Shui-bien had resulted in very severe criticism. But in February 2012, the gap between the strengths of President Ma and DPP candidate Tsai Ing-wen was seen by most observers as very narrow. Deeply worried about instability which would likely arise in the Taiwan Straits if Tsai got elected, the Obama administration in 2012 actively involved itself in the presidential election by supporting Ma.

About a week before the election, the Taipei Office of the American Institute in Taiwan (the *de facto* US embassy) held a press conference with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, jointly announcing that a visa-waiver programme would soon be applicable to Taiwanese citizens. It was an unusual move by the United States, and was interpreted by some observers as an open expression of US preference in favour of the re-election of Ma.<sup>1</sup>

Deeply worried about instability which would likely arise in the Taiwan Straits if Tsai got elected, the Obama administration in 2012 actively involved itself in the presidential election by supporting Ma.

Douglas Paal, a former director of the American Institute in Taiwan, was known to have had disputes with the DPP when he headed the US mission. The unfavourable remarks he made with reference to the DPP in a TV interview in Taipei on the eve of the presidential election provoked anger from the DPP. Some observers in Taiwan saw the unusual remarks made by Paal as being influenced by the Obama administration. Former US Senator and former governor of Alaska Frank Murkowski, then observing the election in Taiwan, was also very unhappy with Paal's conduct.

The preference for Ma over Tsai Ingwen by the Obama administration was taken by the DPP as an injury to Tsai's presidential campaign, but it was certainly not the primary factor for Tsai's defeat. The Obama administration must have rationally weighed the merits of offending the DPP by siding with Ma, and it had been assessed to be less costly for the Obama administration than to face resentment from the defeated DPP.

### A Sino-US Co-Management?

There were opposing views in Taiwan over the existence of a "Sino-US comanagement" of the Taiwan Strait in the presidential election. Some scholars in Taiwan, such as Chen Yi-shen, who is an associate research fellow at the Institute of Modern History under the Academia Sinica, believe that a "Sino-US co-management" was apparent. Chen says that a "Sino-US co-management" can even be dated back to the meeting between then-Chinese premier Zhou Enlai and Henry S. Kissinger in 1971.<sup>2</sup> In his inaugural speech on 20 May 2000, Chen Shui-bian gave a pledge of "four noes and one without" in his policy for cross-strait relations, a pledge was guided by the US. The then-Director of the American Institute in Taiwan Raymond Burghardt helped Chen in his drafting of the pledge. The United States then wanted to intervene in order to assuage the nervousness on the part of Beijing.

Director Wang Yi of Beijing's Taiwan Affairs Office visited Washington, DC in July 2011. There were unconfirmed reports that Wang asked the Obama administration to grant Taiwan visawaiver status before the election so as to be helpful to Ma's campaign.<sup>3</sup> It is easy to lead observers to accept the view that some kind of a tacit agreement over the visa-waiver announcement might exist.

Today, Beijing no longer uses the term "Sino-US co-management" of the Taiwan Strait. In the period from 2004 through 2007, Beijing believed that it was practical to rely on a "Sino-US comanagement" to restrain the Chen Shui-Bian administration from seeking the de jure independence of Taiwan. However, after Ma got elected as president in 2008, Beijing no longer talked about the need for a "Sino-US co-management." Yet in the recent Taiwanese presidential election, the overlapping apprehension between Washington and Beijing visà-vis the DPP might have been more than "a tacit agreement." It seemed that Beijing was happy with the position of the Obama administration.

### The Ban on US Beef Imports Containing the Drug Ractopamine

Following his re-election victory in January and before the inauguration of his second presidential term, Ma encountered difficulties in overcoming the protests on his policy of allowing the importation of US beef that contains residue of ractopamine, a drug that promotes leanness in cows. In the US beef import issue, the Ma administration was attacked by the opposition party as lacking transparency, wavering and backtracking. Even some Kuomintang legislators also stepped in and criticised the government of misrepresenting the US beef issue and misleading the public in general.<sup>4</sup> One argument employed by many of those who were critical of the Ma administration was "how could it be appropriate for a government to promote meat products containing residues of the animal feed additive ractopamine, when an existing administrative order specifically prohibits its use?"<sup>5</sup>

Even though Premier Sean Chen said that the Ma administration has no timetable set for when the ban on ractopamine-laced beef imports would be lifted, word spread that President Ma already gave an instruction that the issue must be solved by 20 May- the very day on which President Ma would be inaugurated for his second term.

Part of the defence the Kuomintang employs over its ractopamine position is that the dispute has resulted in blocking the resumption of the Trade and Investment Framework Agreement (TIFA) negotiations between Taiwan and the United States for five years.<sup>6</sup> The Kuomintang stressed the importance of the negotiations for both the economic transformation of the country and for improving Taiwanese-US relations. It emphasised that the solution of the ractopamine issue would help Taiwan secure the consent from the United States to join the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP) trade region within a decade.7 President Ma said on 22 March that he was concerned with the economic challenge confronting Taiwan, particularly after a free-trade agreement (FTA) between South Korea and the United States had already entered into force in mid-March. Ma believed that the ractopamine issue is a matter of national interest and not just public health. At a meeting of the Standing Committee of the Kuomintang Central Committee on 21 March, President Ma reiterated that Taiwan must avoid becoming marginalised amid regional economic integration. Ma specifically noted that it is a pressing task for Taiwan to resume the negotiations over the TIFA and to sign not only the FTA with the United States but also economic pacts with other countries.

In addition to the ractopamine controversy, Ma was confronted with charges that the outbreaks of avian influenza were not disclosed to the public in Taiwan before his re-election. The DPP claimed that the cover-up was intentional. Seeing Ma's predicament, Paal commented in Washington, DC on 22 March that the United States cannot push too hard for the exports of US beef containing ractopamine to Taiwan. Paal suggested that the Obama administration must be more patient.<sup>8</sup> Actually, the United States aims at selling its beef containing ractopamine in mainland China markets after Taiwan gives in to the US demand. It is expected by some circles in mainland China that soon after Taiwan lifts its ban on US beef containing ractopamine, the United States will exert pressure on Beijing to do the same.

The People's First Party along with the DPP and the Taiwan Solidarity Union have adopted an overlapping position against the US beef import issue. They have joined hands in criticising the Kuomintang for having tried to import US beef containing ractopamine simply by an executive order instead of by legislation.

The Republic of Korea is now the only country which has concluded FTAs with the European Union, the United States, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), and India.

It is widely known to the citizens in Taiwan about the US insistence and pressure. Therefore, it was not the best strategy for the Ma administration to keep categorically denying the existence of pressure confronting Ma from the Obama administration. The US beef issue, among several other issues, has contributed to the shortening the "honeymoon" Ma could have had at the start of his second presidential term.

## The South Korean-PRC FTA and ECFA

The FTA between the United States and the Republic of Korea became effective on 15 March 2012. The Republic of Korea is now the only country which has concluded FTAs with the European Union, the United States, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), and India. In May, China, Japan and the Republic of Korea held a summit meeting in Beijing to lay the groundwork for their trilateral FTA negotiations.

Taiwan and mainland China signed the Economic Cooperation Framework Agreement (ECFA) in June 2010, an agreement that aims to reduce trade barriers between mainland China and Taiwan. The "early harvest" programme for tariff reductions or exemptions under the ECFA took effect on 1 January 2011. The newspaper *China Times*, which is based in Taiwan, believed that it is a great challenge to Taiwan if it does not conclude ECFA follow-up agreements before an FTA is signed between China and the Republic of Korea. In such a

scenario, South Korean exports to China will get tariff cuts. As a consequence, Taiwanese investors on the mainland are expected to turn to South Korean suppliers for needed parts. It will greatly increase the market share of South Korean manufacturers in mainland China Taiwan is urged not only to expedite the negotiations with Beijing over the four ECFA follow-up agreements but also to enlarge its scope of application.9 On 6 April, Ma stated publicly that he targets completing negotiations on the ECFA with Beijing within the next two years. But some experts have expressed doubts over the probability of success. Their doubts are well founded and the progress in the negotiations over the ECFA follow-up agreements is now stalled.

Actually, the United States had a certain degree of displeasure with the Ma administration over its insufficient transparency in the process of negotiating the ECFA with Beijing. An effective reform in the problems of taxation and finance is one of the gravest challenges confronting the Ma administration.<sup>10</sup>

## The DPP's Refusal to Accept the "1992 Consensus"

In the analysis of the latest presidential election, it was found that the "1992 consensus" was one of the important factors that determined the result. The factor was particularly influential at the last stage of the election. The term "1992 consensus" was invented by Su Chi, who served as the former Mainland Affairs Council Chairman in the Lee Teng-hui administration, following the inauguration of Chen Shui-bian as president.<sup>11</sup> Despite what Su originally claimed, the term did not exist in any governmental archive when Lee was president. But very importantly, in the presidential election in 2012, the term became not only an issue but seemed to be a symbol of peaceful development and trade between Taiwan and China. A refusal to accept the "1992 consensus" was essentially one of the important causes leading to the defeat of Tsai by Ma.

During the presidential campaign, Tsai downplayed or avoided the importance of facing the challenges emanating from the "1992 consensus." She just randomly commented on it as "historical fiction" without forcefully arguing against it. In general, the DPP did not think this refusal would have any damaging effects. Among many DPP elites, the avoidance by the DPP during the campaign to strongly counter the Kuomintang appeal to the "1992 consensus" was as a critical cause of failure. Beyond that, Tsai adopted a campaign strategy of avoiding arguments about cross-strait relations and the DPP did not put forward any policies on cross-strait relations. It is not an exaggeration to say that the DPP inadvertently underestimated the Kuomintang's powerful emphasis on the "1992 consensus".

### A Peace Treaty and a Political Arrangement

As soon as Ma won re-election, some policy elites on the mainland wasted no time in expressing their hope that Kuomintang would seize the the opportunity to start to negotiate for a political arrangement between Taiwan and Beijing. Among the Taiwanese media, some relevant questions, such as the following two, immediately arose: How can President Ma greatly accelerate the process of reunification with mainland China? More specifically, how fast can he propel Taiwan to move towards negotiations with mainland China on political and security issues?

Richard Bush, the director of Northeast Asian Policy Studies at the Brookings Institute, believes that such expectations are unrealistic. Bush holds that Beijing and Taipei made progress in cross-strait relations in the previous four years largely because they had agreed to focus on "easy" issues, mainly economic ones. In his view, any political issue that Taipei and Beijing may bring up will be "hard" to reach an agreement on. Bush said that this is even true of outstanding economic issues, such as the liberalisation of trade in goods and service, investment protection, and dispute settlement. On political issues, he predicts, Beijing will continue to insist that negotiations must be conducted on the basis of the "One China principle." But he noted that it will be difficult for the Kuomintang to budge from the "1992 consensus",<sup>12</sup> Bush is by no means alone in voicing such reservations or doubts on Ma's new departure in his mainland policy at the beginning of his second presidential term.

But some policy elites and scholars in Taiwan tend to believe that the *status quo* across the Taiwan Strait will not be easily sustained. Accordingly, they emphasise the importance of making preparations for political negotiation. In their view, it will be better to get prepared against the likelihood that pressure increases suddenly from Beijing. Lin Wen-cheng is one such scholar who takes such a position.<sup>13</sup>

## The DPP's Modification to its China Policy

Following Ma's re-election, quite a few important figures within the DPP began to talk openly about the necessity of reviewing the DPP's hard-line policies towards the cross-strait issues. Even Tsai herself made some remarks about the need to be relatively more flexible in engaging with Beijing.

Chen Chu, Kaohsiung City mayor, said on 24 February before she became the acting chairwoman of the DPP in the wake of Tsai's resignation, that the DPP will seek to improve its ties with Beijing. Chen, who will lead the party until May when a new party chairman will be inaugurated, emphasised that "we hope this situation will change in the future through our increased interaction and engagement with China." Chen's remarks on improving ties with Beijing fell in line with an earlier DPP report on the party's defeat in the recent presidential campaign. Indeed, the report advocates revisions to the party's policy towards mainland China. Chen gave these remarks upon her return from a visit to Cuba, which had denied her entry at the Havana Airport.<sup>14</sup> Chen had led a group of Kaohsiung City government officials to arrive in Cuba on 20 February in order to study Cuba's organic farming development. Chen then responded that she would not speculate about the real reasons behind the incident in Cuba.<sup>15</sup>

Su Huan-chih, who was the former Tainan County magistrate, also echoed Tsia's advocacy of more engagement with China on 4 February. Having declared his intention to run for the DPP's chairmanship, Su promised that if he got elected, he would create DPP representative offices in the United States, Japan, India and China in particular. But Su qualified his statement by adding that the party's representatives in these countries should be "solidly pro-independent" people with good character.<sup>16</sup>

In the meantime, Lo Chih-cheng's visit to China to attend a two-day academic forum on cross-strait relations received wide attention. His visit was seen in some circles as rather symbolic as Lo was the DPP spokesperson and he was the first incumbent DPP party official to visit mainland China since 2008. Coinciding with Lo's visit to the mainland, Wu Po-hsiung, emeritus president of the Kuomintang, commented in Beijing that the Kuomintang welcomed the efforts of all parties in Taiwan to promote a crossstrait exchange.<sup>17</sup>

Despite this development, the DPP is still quite divided on how to modify its policy towards Beijing. Also among those DPP elites who argue for a substantive modification of its China policy are Tuan Yi-kang, Kuo Cheng-liang, Tung Chenyuan, Chen Sung-shan and Tung Lihwen. At a forum organised by the *China Times* on 23 March, they discussed new perspectives on how to adapt their Beijing policies. Tuan, a current DPP parliamentarian, indicated his surprise at the misperception among some DPP supporters about its China policy. Tuan believed that it will be important for the DPP to emphasise that it does not intend to pursue the *de jure* independence of Taiwan.

Following Ma's re-election, quite a few important figures within the DPP began to talk openly about the necessity of reviewing the DPP's hard-line policies towards the cross-strait issues.

Kuo Cheng-liang, a former DPP parliamentarian, pointed out the necessity for the DPP to readjust its China policy as there will be more voters who give primary concern to economic issues in the 2016 presidential election. In Kuo's view, the Kuomintang will accumulate more benefits in the economic interaction across the strait when 2016 comes. He warned that the Kuomintang by then will have achieved more economic interaction than at the beginning stage of the ECFA. Kuo moved to urge DPP supporters to make a compromise by recognising the ROC national flag, which was originally a derivative of the Kuomintang party flag.

Tung Chen-yuan, a former deputy chairman of the ROC Mainland Affairs Council, said that the DPP must have a thoroughly new strategy for China. Tung argued that the DPP must now take an initiative to conduct a dialogue with mainland China. He stressed the importance of working out a compromise with the mainland by putting forward a new interpretation of the DPP's constitutional positioning. In his view, constructive ambiguities are something the DPP will have to create in regard to the cross-strait relations.

Tung Lih-wen, the former head of the Chinese Affairs Department under the DPP, called on the DPP to revive its Chinese Affairs Department. Frustrated with the damage as a result of underestimating the issue of the "1992 consensus," Tung advocated that the DPP must attach importance to exposing the weakness and danger of the "1992 consensus." Additionally, Tung called upon the next chairman, whom the DPP will elect, to take a "new centrist line" on cross-strait relations. Tung shared Kuo's argument that the DPP must restore the Chinese Affairs Department as a party organ so as to actively and efficiently handle policy issues related to mainland China.18

Even so, in contrast to the views of these DPP moderates, many hardliners within the DPP still emphasise the significance of having a marked distinction from the Kuomintang in its mainland policy. Wu Zhao-hsieh, who served as the former chairman of the Mainland Affairs Council in the Chen Shuibien administration and subsequently became the former *de facto* ambassador assigned by the same administration to the United States, is one of those who is strongly opposed to a revision of the DPP's fundamental policy towards mainland China. He expressed worries against plunging into a "trap" devised by both Beijing and the Kuomintang.

One may say that up to now it seems to have been a delicate division of labour visà-vis Beijing between the Kuomintang and the DPP. While the Kuomintang is inclined to improve ties with Beijing, the DPP is keen to resist pressure from Beijing. On 24 March, an editorial in the *China Times* said that through such unintentional collaboration amid rivalry between the two major parties, Taiwan has subtly got the optimal benefits. Beijing, according to the editorial, yielded more benefits to Taiwan through the Kuomintang's positioning.<sup>19</sup>

#### A New Controversy: "One Country, Two Areas"

A new controversy arose from the latest annual forum between the Kuomintang and the Chinese Communist Party (CCP). Leading a party delegation, Wu Poh-hsiung, a former chairman of the Kuomintang, called on Chinese President Hu Jintao on 22 March in Beijing.<sup>20</sup> Both

Wu and Hu emphasised the importance of continued cross-strait relations under the "One China" principle. Yet, to the surprise of some Taiwanese, Wu proposed that cross-strait matters be tackled under the so-called principle of "One Country, Two Areas." Clarifying that the Ma administration's current policy is based on the "Act Governing Relations between the Peoples of the Taiwan Area and the Mainland Area," Wu raised the importance of improving cross-strait ties on the basis of the concept of "One Country, Two Areas." He added that cross-strait relations are not undertaken on a nation-to-nation basis but rather on a special relationship one.<sup>21</sup> Wu also claimed that he got authorisation from President Ma for the words he employed with reference to the concept of "One Country, Two Areas" before he had departed for Beijing. He hinted that he was Ma's messenger.

Wu's pronouncement drew immediate criticism from the DPP. For years, President Ma has emphasised that his cross-strait policy is based on the principle of "No Reunification, No Independence and No War." Wu's remarks about "One Country, Two Areas" were criticised by the DPP as deviations from the policy set by the Ma administration. Kao Lingyun, a reporter at the reunificationleaning *United Evening News*, attributed Wu's sudden announcement to a decision by the Ma administration to reduce Beijing's displeasure of the ROC after the Mainland Affairs Council rebuffed Beijing's Pingtan Comprehensive Experimental Zone initiative on the grounds that Taiwan has not accepted Beijing's long-held principle of "One Country, Two Systems." Kao commented that the policy shift to declare the principle of "One Country, Two Areas" was an imprudent move.<sup>22</sup>

To the DPP, the "One Country, Two Areas" formula is a violation of Ma's reelection campaign pledge, which held

In contrast to the views of

these DPP moderates, many

hardliners within the DPP still

emphasise the significance of

having a marked distinction

from the Kuomintang in its

mainland policy.

that the essence of the "1992 consensus" represents the premises of "one China, with different interpretations." It sees "One Country, Two Areas" statement made by Wu as a change from the

Kuomintang's self-proclaimed policy of maintaining the status quo in crossstraits relations.

Among others, Tsai Ing-wen sharply criticised the "One Country, Two Areas" formula as a "dangerous" concept when requested by the media for comments. Huang Kun-heui, the chairman of the pro-independence Taiwan Solidarity Union, compared the formula voiced by Wu to "the Treaty of Shimonoseki in the 21<sup>st</sup> century", Huang argued that the "Act Governing Relations between the Peoples of the Taiwan Area and the Mainland Area" had been enacted "with the implication of a state-to-state legal framework." In his view, the concept of "One Country, Two Areas" is exactly identical with the formula "One Country, Two Systems" which has long been insisted on by Beijing but persistently rejected by Taiwan. Huang compared Wu's words to opening a Pandora's Box.<sup>23</sup> In the view of a former Tainan County magistrate Su Huan-chih, the concept

> of "One Country, Two Areas" relegated the status of Taiwan and the status of the ROC president.<sup>24</sup> Other criticisms made by the DPP against Wu included that Wu should have specified that by "One Country" he

meant the Republic of China so as to avoid being interpreted as the People's Republic of China (PRC). A protest march was planned by the DPP for 20 May, the day Ma was inaugurated for his second presidential term.

On 23 March, Fan Chiang Tai-chi, ROC Presidential Office spokesman, clarified Wu's statements by saying that the stance taken by the Ma administration on defending Taiwan's sovereignty under the principle of "One China, With Each Side Having Its Own Interpretation" remains unchanged. Premier Sean Chen echoed Fan's statement. Chen said that the "One Country, Two Areas" formula is in line with the intent behind Article 11 of the Additional Articles of the ROC Constitution.<sup>25</sup> But Chen's words still differed from those of Wu. Wu referred simply to the constitution, but Chen made mention of the Additional Articles (the amendments) of the constitution. Chen's supplementary words were better received by the media.

Yang Kai-huang, an expert on crossstrait relations and a professor of political science at Mingchuan University, argued on 24 March that the operability of the concept "One Country, Two Areas" may require a revision to the ROC constitution. A breakthrough in the constitutional framework, in his opinion, is needed so as to launch the new concept as a basis to push forward political negotiation with Beijing.<sup>26</sup> To some experts, Wu's disclosure of the principle of "One Country, Two Areas" has relevance to the Ma administration in preparing for political negotiation.

Present at a joint hearing of the Foreign Affairs Committee and National Defence Committee at the parliament on 26 March, Tsai Teh-sheng, director of the National Security Bureau, testified that he did not hear the concept "One Country, Two Areas" at any previous meeting of the National Security Council. He emphasised that he had not been informed of the concept until the disclosure by Wu. In his testimony, Tsai added that "he does not support the arguments for the concept at this particular moment." He went on to predict that the concept will not move further as it had already caused a heated controversy.<sup>27</sup>

The official media organs in mainland China did not immediately report the concept of "One Country, Two Areas" soon after Wu had openly stated it. It is apparent that Beijing was being prudent in evaluating the new legal concept.<sup>28</sup> Just as the concept of "One Country, Two Areas" aroused severe criticism from the public, so it is likely that the Ma administration will be more scrupulous in evaluating the launch of political negotiations.

Actually, the Obama administration said that it was not informed of the "One Country, Two Areas" formula before Wu conveyed it to Hu. It was very likely that the Obama administration showed its displeasure for being uninformed in advance. Attending President Ma's second inauguration, Ileana Ros-Lehtinen, the chairwoman of the US House Committee on Foreign Affairs, even asked President Ma to give clarification on the "One Country, Two Areas" formula.

Encountering criticisms from both the Pan-Green opposition parties in Taiwan and the Obama administration, President Ma in his second inaugural address modified the above-mentioned concept as "One Country, Two Areas under the Republic of China." More than a week later, Beijing gave its sympathy to President Ma's revision in light of the internal and external difficulties confronting Ma. Beijing seems to be more sophisticated now than ever before in understanding the political entanglements in Taiwan.

### The US's Attitude on a Peace Treaty or a Modus Vivendi

Some quarters in Taiwan are of the opinion that the *status quo* on the Taiwan Strait will not be easily sustained. As a result, they advocate the importance of making preparations for political negotiations with the Chinese Communist Party. To them, it would be better to be prepared against the likelihood that pressure suddenly increases from Beijing.

There is no indication that the Obama administration is encouraging the Ma government to initiate political negotiations with Beijing. Instead, a negative attitude to negotiations on the part of the Obama administration has been indicated from time to time. Some people at major think tanks in the US predict that very little substantive progress on political negotiations across the Taiwan Straits can be foreseen in Ma's second presidential term.

As countermeasures to China's espionage attempts, the United States now not only withholds sensitive information from Taiwan, but equips highly classified electronic components with anti-tamper devices.

Nor has the Obama administration given blessings to talks over military confidence-building measures (CBMs) between Taiwan and Beijing. It welcomes the relaxation of military tension across the Taiwan Straits, but it does not see the removal of Beijing's missiles targeting on Taiwan as a precondition for US restraint on its arms sales to Taiwan. The Obama administration is concerned about the espionage activities of some military officers, in active service or retired, in Taiwan for Beijing. In short, the Obama administration is very keen on political contacts across the Taiwan Straits.

#### The US on Chinese Espionage

In less than two years, more than six Taiwanese citizens have been charged with spying for China. Among the most noteworthy was Major General Lo Hsieh-che, who was charged with providing information on Taiwan's USdesigned command and control system. Despite the lowering of tensions across the Taiwan Straits. China has not relaxed its efforts to steal Taiwan's most vital military secrets. The two main targets of China's military espionage efforts are the Lockheed Martin- and Raytheon-built Patriot missile defence system and the Lockheed-designed Po Sheng command and control system. As countermeasures to China's espionage attempts, the United States now not only withholds sensitive information from Taiwan, but equips highly classified electronic components with anti-tamper devices.<sup>29</sup>

#### The F-16C/D Sale

It seems unlikely that President Obama will approve the sale of F-16C/D aircraft to Taiwan. For years, Taiwan has been seeking to purchase 66 of the fighters. The delaying position adopted by the Obama administration has in turn led to delays in the US Senate's confirmation of Mark Lippert, nominated in October 2011, for the position of US Assistant Secretary of Defence for the Asian and Pacific Security Affairs. But his confirmation was put on hold by Senator John McCain, and now the nomination is being held up by Senator John Cornyn. Despite a letter to Obama to demand clarity on the issue, the White House has made no attempt to negotiate with Cornyn.<sup>30</sup> Interestingly, some doubts have been reported in Taiwan about the intention of the Ma administration over its budgetary preparations in purchasing the F-16C/D fighters. Besides, some military experts in Taiwan now argue for the purchase of even more advanced fighters.

#### Taiwan's International Space

Some people in Taiwan want the country to participate as more than an observer in the annual meeting of the World Health Assembly. Additionally, Taiwan wants to conclude trade liberalisation agreements with foreign countries which do not recognise Taiwan's statehood. The Ma administration initiated a "diplomatic truce" following his victory in his first presidential election. Yet, Beijing has never employed the same term. It is true that Beijing has since then exercised self-restraint by refraining from taking away diplomatic recognition from any country which recognises the Republic of China (essentially Taiwan) as the regime representing the entire Chinese territory. But other than that, Beijing still adopts a policy in restricting Taiwan's international space. In February 2011, the Chinese foreign ministry reacted very strongly to remarks made by Taiwan's de facto ambassador to the United Kingdom, Lu-shun Shen, about his intention to make Taiwan's relations with the United Kingdom as official as possible. Beijing continues to push the United States to stop selling arms to Taiwan. On many occasions, Beijing has obstructed Taiwan's efforts in expanding its participation in international NGO activities. There have been several instances where Beijing has tried to downgrade Taiwan's participation or cooperation within international NGOs, specifically with regard to Taiwan's official designation and status.

A case in point is as follows. The International Federation of Asian and West Pacific Contractors Associations (IFAWPCA) is an association which aims to promote relationships between governments and contractors in the region on civil and building construction projects. Taiwan, as a founding member, has actively participated in the organisation. Last year, the China International Contractors Association, which is under the supervision of the Beijing government, took active steps towards joining the regional federation. In a memorandum to the secretariat of the federation and the Taiwan General

Contractors Association, the Chinese association set a pre-condition prior to its officially filing an application for membership. It demanded that there be no presence of the ROC national flag, national emblem or national anthem at any future activity and meetings of the federation. In addition, it asked that no Taiwanese officials could attend the meetings of the regional federation in any capacity. Beijing was reported to have even asked the regional federation to remove the Taiwanese association from the lists of nations in all its meetings, documents. websites and events. paperwork so as to avoid an impression that there are "two Chinas", or "one China and one Taiwan". In specific terms, the memorandum demanded that all references to the "Republic of China" be removed from the regional federation's website. Unusually, it required that all members of the regional federation sign and accept the memorandum with the secretariat before China would send in official membership application. At the same time this controversy was the Ma administration unfolding, was criticised by the DPP for having announced that public infrastructure construction in Taiwan would be opened to Chinese investment.<sup>31</sup> This was, indeed, an illustrative case reflecting both Beijing's mindset and position.

Some academics in Taiwan, including Bau Tzong-ho, vice president of National Taiwan University, argued at a meeting on 24 March that Beijing still has placed obstacles for Taiwan in its efforts to negotiate free-trade agreements with other countries.<sup>32</sup> The hardliners in Beijing assert that the conclusion of an FTA involves the question of sovereignty. The establishment of a mechanism for FTA negotiations within Taiwan was suggested by some of the scholars present at the meeting as way of effectively dealing with Beijing's future attempts to further reduce Taiwan's

international space. moved They even to call for making efforts to dispel the misunderstanding that UN Resolution 2758 specifically states that Beijing has sovereignty over Taiwan. In other words, even some of

the elite supporters of the ruling party also voiced their frustration over the isolated status of Taiwan. They showed concern with Taiwan's need to seek more room in its international space.

#### The Pingtan Comprehensive Experimental Zone

The Pingtan Comprehensive Experimental Zone in Fujian Province is Beijing's China's newest proposal to Taiwan for the sake of reunification. The zone is 68 nautical miles (125 km) from Taiwan's Hsinchu County. Beijing says that in order to deepen cross-strait ties, the Pingtan Comprehensive Experimental Zone is aiming at attracting investments from Taiwan to host high-tech companies and factories. Doubtlessly, the Ma administration is wary of the proposal. Premier Chen even told legislators in mid-March that China has "ulterior motives." Chen straightforwardly said that the zone proposal is not as simple

that in order Beijing says to deepen cross-strait ties, the Comprehensive Pingtan Experimental Zone is aiming at attracting investments from Taiwan to host high-tech companies and factories.

as it may look. Many analysts expressed concern that Taiwan's would economy hollow out further if large numbers of Taiwanese businesses were attracted and moved their investments there.33 The Ma

administration has stopped short of endorsing the zone initiative while having an intense interest in deepening economic ties with Beijing.

#### The DPP and the US

Following Tsai Ing-wen's resignation from the chairmanship of the DPP, the party was confronted with the problem of taming its wild factions. The DPP has internal weaknesses and it needs to promote reform and transformation within the party. Many contradictions within the DPP were hidden during the election campaigning, and it is believed by some DPP elites that now is the time to resolve some of the contradictions.<sup>34</sup>

The DPP seems to be fighting a war on three fronts. Some hardcore members of the DPP still harbour resentments against the Obama administration over its unusual measures to support President Ma in his re-election. The tough position maintained by the DPP over US imports of ractopamine-containing beef is a reflection of the DPP's resentment. Is there a necessity for the DPP to improve its communication with the United Sates?

Nancy Tucker, а professor at Georgetown University, in July 2011 called on the Obama administration to openly state that the United States would cooperate with either of the two major Taiwan presidential candidates no matter which party turns out to be the winner. Despite her appeal, the Obama administration took decisive action. Some DPP members today still resent the interference by the Obama administration in the presidential election. Several DPP members even appealed to their Taiwanese supporters residing in the United States to lend their support to the Republican Party in the presidential and congressional

elections in the United States. The appeal has had some repercussions. For instance, Li Thian-hok, living in Pennsylvania, wrote a letter to the editor of the Taipei Times, calling for people to support Republican Senator Richard Lugar in his bid to become chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee of the Senate on the grounds that Lugar will be better than Democratic Senator John Kerry in looking after the interests of Taiwan. Li criticised Senator Kerry for having said that Taiwan's future should be settled based on China's "One Country, Two Systems" formula.<sup>35</sup> Following Obama's election victory, it is important for the DPP to reconcile with the Obama administration. Some people in the DPP, like Wu, have already spoke of the importance of enhancing communication with the US Congress.

# The US and China and the South China Sea Disputes

Taiwan definitely is closer to the United States than Beijing. The United States has long been a protector of Taiwan against Beijing's ambition for incorporation. The subtle mixture of cooperation and competition between Beijing and the United States will continue to greatly bear on Taiwan's relations with Beijing and Washington. While the relationship between Beijing and the United States has not been a zero-sum game for Taiwan for some time, Taiwan must be very keen to the subtlety of the bilateral relations of the two superpowers.

The US's emphasis on its traditional alliances in the Asia-Pacific region will not help maintain regional security as those alliances were forged during the Cold War with an aim of restraining Beijing.

The position of the Ma administration towards the South China Sea disputes is not to seek cooperation with Beijing in order not to offend the United States. The Obama administration has precautions against the possibility of cooperation between Taiwan and Beijing over the disputes regarding the South China Sea. In Taiwan there are some that call on the Ma administration to coordinate its position with Beijing over Beijing's heightened territorial dispute with the Philippines and not to accept the claim made by the Philippines.

The United States does not accept China's claims over the South China Sea. It is very vigilant against conceding the Asia-Pacific region to Beijing as its strategic space. Some scholars in the United States compare Beijing's position to that of a Monroe Doctrine for the Asia-Pacific region. In his book *A Contest for Supremacy: China, America and the Struggle for Mastery in Asia,* Aaron Friedberg states that Beijing's goal is "to displace the United States as the dominant player in East Asia, and perhaps to extrude it from the region altogether." Yet, Friedberg adds that "China presently has neither the capacity nor the desire to launch a frontal assault on the U.S.-dominated order in Asia."<sup>36</sup> His observation does not conflict with the mainstream view.

Since the inauguration of the Obama administration, both Beijing and the United States have launched a strategic security dialogue and consultations on Asia-Pacific affairs in the Sino-US Strategic and Economic Dialogue. But the new Asia-Pacific strategy adopted by the Obama administration in July 2009 has sounded alarm in Beijing. In November 2011, Secretary of State Hillary Clinton published an article in Foreign Policy magazine. In her article, Clinton laid out the terms of what she called "America's Pacific Century". Wu Chunsi, a senior research fellow at the Shanghai Institute for International Studies, commented that the US's new Asia-Pacific strategy will negatively influence Sino-US relations even though it does not advocate a strategic containment of China. She noted that "U.S. attempts to boost its profile in the Asia-Pacific by interfering in disputes between China and its neighbouring countries are not conducive to a positive Sino-U.S. relationship." Wu went on to say that the US's emphasis on its traditional alliances in the Asia-Pacific region will not help maintain regional security as those alliances were forged during the Cold War with an aim of restraining Beijing. Instead, she argued that the two major powers must build an inclusive mechanism for cooperation in the Asia-Pacific region. She said that the stance taken by the Obama administration on such Chinese interests as US arms sales to Taiwan will be detrimental to Chinese core interests.<sup>37</sup> Wu's views are, indeed, in line with the mainstream foreign policy elites in mainland China. Actually, the Sino-Russian joint military exercise in the Yellow Sea in late April was widely taken as a counter to the US's reemphasis of its strategic interests in the Asia-Pacific region.

At the Shangri-La Dialogue in Singapore on 2 June, US Secretary of Defence Leon Panetta stated that the United States will shift the bulk of its naval fleet to the Pacific as part of a new strategic focus on Asia. According to Panetta, the US Navy by 2020 will reposture its forces from today's roughly 50/50 split between the Pacific and the Atlantic to about a 60/40 split between the two oceans with a focus on the Pacific.

On the one hand. Panetta demonstrated the determination of the Obama administration to oppose any attempt by Beijing to unilaterally take military action to defend its territorial claims in the South China Sea. But on the other. Panetta asserted that there is "no other alternative" for the United States and Beijing but to boost militaryto-military relations to manage disputes. In Panetta's view, there will be "ups and downs" along the way, yet it is till vital for both superpowers to keep the lines of communication open. In response to Panetta's statements, China's Xinhua News Agency immediately warned the Obama administration that it was no time to "make waves" in the disputed South China Sea.

#### Kissinger on US-PRC Relations

In March of this year, Henry A. Kissinger argued that the American left and the American right have a consensus that tension and conflict with China has grown out of China's domestic structure. In his view, while the United States, if challenged, is sure to do what it must to preserve its security, the United States should not choose to adopt a strategy of confrontation. He argues that the emergence of a prosperous and powerful China must not be assumed to be in itself an American strategic defeat. He tends to believe that crisis management will not be enough to sustain the relationship between Washington and Beijing, and he stresses the importance of maintaining harmonious relations with Beijing. He supports the concept of a Pacific Community, an idea he has advocated before. He believes that the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP) is an arrangement that could be a significant step towards a Pacific Community.<sup>38</sup>

Xi Jinping is now not only the Chinese vice president but also its highest leaderin-waiting. His official visit to the United

States in February 2012 attracted worldwide attention. One of Xi's primary goals in his visit was assumed to be to soften China's image with regard to its regional posturing. Despite his attempts,

the Obama administration has continued to refuse to recognise Beijing's privileged position in the region. Actually, Beijing did not target the visit by Xi to the United States to be a "breakthrough"; neither did Beijing intend to make Xi's visit a basis for Beijing-Washington relations in the next decade. But Xi's visit was largely successful. It provided a kind of stability and continuity to the current Washington-Beijing engagement.

With the rise of Beijing, an increasing number of Japanese foreign and security policy elites have become, indeed, more concerned with the preservation of military stability in the Taiwan Straits.

#### A Closer Relationship between Japan and Taiwan

Japan is the second most important friend to Taiwan. The grassroots friendship between Taiwan and Japan is both profound and extensive. When the Fukushima tsunami catastrophe occurred in Japan in March 2011, the people in Taiwan were the most generous in the world in giving money to the relief. The grassroots friendship between the two peoples is not only deep but is also widely recognised. Taiwan is

> now negotiating an Open-Sky Treaty with Japan. There have been many signs of the improvement of relations between the two countries. 2005, In Japan decided to give visafree tourist status

to Taiwanese visitors, a significant milestone. The exchanges between the visitors of the two countries further rose thereafter. The people in Taiwan are not emotional about the Diaoyutai (also known as the Sengaku islands) territorial disputes with Japan.

The current Noda government in Japan has revised the policies of its predecessor by again recognising the US-Japan Mutual Defence Treaty as the basis of Japan's diplomacy. Noda visited Washington in early May 2012, a visit that was considered a success in the United States. Tadashi Ikeda, the former *de-facto* Japanese ambassador to Taiwan, believes that the mutual treaty defence between Japan and the US is in essence the basis of Japan's policy toward the question of Taiwan's security.<sup>39</sup> Japan in 2005 stated that any armed conflict in the periphery of Japan's territory falls within the scope of the US-Japan Mutual Defence Treaty. With such a formulation, Japan expressed its concern over the security of Taiwan.

In March of this year, Masahiro Miyazaki, a Japanese freelance commentator, pointed out in an article that "Taiwan is the lifeline of Japan" in the eyes of certain Japanese conservative politicians.<sup>40</sup> With the rise of Beijing, an increasing number of Japanese foreign and security policy elites have become, indeed, more concerned with the preservation of military stability in the Taiwan Straits.

#### The 2014 Local Election

The next major election in Taiwan will come in 2014. Chang Po-ya, the chairwoman of the Central Election Commission of Taiwan, said on 19 March that the commission is planning a combined local election in 2014 in which voters may be given up to five ballots. More specifically, voters in the five special municipalities will be given three ballots, while those in counties and county-level cities will cast five votes.41 The forthcoming election is very significant as it involves not only the mayoralty of the five special municipalities but also the local elected positions throughout the country. The DPP considers this election to be an opportunity for the party's revitalisation. To the Kuomintang, it will be both an opportunity and a challenge for the implementation of its earlier presidential campaign platform. The recent bribery scandal of Lin Yi-shih, the secretary general of the Executive Yuan, will force the Kuomintang to augment its image of good governance by the election of 2014.

### Unfavourable Views on the Intermediate-Term Future of Taiwan

While the Obama administration favours maintaining the *status quo* across the Taiwan Straits, there have arisen views in favour of a political solution in the intermediate term for Taiwan's status by some strategists in the United States. In the wake of some arguments for the "Finlandisation of Taiwan," advocacy for "abandonment" of Taiwan was crafted by Charles Glazer among others.

100

Zbigniew Brzezinski, in an article published in the journal Foreign Affairs in January 2012, says that Deng Xiaoping's formula of "one country, two systems" should be redefined as "one country, several systems." He believes that such a redefinition may provide the basis for China to eventually get reunification with Taiwan. Most importantly, Brzezinski thinks that time is on the side of China. He takes note of China's ascending power and the expanding social links between Taiwan and China. In his view, "it is doubtful that Taiwan can indefinitely avoid a more formal connection with China."42 Such a statement by Brzezinski is sure to influence some foreign policy elites in the United States. It poses a severe challenge to the competence of Taiwan's government. It is particularly alarming to Taiwan as Brzezinski also argues that indefinitely continuing US arms sales will provoke intensifying Beijing's hostility to the United States and he specifically states that "any longterm U.S.-Chinese accommodation will have to address" the question.43 Similar

views harmful or unfavourable to the status quo with Taiwan will continue to emerge in the United States. But in the presidential election, neither Obama nor Mitt Romney showed any sign of weakness in their rhetoric over the US's policy toward Taiwan.

#### Conclusion

On the one side, the challenges facing Taiwan are by no means debilitating. But on the other, democracy in Taiwan has become more liberal and mellower. It is healthier now that the polemics between the two major parties are less dogmatic. Most importantly, there has been an increase in the number of swing voters in Taiwan. The chances for fair competition among major political parties are likely to continue to steadily grow. In the next decade, it is conceivable that the Kuomintang may not accept a kind of "federation" as the formula under which Taiwan will rejoin mainland China. Interestingly, the DPP may not oppose such a sort of confederacy.

#### Endnotes

- 1 At one point of time, the application of the visa-waiver programme to Taiwan was delayed partly because the passage of the Taiwan Policy Act in the United States was blocked by the Judiciary Committee of the US House of Representatives. There, some Republican Congressmen voiced their doubts over the handling of safety issues related to the visa-waiver programme. The act was introduced by Republican Congresswoman Ileana Ros-Lehtinen in 2011 in order to help ensure that Taiwan's peace, prosperity and security will be maintained following the decision by the Obama administration not to sell Taiwan F-16C/D aircraft fighter jets.
- 2 Chen Yi-Shen, "The DPP Needs to Grain the US' Trust", *Taipei Times*, 20 February 2012.
- 3 Winston Dang, "China and US Cannot Co-manage Taiwan", *Taipei Times*, 5 February 2012.
- 4 The Liberty Times Editorial, "Government's True Nature Exposed", *Taipei Times*, 18 March 2012. The controversy over beef products containing ractopamine residues mainly involves US beef, as opposed to that from other sources.
- 5 "Government Disregarding the Law", *Taipei Times*, 22 March 2012. An outspoken writer, historian and former legislator Li Ao criticised Ma on 1 April as "the most pro-US president in Taiwan's history", see, Chris Wang, "Ma Involved in Traitorous Acts: Li Ao", *Taipei Times*, 2 April 2012.
- 6 The George W. Bush administration suspended the TIFA negotiation with Taiwan in order to penalise the Chen Shui-bian administration for its refusal to lift the ban on the imports of US beef.
- 7 The TPP is interpreted by some international observers as an instrument by which the United States intends to bolster its geostrategic interests in the Asia- Pacific region.
- 8 Central News Agency, "Paul: the United States Must Not Be Impatient in Pushing Taiwan to Import U.S. Beef", *United Evening News*, 22 March 2012.
- 9 "The Benefits of the Cross-Strait ECFA Are Being Offset by the South Koran-U.S. FTA", *China Times*, 19 March 2012.
- 10 It has long reiterated its desire to deal with taxation and financial issues. The gravity of the issues associated with the increasingly widening wealth gap and the mounting government debt has kept increasing. Issues which Ma has been asked to resolve include a capital gains tax, windfall tax, energy tax, and real-estate taxes based on the actual transaction prices. Coupled with them, a broader fiscal consolidation plan that can effectively stabilise the government's debt is very much in demand. The public in general now demands more than tinkering around the edges. See, "Can New Task Force Avoid Old Pitfalls?", *Taipei Times*, 18 March 2012.
- 11 In 1999, Lee Teng-hui pronounced his policy toward the China mainland as "special stateto-state relations". Both Beijing and Washington were shocked and unhappy.

- 12 "The January 2012 Taiwan Elections and What They Mean", *Brookings Institute*, at http://www.brookings.edu/speeches/2012/0117\_taiwan\_elections\_bush.aspx [last visited 18 December 2012].
- 13 Huang Kuo-liang, "Lin Wen-cheng: Get Prepared for the Political Negotiation", United Evening News, 25 March 2012.
- 14 "DPP Pledges to Improve Ties with China", China Post, 25 February 2012.
- 15 Ibid.
- 16 Lin Shu-hui, "Su Huan-chih Plans to Set Up Foreign Offices for the DPP", *Taipei Times*, 25 February 2012.
- 17 Some people in the Kuomintang believe that the DPP's persistent refusal to revise its policy toward cross-strait relations will be in the interest of the Kuomintang in view of the intense competition between them for political power within Taiwan. In their view, the DPP's flexible attitudes in its policy vis-à-vis mainland China will be more of a threat to the majority support of the Kuomintang in Taiwan.
- 18 "Forum on the Last Mile of the DPP", China Times, 24 March 2012.
- 19 "The DPP Should Think How to Escape from Its Predicament in the Cross-strait Relations", *China Times*, 24 March 2012.
- 20 The Kuomintang-CCP annual forum is a regular meeting established by the then Kuomintang Chairman Lien Chan and the CCP Secretary General Hu in 2005. Lien's attendance at the forum was described by the Kuomintang as an "ice-breaking visit".
- 21 Mo Yan-chih, "One Country, Two Areas' Proposed by Wu Poh-hsiung", *Taipei Times*, 23 March 2012.
- 22 Kao Ling-yun, "To Relieve Pingtan Dilemma: Overdone or Underdone?", *United Evening News*, 23 March 2012.
- 23 Chris Wang, "DPP, TSU Pan 'One Country, Two Areas'", Taipei Times, 24 March 2012.
- 24 Mo Yan-Chih, "Netizens Slam 'One Country, Two Areas", Taipei Times, 25 March 2012.
- 25 Mo Yan-chih and Shih Hsiu-chuan, "No Change to Cross-Strait Policy: Fan Chiang", *Taipei Times*, 24 March 2012. Article 11 of the Additional Articles of the ROC Constitution stipulates that the handling of the rights and obligations for the people between the free area and the mainland area as well as other affairs can be subject to the stipulation of other legal acts. The Additional Articles of the constitution were first promulgated in May 1991. Since then, they have been amended a few times.
- 26 Huang Kuo-liang, "Lin Wen-cheng: To Get Prepared for the Political Negotiation", *United Evening News*, 25 March 2012.
- 27 Hung Zhe-cheng, "Director of the National Security Bureau Tsai Teh-sheng: the Government Now Should Not Touch the Issue, One Country, Two Areas", *United Evening News*, 26 March 2012.
- 28 Wang Ming-yi, "The Concept of 'One Country, Two Areas' Has Operability", *China Times*, 24 March 2012.



103

- 29 AP, "Espionage Threats Linger, Despite Closer China Ties", Taipei Times, 22 March 2012.
- 30 William Lowther, "Cornyn Seeks More Clarity Over Taiwan F-16C/D Sale", *Taipei Times*, 25 March 2012.
- 31 Su Yung-yao and Hsu Yi-ping, "Opening to China Dangerous: Sources", *Taipei Times*, 23 March 2012. Under Beijing's modus operandi, its investment in public infrastructure projects would be directed and controlled by the Chinese association.
- 32 Shih Hsiu-chuan, "Academics Call for Ma to Refocus His Foreign Policy", *Taipei Times*, 25 March 2012.
- 33 Chris Wang, "TSU Says New Party Eyes Unification with Pingtan", *Taipei Times*, 21 March 2012.
- 34 Paul Lin, "After Defeat, DPP Needs to Work on Party Unity", *Taipei Times*, 18 March 2012.
- 35 Li Thian-hok, "Clarification- Letter to the Editor", *Taipei Times*, 22 March 2012.
- 36 Aaron Friedberg, *A Contest for Supremacy: China, America, and the Struggle for Mastery in Asia*, New York, W.W. Norton and Company, 2011, p. 166 and 168.
- 37 Wu Chunsi, "Back in Town", Beijing Review, Vol. 55, No. 2 (12 January 2012), p. 13.
- 38 Henry A. Kissinger, "The Future of U.S.-Chinese Relations: Conflict is a Choice, Not a Necessity", *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 91, No. 2 (March/April 2012), pp. 45 and 52-53.
- 39 Ambassador Ikeda made such a statement in his oral presentation at a conference hosted by the Japanese Center of Tamkang University on 24 February 2012. The theme of the conference was "The Developments of Human Rights in Asia".
- 40 Masahiro Miyazaki, "My Observations during the Presidential Campaign in Taiwan", Seiron, March 2012, p. 127.
- 41 "Plan for 2014 Local Election Could Use Three or Five Ballots", *Taipei Times*, 20 March 2012.
- 42 Zbigniew Brzezinski, "Balancing the East, Upgrading the West: U.S. Grand Strategy in an Age of Upheaval", *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 91, No. 1 (January/February 2012), p. 103. In 2008, Bzezinski made a similar statement. See, Zbigniew Brzezinski and Brent Scowcroft, *America and the World: Conversations on the Future of American Foreign Policy*, New York, Basic Books, 2008, p. 123.
- 43 Brzezinski, "Balancing the East, Upgrading the West", p. 103.

# Security Conditions and Regional Competition in East Asia after the New Millennium: A South Korean Perspective

Chong Jin OH\*

#### Abstract

Even after the new millennium, the Korean peninsula still remains not only the heart of the Northeast Asian security discourse, but also as the centre of global security concerns. The absence of visionary leadership in East Asia and North Korea's self-destructive survival strategy make it difficult to achieve peace on the Korean peninsula. Looking back at the last two decades of globalisation, the South Korean people have been embarrassed by the fact that although the country has been extending its reach as a meaningful global player economically, it has been struggling to contend with security issues such as the North Korean nuclear problem, revision of the South Korean-US alliance, Japanese militarisation, the rise of China, and so on. Thus, there continues to be many security concerns remaining for South Korea (also known as the Republic of Korea, or ROK) in the new millennium.

#### Key Words

South Korean foreign policy, Inter-Korean Relations, Northeast Asia.

#### Introduction

East Asia is perhaps the world's greatest military spending area; it is "ripe for rivalry" according to some experts on East Asian issues.1 East Asian states are competitively building up military resources with which to coerce others and engaging in "head-to-head" economic competition. With economic and energy resources, they are coercing or inducing others to achieve their desired outcomes.<sup>2</sup> However, the incentives for cooperation among states have been growing since the new millennium. Recently, due to dramatic increases in trade and investment ties within the region, East Asia has come close to the European Union and North America not only in the size of its economy but also in its level of integration. These developments have led national leaders to realise that East Asia is becoming a crucial power, and that their fate is closely associated with the prosperity of the region. In the duality that the region presents, rivals compete over how to cooperate. While promoting cooperation in a regional

<sup>\*</sup> Professor at the Hankuk University of Foreign Studies, South Korea.

institutional framework, they advocate different alliances, ideas, and role allocations. Each state is architecting a regional institution that would best position itself in the regional leadership stakes.<sup>3</sup>

Due to dramatic increases in trade and investment ties within the region, East Asia has come close to the European Union and North America not only in the size of its economy but also in its level of integration.

The upshot is that different regions have been selected by different states. For example, China has worked to embrace Southeast Asia under the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) Plus Three (APT: China, Japan, Korea), as well as Central Asia under the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO). Japan is racing to connect the countries of East Asia under the proposed East Asian Community (EAC) that includes the APT countries plus Australia, New Zealand, and India. The United States has attempted to enlarge the functions of the economically oriented APEC (Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation). Finally, South Korea has pursued a Northeast Asian Community composed mainly of China, Japan, and South Korea. Many

of these groupings are incompatible with one another, and they compete for primacy. Thus, the conditions for projecting power have been dramatically changing recently as these powers play a soft power game. Accordingly, the resources that provide the best basis for power are changing these days.

Considering these development, this article examines the security conditions of South Korea in the new millennium, and will discuss the security conditions surrounding the Korean peninsula both internally and regionally. The security implication of the Six-Party Talks will be analysed. Lastly, this work will explore the competitive dynamics of pursuing soft power among the key regional states in East Asia. By doing so, it will try to provide an empirical account of regional competition from a soft power perspective.

## The Security Conditions and Environment of Korea in the New Millennium

With the end of the Cold War the meaning of security started to differ from region to region, and the change in security conditions brought about by globalisation has also been different in places as a result of regional political and social restrictions. Compared to Europe or the North American region, the East Asian international order has experienced a distinctly unique process of formation. Unlike the European case in which countries of similar economic development, social stability, etc.. formed Europe's regional security order through a process of reciprocity, the state of international relations among East Asian countries could be seen as a result of the proliferation of the Western way of diplomatic relations. This sort of historical characteristic has influenced the uniqueness of the regional security order in East Asia. In East Asia, there still remains the Cold War tradition of resolving major security issues bilaterally.<sup>4</sup> Such traditions have institutionalised in the form been of a "fragmented array of bilateral relationships" of which the United States is the centre of these relationships.<sup>5</sup>

The rise of China has forced South Korea to ask itself two security questions.

In addition, the astonishing economic development in East Asia is ushering in growing regional interdependence. Due to the outcomes of globalisation in the field of communication, transportation, networking, and civilian activity, distances are shrinking and the economies of the region's countries are becoming ever more dependent on the well being of each other. To this new sense of regionalism, the so-called interdependence allows for a certainty of security aspects. Interdependence may reduce the risks of any serious troubles. Unfortunately, however, the development of economic interdependence does not easily bring any meaningful spill over effect into the security area.

The major limitation in East Asian regional security is fairly straightforward. The differences in power among different unresolved nation-states. historical issues, the existence of largely autonomous cultures unaccustomed to long-term habits of association and interaction with their neighbours, and the extraordinarily rapid economic and social change in recent years have all constrained the development of a more mature and stable regional order.<sup>6</sup> South Korea, in particular, needs to pay greater attention to these factors more than any other country in the region due to its confrontation with North Korea. As previously mentioned, South Korea symbolises the security confrontation of the East Asian region in the new millennium. It is still a divided nation and also the neighbour to one of the most bizarre and unpredictable regimes in the world, North Korea. Regarding the security conditions of the Korean peninsula in the new millennium, the rise of China draws striking attention. China favours maintaining a peaceful

security environment in order to advance its own industrialisation. However, the rise of China has forced South Korea to ask itself two security questions. First, South Korea has to consider its relations with the United States, China, and Japan along with each state's status in the region. The United States is the regional stabiliser in a distance, and its security alliance with South Korea and Japan has been strengthened and transformed to suit the 21st century international security environment. However, a consequence of increased Chinese power, maritime territorial disputes and historical territorial disputes continue to occur among China, Japan, and Korea. Thus, South Korea is more likely to pursue a balance-of-power approach in this region.

Problems with North Korea have become the most symbolic and significant issue among any other Northeast Asian regional security issues, primarily due to North Korea's continuous resistance to cooperate in the East Asian regional order.

The second security question is concerned with the G-2's (the US and China) global leadership in the region. There are contending arguments on

continuity and disparity between global regional hegemonic influence. and Since the new millennium, the United States and China have been contending for regional hegemony in East Asia. Although the United States asks for a harmonious partnership with China in order to maintain a more efficient leadership in the region, there are many unrevealed competitions and behindthe-scenes manoeuvring between the G-2 countries. Thus, South Korea's choices, regarding its security issues, becoming more limited and are complicated. To be sure, the full-scale rise of China and the beginning of the G-2 accelerated a new stage of international relations in East Asia. The East Asian security structure is characterised by the co-existence of strategic conflict and realistic cooperation. However, because the conflict between the United States and China has not yet intensified, and neither is it an open conflict, now would be an appropriate time to maximise South Korea's national interest, including issues concerning North Korea.

Thirdly, the most salient and enduring security subject in the East Asian region is how to handle North Korea. Although there have been many efforts made by the United States and South Korea to engage with North Korea over the last 20 years, the North Korean regime continues to pursue a nuclear weapons programme. Offers by the United States to North Korea for its disarmament cannot credibly reduce the regime's fear for its survival. In dealing with North Korea, both the United States and South Korea have moved back and forth between policies of engagement and coercion, occasionally leading to contradictory policies and a lack of consistency on the part of both the United States and North Korea, Problems with North Korea have become the most symbolic and significant issue among any other Northeast Asian regional security issues, primarily due to North Korea's continuous resistance to cooperate in the East Asian regional order. As a result, many regional security difficulties, such as the US-Chinese conflict over the Korean peninsula, the underdevelopment of multilateralism in the region, and the arms race among East Asian countries, are far beyond solutions for peace in the East Asian region.

As mentioned earlier, the North Korean nuclear problem has lasted for almost two decades, filling the pages of East Asia's post-Cold War stories on security. Living under this nuclear threat has become a part of daily life for many South Koreans. As the problem continues to go unresolved, more and more of the general public as well as the policymakers in South Korea and the United States are beginning to become pessimistic about whether North Korea will ever give up its reckless pursuit of becoming a nuclear state. Such pessimism has led to the socalled "South-South conflict" in South Korea, which has placed South Koreans into one of the two different camps: the pro-engagement camp that favours engaging with North Korea to bring about gradual reform and openness in the country; and the pro-regime-change camp, which advocates regime change in North Korea to completely stop Pyongyang's irrational behaviour.

Kim Jong-il might have believed that pursuing nuclear weapons is North Korea's only option for defending itself against security threats and for avoiding any loss of control over domestic politics. If North Korea is actually determined to be a nuclear state, then there is not much the international community can do. In short, the international community may simply sit and wait until North Korea reveals their nuclear weapons to the world and try to trade the weapons at an appropriate price. To avoid this worst-case scenario, two options are available. First, it is extremely important that both Seoul and Washington share the goal of completely denuclearising North Korea. However, since the Barack Obama administration came to power in the United States, there have been several indications that the United States may accept North Korea as a de facto nuclear power under the condition that Pyongyang does not attempt to proliferate.<sup>7</sup> Although this indication may not reflect the US government's official

position, many Koreans are worried that Washington may compromise and complete a nuclear deal with Pyongyang due to other US security priorities.

However, the role of China has become the most crucial factor in the subject of the North Korean nuclear issue, Chine is critical in the negotiation process of the North Korean nuclear problem since it has the most leverage over North Korea. Due to the nuclear issue, both South Korea and China have been caught between the United States and North Korea. China has continued to emphasise economic relations with North Korea over the years, although there has been intense debate within China about the best way to deal with North Korea. Although an inseparable relation between the two countries exists, China must participate more actively in the international community to deal with the denuclearisation of North Korea. For a more prosperous and stabilised East Asia, South Korea, China, and the United States must find common ground to better understand each other's intentions in a constructive way.

Under such circumstances, a strategic alliance with the United States has become one of the important ways South Korea can maintain its security. The US-South Korean alliance spans a period of 60 years, and it is a valuable diplomatic asset for South Korea since it

allows it to pursue its national interests separately on the East Asian level as well as on the global level.<sup>8</sup> As far as Korea's national security interests are concerned, the US-Korean alliance is the highest priority in the country's national security strategy. The future international order has been characterised as a complex network or complex transformation. In such an environment, a country like South Korea, surrounded by stronger neighbours, must pursue a strategy that exploits the benefits of the rich, diverse, and complex networks in all areas of national security. In that sense, the relationship with the United States takes top priority. However, Korea and the United States must work to reduce the negative implications associated with the term "strategic alliance", especially for China. Its alliance must not be seen as if it were preventing a rise of Chinese power in the region. Rather, both South Korea and the United States need to explain to their neighbours, especially to China, that their aim is to cope with the comprehensive security threats of East Asia in the future.

Considering South Korea's national security and national interest, stable multilateral diplomatic relations in East Asia is one of the most critical conditions for its security.

In this perspective, handling East Asian security issues in terms of the regional context has been carefully considered since the end of the last millennium. Institutionalised cooperation in the region is urgently needed for the longterm prosperity and peace in East Asia. However, the absence of an emergent collective identity in East Asia is a big obstacle. Moreover, East Asia has survived without any permanent multilateral security mechanism. The region apparently lacks a more or less enduring multilateral mechanism like the Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE). However, people in the region view the emergence of linkages in East Asia as being beneath the level of state actions. In recent years, East Asian countries have become considerably more interdependent, connected, and cohesive. This increased cohesiveness has been driven by developments in, among other things, trade and investment, crossborder production, banking, technology sharing, popular culture, transportation, communication. and environmental cooperation, as well as in crime, drug, and disease control. Previous South Korean governments all endeavoured to contribute to the creation of more or less lasting multilateral security arrangements in East Asia. The Kim Young-sam government proposed to create a Northeast Asia Security Dialogue

(NEASED) at the first ASEAN Regional Forum Senior Official's Meeting. The Kim Dae-jung administration has emphasised the importance of multilateral security cooperation in East Asia on many occasions.<sup>9</sup> Truly, a long and hard way exists in order to accomplish such a mechanism in the region. However, in order for these efforts to succeed, there must be a region-wide consensus on the ideas and interests among the East Asian states. Thus, creating institutions for a multilateral security framework is crucial groundwork for future long-term cooperation.

Considering South Korea's national security and national interest, stable multilateral diplomatic relations in East Asia is one of the most critical conditions for its security. Thus, the South Korean government is supporting the development of a collective identity among East Asians which would be the base of a regional multilateral framework. However, countries in the region differ in their domestic values on many security issues, such as Japan's military buildup, China's rising power, North Korea's nuclear programme, and the US-centric bilateral alliance system. Regarding these subjects, different domestic security values among the East Asian countries are known as the most significant barriers to the emergence of a sense of collective identity. Thus, these barriers should be overcome by active interdependence

and convergence of each state's domestic values through multilateral dialogue. We may consider the creation of multilateral security dialogue, region-wide collective military exercises, and civilian discussion channels on East Asian military issues in order to create a permanent multilateral security mechanism in the region.

Regarding the security concerns of Korea, it is highly probable that the United States, China, and Japan will adhere to the policies of maintaining the status quo on the North-South Korean division. As a result, to remain as a meaningful actor in East Asia is not an easy task for South Korea. The Korean peninsula is a place of strategic importance, where territorial and marine forces collide, and Western and non-Western civilisations adjoin. Thus, there should be a consistent emphasis that, without peace and prosperity on the peninsula, East Asian regional security cannot be guaranteed. Since the dissolution of the Soviet Union. international relations of East the Asia have developed into a complex security structure that depends on the following competing elements: the role of the United States as a balancer, the possibility of a hegemonic war between China and the United States, the US-Japanese alliance, and finding resolutions to the division of the Korean peninsula. Considering the change in the balance of power among the surrounding states,

continuous attention must be paid to South Korea's national interests.

# The Security Implications of the Six-Party Talks

The Six-Party process has been in recession since 2008. Hence there is scepticism on whether the Six-Party framework can succeed in denuclearising North Korea. However, it seems crucial to explore the security implication of the Six-Party Talks, since the North Korean issue can be regarded as a good example of how security is being organised in East Asia in the post-Cold War era. According to Hemmer and Katzenstein, it appears to be highly unlikely that the East Asian region can easily establish a cooperative security regime because the region lacks both a collective regional identity and multilateral institutional experience due to its bipolar structure during the Cold War.<sup>10</sup> However, the North Korean issue engendered the major regional actors to establish a multilateral security dialogue, the Six-Party Talks, to manage East Asia's regional security challenge.

The security implications of the Six-Party Talks are often analysed in terms of a concert of powers. Ness characterises the Six-Party Talks as "a four-plus-two security consortium" which can create a long-term security institution to remove instability in East Asia.<sup>11</sup> He adds that if the major powers of East Asia, China, Japan, Russia, and the US, could commit themselves to cooperation, the Six-Party framework can generate "a security consortium" or "a formal concert of powers" for the region. Likewise, it is important to consider the long-term perspective of the Six-Party framework in tackling the issue of a security guarantee for North Korea. In this regards, the Six-Party framework can play the role of a concert-like diplomacy to build up regional cooperation for both the dismantlement of the North Korean nuclear programme and North Korea's re-engagement with the international community.12

At this point, it is critical to examine China's perception of the Six-Party Talks, since China has largely contributed to establishing and maintaining it. China also sees the Six-Party framework as a concert of powers system.<sup>13</sup> Chinese Foreign Minister Li Zhaoxing emphasised the role of the Six-Party Talks as "concert efforts" in arriving at peaceful resolutions of the nuclear issue in the Korean peninsula. Chinese State Councillor Tang Jiaxuan even went further, saying that the "implication of the Six-Party framework is the handling of regional security matters through dialogue to build a mutual trust when tackling disputes emerging in East Asia". Compared with the earlier stage of the nuclear issue, it is apparent that

the Six-Party process now shows one significant difference from what it did at the beginning: the Six-Party framework now allows all of the major actors in the East Asian region to have a voice in dealing with a particular security issue. Specifically, the particular pattern of a multilateral forum is accepted by all of the countries involved. Despite the absence of any formal institutionalisation, it is clear that the Six-Party Talks has operated as an engine to solve common security concerns in the region.

It seems crucial to explore the security implication of the Six-Party Talks, since the North Korean issue can be regarded as a good example of how security is being organised in East Asia in the post-Cold War era.

Recently, it seems fair to say that the Six-Party Talks basically resembles a concert of powers system since the key elements of the Six-Party framework can be examined in the same way a concert of powers would be. Also, China's proactive engagement in the North Korean nuclear issue showed that a concert of powers system was valuable in preventing the breakout of major war between the members. China's proactive engagement policy can be understood as the attempt of a great power to prevent war. Ever since March 2003, when the United States intervened in Iraq, China has radically changed its stance from a "hands-off" attitude to an "engagement policy" on North Korean issues. Definitely, China doesn't want a similar situation to play out in its backyard.

Although the Six-Party Talks was not a formal institution, it continued to play its role as holding a regular pattern of conferences dealing with particular security issues. Its establishment and maintenance showed that it has paved the way for a concert-like diplomacy not only by providing opportunities for regional actors such as the United States, China, Russia, Japan, and South Korea to take part in managing the nuclear issue, but also by offering a regular pattern of forums to discuss regional security issues. Nevertheless, there still remains a question of why the Six-Party process has not been functioning in recent years. In this respect, it is important to understand that despite its resemblance of a concert of powers system, the Six-Party Talks has some limitations. More or less, a concert of powers is a permanent framework for managing a broad range of international affairs rather than an ad hoc vehicle for solving a particular problem. The Concert of Europe sought to manage European politics in general. However, the Six-Party Talks was not born for the purpose of establishing a permanent security architecture in the region, but instead established to deal with the nuclear proliferation issue. Thus, the Six-Party Talks has a limitation in providing a long-term general framework for governing East Asia's security issues. Also, creating the common regional identity and political value in East Asia are still secondary to the balance-of-power political practice in the region. Nonetheless, it has somehow demonstrated the basic foundation for the creation of the multilateral security dialogue in East Asia. Although its process has been slow and marginal, its progress can be developed into a regional security organisation. As East Asian states have achieved remarkable economic growth and have played an increasingly important role as a trading partner in today's world economy, many economic discussions, e.g., APEC, APT, and the Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM),14 have begun to extend their scope to security issues.

The Six-Party Talks has a limitation in providing a longterm general framework for governing East Asia's security issues.

Consequently, its security implication and the meaning in the region of the Six-

Party Talks cannot be ignored, because all the member states are directly involved in the regional stability in East Asia. The Six-Party Talks can play the role of a permanent channel for communication, while the member states maintain their existing bilateral relations with neighbouring states. The duality of the communication channels is essential given the complexity of each member state's political and diplomatic interests. The permanent establishment of the Six-Party Talks could promote both bilateral and multilateral relations which could enhance reciprocal communication among the member states. This can eventually stabilise regional security as a whole. In this sense, it seems to be better to have a leading group such as China, Japan, and South Korea to take the initiative in providing the new regional system with a sense of direction and objective.

# Soft Power Competition in East Asia: A Korean Perspective

The economic crisis in 1997 made East Asian countries realise that they should protect themselves.<sup>15</sup> Starting in the post-Cold War period, a series of multilateral institutions came into existence in East Asia: APEC was founded in 1989, the ASEAN Regional Forum (ARF) was held in 1993, and the first ASEM was held in 1996. Most of them were designed discuss cooperation economic to which is less sensitive than politics or security. However, these institutions have often faced criticism due to their failure to meet earlier expectations. Some countries had not achieved full democratisation, and, moreover, some newly industrialised countries were not free from their government's protective policies and hence they could not take initiatives in regional cooperation without considering their national policies. Therefore, East Asian countries could not easily come to a conclusion on a common cause at the expense of their national interests. As Hemmer and Katzenstein mentioned, it was very difficult to expect a smooth operation of international organisations in this region.<sup>16</sup> However, East Asian countries have been showing a slow but gradual progress in the development of a regional cooperation organisation since the new millennium. Also, leading countries in the region, such as China, Japan, and South Korea, are taking the initiative in providing a new regional system with a different direction and objective.

As mentioned earlier, the incentives for cooperation among the East Asian states have been growing since the new millennium. Rapid increases in trade along with investment ties within the region are making East Asia similar to the European Union not only in the

size of its economy but also in the level of integration. Thus, the conditions for projecting power have been dramatically changing as major East Asian powers start playing a soft power game. By the beginning of the new millennium, a new China had emerged on Asia's strategic shifting gears in foreign horizon, policy. China toned down its previous strategy of using military strength to intimidate its Asian neighbours through aggressive moves and calling on others to abandon their alliances, mostly with the United States. Instead, the Chinese leadership has focused on a proactive diplomacy in shaping а regional environment conducive to domestic economic development. China has tried to maintain peace and stability on its borders and has portrayed itself to others as a benign and constructive actor.<sup>17</sup> China has also embraced regional multilateral institutions and pursued free trade agreements (FTA) with neighbours, and it aims to improve its image and influence through these new strategies.<sup>18</sup> These new concepts and strategies were all devised to increase China's soft power.

By the early millennium, the term "peaceful rise", developed by Zheng Bijian, an important advisor to the Chinese leadership, provided the most important guiding principle of China's foreign policy. By claiming that China will not rise at the expense of others, it purports to allow the Chinese economy

continue growing, undermining to the perception of China as a threat. Additionally, China portrays itself as a benign, peaceful, and constructive actor in the world. A peaceful rise is a carefully constructed concept that would allow China to become a global power.<sup>19</sup> Thus, China's soft power strategies aim at a larger national goal: leadership in Asia. While the response to China's soft power extends beyond Asia, for example it includes nations from Venezuela to Nigeria, its soft power strategies have focused on Asia, shifting influence away from the United States and Japan, and creating China's own sphere of influence in the region.<sup>20</sup>

Given the rise of regionalism among the East Asian states. China believed that its future would depend on the stability and prosperity of the region, and decided to take the lead in constructing regional cooperative frameworks. Since the new millennium, China has developed subtle strategies to achieve this goal. One is establishing a leadership position in East Asia through proactive involvement in the APT. The other focuses on Central Asia through an initiative to develop the SCO. Accordingly, China has begun to enunciate a doctrine of "win-win" relations, emphasising that participants would benefit from their relationships with China. It also proclaimed a doctrine of non-interference, saying that it would listen to the needs and desires of other nations without asking for anything in return.<sup>21</sup> Both were in line with the broader strategy of a peaceful rise.

By claiming that China will not rise at the expense of others, it purports to allow the Chinese economy to continue growing, undermining the perception of China as a threat.

On the economic perspective, China has pursued a soft power strategy in using FTAs as a strategic engagement tool. Sensitive to the fear of China's economic rise, the Chinese leadership reassured ASEAN countries by signing an FTA and making substantial trade concessions. To the surprise of many ASEAN partners, China offered a trade deal including an "early harvest package" that, even before the FTA came into effect, would reduce China's tariffs on some Southeast Asian goods. Apparently, this was a conscious strategy for earning goodwill from its ASEAN neighbours.<sup>22</sup> It was also a strategy of engagement that uses economic means to ameliorate the non-status quo elements of a rising power's behaviour.<sup>23</sup> Backing up its trade and investment promises, China has also developed a substantial foreign aid programme. It now competes with the United States and Japan in the Southeast Asia and Central Asia regions. Again, the

way in which Beijing assists others is quite noticeable. Assistance is not explicitly targeted for economic development, but also for the cultural and language promotion, and aims to improve friendly cooperation between China and the other developing countries.<sup>24</sup>

In addition to the economic perspective, China's cultural promotion is part of a broader effort at public diplomacy. China has made an effort to increase cultural exchanges with its neighbours, expand the international reach of its media, increase networks of informal summits such as a Davos-style world economic forum, and promote Chinese culture and language studies abroad. In particular, the establishment of Confucius Institutes (Kongzi xuevuan),25 a "Chinese cultural-cumlanguage centre" responsible for creating enthusiasm about learning Chinese, is a case in point. In fact, Chinese language and cultural studies have soared in popularity around the world. South Korea is a good example. As China has become South Korea's largest trading partner, there has been a boom in interest in China. Since the establishment of the first Confucius Institute in Seoul in November 2004, 322 institutes had been set up worldwide as of October 2010. The number of Korean students studying in Chinese universities has also increased rapidly. The number of Koreans travelling to China have

skyrocketed and overtaken the number of Japanese visitors.

In short, China's subtle but persistent pursuit of a good neighbour policy, proactive economic engagement, and systematic promotion and dissemination of its own cultural values have all increased its soft power. By skilfully combining this with its rapidly increasing economic and military capabilities, China has successfully increased its influence in East Asia as well as in Southeast and Central Asia. China's central position in both the APT and the SCO proves its successful

efforts. The response to China's soft power now extends to South Korea and to the rest of the world. Indeed, China's soft power diplomacy has been impressive.

As Shambaugh says, "bilaterally and multilaterally, China's diplomacy has been remarkably adept and nuanced, earning praise around the region." As a result, many nations in the region now see China as a good neighbour, a constructive partner, a careful listener, and a nonthreatening regional power.<sup>26</sup> Kurlantzick calls the Chinese approach a "charm offensive".<sup>27</sup> However, China has yet to prepare an elaborate ideational or institutional framework under which Asians can get together. Also, a recent critical observation describes China's limitation: "China's charming image might recede as the honeymoon period ends; the world will focus more intensely and critically on what China says as it becomes powerful".<sup>28</sup>

The increase in China's soft power has had the greatest impact on Japan. Japan is also a country that has great soft power resources in the region. Japan was the first non-Western country to achieve modernisation and industrialisation in Asia. Thus, its economic and development model have been welcomed as an alternative model to the Western course

Japan's economic and devel-

opment model have been wel-

comed as an alternative model

to the Western course of devel-

opment by many Asian states.

of development by many Asian states. There is no doubt that an East Asian brand of modernisation and capitalism was created by Japan, and was then followed by

South Korea and other Asian countries. Japan has also used its soft power and organised its strategic importance. In attempting to implement soft power strategies, Japan made the most of its cultural traditions and assets. Japanese arts, music, design, fashion, and food have long served as global cultural magnets. In particular, Japanese popular culture, such as J-pop, manga, and animation, have become extremely popular among Asian youth. One Japanese scholar argued that Japan has been playing a key role in creating an East Asian middle-class culture in Asia.<sup>29</sup> However, when there was a massive opportunity for Japan to take advantage of its overseas investment and aid, Japan walked away from Asia due to its self-defeating politics and economic management.<sup>30</sup> Japan's long recession since the 1990s has led Japan to focus on its own problems and its own economy. Also, Japan's political scandals and a society-wide decline in morality made its foreign policy passive; it became a secondary concern. Where foreign policy was concerned, strengthening its hard alliance with the United States was the primary goal.<sup>31</sup>

It was precisely in this context that China aggressively made inroads into Southeast Asia. When China signed the 2001 Framework Agreement on Economic Cooperation with ASEAN and the China-ASEAN FTA, the Japanese government was astonished. In 2006, the Japanese government proposed a broader East Asian Community (EAC). Within this framework, Japan proposed to hold an East Asian Summit (EAS) to pursue a community-based identity, as in the case of postwar Europe, that emphasises peace and democracy as its ideals. Japan suggested that East Asia should shape an identity that was directed towards freedom, democracy, human rights, the rule of law, and the market economy, socalled Western and universal values. By doing so, Japan tried to create the EAC by including the existing APT membership

plus Australia, New Zealand, and India. Japan thought that these countries could easily be identified as regional members since they share those universal values.<sup>32</sup> However, in attracting the East Asian people to take part in the EAC, Japan defined its role in the EAC as a leader. Just as China has attempted to establish its sphere of influence beyond the scope of East Asia, Japan seems to have similar aims.

Japan's EAC proposal of open regionalism seems realistic and persuasive, given the presence of the United States as well as Australia and India as important stakeholders in the region.<sup>33</sup> Also, Japan's functionalist approach seems realistic, given the diverse, unequal, and often conflictual nature of the East Asian region, which renders the creation of an institutional whole, such as the European Union, almost impossible. In addition, an EAC based on the concept of a community was attractive because of the community's importance in the Asian tradition. In particular, the idea of the Chinese/Confucian civilisation, which idealises a Gemeinschaft-like world of obligation and harmony, was welcomed by many East Asians. The contents of the Japanese message seemed persuasive based on a realistic judgment of regional conditions as well as the use of knowledge, potentially attractive to the people in the region.

119

Given the resurgence of nationalism in both societies, which leads to their striving for leadership in Asia, any attempt to assume the leading role in the creation of a regional community is hardly trustworthy.

Japan's dilemma, however, was that the attraction of the message was likely to decrease when the source of the message was from Japan. For Asians, Japan's promotion of the community concept reminds them of Japanese's earlier attempt at establishing the "Greater East Asian Co-prosperity Sphere" during the time of Japanese imperialism, an idea that was also embedded in traditional Asian values at the time.34 Thus, given its imperialistic heritage, Japan is not a credible source for such message. In order to avoid Asians' doubt or fear, Japan has attempted to claim that a community's identity should be based on universal values such as democracy, freedom, human rights, rule of law, and the market economy.35 The Japanese government labelled this as value diplomacy and promoted it as a key pillar of its diplomacy for the beginning of the new millennium.36 However, when viewed in the Asian context, this message was not so appealing. The message sounds too American and, especially to

China, it suggests that Japan is too close to an American ally.<sup>37</sup>

By far, the greatest challenge both China and Japan have had to face and will face is the question of nationalism. The credibility of a source is undermined when the source promotes an international position that clearly furthers its interests. Given the resurgence of nationalism in both societies, which leads to their striving for leadership in Asia, any attempt to assume the leading role in the creation of a regional community is hardly trustworthy. China's setback in the EAS proves this. Despite repeated commitments to multilateralism, when China's aspiration for a leadership role in an exclusive regional setting became apparent, Asians turned away. They warned that China seems to be using this multilateral institution as a cover, aiming to deter Japanese and American influence in East Asia.<sup>38</sup> Likewise, when Japan's drive for regionalism was seen as a clear balancing act against China's rise, its attractiveness declined. In addition, inherent in both Chinese and Japanese domestic politics is the problem that frequently their messages are for their domestic popularity, legitimacy, and even regime survival, which undermines their soft power in creating multilateralism in East Asia.

The best example is the historical dispute. Just as Japan has never fully

repudiated its past aggression, China also has not fully come to terms with its own imperial past. Both countries have been engaged in historical disputes with their neighbours.<sup>39</sup> For example, South Korea's recent dispute with China over the history of the Koguryo Kingdom has generated a sharp decline of China's popularity among Koreans.<sup>40</sup> The territorial disputes over the Tokdo islands, increased by the Japanese prime minister's official visit to the Yasukuni Shrine. created massive popular resentment, putting Japan's popularity at its lowest in postwar history. These historical disputes and suspicions that remain in Korea and other post-colonial states in Asia limit Chinese and Japanese soft power to create multilateralism in the region.41

In the midst of these soft power contests between China and Japan, what are South Korea's options? What can South Korea learn from their practices? Situated at the crossroads of great powers, South Korea absolutely faces an apparent deficit in hard power. Therefore, a wise strategy for South Korea would be to fill this void by fortifying its soft power.<sup>42</sup> This differs from a great power's strategy in which soft power complements military and economic might. South Korea should make greater investments in soft power than the great powers. Since South Korean foreign policy is struggling to solve the peninsula question, almost all of

its diplomatic tools and foreign assistance have been directed toward North Korea and the four great powers (the US, Russia, China, Japan).<sup>43</sup> Diplomacy and foreign assistance efforts outside the peninsula are largely understaffed, underfunded, and underused. They are neglected in part because of the difficulty of demonstrating their short-term effect on progress toward a peaceful peninsula. South Korean foreign policy has tended to view soft power as a cultural phenomenon. In this perspective, South Korea's soft power strategy lies in the field of cultural diplomacy. Recently, the South Korean government has been promoting Korean popular culture, the so-called "Korean wave", in the region in the name of public diplomacy. Korea is using the appeal of its popular culture to play a role in inspiring other Asian neighbours and to develop common Asian values. Thus, cultivating political ideas and values as well as performing skilful diplomacy are, perhaps, the crucial mission for the South Korean government at this point. In order to achieve this, decision makers in the government South Korean should understand what soft power means and what it can achieve on its own.

Despite its status as a latecomer in the region, South Korea has potential. Both China and Japan have recently created problems that undercut their own soft power. China has demonstrated an

increasingly offensive posture in the case of several territorial disputes (such as on the Senkaku islands and South China Sea) that contradicts its previously cautious charm offensive. China's suppression of human rights also undercuts its soft power. In a different way, indecisive and frequent changes in the Japanese leadership in its recent efforts to create an "Asian Shift" as well as its pursuit of an equal relationship with the United States are caught up with its internal political debate. It is not only hindering Japan's further progress in the region, but also weakening the Japanese voice in the international arena.

South Korea can take advantage of these two countries' mistakes to develop a strategy based on four principles. First, South Korea's soft power strategy must be appropriate to its position as a middle power in the global system. Judged from a hard power perspective, South Korea will not be able determine the regional order. However, the biggest challenge is to decide between China and Japan/ the United States. By improving its soft power, South Korea can play a constructive role as an arbiter or broker who helps to avoid a zero-sum game, or possibly a collision course, among the great powers in the region.

Secondly, South Korea's success in the arbiter's role will turn on its ability to win credibility from others. Both China and Japan fall short in their credibility and ability to inspire hope and optimism. The core of the problem is that they are self-centred and nationalistic. In this sense, the key to gaining credibility is overcoming self-centred nationalism and establishing consistency in words and action.

By improving its soft power, South Korea can play a constructive role as an arbiter or broker who helps to avoid a zero-sum game, or possibly a collision course, among the great powers in the region.

Thirdly, overcoming a myopic, inwardlooking, short-term mindset is extremely important. Efforts that are only spent on the Korean peninsula (e.g., regarding North Korea or the Six-Party Talks) will not necessarily bring comparable improvement in South Korea's security and peace. South Korea's bargaining power with neighbouring states can be increased by efforts outside the peninsula. To be sure, this may not produce the desired outcomes immediately, and such efforts often work indirectly and may take years to bear fruit. Given South Korea's limited budget and the need for trade-offs among policies, it is difficult to invest for the good of the region and the world. However, it would be wise to consider seriously such an option. The South Korean foreign policy should broaden its perspective to include regional and global dimensions.

Different domestic security values among East Asian countries on these subjects are known as the most significant barriers to the emergence of a sense of collective identity.

Lastly, South Korea should learn lessons from the Japanese and Chinese cases. The soft power strategies of both China and Japan have been very much government driven. As a result, governments have always taken the initiative in creating and disseminating soft power. However, many critical soft power resources are private. The key to success is to think of a soft power increase in terms of a connection of activities. linked through flows of potential resources into networks. Here, the role of the government is in providing an infrastructure and environment that allows creative experimentation by private individuals and groups, and establishing networks that constitute relational structures and processes in which creative actors interact.

South Korea was once the weakest nation in the East Asian region. today South However, Korea is categorised as a "middle power" that can assume initiative in international matters that are too sensitive or impossible for stronger states to engage in.44 Moreover, compared to any of its neighbours, South Korea has achieved a dynamic and participatory democracy. Due to such democracy, South Korea has experienced amazingly rapid development as well as the development of a highly professional civil society. In addition, South Korea is at a contact point of continental powers (China) and maritime powers (Japan), and thus, South Korea is relatively better situated to develop a collective identity of East Asia. South Korea's networking power will gain a competitive edge in the East Asian region.45

Different domestic security values East Asian countries among on these subjects are known as the most significant barriers to the emergence of a sense of collective identity.46 The systemic process should move forward the interdependence and convergence of each state's domestic values. As the specific conduct of such systemic processes, we may consider a creation of multilateral security dialogue, regionwide collective military exercises, and civilian discussion channels on various issues.

#### Conclusion

This article explored the security conditions in East Asia in the new millennium, particularly focusing on the South Korean perspective. As a result, it discussed the security conditions surrounding the Korean peninsula both internally and regionally. Moreover, the research examined regional competition in East Asia from a soft power perspective.

Despite East Asian states' rivalry in political and military sectors, the degree of their interdependence is likely to be strengthened in East Asia. The major bilateral relations in the Asia-Pacific are mostly prosperous, historical bitterness although still remains in Japanese-Chinese and the Japanese-Korean relations, regardless of the increasing degree of economic interactions and cultural contacts. As mentioned throughout the paper, while maintaining the existing bilateral relations, multilateral relations should be developed. The establishment of security institutions with dense networking would lessen the tense rivalry among the key states.47 Thus, the article has suggested the possibility of the current Six-Party Talks playing a crucial role in creating a multilateral institution in East Asia. It has been argued that this seems quite sustainable because the parties that are concerned are the US, China, Japan, Russia, plus the two Koreas. They are

directly involved in regional stability in East Asia, and therefore they should all be engaged in a regular contact point. More specifically, the Six-Party Talks can play a key role as a permanent channel of communication, whilst the member states maintain their existing bilateral relations with neighbouring states. The article emphasised that the duality of communication channels is essential given the complexity of each member state's political and diplomatic interests. Any possible deadlock in one channel can be dealt with by the other one. The permanent establishment of the Six-Party Talks would promote bilateral relations and vice versa. In this way, the reciprocal communication would stabilise regional security as a whole.

The Six-Party Talks can play a key role as a permanent channel of communication, whilst the member states maintain their existing bilateral relations with neighbouring states.

Regarding the security concerns of South Korea, it is apparent that the United States, China, and Japan will hold on to its policies of maintaining the status quo of the North-South Korean division. If the North Korean nuclear problem is not resolved smoothly, this perspective will probably increase. In this vein, to remain as a meaningful player in East Asia is not an easy task for Korea. The Korean peninsula is a place of strategic importance, where territorial and marine forces collide, and Western and non-Western civilisations border. Consequently, there should be a continuous emphasis on the phrase "without peace and prosperity on the peninsula, East Asian regional security cannot be guaranteed".

Since the new millennium, East Asian international relations have developed a complex security structure that depends on the following competing elements: the role of the United States as a balancer, the possibility of a hegemonic war between China and the United States, the US-Japanese alliance, and the discovery of resolutions to the division of the Korean peninsula as well as the Taiwan Strait issue. The course of history has a definite meaning. Considering the change in the balance of power among the surrounding states, South Korea should follow and understand the dynamic changes in the region in order to secure its own national interests.

12

#### Endnotes

- 1 Arron Friedberg, "Ripe for Rivalry: Prospect for Peace in a Multipolar Asia", *International Security*, Vol. 18, No. 3 (Winter 1993), p. 9.
- 2 Kent Calder, "U.S. Foreign Policy in Northeast Asia", in Samuel S. Kim (ed.), The International Relations of Northeast Asia, Lanham, Rowman & Littlefield, 2004; David Kang, "Between Balancing and Bandwagoning: South Korea's Response to China", Journal of East Asian Studies, Vol. 9, No. 1 (2009), pp. 1-28; Lowell Dittmer, "The Emerging Northeast Asian Regional Order", in Samuel S. Kim (ed.), The International Relations of Northeast Asia.
- 3 Takashi Terada, "Forming an East Asian Community: A Site for Japan-China Power Struggles", *Japanese Studies*, Vol. 26, No. 1 (May 2006).
- 4 Ihn-hwi Park, "Changing U.S. Alliance Strategy and the Limits of the Bilateral Alliance Structure in Northeast Asia", *Journal of East Asian Affairs*, Vol. 21, No. 1 (Spring-Sumer 2007), p. 59.
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 Ihn-hwi Park, "Dongbuka Kukje-Kwankewa Hankukeui Kukga-Iik (Northeast Asian International Relations and Korea's National Interest)", *Kukgajeonryak (National Strategy)*, Vol. 11, No. 3 (2005), p. 15.
- 7 Robert M. Gates, "A Balance Strategy", *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 88, No. 1 (January/February 2009).
- 8 Sang-Hyun Lee and Baek Jong-Chun (eds.), *Korea-U.S. Relations in Transition: Korea-U.S. Alliance in Retrospect and Prospects for a New Strategic Partnership*, Seongnam- Korea, Sejong Institute, 2002.
- 9 Ibid.
- 10 Christopher Hemmer and Peter Katzenstein, "Why is There No NATO in Asia? Collective Identity, Regionalism and the Origins of Multilateralism", *International Organization*, Vol. 56, No. 3 (June 2002), p. 579.
- 11 Peter Van Ness, "The North Korean Nuclear Crisis: Four-Plus-Two- An Idea Whose Time has Come", *Asian Perspective*, Vol. 27, No. 4 (2003), p. 255.
- 12 Charles M. Perry and James Schoff, "Building Six-Party Capacity for a WMD-Free Korea", *The Korean Journal of Defense Analysis*, Vol. 16, No. 2 (2004), p.17.
- 13 Chinese Foreign Ministry Statement, "Foreign Minister Li Zhaoxing Meets Heads of Delegations to the Six-Party Talks", at http://muchina-embassy.org/eng/xwdt/t152453.htm [last visited 22 November 2012].
- 14 APEC (Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation), ASEM (Asia-Europe Meeting).
- 15 Kevin Cai, "Is a Free Trade Zone Emerging in Northeast Asia in the Wake of the Asian Financial Crisis?", *Pacific Affairs*, Vol.74, No.1 (Spring 2001), pp. 7-24.
- 16 Hemmer and Katzenstein, "Why Is There No NATO in Asia?".

- 17 Joshua Kurlantzick, *Charm Offensive: How China's Soft Power is Transforming the World*, New Haven- CT, Yale University Press, 2007, p.33.
- 18 Jianwei Wang, "China's Multilateral Diplomacy in the New Millennium", in Yong Deng and Fei-Ling Wang (eds.), *China Rising: Power and Motivation in Chinese Foreign Policy*, Lanham, Rowman & Littlefield Publishers Inc., 2005, p. 169.
- Bijan Zheng, "China's Peaceful Rise to the Great Power Status", *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 84, No. 5 (September/ October 2005).
- 20 Wang, "China's Multilateral Diplomacy in the New Millennium", p. 172.
- 21 Kurlantzick, Charm Offensive, p. 39.
- 22 Zheng, "China's Peaceful Rise to the Great Power Status".
- 23 Randall L. Schweller, "Managing the Rise of Great Powers", in Alastair I. Johnston and Robert S. Ross (eds.), *Engaging China: The Management of an Emerging Power*, New York, Routledge, 1999, p. 14.
- 24 Kurlantzick, Charm Offensive, p. 98.
- 25 Confucius Institutes are non-profit public institutions aligned with the government of the People's Republic of China that aim to promote the Chinese language and culture, support local Chinese teaching internationally, and facilitate cultural exchanges. Confucius Institutes are compared to the language and culture promotion organisations such as France's Alliance Française and Germany's Goethe-Institut. The first Confucius Institute was opened on 21 November 2004 in Seoul, South Korea. Hundreds more have since opened in dozens of other countries around the world, with the highest concentration in the United States, Japan, and South Korea.
- 26 David Shambaugh, "China Engages Asia: Reshaping the Regional Order", *International Security*, Vol. 29, No. 3 (Winter 2004/2005), pp. 64-99.
- 27 Kurlantzick, Charm Offensive, p.109
- 28 Ibid.
- 29 Takashi Shiraishi, "The third wave: Southeast Asia and Middle Class Formation in the Making of A Region", in Peter J. Katzenstein and Takashi Shiraishi (eds.), *Beyond Japan: The dynamics of East Asian Regionalism*, Ithaca- NY, Cornell University Press, 2006, p. 242.
- 30 Hidetaka Yoshimatsu, *The Political Economy of Regionalism in East Asia*, Basingstoke-UK, Palgrave Macmillan, 2008.
- 31 Gilbert Rozman, "South Korea and Sino-Japanese Rivalry: A Middle Power's Options Within the East Asian Core Triangle", *The Pacific Review*, Vol. 20, No. 2 (June 2007), p. 209.
- 32 Takio Yamada, "Toward a Principled Integration of East Asia: Concept of an East Asian Community", *Gaiko Forum*, Fall 2005.
- 33 Katzenstein and Shiraishi (eds.), Beyond Japan, p. 16.
- 34 Rozman, "South Korea and Sino-Japanese Rivalry", p. 209.

- 35 Japanese Ministry of Foreign Affairs, at http://www.mofa.go.jp/mofaj/gaiko/free\_pros/pdfs/ shiryo\_01.pdf [last visited 15 January 2013].
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 Rozman, "South Korea and Sino-Japanese Rivalry", p. 209.
- 38 Terada, "Forming an East Asian Community", p.16.
- 39 Seong- Ho Ahn, "Initiating Municipal International Cooperation Towards A Sustainable East Asia Community", in Seong- Ho Ahn & Byeong-II Rho (eds.), *East Asian Cooperation in the Global Era*, Seoul- Korea, Daunsaem Press, 2006, p.25.
- 40 Hee Ok Lee, "A Critical Interpretation about Political Disputes of the Research Project of North Eastern China", *East Asian Studies*, Vol. 53 (2007), p.19.
- 41 Ibid.
- 42 Rozman, "South Korea and Sino-Japanese Rivalry", p. 210.
- 43 Sang-Hyun Lee, "National Security Strategy of the Lee Myung-Bak Government: The Vision of 'Global Korea' and Its Challenges", *The Korean Journal of Security Affairs*, 2009, p.18.
- 44 Eduard Jordan, "The Concept of a Middle Power in International Relations: Distinguishing between Emerging and Traditional Middle Powers", *Politickon*, Vol. 30, No. 2 (2003), p. 102.
- 45 Rozman, "South Korea and Sino-Japanese Rivalry", p. 208.
- 46 Youngmin Kwon, *Regional Community-Building in East Asia*, Seoul, Yonsei University Press, 2002.
- 47 John S. Duffield, "Why is There No APTO? Why is There No OSCAP?: Asia-Pacific Security Institutions in Comparative Perspective", *Contemporary Security Policy*, Vol. 22, No. 2 (2001), p.23.

# Turkey's East Asian Policy: From Security Concerns to Trade Partnerships<sup>\*</sup>

### Selçuk ÇOLAKOĞLU\*\*

#### Abstract

Turkey's Asian policy entered a new period after the Second World War as Ankara began to establish relations with East Asian countries,<sup>1</sup> based upon its own foreign policy vision and economic capacity. Either security concerns or economic interests, or sometimes both, have been the main determinants in Ankara's policy for East Asia from 1945 to the present. This article examines Turkish-East Asian relations in four main periods, highlighting the basic characteristics of relations.

#### Key Words

Foreign Policy Analysis, Turkey, China, Japan, Korea, Taiwan.

#### Introduction

The most important factors that determined Turkey's Asian policy in the first period covering the years 1950-1970 were security concerns and the Cold War balance of power. Though the Cold War continued in the second period of 1971-1990, the normalisation of Sino-American relations led to changes in the balance of power in East Asia. Turkey began to shift its East Asian policy orientation from security to economics. The end of the Cold War and the collapse of the Soviet Union led Ankara to develop a broader vision of Asia during the 1990s. In the period between 2002-2012, long-planned partnerships with East Asian countries began to be established due to the increase in Turkey's political and economic capacity.

The Cold War Structure in Asia and Turkey's Anti-Communist Solidarity with Japan, South Korea and Nationalist China (1950-1970)

In the first period of the Cold War, Turkey's East Asia policy was shaped by its security policies and by the East-West

<sup>\*</sup> This article was supported under the TÜBİTAK SOBAG-109K238 project.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Associate Professor of International Relations at Yıldırım Beyazit University in Ankara, Turkey.

balance. During this period, which lasted until the period of détente in the early 1970s, Turkey was in a kind of political solidarity with the pro-Western countries in East Asia, namely Japan, South Korea and Nationalist China, against the communist threat. Within this period, there were two important points that show how Turkey's Asian policy was a security-oriented one. Firstly, Turkey supported the pro-Western South Korea against communist North Korea both militarily and politically by sending troops to the Korean War, which took place between 1950-53. Furthermore, Turkey, like other Western countries, continued to recognise the Republic of China (ROC) on the island of Taiwan instead of the People's Republic of China (PRC) as the legitimate representative of China, despite the Chinese Communist Party dominating the entire mainland in 1949.

Turkey could not establish economically meaningful relations with the region despite its intense political interest in East Asia. Only Japan was seen as an economic model and as a source of financing for large infrastructure projects in Turkey. During this period, Turkey could not even establish diplomatic relations with the communist countries of East Asia, namely the PRC and North Korea. Ankara virtually ignored these two countries until the 1970s. However, Turkey began to give a signal of change its

policy towards the PRC in parallel with the overall softening in the world during the 1960s and to seek a relationship model with the PRC. The key point of Ankara's stance was the acceptation of the PRC as a UN member without the dismissal of the ROC (Taiwan).

The Korean peninsula, which was freed from Japanese occupation after the Second World War, was divided into two zones of occupation by the Soviet Union and the United States (US). Immediately after the war with the outbreak of the Cold War, the pro-Soviet Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK) in the north and the pro-US Republic of Korea (ROK) in the south were established in 1948. Turkey entered East Asian politics by sending troops under UN command to the Korean War, which broke out in 1950.

In these years, during which the impact of the Cold War was felt very strongly, Turkey had as security agreements only alliance agreements signed with the United Kingdom (UK) and France in 1939. Though Turkey became a member of the UN, it was not possible for the UN to eliminate the Soviet threat to Turkey because of the structure of the organisation. Prime Minister Adnan Menderes argued that the absence of a positive response to Turkey's application for NATO membership as of August 1950 led to a further increase in the threats towards Turkey.<sup>2</sup>

It was argued that the decision to send troops to the Korean War would be a concrete indication of Turkey's solidarity with the Western bloc. Thus Turkey sent the Turkish Brigade, a force of 4,500, to Korea in 1950. During the Korean War, about 1,000 Turkish soldiers were killed and another 2,000 were wounded. Sending Turkish soldiers to the Korean War had a facilitating impact on NATO membership, given the fact that the UK was not sympathetic to the Turkey's NATO membership in this period.<sup>3</sup> In this respect, it was a natural result of this process that Turkey and Greece, both of which had sent troops to the Korean War, were admitted into NATO in 1952.

After joining the Korean War, Turkey's visibility increased in the international arena. Turkey, with support from the Western states, obtained a temporary seat in the UN Security Council, elected from the Middle East region in the vote in the UN General Assembly in October 1950.<sup>4</sup> Turkey participated in the Geneva Conference held on 26 April 1954 and supported South Korea's argument that free elections should be used to unify the Korean peninsula.<sup>5</sup> However, Turkey, which did not hesitate to participate in the Korean War in 1950, preferred to remain outside the Vietnam War that began to escalate in 1967. During his visit to the US, President Cevdet Sunay stated that Turkey was in favour of peacefully solving the problem in Vietnam.<sup>6</sup>

A relationship based on very solid foundations between Turkey and South Korea became possible thanks to the Korean War. The Ankara School and Orphanage, created within the Turkish Brigade in Korea for Korean orphans, operated until the 1960s, and led to close relations between Turkish and Korean societies.7 The Turkish Brigade in Korea existed until 1960, but in June 1960 it was reduced to a squadron level.8 Prime Minister Süleyman Demirel announced that the Turkish squadron in Korea with its 180 soldiers would withdraw in May 1966 and a squad of Turkish soldiers would remain on the peninsula.9 The 15 people in the last troop withdrew from South Korea in January 1971.<sup>10</sup>

Turkey was one of those countries preferring to recognise the ROC over the PRC, aiming to develop a positive policy of developing economic and cultural relations with Taiwan.

Prime Minister Adnan Menderes' East Asian tour in April 1958 was important because at the time it was the highestlevel visit from Turkey to the region. During this visit, Turkey and South Korea stressed their solidarity against communism.<sup>11</sup> In contrast to the visit of Prime Minister Adnan Menderes to Japan, economic issues were not on the agenda in the South Korean visit, which showed the absence of the capacity for bilateral economic cooperation. Despite all the rhetoric of solidarity in bilateral relations, the only visit from South Korea to Turkey during this period was the visit of Defence Minister Yul Kim Cung in January 1959.<sup>12</sup>

The military coups first in Turkey in May 1960 and then in South Korea in May 1961 established a remarkable partnership between the two countries and provided mutual sympathy between the military regimes in both countries. The first government that recognised the government of General Park Chung-hee in South Korea was the Turkish Military Council under the leadership of the retired General Cemal Gürsel.<sup>13</sup>

Until 1971, the ROC in Taiwan was recognised by all Western countries and occupied a permanent seat in the UN Security Council. Turkey was one of those countries preferring to recognise the ROC over the PRC, aiming to develop a positive policy of developing economic and cultural relations with Taiwan. Thus, in the period between 1949 and 1971, the "One China" for Turkey was the ROC in Taiwan.<sup>14</sup> Turkey as a NATO member, and as Taiwan was an ally of the US, had strong solidarity against the communist world.

In 1956, there was a significant bilat-

eral exchange of visits and an expansion of relations with the aim of strengthening ties between Turkey and the ROC. In November 1956, Turkish Foreign Minister Fatin Rüştü Zorlu visited Taiwan to strengthen political and economic relations, and to cooperate against communist expansion.<sup>15</sup> In February 1957, Taiwanese Foreign Minister and Permanent Representative to the UN Yeh visited Ankara and signed an agreement to promote cultural exchanges between the two counties.<sup>16</sup>

Unlike other regional countries, relations with Japan shifted from a security-oriented relationship to an economic-oriented one.

Prime Minister Adnan Menderes also paid a historical visit to the ROC as a part of his East Asian tour in April 1958, and he made several contacts for economic and cultural collaboration and military cooperation against communism.17 Within the framework of flourishing relations between Turkey and the ROC in 1959, a Turkish parliamentary delegation chaired by Refik Koraltan visited Taiwan and expressed Turkey's support for "Nationalist China" against "Communist China".18 However, during this period, economic and cultural cooperation between the two countries remained relatively weak.

During the 1960s, it was observed that Turkey sought to build relations with the formally unrecognised PRC. Indeed, a trade delegation from the PRC visited Istanbul in November 1966.19 The Turkish Ministry of Commerce signed a trade agreement both with Communist and Nationalist China at the same time in December 1969.20 Despite increasing contacts between Ankara and Beijing, Turkey, together with the US, voted against the draft resolution of the UN General Assembly in November 1970 that proposed transferring UN membership to the PRC and the dismissal of Nationalist China. Haluk Bayülken, the permanent representative of Turkey to the UN, stated that Turkey in fact supported the UN membership of the PRC but refused to vote for the resolution since it proposed the dismissal of Nationalist China from the UN.21 One of the problems between Turkey and the PRC in the period after 1949 was in Xinjiang. There were groups of Kazakhs and Uyghurs who had escaped from Communist China to Turkey through Afghanistan during the period of 1949-71 and they affected potential relations.<sup>22</sup> With the start of the normalisation in Sino-American relations, Turkey and PRC began talks to establish diplomatic relations in May 1971, and assigned their ambassadors in Paris to work on this process.23

During this period, Turkey had better relations with Japan among the East Asian countries. The Japanese development miracle attracted much interest in Turkey and Japan was seen as a model of development, being the first modernising non-Western country in Asia.24 Thus, unlike other regional countries, relations with Japan shifted from a security-oriented relationship to an economic-oriented one. Japan's first visit to Turkey was carried out by Minister of Development Matsuda Seishin in October 1950.25 The first agreement between Turkey and Japan was a trade agreement, signed in March 1954.26

The visit of Prime Minister Adnan Menderes in April 1958 was Turkey's highest-level visit ever to Japan at that time. Prime Minister Menderes met with Emperor Hirohito and Prime Minister Nobusuke Kishi, and they emphasised the mutual friendship and cooperation between the two countries.<sup>27</sup> Minister of Foreign Affairs İhsan Sabri Çağlayangil, together with Undersecretary of State Planning Turgut Özal, visited Japan in March 1970 and discussed bilateral economic cooperation as a priority. While the Japanese firms gave the highest credit for the Bosphorus Bridge in Istanbul,<sup>28</sup> they were also interested in the construction and acquisition of iron and steel, petro-chemical and shipyard facilities in Turkey.<sup>29</sup>

# Sino-American Rapprochement and the Normalisation of Asian Affairs (1971-1990)

In the second period of the Cold War that started in the 1970s, Ankara began to normalise its East Asia policy politically and developed an economiccentred perspective. The normalisation of Sino-American relations and the transfer to the PRC of UN membership from Taiwan in 1971 contributed quite considerably to this shift. The US withdrawal from Vietnam in 1973 also contributed to softening East-West tension in Asia.

The period of détente that started in the 1970s between the Eastern and Western blocs also reduced the strength of the bipolar structure in international politics. China started to be presented during this period as a third way. In addition, Turkey's relations with the US and European Economic Community (EEC) countries began to deteriorate because of the Cyprus issue and this led Ankara to look for a more independent policy. Following the 1974 military intervention in Cyprus, the US Congress implemented an arms embargo on Turkey in 1975, and Ankara sought to develop its relations with its Arab neighbours, the socialist countries, and the non-aligned countries.

In the 1970s and 1980s, Turkey began to see East Asia as an opportunity for economic expansion. Economic cooperation with Japan developed rapidly in the 1970s and economicbased contacts increased with the four Asian Tigers, namely South Korea, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Singapore, in the 1980s. Ankara began closely to monitor the economic reforms in China. which started in 1978, and investigated ways to improve relations with China as a potential trading partner. However, because of the unstable governments and economic crises during the 1970s, Turkey could not develop close relations with East Asian countries. In the 1980s, the military regime, led by Kenan Evren, started an expansion strategy towards the countries in East Asia and this strategy continued with the civilian government under Turgut Özal.

At that time, Japan was the country that came to the fore on economic cooperation in East Asia. In the 1970s, Japanese companies constructed the Golden Horn Bridge in Istanbul and sold many freighters and tankers to Turkey.<sup>30</sup> Rapidly improving economic relations with Japan started to slow down due to the economic downturn in Turkey, which was experienced in the second half of the 1970s.<sup>31</sup> Turkey, with its economic downturn, considered Japan to be among the big economies that could provide foreign financial resources to Turkey.<sup>32</sup>

After the military coup of 12 September 1980, Japan became also one of the most important countries in terms of both financial support and foreign investment.33 Japanese Foreign Minister Shintaro Abe visited Turkey in August 1983, in the last months of the temporary military government. He did not make commitments on economic aid and export credits while supporting Ankara against the Armenian ASALA terrorism group which had targeted Turkish diplomatic missions.34 Prime Minister Turgut Özal, who had visited Japan when he was vice prime minister, gave more importance to trade cooperation with Japan. It was a Japanese company that won the tender for the second Bosporus Bridge in Istanbul. In this respect, Prime Minister Özal's visit to Japan in May 1985 was very important in order to attract Japanese capital.35

Prince Mikasa Takahoito's visit to Turkey in May 1986 showed the density of high-level relations between the two countries.<sup>36</sup> In the 1980s, due to the problems in Turkish-European Community (EC) relations, Japan presented an economic alternative to Turkey within the Western bloc.<sup>37</sup> Turkey began to see Japan as an attractive centre for finance, direct investment and technology transfer. Even establishing a direct shipping line from Japan to Turkey through the Soviet Union, by using the trans-Siberian railway line, was seriously considered in this period.<sup>38</sup> Prime Minister Özal went to Japan again in February 1989 to attend the funeral of Emperor Hirohito, and during the visit he also held talks on the development of trade cooperation.<sup>39</sup> In line with the improved relations during this period, in 1990 Turkey became among the top ten countries to receive Japanese aid.<sup>40</sup>

At a time when other foreign airline companies flying to Iran gave priority to their own citizens and refused to carry Japanese citizens, Ankara assigned Turkish Airlines aircraft for the evacuation of the 215 Japanese citizens.

During the Özal period, it might be said that relations between Turkey and Japan were at their highest level. Turgut Özal visited Japan four times in ten years, first in 1981 as vice prime minister, in 1985 and 1989 as prime minister, and in 1990 as president. Turgut Özal won the admiration of Japan due to his help in evacuating Japanese nationals stranded in Tehran. In 1985, when the Iraqi government started to reject any restrictions on bombing the territory of Iran, many states began to evacuate their citizens from Tehran. At a time when other foreign airline companies flying to Iran gave priority to their own citizens

and refused to carry Japanese citizens, Ankara assigned Turkish Airlines aircraft for the evacuation of the 215 Japanese citizens, an act which was met by Tokyo with a deep gratitude.<sup>41</sup>

The first visit from Japan to Turkey at the prime ministerial level was made in 1990. Prime Minister Toshiki Kaifu visited Turkey in October 1990 during the crisis that began with Iraq's invasion of Kuwait. During this period, Japan was among one of the countries that provided financial support to Turkey, which was affected by the embargo on Iraq. However, Ankara considered Japan's aid inadequate compared to the aid of other donor countries.<sup>42</sup>

In the 1970s, Turkish-South Korean relations remained at a low level. The withdrawal of the last Turkish squad in South Korea under UN command in 1971 might also be interpreted as a decline in terms of bilateral relations. Though the US based its withdrawal on economic grounds, Turkey stated that the decision to withdraw the Turkish troops was politically motivated. Foreign Minister İhsan Sabri Çağlayangil reported that the normalisation of between Turkey and the relations PRC and the insistence of the Soviet Union were the reasons for the military withdrawal. Ankara took this step also as a response to the South Korean delegation's meeting only with the Greek

authorities during its visit to Cyprus and not also with Fazil Küçük, the leader of the Turkish community, despite Turkey's insistence on the meeting.<sup>43</sup> Seoul's request that 15 people from the Turkish squad be left in South Korea as a symbol of Turkish support did not change the Turkish decision.<sup>44</sup> The first visit from South Korea to Turkey at the prime ministerial level was held in May 1977 by Prime Minister Choi Kyu Hah, but until the 1980s, there was no change in the course of bilateral relations.<sup>45</sup>

The deterioration in relations with the US and Western European countries after the Turkish intervention in Cyprus in 1974 led Turkey to improve relations with the Eastern bloc and third world countries.

President Kenan Evren paid a visit to South Korea as it was one of the countries targeted in the Turkish expansion strategy to Asia in December 1982.<sup>46</sup> Immediately after his visit in May 1983, Industry and Trade Minister Mehmet Turgut also paid a visit to South Korea.<sup>47</sup> After the visit of the South Korean speaker of the parliament, Chre Mun Shich, to Turkey in February 1984,<sup>48</sup> Necmettin Karaduman, speaker of the Turkish parliament, paid a visit to South Korea in September 1984. In the meeting with President Chun Doo Hwan, Karaduman supported the South Korean policy on the unification of Koreas and cooperation against international terrorism (meaning ASALA terrorism) was discussed.<sup>49</sup>

In October 1986, Prime Minister Turgut Özal conducted an Asian tour covering Bahrain, Bangladesh, South Korea, Hong Kong, Malaysia and Oman. Among the countries visited, the country with the highest economic potential was South Korea. During his visit to Seoul, Prime Minister Özal signed an agreement concerning the reciprocal promotion of investments. During the talks. South Korea indicated that their position on a quick end to the Iran-Iraq War was similar to Turkey's, and stated their solidarity on finding a solution to the Turkish minority's problems in Bulgaria.<sup>50</sup> Prime Minister of South Korea Kang Young Hoon paid a visit to Turkey in July 1990.51 The South Korean government was also one of the countries that provided economic aid to Turkey during the 1990 Gulf Crisis.52

Also after the Korean War, Turkey, together with the US, has always continued to support South Korea's official stance. Thus, neither diplomatic relations nor any official contact between Ankara and Pyongyang became possible until the 1970s. Throughout the 1970s, North Korea made various unsuccessful attempts through the PRC and Eastern European countries to establish diplomatic relations with Turkey.

However, the deterioration in relations with the US and Western European countries after the Turkish intervention in Cyprus in 1974 led Turkey to improve relations with the Eastern bloc and third world countries. In such an environment, a foreign trade protocol was signed between Turkey and North Korea in August 1977. This protocol remained in effect for about six years and was dissolved by Turkey in October 1983 because of the attempt by North Koreans agents to assassinate South Korean President Chun Doo Hwan during his visit to Rangoon, the capital of Burma.<sup>53</sup> Ankara also harshly condemned the crash of a Korean Airlines passenger plane during its Abu Dhabi-Bangkok flight by North Korean agents in November 1987. Although Deputy Prime Minister of North Korea Gi Ju Chong clearly indicated in a statement in July 1987<sup>54</sup> that North Korea would like to establish good relations with Turkey at all levels, it did not become possible to establish a healthy relationship between Ankara and Pyongyang during the 1980s.

Relations between Turkey and PRC were established in 1971. From this period on, international security concerns and the economy have been among the factors that shaped Turkish-Chinese relations. During the period between 1971-1990, a rhetoric of solidarity against the danger of Soviet expansionism also became effective in relations between the PRC and Turkey as with NATO. However, relations between the two countries did not improve to the desired level in the 1970s.

The military regime was marginalised by the EEC after the military coup of 12 September 1980 and the new government sought new political equilibriums. In this respect, the PRC, as one of the UN Security Council's permanent members and as a country newly opened to the capitalist world economy, was regarded by Ankara as an area for political expansion. The first top-level visit from

Turkey to China was held in May 1981 by Trade Minister Kemal Cantürk. The visit of Foreign Minister Ilter Türkmen to China in

December 1981 was of great importance in terms of bilateral relations. During this visit, it was understood that Beijing saw the military coup of 12 September positively on the grounds that it provided political stability against the spread of Soviet expansion. China supported solving the Aegean and Cyprus issues through diplomatic channels between the parties. This visit also paved the way to conclude an economic and technical cooperation agreement, which prepared the background for trade cooperation between Turkey and China.<sup>55</sup> President Kenan Evren initiated a kind of Asian expansion in the early 1980s. In December 1982, he visited China, South Korea, Indonesia, Bangladesh and Pakistan.<sup>56</sup> Although each of these visits was very important, the visit to China became a milestone in bilateral relations as this was the highest-level visit to this country from Turkey.<sup>57</sup> Following Evren's visit, Minister of Culture Zhu Muzhi visited Turkey in April 1983,<sup>58</sup> and Foreign Minister Wu Chuochiang visited Turkey in October 1983.<sup>59</sup>

Chinese President Li Xiannian paid a

Turkey recognised the PRC as the sole legal representative of China on 5 August 1971, and pursued a "One China" policy. return visit to Turkey in March 1984, 15 months after President Evren's visit.<sup>60</sup> During President Li's visit, he praised Turkey's

balanced stance in the Iran-Iraq War and emphasised that the Cyprus issue should be solved through inter-communal dialogue between the Greeks and Turkish Cypriots. During the visit, Turkey and China agreed to pursue a common international attitude. President Li's visit was followed by Foreign Minister Vahit Halefoğlu's visit to China in October 1984.<sup>61</sup>

Prime Minister Turgut Özal visited the PRC in July 1985.<sup>62</sup> In the 1980s, the Chinese government encouraged Turkey to invest in Xinjiang Uyghur

138

Autonomous Region (XUAR), and Xinjiang Prime Minister İsmail Amat and his accompanying delegation visited various cities in Turkey in July 1985.<sup>63</sup>

Just one year after the visit of Prime Minister Özal to China, Prime Minister Zhao Ziyang visited Turkey in July 1986. As in the previous high-level visits, the two Prime Ministers discussed the possibilities of further development in bilateral political and especially economic relations.<sup>64</sup> Deputy Foreign Minister Huai Yuan Ci stated in an interview in October 1987 that problems which Turkey was a party, such as the problems of the Aegean, Cyprus and the Turkish minority in Bulgaria, should be solved through diplomatic channels.<sup>65</sup>

The Chinese side continued its highlevel visits until 1991. Minister of Culture Wang Meng visited Turkey in March 1988<sup>66</sup> and China's National People's Congress Vice-President Seyfettin Azizi visited Turkey in April 1990.<sup>67</sup> Foreign Minister Qian Qichen came to Turkey in September, 1990 to assess the developments in the Gulf crisis.<sup>68</sup> These mutual visits became a clear indication of the importance given by both parties to each other.

While the good bilateral relations were continuing, a development increased the tension. A commercial counsellor of the PRC embassy in Ankara, Muhammed Niyazi, who had Uyghur descent, sought

asylum in Turkey in September 1986 on the grounds that he was concerned about his personal safety.<sup>69</sup> This development became a beacon for the end of Chinese policy of using Uyghurs to connect with Turkey. The activities of Isa Yusuf Alptekin, the opposition leader from East Turkestan (Xinjiang), in Turkey in the 1980s also caused problems between Turkey and China.<sup>70</sup> Xinjiang was already reconsidering its minority policies in the 1990s following the Tiananmen incident in 1989 and the independence of the Central Asian republics after the disintegration of the Soviet Union in 1991. In this respect, bearing in mind that there were many high-level visits from China to Turkey in the 1980s, the absence of any Chinese visits even at the ministerial level between 1990-2000 shows the negative change in Beijing's perception towards Ankara.

Turkey recognised the PRC as the sole legal representative of China on 5 August 1971, and pursued a "One China" policy.<sup>71</sup> In this new period, Turkey began to use the word Taiwan instead of "Republic of China" or "Nationalist China" as a sign of its acceptance of Taiwan as an integral part of China. Still, Turkey politically supported the reunification of China by way of peaceful negotiations. The Taiwanese continued its diplomatic mission to Ankara and bilateral relations have continued only in terms of economic, trade, and cultural relations.<sup>72</sup> During this period, Turkey pursued a policy that ignored Taiwan completely.

## Turkey's Economic- Oriented Asian Policy (1991-2001)

The year 1991 produced great changes both in the international system and in the balance of power in Asia. With the dissolution of the Soviet Union in 1991, independent Turkic republics emerged in the Caucasus and Central Asia. Ankara's new political, economic and cultural relations with the Central Asian states facilitated Turkey's expansion towards East Asia.

In the 1990s, the improved economic capacities of East Asian countries increased Turkey's desire to cooperate with the major economies, especially China, Japan, South Korea and Taiwan. Problematic discourses in Turkish-EU relations in the 1990s also forced Ankara to take balancing steps.

The dissolution of the Soviet Union in 1991 and the sudden emergence of five independent Turkic states enormously increased interest in Central Asia among Turkish society. Turkey showed great interest in the newly independent states, and it had the hope of overcoming its loneliness in the international arena. However, this interest was perceived by the outside world as a pan-Turkish policy and particularly disturbed Russia and China.

However, it could not be argued that Turkey's strategy of expansion into Asia in the 1990s was very successful. Firstly, Turkey was ruled by politically weak coalition governments between 1991-2001, and this prevented the effective implementation of foreign policy strategies. Secondly, alongside the political instability, the Turkish economy experienced a serious weakness because of financial crises in 1994 and in 2001 and the great damage caused by the Marmara earthquake in 1999. In this period, Turkey could continue strong economic relations only with Japan and South Korea.

At the beginning of the 1990s, a new basis for cooperation between Ankara and Tokyo became possible with the dissolution of the Eastern bloc, and especially the Soviet Union. It was also desirable for Washington that the power gap in the region be filled by Japan and Turkey instead of Russia and China. Japan would rather contribute through development economically, aid, capital and technology, and Turkey would present the model of a democratic and secular country to the Muslim people of the region by using the advantage of its historical and cultural ties.73 During this process, Japan entered the Central Asian market with a low political profile

and became involved with a few large projects. Japan was keen not to come into conflict with Russia and China in its expansion in the region. Turkey's project of being a model to Central Asia was a failure.<sup>74</sup>

Despite the cyclical opportunities, Turkish-Japanese relations stagnated in the 1990s. It was observed that Turkey aimed to attract financial support and investment from Japan during the 1990s. However, Japanese investors and the banks were reluctant because of the Turkey's political and economic instability.<sup>75</sup> In addition, a long-lasting recession in the Japanese economy since 1991 reduced the attention of Tokyo towards Ankara.

Despite the visit of Prime Minister Süleyman Demirel in December 1992<sup>76</sup> and of Prime Minister Tansu Çiller in February 1995,<sup>77</sup> there were no visits from Japan to Turkey at the prime ministerial level in the 1990s. In the second half of the 1990s, high-level political relations were kept at the level of foreign ministers. Foreign ministers Yukihiko Ikeda in May 1996<sup>78</sup> and Masahiko Komura in August 1999 visited Turkey, and Ismail Cem visited Japan in April 2000.<sup>79</sup>

In the first half of the 1990s, Sino-Turkish relations also seriously stagnated. Although there were many high level visits from China during the 1980s, Chinese concerns about Ankara's Xinjiang policy was decisive in stopping these visits in the 1990s.

During this period, officials from various levels met with the Uyghur opposition leaders in Turkey. In November 1991, one week before he became prime minister, Süleyman Demirel,<sup>80</sup> as well as Turgut Özal in February 1992,<sup>81</sup> met with the Eastern Turkestani opposition leader İsa Yusuf Alptekin. In August 1995 the Ambassador of China to Turkey Wu Koming protested when Istanbul Metropolitan Mayor Recep Tayyip Erdoğan named a park after Isa Yusuf Alptekin.<sup>82</sup>

In the 1990s, energy-dependent China, Japan and South Korea became Turkey's competitors in the transportation of Caspian energy resources. China especially developed projects to connect with Caspian oil and natural gas directly through the eastern corridor instead of the western corridor, in which Turkey was also included.<sup>83</sup>

Turkey revised its Central Asia policy in the mid-1990s and developed a strategy of cooperating with Russia and China in the region. President Süleyman Demirel went on an Asian tour in May 1995, including China, Hong Kong and Indonesia. In China, President Demirel tried to gain Chinese support on the Turkish stance on the Cyprus, Bosnia-Herzegovina and Nagorno-Karabakh issues as well as to increase economic cooperation.<sup>84</sup> In September 1996, State Minister Ayfer Yılmaz also went to China to increase economic cooperation.<sup>85</sup>

Military cooperation with China gained a new momentum with the visit of Chief of General Staff Geneneral İsmail Hakkı Karadayı to China in October 1996.<sup>86</sup> The most important step in military cooperation was the agreement to start producing a common missile in December 1996. According to this agreement, Turkey would produce shortrange ground-to-ground missiles in partnership with China.<sup>87</sup>

Defence Minister Turhan Tayan criticised the violent suppression of protests in the Xinjiang city of Yining (Gulja) in February 1997. Beijing responded by warning Turkey not to get involved in China's internal affairs.<sup>88</sup> This statement did not disrupt the overall progress in bilateral relations. China's Ambassador to Turkey Koming made a statement in February 1997 that Sino-Turkish relations were going very well.<sup>89</sup>

Deputy Prime Minister Bülent Ecevit visited China in May 1998 and met with President Jiang Zemin. Though economic issues were dominated the agenda, Ecevit was reminded on the demonstrations in Turkey in support the Uyghurs and the Chinese emphasised the importance of China's territorial integrity.<sup>90</sup>

In February 1999, Prime Minister Mesut Yilmaz issued a secret circular about Xinjiang, which created a serious problem between Turkey and China. In the circular, it was pointed out that the region should be considered within the framework of the China's territorial integrity and ordered strictly that government officers should not attend any activity of East Turkestani NGOs.<sup>91</sup> In February 2000, Minister for Internal Affairs Sadettin Tantan paid a visit to China and signed the "Agreement on Cooperation in Combating Crime" with Chinese Public Security Minister Jia Chunwang.92 Chinese President Jiang Zemin's visit to Turkey in April 2000 resulted in a new axis in Ankara-Beijing relations. During the visit, agreements on economy, energy and political issues were signed.93

Beginning in the early 1990s, Turkey began to take initiatives to increase its trade cooperation with Taiwan, which had already developed into an important economy. In June 1992, Minister of Public Works and Settlement Onur Kumbaracıbaşı conducted the first unofficial visit to Taiwan for many years. Right after this visit, Minister of Foreign Economic Relations in Taiwan Chang Hsio-Yen meet Prime Minister Süleyman Demirel in Turkey.<sup>94</sup> During this visit, Demirel stated that it was still possible to develop economic cooperation with Taiwan without recognising it as an independent state. Indeed, economic relations between Turkey and Taiwan witnessed considerable expansion during the 1990s.

Relations between Ankara and Seoul stabilised in the 1990s. High-level contacts between the two countries and the bilateral trade volume regularly increased. During this period, Korean firms also increased investments in Prime Minister Yıldırım Turkey. Akbulut paid a visit to South Korea in May 1991.95 Two months later, in July 1991, Prime Minister Kang Young Hoon visited Turkey.<sup>96</sup> During the visit of Prime Minister Lee Soo Sung to Turkey in May 1996, it was decided that the Hyundai Company would produce automobiles in Turkey.97 Foreign Minister Hong Soon-Yong also came to Turkey to attend the 1999 OSCE Summit in Istanbul. During this period, Turkey and South Korea had increasingly improved cooperation in the defence industry. In 2001, an agreement for about US \$1 billion on fire-control systems was signed between the Turkish Land Forces Command and the Korean Samsung Company.98

The 1990s were a very painful period of great change and transformation for North Korea. Those years saw the collapse of the Eastern bloc, the dissolution of the Soviet Union, its biggest ally, and as its other major ally, the PRC, made a rapid shift towards the capitalist world and the established good relations with the Western world. Above all, the death of North Korea's founder Kim Il-Sung in 1994, and the deterioration of the overall economy, brought North Korea to face major challenges to its continued existence.

However in the second the half of the 1990s, North Korea dealt largely with its huge political, economic and military problems and proved that it would not leave the stage of history so easily. Thus, many states, particularly East Asian countries, felt the need to establish a long-term relationship with North Korea.

For the first time since 1950, Turkey's Asian policy became multi-dimensional and strong partnerships started to emerge after 2002.

North Korea's first official visit to Turkey took place in 1993. The delegation of the ruling Workers' Party of Korea had official contacts in Turkey in December 1993 and proposed to develop bilateral relations in all areas, including the establishment of diplomatic relations.<sup>99</sup> Turkey entered into the process of normalising relations with North Korea in June 2000, after the historic Pyongyang summit between North Korean President Kim Jong-il and South Korean President Kim Dae-Sung. In 2001, Turkey established diplomatic relations with North Korea.<sup>100</sup>

# Turkey's Sophisticated Relations with East Asia After 2002

For the first time since 1950, Turkey's Asian policy became multi-dimensional and strong partnerships started to emerge after 2002. A rapid recovery from the 2001 financial crisis, the rapid growth of the Turkish economy and its foreign trade volume were important for this development. In this process, Turkey has aimed to transform itself from a security-oriented state to a trading state. The G-20, founded in 1999 and includes the world's largest economies, has also made it easier for Turkey to have a say in global economic policies. In this sense, Turkey wanted to develop a new policy in the Asia-Pacific, centred on Japan, China, South Korea, India, Indonesia and Australia, within the framework of the G-20 platform.<sup>101</sup> The trade figures of Turkey with the countries in the region in 2000s show clear differences compared to the previous period (See Table 1).

Countries	Exports (Million US \$)			Imports (Million US \$)			Total (Million US \$)		
	1990	2000	2012	1990	2000	2012	1990	2000	2012
Japan	239	149	332	1,120	1,621	3,601	1,359	1,770	3,933
China	37	96	2,833	246	1,345	21,295	283	1,441	24,128
S. Korea	109	130	528	302	1,181	5,660	411	1,311	6,188
Taiwan	110	69	120	192	563	2,059	302	632	2,179
N. Korea	26	2	0	1	9	3	27	11	3
Hong Kong	35	114	337	77	152	112	112	266	449
Macau	0	2	0	0	2	0	0	4	0
Total	556	562	4,150	1,938	4,873	32,730	2,920	4,835	36,880

#### Table 1: Turkey's Trade with East Asian Countries

Source: The Ministry of Economy of Turkey

Turkey's total trade with the countries in the region totalled US \$2.9 billion in 1990. The total trade increased to US \$4.8 billion in 2000 and to US \$36.9 billion in 2012. These figures clearly show the increase in the importance of Turkey in the region. In the 2000s, China, Japan, South Korea and Taiwan have become important trading partners with Turkey. While Japan was Turkey's largest trading partner in the region in the 1990s, starting in 2001, China became the largest, with South Korea second. Moreover, it should be stressed that Turkey's trade with China was US \$283 million in 1990, increased to US \$1.4 billion in 2000 and finally to US \$24.1 billion in 2012. Taiwan and Hong Kong were highlighted as important trade partners for Turkey, though North Korea and Macau, the Special Administrative Region of China, did not have economic importance to Ankara. However, the figures in this table also highlight the weaknesses of Turkey. From the beginning, Turkey has had large trade deficits in favour of East Asian countries. Looking at the figures for 2012, Turkey exported US \$4.2 billion in the region, compared to US \$32.7 billion in imports, and thus it had a US \$28.5 billion trade deficit.

In the 2000s, Tokyo ceased to be Turkey's most important trading partner in East Asia, despite intense high-level contacts. Foreign Minister Makiko Tanaka visited Turkey in January 2002 and Minister of Foreign Affairs Abdullah Gül had official meetings in Japan in December 2003. Prime Minister Recep Tayyip Erdoğan's visit to Japan in April 2004 with a large delegation led to a revival of bilateral relations. In the post-1990 period, the first visit at the prime ministerial level was by Prime Minister Junichiro Koizumi in January 2006. President Abdullah Gül also visited Japan with a large delegation of businessmen in June 2008.<sup>102</sup>

Minister of Foreign Affairs Ahmet Davutoğlu and Foreign Minister Katsuya Okada issued a joint declaration on 3 January 2010 at the start of "Year of Japan in Turkey" in 2010. In the declaration, it was stated that the tragic sinking of the frigate Ertuğrul in the Pacific Ocean, sent to Japan on a friendship mission by the Ottoman Empire, started relations between Japan and Turkey and became the symbol of Turkish-Japanese friendship.<sup>103</sup> A "Turkish-Japanese Friendship Celebration Ceremony" was held in Istanbul in May 2010 under the auspices of President Gül and Prince Tomohito Mikasa.<sup>104</sup>

Japan has continued its policy of understanding the sensitivities of Turkey's foreign policy in recent years. The Ambassador of Japan to Turkey, Nobuaki Tanaka, supported the Turkish claim on the Israeli attack on the Gazabound aid ship in May 2010, which led to the deaths of nine Turkish citizens and attracted a strong reaction in Turkey.<sup>105</sup>

One of the most important reasons for Turkey's rapprochement with China was for Turkish businessmen to benefit from China's economic opportunities.

An important partnership was also realised on investment in nuclear energy, which has been on the state and public agenda for a long time. Turkey signed a nuclear cooperation agreement with Japan in December 2010, following another agreement it had already signed with Russia.<sup>106</sup> However, in the aftermath of the tsunami disaster in March 2011, Japan stopped the project in Sinop in August 2011 because of the accident at the nuclear power plant in Fukushima.<sup>107</sup>

In the 2000s, Sino-Turkish relations began to enjoy their most brilliant period in its history. Foreign Minister Tang Jiaxuan in January 2001 and Prime Minister Zhu Rongjin visited Turkey in April 2002 and ensured the survival of high-level political relations through their visits.<sup>108</sup> The leader of the ruling Justice and Development Party (AK Party), Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, visited China in January 2003 and held talks on enhancing bilateral cooperation.<sup>109</sup>

Alongside the visit of Deputy Prime Minister Mehmet Ali Şahin to China in April 2007,<sup>110</sup> the state minister responsible for foreign trade, Kürşat Tüzmen, conducted three official visits to China in 2006, 2007 and 2008. During these visits, the priority of the Turkish delegation was on the increasing bilateral trade deficit in favour of China and on how Turkish businessmen could more efficiently enter the Chinese market.<sup>111</sup>

In 2009, it was seen that Turkey's relations with China had not improved as much as Turkey expected. One of the most important reasons for Turkey's rapprochement with China was for Turkish businessmen to benefit from China's economic opportunities. In recent times, however, Turkey has had a large trade deficit with China. Ankara's defence cooperation with Beijing also failed to provide the expected benefits. At this point, Turkey's expectation was to diminish the dependency on Western arms through Turkish-Chinese military cooperation, including technology transfers.<sup>112</sup>

China pursued opposite policies to Turkey in the international arena, including on the Kosovo, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Cyprus and Nagorno-Karabakh issues. Immediately after the beginning of the American invasion in 2003, the Chinese administration established a close relationship with the Kurdistan regional government, with which Ankara had problems.<sup>113</sup> In June 2007, Beijing clearly stated that it was against the military action of the Turkish armed forces in preventing PKK activities in northern Iraq.<sup>114</sup> China was again against Turkish membership in the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO) as an observer member while Russia was in favour.<sup>115</sup> In June 2012, this matter was solved through Turkey being made a Dialogue Partner in the SCO.<sup>116</sup>

President Gül's visit to China in June 2009 was a good opportunity for discussing all aspects of bilateral Regarding the economic relations. sphere, Ankara requested compensation for the foreign trade deficit through more Chinese investment in Turkey, the promotion of Turkey to Chinese tourists, and Turkish-Chinese partnerships in third countries. In the political field, the priority of the Turkish delegation's agenda was on increasing cooperation as much as possible on regional and international issues. At this point, the emphasis that the Uyghurs should be a bridge of friendship was stressed at the highest level during President Gül's visits in both Beijing and Urumqi.117 The visit of a Turkish president to the Xinjiang region for the first time also had a great symbolic value.118

However, the outbreak of the incidents in Urumqi on 5 July 2009 damaged Turkish-Chinese relations. Turkey's ruling and opposition parties held the Chinese government responsible for the incidents in Urumqi, and they condemned the Chinese security forces for bloodily suppressing the incidents.<sup>119</sup>

China reacted to the Turkish responses to the Urumqi incidents calmly and refrained from statements that would Considering increase tension. this positive attitude in Beijing, Ankara intensified its contacts with China again. Turkey's main concern at this point was not to be alone in not having relations with China because of the Urumqi incidents, as no country in the world wanted to spoil its relations with China.<sup>120</sup> Turkey's Ambassador to China, Murat Esenli, stressed that Turkey would not interfere in the internal affairs of China and stated the Turkish desire to develop bilateral relations. Additionally, Foreign Minister Davutoğlu called his counterpart Yang Jiechi and discussed the issue of normalisation of relations, which were strained by Prime Minister Erdoğan's statement that the Urumqi incidents were "Almost genocide. If necessary, we'll take it to the UN Security Council." 121

State Minister Zafer Çağlayan went to China to attend the Turkey-China Joint Economic Council meeting in September 2009, and he met with Chinese Commerce Minister Chen Deming to discuss the bilateral commercial relations. In a meeting with Chinese Vice Premier Wang Qishan, Çağlayan stressed that the Turkish government would always follow the "One China" policy and would not intervene in the internal affairs of China.<sup>122</sup>

In addition to the Xinjiang visits of President Gül and Minister of Foreign Affairs Davutoğlu in previous years, Prime Minister Erdoğan began his Chinese tour in Urumqi in April 2012.

Foreign Minister Yang Jiechi met with Minister of Foreign Affairs Davutoğlu during his visit to Istanbul to attend the conference on Afghanistan in January 2010. The two ministers agreed on a common strategic cooperation agreement on issues such as Afghanistan, the Middle East, Iraq, the global economic crisis and climate change, as well as giving their consent for more extensive work on economic issues.<sup>123</sup>

Culture and Tourism Minister Ertuğrul Günay and Vice Minister of Culture of China Li Hong Feng attended the Shanghai Expo 2010 on 15 June 2010. During the meeting, an agreement was signed making 2012 "the Year of China" in Turkey and 2013 "the Year of Turkey" in China.<sup>124</sup> A request for Chinese warplanes' participation in the Turkish Air Force's annual Anatolian Eagle exercise in September 2010 in Konya was denied by the Chinese Air Forces themselves.<sup>125</sup>

Prime Minister Wen Jiabao came to Turkey in September 2010 and signed agreements which would upgrade bilateral relations to the "strategic partnership" level. It was agreed that Turkey and China would cooperate on energy, particularly in the field of nuclear energy, and that bilateral trade would be made in the Chinese yuan and the Turkish lira. The goal was to increase the annual foreign trade volume from US \$17 billion to US \$50 billion in five years, and to US \$100 billion within 10 years.<sup>126</sup> A "Silk railway" construction, consisting of high-speed train lines between Edirne and Kars, which would be constructed by a Turkish-Chinese joint venture, was also agreed.<sup>127</sup> Uyghur dissidents protested when Chinese Premier Wen Jiabao made his visit to Istanbul. At the protest, Vice President of World Uyghur Congress Seyit Tümtürk made a statement claiming that Prime Minister Wen was responsible for the events of 5 July.<sup>128</sup>

During the visit of Minister of Foreign Affairs Davutoğlu to China between 28 October and 2 November 2010, the objectives set out by the two prime ministers in September 2010 were followed up. Davutoğlu visited the Xinjiang's cities of Urumqi and Kashgar, as well as Beijing, Shanghai and Xian, which was interpreted as a gesture from the Chinese side.<sup>129</sup>

Turkey is acting with NATOallied countries to prevent an increase in global tension, though China has been coming out against Western policies together with Russia.

Vice President of China Xi Jinping's visit to Turkey in February 2012 and Prime Minister Erdoğan's China visit in April 2012 clearly showed a historical turning point in bilateral relations. Those visits were the last of the top-level meetings between the two countries and could be interpreted as a sign of great developments in the Turkish-Chinese relations.<sup>130</sup>

Beijing also made a gesture by letting the Turkish leaders visit cities in Xinjiang. In addition to the Xinjiang visits of President Gül and Minister of Foreign Affairs Davutoğlu in previous years, Prime Minister Erdoğan began his Chinese tour in Urumqi in April 2012. Allowing Hainan Airlines to start Urumqi-Istanbul direct flights in 2011 was a considerable development for an easier opening of Xinjiang to Turkey.

In the last few years, some differences of opinion between Ankara and Beijing on global issues have started to appear. Evaluating the "Arab Spring" that had occurred in Tunisia, Egypt, Libya, Yemen, and Syria as the internal affairs of those countries, though with destabilising effects, China preferred to support the incumbent Arab regimes. Conversely, Turkey advocated non-violence and soft power as well as supporting the democratic demands of the societies.

As recent events have indicated, Turkey is acting with NATO-allied countries to prevent an increase in global tension, though China has been coming out against Western policies together with Russia. It is possible that Turkey and China would develop completely opposite policies under these conditions, which may prevent them establishing any strategic cooperation. The most obvious economic problem between Turkey and China appears to be the trade deficit. With the membership of China in the World Trade Organisation, the deficit in the bilateral trade is getting worse against Turkey's favour.

Throughout the 2000s, Ankara has searched for ways to develop its trade relations with Taipei. Similarly, Taiwan has sought opportunities to increase its cooperation with Turkey. However, without the PRC's consent, it has been difficult for both countries to increase their economic relations. Thus, in last decade, Turkey has tried to find ways to further economic cooperation with Taiwan without evoking any reaction from the PRC.

As a result of the rise in bilateral trade, the Turkish-Taiwanese Business Council, which was first established in 1993, came into action again in 2005 after the reorganisation of the Turkish Executive Committee.

For example, in 2010, the expected ratification of an agreement for direct flights from Istanbul to Taipei received a negative reaction from Beijing, and China protested the draft of the agreement with a diplomatic note.<sup>131</sup> Two deputies from the ruling AK Party visited Taiwan in March 2010, which also bothered China, and Chinese Embassy officials in Ankara visited China-Turkey Parliamentary Friendship Group Chairman İhsan Arslan and stated their dissatisfaction.<sup>132</sup>

As a result of the rise in bilateral trade, the Turkish-Taiwanese Business Council, which was first established in 1993, came into action again in 2005 after the reorganisation of the Turkish Executive Committee. Redirecting Taiwanese capital towards investing in Turkey became the main function of the council.<sup>133</sup>

For further development of cooperation between the two countries, Taiwanese Vice Minister of Economy Sheng-Chung Lin visited Turkey in April 2011.134 At this point, it can be noted that economic relations between Taiwan and Turkey may advance further if Chinese objections can be overcome. Even though taking steps in these matters would not mean that the "One China" policy is being ignored, Beijing has been warning Ankara to not exaggerate its relations with Taiwan. However, Hong Kong is a legal part of China with an autonomous political administration, and it has its own flag and currency. Therefore, Turkey should consider Taiwan just like Hong Kong in order to develop trade and economic relations.

In the 2000s, relations between Turkey and South Korea have developed further. The main agenda item on the visit, paid by Prime Minister Erdoğan to South Korea in February 2004, was to prepare the ground for Korean companies to invest in Turkey.135 Then Minister of Foreign Affairs Ban Ki-moon's visit to Turkey in April 2004 aimed to follow up the objectives set out previously.<sup>136</sup> President Roh Moo-Hyun's visit to Turkey in April 2005 had also great importance for the development of bilateral relations. This visit was also the first visit from South Korea to Turkey at the presidential level.<sup>137</sup>

The visit of President Gül to South Korea in June 2010 had two main objectives. The timing of the visit, on the 60<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the Korean War, emphasised the friendship between the two countries.<sup>138</sup> The second major item on the agenda of the visit was for negotiations with the South Korean state-owned company KEPCO to build a nuclear power plant in Sinop.<sup>139</sup>

Considering the current political and economic situation in Pyongyang, it would not be realistic to expect Turkish-North Korean relations to develop much further.

Prime Minister Erdoğan held a summit with President Lee Myung-Bak when he visited South Korea to attend the G-20 Summit in November 2010. Minister of Energy Taner Yıldız also attended to the meeting, though an agreement on the construction of the nuclear power plant in Sinop could not be reached.<sup>140</sup>

The second visit from South Korea to Turkey at the presidential level was conducted by Lee Myung-bak in February 2012.<sup>141</sup> During the visit a further deepening of the partnership between Turkey and South Korea was agreed, and there was an agreement made to restart the negotiations on the Sinop nuclear power plant.

In the 2000s, there has been little progress in Turkish-North Korean

relations. In November 2004, a Trade and Economic Cooperation Agreement was signed between Turkey and North Korea in Ankara.<sup>142</sup> Despite this agreement, the expected development in bilateral relations has not happened. In the 2000s, Ankara has continued its Seoul-based North Korean policy.<sup>143</sup> Turkey took the side of South Korea in two cases that occurred in 2010 between North and South Korea. The Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs condemned North Korea's artillery fire on the island of Yeongpyeong on 23 November 2010, and when North Korea sunk a warship, which led to the deaths of 46 South Korean sailors, on 26 March 2010.144 While Turkey was on the UN Security Council, it was the chair of the "UNSC Sanctions Committee on North Korea" in 2009 and 2010.145

Considering the current political and economic situation in Pyongyang, it would not be realistic to expect Turkish-North Korean relations to develop much further. The most positive development in this process would be to open mutually diplomatic representations in the capitals of Turkey and North Korea.

### Conclusion

From 1945 until today, Turkey's relations with East Asia can be divided into four periods. In the first period covering 1945-1970, Ankara was influenced by security policies within

the East-West balance and took an active stance in favour of South Korea by sending troops to the Korean War. Ankara also continued to recognise the ROC government in Taiwan instead of the PRC as the sole legitimate government of China.

The normalisation of Sino-American relations and Beijing's gaining of China's seat in the UN in 1971 changed the balance of power in Asia considerably. Ankara also recognised the PRC as the legitimate representative of China and began to pursue an economic-based policy in East Asia. The 1980s also witnessed Turkey's Asian expansion to Japan, China and South Korea. Improved political and economic ties with these countries prepared the background for eventually more intensive relations.

The end of the Cold War and the dissolution of the Soviet Union in 1991 created an opportunity for Ankara to expand towards East Asia through Central Asia. In the 1990s, Ankara had a close interest in the largest economies in Asia but it could not properly develop relations with Asian countries because of political instability and economic crises.

In the 2000s, domestic political stability and regular economic growth increased Turkey's capacity in the international arena. This increase in capacity allowed Turkey's relations with East Asian countries to considerably improve.

Among the countries that Turkey has enjoyed strong political and economic relations in East Asia have been Japan, the PRC and South Korea. Thus, based on current conditions, relations between Ankara, Tokyo and Seoul will continue to develop. In terms of Turkey's relations with China, Xinjiang and Taiwan might cause political issues. Ankara and Beijing have developed a policy that takes into account the sensitivity of each other on the issues especially related to Xinjiang. Consequently, Turkey and China have enjoyed the opportunity to become closely acquainted with each other in recent years. If both countries could develop a proper policy to overcome the existing problems, it might be possible to achieve a "strategic partnership" in Turkish-Chinese relations.

Turkey has only continued its relation with Taiwan at the economic level since 1971. However, the intensity of the Turkish-Taiwanese economic cooperation continues to be an issue in the Ankara-Beijing-Taipei triangle. Turkey's relations with North Korea are almost negligible. Considering South Korea as an ally, Turkey gives full support to Seoul claims and Ankara-Pyongyang relations will only develop as long as Seoul-Pyongyang relations also improve. However, it is not realistic to expect a considerable improvement in Ankara-Pyongyang relations given North Korea's current economic situation.

#### Endnotes

- 1 The article will mainly examine the relations with Northeast Asian countries, Japan, China, North and South Korea and Taiwan due to the depth and intensity of their relations with Turkey.
- 2 Ali Naci Karacan, "Başbakan Adnan Menderes'in Milliyet'e Çok Mühim Beyanatı", *Milliyet*, 7 August 1950.
- 3 "Atlantik Paktı ve Türkiye", Milliyet, 13 July 1951.
- 4 Ali Naci Karacan, "Güvenlik Konseyine Seçilmenin Mânası", Milliyet, 9 October 1950.
- 5 "Cenevre Konferansına Resmen Davet Edildik", *Milliyet*, 23 February 1954.
- 6 "Sunay: Vietnam Kore'den Farklıdır", Milliyet, 12 April 1967.
- 7 Hee-Soo Lee, İslâm ve Türk Kültürünün Uzak Doğu'ya Yayılması: Kore'de İslâmiyet'in Yayılması ve Kültürel Tesirleri, Ankara, Türkiye Diyanet Vakfı Yayınları, 1988, p. 292.
- 8 Necdet Günkut, "Yerinde Bir Karar", Milliyet, 11 June 1960.
- 9 "Kore'deki Birliğimizi Geriye Çekiyoruz", Milliyet, 27 May 1966.
- 10 "G.Kore, Türk Mangasının Kalmasını Istiyor", Milliyet, 16 January 1971.
- 11 "Menderes, Kore'de Törenle Karşılandı", Milliyet, 26 April 1958.
- 12 "Güney Kore Müdafaa Vekili Geliyor", Milliyet, 9 January 1959.
- 13 Abdi İpekçi, "Gl. Çang'ın Milliyet'e Beyanatı", Milliyet, 24 June 1960.
- 14 Selçuk Çolakoğlu and Arzu Güler, "Turkey and Taiwan: The Relationship Seeking Its Ground", USAK Policy Brief, No. 2 (August 2011), pp.7-8.
- 15 Leyla Umar, "Bangkok'a Giden Heyetimizin Bir Kısmı Döndü", *Milliyet*, 25 November 1956.
- 16 "Milliyetçi Çin Hariciye Vekili Geliyor", Milliyet, 4 February 1957.
- 17 "Milliyetçi Çin'i Ziyaret", Milliyet, 26 April 1958.
- 18 "Koraltan Dönüyor", Milliyet, 10 February 1959.
- 19 "Kızıl Çinden Bir Ticaret Heyeti Türkiyeye Geliyor", Milliyet, 26 November 1966.
- 20 "Çin Ile Ilk Defa Ikili Ticaret Anlaşması Yapılıyor", Milliyet, 6 December 1969.
- 21 "K. Çinin B.M'e Üye Olmasını Istiyoruz", Milliyet, 22 November 1970.
- 22 "Kızıl Çin'den Gelen Doğu Türkistanlılar Çektiklerini Anlattı", Milliyet, 29 May 1968.
- 23 "Türkiye-Çin Görüşmeleri Için Anlaşma Oldu", Milliyet, 9 May 1971.
- 24 Peyami Safa, "Japon Mucizesi", Milliyet, 24 April 1958.
- 25 "Bir Japon Bakanı Şehrimizde", Milliyet, 22 October 1950.
- 26 "Japonya ile Bir Ticaret Anlaşması Imzalanıyor", Milliyet, 17 March 1954.
- 27 "Türk-Japon Iktisadi Işbirliği Geliştirilecek", Milliyet, 24 April 1958.

- 28 "Japonlar, Köprü Için En Iyi Teklifi Biz Yapmıştır", Milliyet, 2 March 1970.
- 29 "Japonya, 2 Petro Kimya Tesisyle Ilgilendi", Milliyet, 2 October 1970.
- 30 "Japonya'ya Ihracat Yeterli Gelişmiyor", Milliyet, 27 February 1975.
- 31 "Döviz Transferi Yapılmadığı İçin Japonlar Mal Yollamıyor", Milliyet, 27 May 1977.
- 32 "Ökçün, Bugün Japon Dış Bakanı ile Yardım Görüşecek", *Milliyet*, 17 May 1979.
- 33 "Japonya'yla 80 Milyon Dolarlık Kredi Anlaşması Imzalandı", Milliyet, 14 February 1981.
- 34 Nilüfer Yalçın, "Abe, Türkiye'nin Uluslararası Terörü Önleme Çalışmalarını Takdirle Karşılıyoruz", *Milliyet*, 10 August 1983.
- 35 Hayri Birler, "Japon'a Türk gibi Imkân", Milliyet, 23 May 1985.
- 36 "Prens Mikasa Açıkladı: Japonya'da Türk Rüzgârı Esiyor", Milliyet, 30 May 1986.
- 37 Erol Manisalı, "Türk-Japon Yakınlaşması", Milliyet, 4 July 1988.
- 38 Celal Pir, "Yokohama'dan Kars'a Yol Gider", Milliyet, 31 August 1988.
- 39 "Özal'a Tokyo'da Yoğun Program: Hem Cenaze Hem Ticaret", Milliyet, 23 February 1989.
- 40 Deniz Ülke Arıboğan, "Opening the Closed Window to the East; Turkey's Relations with East Asian Countries", in İdris Bal (ed.), *Turkish Foreign Policy in Post Cold War Era*, Boca Raton, Brown Walker Press, 2004, p. 413.
- 41 Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan, "Japan-Turkey Relations", at http://www.mofa.go.jp/ region/middle\_e/turkey/index.html [last visited 23 July 2005].
- 42 "Japonya'dan 270 Milyar Kredi", Milliyet, 6 October 1990.
- 43 "Son Türk Mangası", Milliyet, 13 January 1971.
- 44 "G.Kore, Türk Mangasının Kalmasını Istiyor", Milliyet, 16 January 1971.
- 45 "Choi Kyu Hah Ankara'ya Geldi", Milliyet, 5 May 1977.
- 46 Orhan Duru, "Daha çok Dışsatım Için Uzakdoğu ile Işbirliğine Giriyoruz", *Milliyet*, 22 December 1982.
- 47 "Türkmen ve Kafaoğlu Fransa'ya, Özdaş Pakistan'a, Turgut Kore'ye Gidecek", *Milliyet*, 7 May 1983.
- 48 "G.Kore Meclis Başkanı Geldi", Milliyet, 7 February 1984.
- 49 "Karaduman, Güney Kore Cumhurbaşkanı'na Evren'in Mesajını Iletti", *Milliyet*, 28 September 1984.
- 50 "Güney Kore ile Ekonomik Işbirliğine Ilk Adım Atıldı: Sıcak Başlangıç", *Milliyet*, 6 November 1986.
- 51 "Kore Başbakanı", Milliyet, 29 July 1990.
- 52 "G. Kore'den Türkiye'ye 15 Milyar Dolar Yardım", Milliyet, 14 Novermber 1990.
- 53 Hee-Chul Lee, *Siyasi, Ekonomik, Askeri ve Kültürel Açıdan Türkiye-Kore İlişkileri*, Ankara, Türk Tarih Kurumu, 2007, p. 87.

- 54 Sami Kohen, "Kuzey Kore'den Milliyet aracılığıyla Türkiye'ye Mesaj: Gelin, Dost Olalım", *Milliyet*, 27 July 1985.
- 55 Sami Kohen, "Türkiye-Çin Ekonomik ve Teknik Işbirliği Anlaşması Imzalandı", *Milliyet*, 20 December 1981.
- 56 "Evren, Uzakdoğu Gezisine Başladı", Milliyet, 13 December 1982.
- 57 Orhan Duru, "Evren: Türkiye ve Çin Geçmişte Emperyalizme Karşı Benzer Acıları Yaşadı", *Milliyet*, 16 December 1982.
- 58 "Çin Kültür Bakanı Muzhi: İnsan İstanbul Boğazı'nı Seyre Doyamıyor Dedi", *Milliyet*, 9 April 1983.
- 59 "Çin Dışişleri Bakanı: Türkiye ve Çin Sovyetler'in Tehdidi Altında", *Milliyet*, 19 October 1983.
- 60 "Çin Devlet Başkanı Ankara'da", Milliyet, 14 March 1984.
- 61 "Halefoğlu, Çin Devlet Başkanı Ile Görüştü: Türkiye'nin Ortadoğu Politikasını Takdirle Karşılıyoruz", *Milliyet*, 29 October 1984.
- 62 Mehmet Barlas, "Çin'de Komünizm Bile Farklı", Milliyet, 4 July 1985.
- 63 "Uygur Başbakanı, İzmir'de", Milliyet, 6 July 1985.
- 64 Sami Kohen, "Çin Başbakanı Zao Ziyang Ankara'da", Milliyet, 18 July 1986.
- Nilüfer Yalçın, "Çin Halk Cumhuriyeti'nin Görüşü: Kıbrıs Diyalogla Çözülmeli", *Milliyet*, 28 October 1987.
- 66 "Türkiye Çin Kültür Ilişkileri", Milliyet, 15 March 1988.
- 67 Sami Kohen, "Çin Açmazda", Milliyet, 22 April 1990.
- 68 "Çin Dışişleri Bakanı geldi", Milliyet, 4 September 1990.
- 69 "Çinli Diplomat Türkiye'ye Sığındı", Milliyet, 11 September 1986.
- 70 Aydın Özdalga, "Çin'in Kabusu Türkmen", *Milliyet*, 13 April 1990.
- 71 Republic of Turkey Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Turkey's Political Relations with China", at http://www.mfa.gov.tr/turkey\_s-political-relations-with-china.en.mfa [last visited 16 April 2011].
- 72 Selçuk Çolakoğlu, "Taiwan's Four Demands from Turkey", *The Journal of Turkish Weekly*, 21 March 2011.
- 73 "Sizi Orta Asya'ya Sokalım, Bizi Pasifik'e Alın", Milliyet, 8 November 1992.
- 74 Selçuk Çolakoğlu, "The Turkic Brotherhood Policy and Its Effects on the Globalisation Process in Central Asia", in Ajay Patniak and Tulsiram (eds.), *Globalisation and Eurasia*, New Delhi, Knowlege World Publishing, 2010.
- 75 Şükrü Elekdağ, "Dış Politikamızın Japonya Boyutu", Milliyet, 9 August 1992.
- 76 Erol Manisalı, "Türkiye, Japonya konusunu Iyi Değerlendirmeli", *Milliyet*, 1 December 1992.
- 77 Sami Kohen, "Japonya'ya Açılma Nasıl Olur?", Milliyet, 25 February 1995.

- 78 "Türk Ekonomisine Japon Uyarısı", Milliyet, 4 May 1996.
- 79 Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Dışişleri Bakanlığı, "Türkiye-Japonya Siyasi İlişkileri", at http://www. mfa.gov.tr/MFA\_tr/DisPolitika/Bolgeler/DoguAsyavePasifik/Japonya/JAPONYA.htm [last visited 21 July 2011].
- 80 "Demirel'in Dış Kabulleri", Milliyet, 15 November 1991.
- 81 "Özal: Yük Getiren Tasarıları Çevirdim", Milliyet, 25 February 1992.
- 82 Orhan Tokatlı, "Tayyip Erdoğan'a Çin Protestosu", Milliyet, 7 August 1995.
- 83 Mehmet Öğütçü, "Çin'in Petrol Düşü", Milliyet, 7 March 1996.
- 84 Serpil Çevikcan and Ümit Bektaş, "Demirel Yasak Kenti Gezdi", Milliyet, 24 May 1995.
- 85 Zülfikar Doğan, "Çin Işi Kazandıracak", Milliyet, 28 September 1996.
- 86 "CIA'nin Kızıl Elması", Aydınlık, 27 October 1996, p. 5.
- 87 Evren Değer, "Çin'le Gizli Füze Anlaşması", Milliyet, 20 December 1996.
- 88 Dru C. Gladney, "Rumblings from the Uyghur", *Current History*, Vol. 96, No. 611 (September 1997), pp. 288-290.
- 89 "Çin'de CIA Kışkırtması", Aydınlık, 16 February 1997, p.8-9.
- 90 "Türkiye'ye Türkistan Uyarısı", Radikal, 2 May 1998.
- 91 "Başbakanlık'tan Gizli Doğu Türkistan Genelgesi", Hürriyet, 4 February 1999.
- 92 Nuraniye Hidayet Ekrem, *Çin Halk Cumhuriyeti Dış Politikası (1950-2000)*, Ankara, ASAM Yayınları, 2003, p. 181.
- 93 "Çin'le Gündem, Uygurlar", Cumhuriyet, 19 April 2000.
- 94 "Taiwan'la Ekonomik Yakınlaşma", Milliyet, 11 April 1992.
- 95 Yalçın Doğan, "Kore'de Türkiye'yi Yaşamak", Milliyet, 15 May 1991.
- 96 "Kore Başbakanı Geliyor", Milliyet, 24 July 1990.
- 97 "Kore ile Hyundai Anlaşması", Milliyet, 11 May 1996.
- 98 "Güney Kore ile CASA Işbirliği", Milliyet, 4 June 2001.
- 99 "Kuzey Kore Türkiye ile Ilişki Istiyor", Milliyet, 22 December 1993.
- 100 "Türkiye Kuzey Kore ile İlişkilerini Normalleştirecek", Hürriyet, 25 June 2001.
- 101 Selçuk Çolakoğlu, "Türkiye'nin Doğu Asya Politikası 2010", in Burhanettin Duran, Kemal İnat and Mesut Özcan (eds.), *Türk Dış Politikası Yıllığı*, Ankara, SETA Yayınları, 2011, p. 437.
- 102 Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan, "Japan-Turkey Relations", at http://www.mofa.go.jp/region/middle\_e/turkey/index.html [last visited 30 June 2012].
- 103 "Türkiye Japonya Ortak Bildirisi", Hürriyet, 4 January 2010.
- 104 "Japonya Prensi Türkiye'de", Hürriyet, 3 May 2010.
- 105 "Japon Büyükelçi: Japonya İsrail'e Kızgın", Hürriyet, 2 June 2010.

- 106 "Japonya ile Nükleer Imzası Attık Depreme Dayanıklılık Öne Çıktı", *Hürriyet*, 25 December 2010.
- 107 "Japonlar Sinop'tan Vazgeçti", Akşam, 3 August 2011.
- 108 Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Dışişleri Bakanlığı, "Türkiye-Çin Halk Cumhuriyeti Siyasi İlişkileri", at http://www.mfa.gov.tr/MFA\_tr/DisPolitika/Bolgeler/DoguAsyavePasifik/CHC/CHC. htm [last visited 21 July 2005].
- 109 İsmail Küçükkaya, "Yasak Kentte Bir Yasaklı Lider", Akşam, 17 January 2003.
- 110 Çin Uluslararası Radyosu, "Mehmet Ali Şahin'le Röportaj", at http://turkish.cri. cn/1/2007/04/12/1@70020.htm [last visited at 12 April 2007].
- 111 Ardıç Aytalar, "Dünyanın En Zengini Olmak Için 150 yıl Bekleyemeyiz", *Hürriyet*, 21 September 2006.
- 112 Eyüp Ersoy, Turkish-Chinese Military Relations, Ankara, USAK Press, 2008, pp. 160–168.
- 113 Mehmet Ali Birand, "Çin'in de Kürt Politikası Değişiyor", Hürriyet, 28 February 2006.
- 114 "China Officially Objects to Incursion into Iraq", Today's Zaman, 30 June 2007.
- 115 İlyas Kamalov, "Şangay Örgütü, Rusya-Çin Mücadelesi ve Türkiye'nin Durumu", *Hürriyet*,17 August 2007.
- 116 Menekşe Tokyay, "Turkey Deepens Imprints in Central Asia", *SES Türkiye*, http://turkey. setimes.com/en\_GB/articles/ses/articles/features/departments/world/2012/06/12/ feature-01 [last visited 17 June 2012].
- 117 Selçuk Çolakoğlu, "Cumhurbaşkanı Gül'ün Çin Ziyaretinden Izlenimler", USAK Stratejik Gündem, 31 July 2009.
- 118 China Radio International, "Çin'in Ankara Büyükelçisi Gong: 'Abdullah Gül'ün Çin Ziyareti Birçok Alanda Ilişkileri En Üst Düzeye Çıkaracak'", at http://turkish.cri. cn/882/2009/06/23/1s116202.htm [last visited 20 August 2009].
- 119 Mesut Er, "Bu Vahşet Son Bulmalı", Sabah, 9 July 2009.
- 120 Igor Torbakov and Matti Nojonen, "China-Turkey and Xinjiang: A Frayed Relationship", at http://www.opendemocracy.net/node/48431/pdf [last visited 20 August 2011].
- 121 Güneri Civaoğlu, "Bu Küçük Dalgayı Aşarız", Milliyet, 25 July 2009.
- 122 "Zafer Çağlayan: "'Tek Çin' Politikasını İzliyoruz", *China Radio International*, at http://turkish.cri.cn/781/2009/09/27/1s119570.htm [last visited 20 December 2009].
- 123 "Türkiye ile Çin Stratejik Çalışma Grubu Oluşturuyor", Zaman, 28 January 2010.
- 124 "Çin de Türkiye, Türkiye'de Çin Yılı Düzenlenecek", Zaman, 16 June 2010.
- 125 "Türkiye'deki Tatbikata Uçaklarımız Katılmadı", Zaman, 18 October 2010.
- 126 "Çin ile Türkiye Ticarette Doları Devre Dışı Bıraktı", Takvim, 9 October 2010.
- 127 "Edirne'den Kars'a Hızlı Tren", Sabah, 15 October 2010.
- 128 "Çinli Başbakan Protesto Edildi," Zaman, 19 October 2010.

- 129 Selçuk Çolakoğlu, "Dışişleri Bakanı Davutoğlu'nun Çin Ziyareti", USAK Stratejik Gündem,9 November 2010.
- 130 Selçuk Çolakoğlu, "Turkey-China Relations: Seeking a Strategic Partnership", *The Journal of Turkish Weekly*, 17 April 2012.
- 131 "Türkiye'nin Tayvan ile Anlaşma Hazırlığı Pekin'i Kızdırdı", Zaman, 19 March 2010.
- 132 "Çin in Tayvan Rahatsızlığı Ankara'da", Türkiye, 18 March 2010.
- 133 "Türk-Tayvan İş Konseyi", at http://www.deik.org.tr/Pages/TR/IK\_AnaSayfa.aspx?IKID=57 [last visited 20 August 2011].
- 134 "Tayvan Ekonomiden Sorumlu Bakan Yardımcısı Liang Türkiye'ye Geliyor", *Bugün*, 2 April 2011.
- 135 Mustafa Karaalioğlu, "Güney Kore'de Dostluk Rüzgârı", Yeni Şafak, 10 February 2004.
- 136 Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Dışişleri Bakanlığı, "Türkiye-Güney Kore Siyasi İlişkileri", at http:// www.mfa.gov.tr/MFA\_tr/DisPolitika/Bolgeler/DoguAsyavePasifik/GKore/GKORE.htm [last visited 20 August 2005].
- 137 "Sizin Sayenizde Dünyanın 10. Büyük Ekonomisi Olduk", Radikal, 17 April 2005.
- 138 T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı, "Cumhurbaşkanı Gül, Kore'de Türk şehitliğini Ziyaret Etti", at http://www.tccb.gov.tr/haberler/170/49417/cumhurbaskani-gul-korede-turk-sehitliginiziyaret-etti.html [last visited 21 April 2011].
- 139 Selçuk Çolakoğlu, "Cumhurbaşkanı Gül'ün Güney Kore Gezisinden izlenimler", USAK Stratejik Gündem, 19 June 2010.
- 140 Sadi Kaymaz, "Güney Kore ile 20 Milyar Dolarlık Anlaşma Suya Düştü", *Hürriyet*, 13 November 2010.
- 141 Precidency of the Republic of Turkey, "Lee Myung-bak of South Korea at the Çankaya Presidential Palace", at http://www.tccb.gov.tr/news/397/81995/lee-myungbak-of-south-korea-at-the-cankaya-presidential-palace.html [last visited 6 February 2012].
- 142 "Türkiye-Kuzey Kore Arasında İlk Resmi Anlaşma", Zaman, 12 November 2004.
- 143 Başbakanlık Basın-Yayın Enformasyon Genel Müdürlüğü, "The Korea Herald: Kuzey Kore Krizi Görüşmeler Yoluyla Çözülmeli", at http://byegm.gov.tr/YAYINLARIMIZ/ DISBASIN/2004/02/11\*02\*04.HTM [last visited 21 July 2005].
- 144 "Türkiye Kuzey Kore Bombardımanını Kınadı", Hürriyet, 25 November 2010.
- 145 "Türkiye Afganistan Konusunda Öncü Ülke olacak", Zaman, 4 January 2010.

# The Foreign Policy- Hegemony Nexus: Turkey's Search for a "New" Subjectivity in World Politics and Its Implications for US-Turkish Relations

#### Ali ASLAN\*

#### Abstract

The linkage between foreign policy and hegemony is admitted but has not been systematically analysed in the study of Turkish foreign policy. One of the key reasons for this is the absence of analytical tools that conceptualise the linkage between foreign policy and hegemony. In response to this gap, this study presents postfoundational/post-structural analytical tools to study the linkage. In addition, it applies those tools to analyse the far-reaching transformation in Turkish-American relations in the context of Turkey's search for a new subjectivity in world politics. It argues there have been two main periods in Turkish-American relations since the AK Party came to power: an era of "lack of understanding" between the years 2002 and 2006, and the era after the parties had come to a "new understanding" since 2006.

#### Key Words

Post-structuralism, foreign policy, hegemony, AK Party, Turkish-American relations.

#### Introduction

Turkish Minister of Foreign Affairs Ahmet Davutoğlu on one occasion bashed the European Union (EU) for not understanding the "new" Turkey by comparing it with the United States' (US) agility in perceiving Turkey's "new" reality: "They [the EU] are still far away from understanding Turkey, which is a rising power. But the United States, as Turkey's strategic ally, understands this very well."1 This demonstrates, inter alia, an ongoing "structural" transformation in US-Turkish relations, or at least underlines the fact that Turkey desires to carry out far-reaching changes in bilateral relations as a result of its search for a new subjectivity in world politics. This shift is often described by state officials in such a way that the two countries have evolved from being "strategic allies" to "model partners." These descriptions reveal the presence of various "modes of relations" between the two countries. And they are in general defined in terms of changes in the relative importance of the two

<sup>\*</sup> Ali Aslan, PhD, University of Delaware, USA.

countries to each other, and the coming together around a "common" identity and interests or falling apart.

Turkey desires to carry out farreaching changes in bilateral relations as a result of its search for a new subjectivity in world politics.

As implied by Davutoğlu's statement, the issue of coming together under an overarching identity and falling apart in effect reveals that states struggle to produce structures-overarching identities or "international states"2- within which they identify with differential (subject) positions. This points at the problem of *overdetermination* since the process of identity/interest formation involves a degree of hegemonic power relations among parties. Accordingly, with respect to Turkey's relations with the West, some scholars contend that Turkish foreign policy under the Adalet ve Kalkınma Partisi's (the Justice and Development Party, AK Party) reign serves Turkey and its desire to be co-opted by the Western-dominated world system.3 In contrast, some commentators argue that Turkey under the AK Party has taken anti-Western counter-hegemonic, а (Islamist) foreign policy attitude; it has abandoned the "Western axis" some claim.<sup>4</sup> Similarly, it is discussed whether Turkey is in search of building up an empire in the East.<sup>5</sup> Other scholars stress that current Turkish foreign policy cannot be described as anti-Western or subservient to the West, and that Turkey, it is argued, is seeking more room to define its foreign policies as a result of a change in its leadership and strategic doctrine.<sup>6</sup> Thus, they indicate that this has led to convergence and divergence between the West and Turkey over various international issues.<sup>7</sup>

This study, too, argues that Turkey is striving to define its foreign policies independent from the West. It argues that the current Turkish foreign policy is in a way counter-hegemonic but it does not indulge in antagonising the West in carrying out this goal. Turkey's disassociation from the West does not have to be called anti-Westernism. In order to shed light on this problem, this article attempts to develop heuristic analytical tools by deploying poststructural discourse theory. It has two main sections. The first develops a poststructural/post- foundational account of foreign policy that highlights the interaction between the hegemonic political practices in domestic and international realms. The second applies this framework to the study of US-Turkish relations since 2002, relations that can be divided into two periods: the years of a "lack of understanding," 2002-2006; and the years when there has been an evolution of a "new understanding" between the two countries, namely from 2006 onwards.

# Agent, Structure and Power in Foreign Policy Analysis

Despite the differences among mainstream approaches in international relations (IR) over the relative importance of agent and structures (individualism vs. structuralism) and the nature of structures (materialism vs.

The lack in the subject and

the structures offer a particular

view of politics-the politics of

identification- which involves an

impossible struggle for identity

and search for completion on

the subject's part

idealism), there is a striking common denominator over the problem of agentstructure relations: agent and structures are conceptualised as pre-existing totalities which are counterposed to each other.<sup>8</sup>

Post-structuralists oppose this view of agent-structure relations and they seek to deconstruct the opposition between agent and structure in which one of them is prioritised over the other, and at the same time they strive to revise this binary division within a new conceptual ground that offers each element its due consideration.<sup>9</sup> This does not make structure and agent disappear; they are rather intertwined on a new conceptual ground. Here the issue of subjectivity appears to be crucial because the mainstream view of agent-structure relations is mainly driven by the reduction of subjectivity to individuality. According to this conception of subjectivity, the subject is, first of all, believed to be both rational and transparent to itself; secondly, the ensemble of its positions is united and homogenous; and finally it is the origin and basis of social relations.<sup>10</sup> Post- structuralism refutes this view and contends that the phenomenon of

> subjectivity cannot be thought of as independent from the structures. The structures, however, are argued to be lacking any essence characterised and by the impossibility closure and of nonfixity.11 The

absence of an essence furnishes the structures with the characteristic of being undecided, unstable, and contingent. This lack also leads to a similar lack in the subject because the undecidedness and contingency of structures cannot provide the subject an ultimate and fixed identity. The subject therefore cannot exist on its own- it is not self-transparentas it seeks to identify with the "outside."

The lack in the subject and the structures offer a particular view of

politics-the politics of identificationwhich involves an impossible struggle for identity and search for completion on the subject's part.<sup>12</sup> The lacking subject yearns for completeness by identifying with the objective realm, by creating certain structures. This underlies a specific form of relations between the subject and the structures: the moment when the subject succeeds in identifying with the objective realm is the moment of its eclipse, its integration with the structures. This indicates the transition from *political subjectivity* to subject positions- two categories of the subjectivity. The former indicates the independence of the subject from the structures and its irreducibility to the structures, particularly at a moment of structural instability and dislocation.<sup>13</sup> The latter, on the other hand, indicates the necessity of the structures for the subject, and suggests the subject's integration with the structures as a differential position within the structures. This underlines the integral relationship between the subject and the structures: the political actors transform their own identity insofar as they actualise particular structural potentialities and refute others.14

Thus, post- structuralism proposes to "shift analysis from assumptions about pre-given subjects to the problematic of subjectivity and its political enactment."<sup>15</sup> In the realm of international relations, the sovereign state is the primary subjectivity/political actor and from a post-structuralist perspective, the activities of the statestatecraft- are viewed as creating an effect of completeness. Statecraft functions to represent the state as a finished and objective political unit, as well as produces a *particular* state-centric reality of the global political space.<sup>16</sup> It indicates that "no state is complete and all states struggle against failure."17 In this regard, post- structural political analysis proposes to focus on examining the boundary-producing activities or practices of the state, which constantly attempts at grounding the sovereign state as the primary subjectivity of world politics.18

Political forces compete to construct parallel and corresponding objectivities in domestic and international political spaces in order to reproduce a *particular* statecentric reality.

The field of foreign policy is one of the primary sites of statecraft. Resting on a post- foundational view of subjectivity, post-structuralists distinguish "Foreign Policy" from "foreign policy" in the sense that the latter refers to the reactions of pre-given and complete state actors to their environment whereas the former underscores that the field of foreign policy is all about producing the "other" or "foreign" to achieve complete and stable subjecthood: "the self-identity of a state rests on a prior difference from other states."<sup>19</sup> Thus, the field of foreign policy is not about linking two complete political systems- domestic and international- but instead is about the production of these political systems or spaces.<sup>20</sup>

The conservative-democratic political project has displayed Turkey's will to produce a civilisational difference within the global liberal order.

"Foreign Policy" then contains, first, the production of two political spaces, domestic (self) and international (other); second, the fixation of meaning in each of these political spaces by creating differences and subject positions; and, finally, the maintenance of a degree correspondence of between those objectivities and subject positions in order to generate a particular statecentric reality and an enclosed totality on the basis of nation, which currently holds the empty place of "power" or sovereignty, as the primary referent of sovereignty is the people or nation.<sup>21</sup> The boundaries between inside and outside

are drawn according to this conception of nation and (national) identity. And this supports a particular political position and set of interests within the society since the nation, like all other totalities, is ontologically incomplete, undecided, and constructed- it has to be grounded on the basis of a *political project*.

This dimension highlights the linkage between Foreign Policy and hegemony. Namely, Foreign Policy involves a struggle- the politics of identificationamong political forces to fill the void in meaning of the global, which is symbolised currently around the sovereign states-system. In other words, political forces compete to construct parallel and corresponding objectivities in domestic and international political spaces in order to reproduce a *particular* state-centric reality- such as the East-West or the North-South antagonismand boost their political interests. This particularity of state-centric reality refers to the fact that those objectivities/ identities in domestic and international political spaces depend on a specific projection of identity and order. In other words, the state-centric reality at any moment rests on a particular political project realised by a hegemonic political force.

Indeed, we should note that political forces engage in the production and fixation of meaning in the shared global

political space as they strive to construct a state-centric reality by resorting to boundary-producing activities. These are two integral processes in the construction or capturing of the global. There is only one objective field as the global, political projects pursue hegemonic struggle not only against their domestic contenders over producing a particular state but also against the political forces with particular political projects outside their boundaries for the construction of the global around a particular identity.<sup>22</sup> So we have two parallel and highly interrelated hegemonic competitions going on simultaneously: the hegemonic competition among political forces within the domestic realm over gaining a full and complete identity through establishing a *particular* state; and the hegemonic competition among political forces located in different "state spaces" over establishing a particular global around a definite identity project.

# Turkey's Search for a New Subjectivity and Its Implications for US- Turkish Relations

The AK Party, as a hegemonic political force, came to the scene with a specific political project, "conservativedemocracy." The conservativedemocratic political project has displayed Turkey's will to produce a civilisational *difference* within the global liberal order:

"[W]e believe the dialogue between civilisations is a necessary step for world peace and brotherhood in the current time. Respecting civilisational differences and meeting on a common ground are imminent for a democratic world."<sup>23</sup>

This has involved drawing new boundaries between the inside (self) and the outside (other) on the basis of a conservative-democratic identity. The AK Party accordingly has sought to fix the domestic political space around "conservative-democracy" while at the same time it has attempted to oppose liberal Western universalism in the international political space by offering a democratic political ground in world politics which requires the recognition of the plurality of civilisation(s), namely the establishment of a world order based on an equal and just distribution of rights and responsibilities among civilisations.<sup>24</sup> In order to structure the global political space as such, the AK Party has strived to identify Turkey with the subject position "centre-state" by replacing it with its longstanding subject position of a "Western state." This desire of obtaining a new subjectivity has created serious crisis, partly owing to the internal hegemonic competition between the Kemalists and the AK Party, especially in the 2002-2006 period, with the global centre, the US in particular. However, after 2006,

the US has gradually admitted Turkey's new subjectivity as a "centre-state."

## The Dislocation of the Structures and the Implications for US-Turkish Relations

As noted, the system structures are formed by differential subject positions and they are contingent and undecided. The contingency and undecidedness of the structures becomes more acute and obvious in time of structural dislocation. In such a period, the established identities are shattered and the social actors find themselves in a vacuum of meaning. However, the dislocation also furnishes actors with political subjectivity, and therefore provides an opportunity for new discursive constructions. As a result and in response to the collapse of structures or established identities, social actors engage in rebuilding the dislocated structures.

In the early 2000s, US-Turkish relations were dislocated. The relations between the two countries had been grounded on the premise that the US accepted Turkey as a secular-democratic "Western" polity, whereas Turkey contibuted by not acting independently and opposing the Western projects in the global political space as long as they did not conflict with Turkey's secular-national integrity, such as with the Cyprus and Armenian

problems. This equilibrium was upset by two key developments. One of them was the events of 11 September, which made more visible the void of meaning that had engulfed the international system since the collapse and dislocation of the Cold War identities and structures. After 11 September, the Bush government embarked on fixing the meaning of the international political space around the antagonism between the subject position of "free world" and the subject position of "global terrorism." The National Security Strategy (NSS) document of the Bush government stated: "[T]here are few greater threats than a terrorist attack with WMD."25 Resorting to a logic of difference, which engages in weakening sharp antagonistic polarity in a political space and expanding and increasing the complexity of political space, the Bush government attempted to expand the "free world" by using any means including military power. Accordingly, the Bush government (and other G-8 countries in the global centre) carved out a discourse on the Islamic world through a project, the Partnership for Progress and a Common Future with the Region of the Broader Middle East and North Africa. This project states: "We the leaders of the G-8 are mindful of peace, political, economic and social development, prosperity and stability in the countries of the Broader Middle East and North Africa represent a challenge

which concerns us and the international community as a whole."<sup>26</sup> In parallel with this, another document, prepared by the RAND Corporation and submitted to the US government, categorised countries and political forces in the Islamic world into four different groups: radicals, traditionalists, modernists, and secularists.<sup>27</sup> This document advised that the US should back the modernists (or moderates).

Accordingly, Turkey, in the foreign policy discourse of the Bush government, began to be presented as a "moderate Islamic" country, a (political) model to be followed by countries in the Muslim world. This was an overt existential threat to the Kemalist hegemony, which had strictly forbidden Turkey's affiliation with Islam and the Islamic world. Therefore, the "secularist" Kemalists sharply refuted this label. General İlker Başbuğ, for instance, stated to journalists in Turkey after his visit to Washington in March 2004 that:

> In the context of the Greater Middle East Project, in some circles Turkey is presented as a model. Turkey does not have a claim to be a model. From its establishment, the Turkish Republic has been a secular, democratic, and social state, governed by the rule of law. Some talk of Turkey being an Islamic state. Secularism and a moderate Islamic state cannot coexist.<sup>28</sup>

In the same vein, Faruk Loğoğlu, the Turkish Ambassador to the US (and now a deputy of the Republican People's Party, the CHP), reacted to US Secretary of State Colin Powell, who described Turkey as an Islamic republic, and said that "Turkey is a democratic and secular republic."<sup>29</sup>

AK Party has attempted to revise relations between the US and Turkey in accordance with its projected subject position, the "centre-state."

Another key factor contributing to the fluctuation in US-Turkish relations was the dislocation of Turkish domestic structures. The Kemalist identity that had been determining the Turkish discursive field and representing the metaphoric totality of Turkish society since the outset of the republic was dislocated by the rise of the conservative (AK Party) elites. Indeed, the relationship between the US and Turkey has been defined as a "strategic alliance" since 1947.<sup>30</sup> To reiterate, in the context of Turkey's "Western" subject position, the "strategic alliance" had been understood in such a way that Turkey would contribute to Western projects at the global and regional levels and not act independently in the international political space so long as the Western projects did not threaten Turkey's secular-national integrity. Yet now, the AK Party has attempted to identify with a different subject position in the international realm, the "centrestate," which proposes to engage in global initiatives independent from the West, but which does not necessarily mean opposing the West on every occasion.<sup>31</sup> This new subject position in world politics was described- in comparison to the subject position "bridge" which had been frequently used after the late 1980s- by Minister of Foreign Affairs Ahmet Davutoğlu (previously the Chief Advisor to the Prime Minister and since 2009 the Minister of Foreign Affairs):

When Turkey's role in the international system was defined, this was usually the role of "bridge." In fact, the sole function of a bridge is to connect two entities and carry over one side to the other; an actor defined as a bridge is not regarded as an independent actor with agency. Embracing this definition had led us to be perceived as imposing the values of the West when we establish relations with the East and as an Easterner carrying the negative attributes of the East when we establish relations with the West. In this new period, Turkey has to be defined as "centre" state, not a "bridge"32 [emphasis added].

Therefore, what the AK Party officials have understood from the "strategic alliance" is significantly different from the Kemalists understood from it. Accordingly, the AK Party has attempted to revise relations between the US and Turkey in accordance with its projected subject position, the "centre-state." This has involved redefining the foundation of bilateral relations, which has consisted of redefining the content of the "strategic alliance", and a shift from "strategic alliance" to "model partnership." This attempt to redefine the rules of bilateral relations and the division of political authority has significantly destabilised Turkish-American relations. In addition, the hegemonic competition between the conservative and the Kemalist elites in the domestic realm and the importance of the US's backing have complicated Turkish-American relations further. In this period, particularly the years between 2002 and 2006, a serious crisis of mutual confidence damaged the relations between the two states.

#### The Domestic Turmoil

American backing for the AK Party government, which became obvious with the Bush-Erdoğan meeting in Washington in December 2002 (just before the EU's Copenhagen Summit), dashed the Kemalist hope for averting the counter-hegemonic challenge of the conservative elites with the help of the global centre. The Kemalist elite became uneasy with the Bush government's support of the AK Party government and Recep Tayyip Erdoğan's bid to be the next prime minister.33 The Kemalists split up into two large discursive groups after the pressure of the crisis of representation<sup>34</sup> had become more acute with the EU's 1999 Helsinki Summit.35 One group

maintained Turkey's Western orientation (for EU membership in particular), while the other group struggled to change Turkey's direction from Europe to Eurasia.<sup>36</sup> For the latter group, after the US's backing of the AK Party government, the West completely lost its allure. Due to increasing tension with the counter-hegemonic challenge of the AK Party, it was easy for the ultranationalist Kemalists (the so-called "ulusalcular") to capture the discursive leadership of the Kemalist political force. This shift within the Kemalist bloc significantly altered public opinion in Kemalist circles towards anti-Americanism.<sup>37</sup> One of the popular slogans in the republican meetings organised by the ulusalcular in 2007 (conducted against Abdullah Gül's candidacy for president) was "Ne ABD, ne AB, tam bağımsız Türkiye" ("Neither the US nor the EU, fully independent Turkey").38

Alongside the rising anti-Americanism among the Kemalists, in the Turkish public in general anti-American increased. sentiments have Turkish novelists and filmmakers went further with novels such as Metal Firtina (Metal Storm), which portrays a war between the US and Turkey, and the movie Kurtlar Vadisi Irak (Valley of the Wolves Iraq) which has a similar theme.<sup>39</sup> This was definitely galvanised by the Bush government's unilateral and interventionist foreign policies towards the Middle East.<sup>40</sup> This

political situation presented a dilemma for the AK Party. On the one hand, it was supposed to revise Turkey's position vis-à-vis the leading actor of the global centre in order to put forward a parallel objectivity in the international realm. Appearing as a proxy of the US would destroy the AK Party's popular support, threaten its political project, and drag it into a serious crisis of representation. On the other hand, having Islamic roots, the AK Party had to secure the backing of the global centre, the US in particular, in order to have legitimacy in the eyes of the international society and tackle the Kemalist hegemony. In short, it had to balance internal and external pressures without falling into a legitimacy crisis and also a crisis of representation. In response, the Kemalists have attempted to force the AK Party into a crisis of legitimacy by either signifying it as a proxy of "imperial" powers to the Turkish domestic audience,<sup>41</sup> or by portraying it as pursuing an anti-Western (and Islamic and non-democratic) Islamist foreign policy to Western power centres.<sup>42</sup>

# *Phase I: The Era of "Lack of Understanding", 2002-2006*

The relationship between the US and Turkey in the context of the US's Iraq invasion in 2003 was a good example in this respect.<sup>43</sup> On 3 December 2002, Deputy Defence Secretary Paul Wolfowitz visited Ankara and submitted a three-stage plan to Prime Minister Gül.44 The first stage involved the US inspecting communications military facilities and bases in Turkey. This would be followed by the improvement of communications and air bases, as required. Finally, US air and land forces would move into southern Turkey to take their place to open the northern front.45 Accordingly, Milli Güvenlik Kurulu (the National Security Council, MGK) met on 28 December 2002. The meeting, which emphasised concern on the developments in northern Iraq, ended with a decision allowing the US only to inspect communications facilities and bases in Turkey (stage one) and emphasising the necessity of a "buffer zone" 60-70 km deep in northern Iraq after the US invades Iraq.<sup>46</sup> A month later, the MGK reconvened and emphasised that Turkey "backs solving this problem facing the international society through peaceful ways"; however, if an operation would be necessary, Turkey "will take all necessary measures to protect its national interests."47 On 6 February, parliament passed a resolution (tezkere) allowing the US to make improvements of communications and bases, as required (stage two).48 A week later, US personnel and equipment began to arrive at Turkish ports and airfields.

As these preparations for an operation were carried out, the AK Party

government made a last-ditch attempt to prevent the operation by trying to persuade Saddam Hussein to fully comply with UN disarmament resolutions, or more preferably step down from power. In the context of this endeavour, the Minister of State Kürsat Tüzmen visited Baghdad on 11 January 2003 and delivered Gül's message to Saddam.<sup>49</sup> On 23 January, the foreign ministers of Iraq's neighbouring countries- Turkey, Iran, Egypt, Saudi Arabia, and Jordan- met in Istanbul. They called for Saddam to cooperate with the UN and compromise with the Iraqi people.<sup>50</sup> On 6 February, Saddam's deputy Taha Yasin Ramadan secretly visited Ankara. In this meeting Gül stated to Ramadan that "it is up to you to prevent the war."51

*Tezkere* was, debated in parliament on 1 March; 264 deputies supported the motion, with 250 opposing and 32 abstentions and absentees.

On 24 February, the cabinet eventually agreed to bring a resolution (*tezkere*) to parliament under Article 92 of the constitution.<sup>52</sup> A memorandum of understanding with the US was finally agreed on 1 March. According to this, 62,000 US troops, supported by 255 war planes and 65 helicopters, would be allowed into Turkish territory, with

60,000 Turkish troops occupying a 30 km "buffer zone" in northern Iraq.53 Both in the Kemalist and conservative (AK Party) camps, there were groups opposing and supporting the decision.<sup>54</sup> Neither of the groups wanted to take the responsibility for this decision due to the strong public opposition to the war in Iraq. Therefore, both the Kemalists and the AK Party did not want to appear in the Turkish public's eyes as if they were leading Turkey into a war. At the same time, neither of the groups was ready to oppose the US and shoulder the responsibility of a possible "no" decision due to the importance of the US in their hegemonic struggle in the domestic realm. Hence, the process of passing the tezkere witnessed a series of strategic moves from both sides. For example, the AK Party government decided to delay a parliamentary vote on the *tezkere* until after a meeting of the MGK scheduled for 28 February 2003.55 The AK Party wanted the MGK (read the Turkish army) to make the decision. The MGK, in response, refused to do this; it simply said that the proposal had been "evaluated" without issuing a recommendation.<sup>56</sup> In other words, it returned the bomb to the AK Party's hands. The tezkere was, therefore, debated in parliament on 1 March; 264 deputies supported the motion, with 250 opposing and 32 abstentions and absentees. Despite the fact that there were more "yes" votes than "no" votes, the motion did not pass since the parliament's rules requires an absolute majority of the whole house (at least 267 votes).<sup>57</sup> To look at the results, 100 AK Party deputies had failed to back the motion, with around 68 actually voting against.

The AK Party government and the army sharply reacted against Wolfowitz's statements by arguing that the decision was a result of democratic procedures.

In effect, this result uncovered a serious discursive divergence within the AK Party. This is especially true regarding one particular criticism levelled against the AK Party after the failure of the tezkere. According to this view, Gül should have made support for the motion the subject of a group decision (the Turkish equivalent of a three-line whip) with open voting rather than allowing an anonymous electronic ballot. The most likely explanation is that Gül did not want to advertise this discursive split and subject himself and those close to him in the AK Party with the burden of the decision.58 This is due to the fact that despite there being no clear data on who supported and opposed the resolution at the time, it was disclosed later that the AK Party's leadership cadre in the foreign ministry, particularly Abdullah Gül and Ahmet Davutoğlu, opposed Turkey's entrance into a war against an Islamic country.<sup>59</sup>

With regards the Kemalist to opposition, the Kemalist parties voted against the resolution. The previous which coalition government, was composed of pro-Kemalist political parties, had not opposed sending Turkish troops to Afghanistan to help the US after 11 September 2001.<sup>60</sup> Subsequently, Turkey even took over short-term command of the International Security Assistance Force in Afghanistan with a contingent of 1,400 soldiers in June 2002.61 However, the Kemalist forces opposed sending troops to Iraq, alongside its strategic interaction with the AK Party government, this was a result of the emerging discursive split- the pro-West and pro-Eurasia groups- within the Kemalist elite62 as the nationalist and anti-Western pro-Eurasia group opposed the decision.

This failure created a fury in Washington. Wolfowitz blamed the Kemalists, the army in particular, of "not playing its leadership role" in passing the motion to the parliament.<sup>63</sup> The "strategic alliance," as US officials understood it, required Turkey to support the decision. The AK Party government and the army sharply reacted against Wolfowitz's statements by arguing that the decision

was a result of democratic procedures.<sup>64</sup> However, the parliament passed a second resolution allowing coalition air forces to use Turkish air space on 20 March, after the invasion of Iraq had already started.<sup>65</sup> Later, on 24 June, the government issued a decree allowing the use of İncirlik air base and the nearby port of Mersin for logistical support for US forces in Iraq.66 This support was no more than the contributions of other NATO members. many of whom also opposed the war. Furthermore, on 6 October 2003, the Turkish parliament attempted to pass a third tezkere allowing Turkish troops (around 10-12,000) to participate in the international stabilisation force in Iraq.67 This time the Iraqi Provisional Governing Council and Paul Bremer, administrator of the Coalition Provisional Authority, rejected the plan.

The failure of the *tezkere* hit the fabric of bilateral relations, which had been articulated as "strategic alliance". And it deteriorated further with the arrest of 11 Turkish Special Forces soldiers in Süleymaniye who were part of a small detachment which had been stationed in northern Iraq since 1997, originally to monitor a ceasefire between warring Kurdish factions in the region, by US forces for "disturbing activities" on 4 July 2003.<sup>68</sup> More shocking was that the soldiers were taken off for interrogation with sacks over their heads. Gül called Powell and stated that "it is unacceptable and improper."<sup>69</sup> The Chief of General Staff Hilmi Özkök, on the other hand, defined the incident as "the biggest crisis of confidence"<sup>70</sup> between the two countries. The Minister of Justice Cemil Çiçek defined the incident as "one of the breaking points in the 57-year-old relations between two countries."<sup>71</sup> In order to alleviate the crisis and re-establish confidence between the two countries, a commission composed of Turkish and American officials was established.<sup>72</sup> However, it was later disclosed that the Turkish army had interpreted the

incident as "revenge" for the rejection of 1 March *tezkere*.<sup>73</sup> The war of words intensified after the Abu Ghraib prison scandal in April-May 2004 and the

US attack on Fallujah in November 2004, in which more than 2,000 people were reported to have been killed. Mehmet Elkatmış, a prominent AK Party deputy and the head of Human Rights Commission in the parliament, described the Fallujah incident as "genocide." The US Embassy in Ankara reacted to Elkatmış by publishing an official statement saying that his claims were "baseless, provocative, and insulting" and drew attention to the so called "Armenian genocide". Minister of Foreign Affairs Gül, in response, stressed that "it would be nothing but blackmailing by saying if 'you blame us with genocide, we will do the same to you'".<sup>74</sup>

The tension continued the next year. In June 2005, in a Bush-Erdoğan meeting in Washington, Bush described relations between the US and Turkey as "strategic relations", and it was claimed that he avoided using the word "alliance" on purpose. This disturbed the Turkish side, especially as Bush had called US-Greek relations a "strategic alliance"

Although Turkey's search for a new subjectivity generated fluctuations in relations, bilateral relations by no means went up to the point of collapse. in a meeting with his counterpart Costas Karamanlis 20 days before. One Turkish foreign policy bureaucrat interpreted this that to mean of the balance

importance between Greece and Turkey in US foreign policy had shifted at the expense of Turkey.<sup>75</sup> In the same meeting, a US official stated that upgrading relations to its previous level was in the hands of the Turkish government. The official said that if Turkey did not take "necessary" steps and their national interests diverge, the US "will exclude and disregard [Turkey]. Strategic alliance means overlapping of national interests and allies move in the same direction. At this stage, they do not overlap on some issues and therefore we cannot cooperate."<sup>76</sup> This attitude contradicted Turkish officials' articulation of "strategic alliance" that the concept of "strategic alliance" "should not be interpreted as Turkey embracing American policies faithfully".<sup>77</sup>

# *Phase II: Towards a New "Understanding", 2006-2012*

Despite these intractable statements, the AK Party and the Bush government needed each other. Therefore, although Turkey's search for a new subjectivity generated fluctuations in relations, bilateral relations by no means went up to the point of collapse. The preliminary sign of a new period in bilateral relations came about in the summer of 2006. In July 2006, the US's new Secretary of State Condoleezza Rice and Turkish Minister of Foreign Affairs Abdullah Gül met in Washington and declared that they had reached a mutual agreement on a "shared vision document," which emphasised their common agenda on the development of democracy and shared values.78 This initiative basically aimed at establishing a mechanism to communicate views and the positions of each side on such issues as Iraq, the PKK, the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, energy, and Iran, and it would therefore stop the mutual misunderstandings that had strained relations since 1 March 2003.79 It was titled "A common

vision and structured dialogue in order to improve the strategic partnership between Turkey and the US."80 This was a historical development in the history of the bilateral relationship in the sense that relations were now based on mutually agreed values, not merely on strategic power calculations, and the sides were equal partners agreeing to understand each others' position on crucial issues.<sup>81</sup> Rice, accordingly, depicted the relations as "a powerful strategic relationship based on common values." Gül defined the document as "a large-frame agenda instead of an active action plan" and noted that it was prepared "in order to stage more effective cooperation in bilateral, regional and international issues, to put the issues into writing and consider them a reference point."82 The document reads:

We share the same values and ideals in the context of regional and global targets. These targets are developing democracy, freedom and welfare. For this reason, Turkey and the US are face to face with common tests and opportunities that require their common efforts. These tests and opportunities shape the elements of our common agenda based on consultation and cooperation.<sup>83</sup>

Moreover, in the face of increasing PKK attacks, the AK Party government tabled a motion in the parliament (just after the crisis in domestic politics over Gül's presidency was over) allowing military operations in northern Iraq

against the PKK militants, which had been carried out from the PKK's main base in the region after it was forced to leave Syria in 1998. The motion was passed with full opposition support on 17 October 2007.84 However, the parliament's decision was in practice inoperable without the permission of US, which held practical sovereign power after Saddam's fall. Therefore, Erdoğan paid a long-planned visit to Washington to explain the urgency of the problem to the Bush government in November 2007. President Bush appeared to recognise the urgency of the situation. In his speech, within which he used the phrase "strategic ally" for the first time after the 1 March 2003 crisis, he stated: "The PKK is a terrorist organisation. It is an enemy of Turkey, Iraq and the United States."85 He promised that the US would supply the Turkish forces with "real-time" intelligence on PKK bases and movements in Iraq. Thus, he gave a green light to Turkish operations in northern Iraq against the PKK militants. Accordingly, the Turkish air force conducted a series of targeted bombing raids on PKK bases in northern Iraq on 16 and 22-23 December 2007 and on 16 January 2008.86 Following that, a major land and air incursion on 21-29 February 2008 was conducted.87 With increasing US pressure, military operations came to an end. The military argued that the withdrawal decision had not been

taken under foreign pressures and the operation had fulfilled its objectives.<sup>88</sup>

On 8 January 2008, Gül, as the new president of Turkey, visited Washington. President Bush stated that Turkey was a strategic ally of the United States, and that cooperation between the United States and Turkey would continue against their common enemy, the PKK. Moreover, he expressed his country's support for Turkey's EU membership bid by saying that Turkey had shown that democracy and Islam co-exist and that "Turkey is a bridge between Europe and the Muslim World." Gül, on the other hand, said that he was pleased with cooperation against the PKK, and he argued that "[O]ur relations cannot merely be defined as relations between two countries; our relations contribute significantly to regional and global peace."89

The momentum in relations that came with Rice becoming secretary of state continued and developed further after Barack H. Obama was elected US president in November 2008. President Obama, in his speech to the Turkish parliament in April 2009, attempted to upgrade relations to a so-called "model partnership":

I would like to underline Turkey's importance. Turkey is viewed as a bridge between the West and the East. It has an extraordinarily rich heritage. It harbours ancient civilisations and modern nation-states together, gives importance to democracy and the rule of law, has a dynamic economy, is a NATO member and has a Muslim majority population. Regarding these features, it occupies a special position in world politics. It is an important actor in global and regional politics. As a result, we are excited to work together. Working together will lead to integration between the Muslim and the Western worlds, and will be the path towards peace and prosperity.

This can be achieved only when Turkey and the United States form a *model partnership*. A nation with a dominantly Christian population will meet another nation with a dominantly Muslim population, and this will unite the two continents. Even though we have a dominantly Christian population, we regard ourselves as a nation bound by ideals. Sustaining the promise of attachment to secularism and the rule of law, if we as the West and the East work together, will make an extraordinary impact in world politics [emphasis added].<sup>90</sup>

This new concept has reconfirmed Turkey's bid to be a "centre-state" by first of all underlying its Islamic identity; second, by locating it as a leader of the Muslim world; and third, by emphasising the universality of democratic values and of a democratic world order based on the plurality of civilisations. Relations then have been conceptualised as relations not between two nation-states but rather the two leading polities of two civilisations. This has underlined the fact that the sides might have different views on issues; this should be respected and divergences should be debated and resolved before they lead to a crisis. Moreover, it

envisioned diversification and expansion of bilateral relations between Turkey and the United States.<sup>91</sup>

In its endeavour to identify with the subject position "centre-state," Turkey has started to play a more active role in international institutions. For instance, Turkey was elected as a non-permanent member of UN Security Council (UNSC) for the 2009-2010 term in October 2008. After 47 years, Turkey had gained the right to sit on the UNSC. After the results were disclosed, Erdoğan made a statement:

The AK Party government has strived to revise Turkey's (subject) position vis-à-vis the global centre in the context of its search for a new subjectivity.

"Our country has shouldered an increasing responsibility in the realm of peace, security, and stability at regional and global levels. Turkey's election has been a result of its growing weight in international politics and the reflection of confidence the international society has for Turkey."<sup>92</sup>

Obama's Ankara visit came right after the so-called "Rasmussen crisis". The AK Party government changed its attitude after President Obama took the initiative in solving the crisis.<sup>93</sup> In December 2009, Obama and Erdoğan met in Washington. In the meeting President Obama praised the AK Party

government's "democratic initiative",94 whereas Erdoğan stated that Obama's description of Turkish-American relations "model partnership" as indicated the start of a new period in bilateral relations and pointed out that Turkey had started to take important steps to fill the content of this new "model partnership."95 In June 2010, Obama and Erdoğan met in Toronto at the G-20 Summit. This meeting came after Turkey's "no" vote on the US-led motion that extended sanctions on Iran in the UNSC.<sup>96</sup> In response, a high-level official in the US State Department made a statement that the US was disappointed by Turkey's decision but that they were still "strategic allies."97 In the June 2010 meeting, alongside Turkey's "no" vote to the sanctions, Turkish-Israeli relations were also on the table. Erdoğan stated that Turkey and the US were in agreement that Israel should apologise for those Turkish citizens who had died on the Gaza flotilla raid, pay reparation for their families, and end the embargo on Palestine.98 However, Israel denied taking steps on these issues and the US kept silent. The AK Party government has kept pressure on the US. In his meeting with Obama in September 2011, Erdoğan said that the US government "knew very well that we are right in our claims against Israel on this matter; therefore, they cannot tell us 'stop going after Israel.""99

#### Conclusion

The AK Party government has strived to revise Turkey's (subject) position visà-vis the global centre in the context of its search for a new subjectivity. This attempt to upgrade and redefine its bilateral relations has been opposed by the US until Condoleezza Rice became the new Secretary of State in 2006. After 2006, a new understanding has been reached and that gained momentum after Obama got elected US President in November 2008. Hence, despite there being many issues- such as the Israel-Palestine conflict and Iran's nuclear enrichment programme- on which Turkey and the US have different views, the level of relations has not fallen to that of the 1 March 2003 crisis.

In order for Turkey to sustain its new subject position at the global level, it has to lead economic, cultural and political integration in its region.

However, Turkey's new subject position, which locates Turkey both in the Western and Islamic civilisations, sits on a thin ice; it can be sustainable insofar as Turkey does not have to make a choice between the West and its own civilisational basin. The best scenario for Turkey is the lack of conflict between the West and the Muslim societies. In this respect, the Middle East and Israel are important given the US's unconditional support for Israel. In the crises between Israel and the Muslim societies, such as the Palestinians, Lebanon and Iran, the fragility of Turkey's new subject position is revealed. So far, Turkey has successfully coped with this situation by adopting the "legitimate" political language of international law and human rightsand by not lapsing into culturalist anti-Westernism- in confronting Israel and the West while siding with the Muslim societies. In addition, it has acted to alleviate the conflicts and return to normalcy through diplomacy. However, if the volume of conflict reaches a point transcending the limits of control through diplomatic channels and/or persists for a period of time, the equilibrium Turkey has established between the West and its own civilisational basin might entirely shatter. Avoiding such a situation is crucial for Turkey because it needs time to boost its military and technological capabilities in order to live up to the requirements of its "centre-state" subject position. At this point, Turkey's power capability is behind the level to keep reproducing the subject position "centrestate."

The state is supposed to establish parallel objectivities in its domestic, regional, and global political spaces to enjoy completeness and subjectivity. So,

in order for Turkey to sustain its new subject position at the global level, it has to lead economic, cultural and political integration in its region. The lucrative political atmosphere after the so-called "Arab Spring" has dramatically altered how that objective is served owing to the confrontation with the Assad regime in Syria. As long as it continues, the Syrian crisis will suck up Turkey's power and prestige and put off regional integration in the face of the reluctance of the "international society" to intervene in Syria. This might, as well, instigate Turkey's dependence on the West (NATO and the US) and undercut its search for a new subjectivity.

In order for Turkey to pose a "real" civilisational challenge, it also has to sustain an economic and cultural autonomy that involves fixing the global political space in such a manner anchored in its unique civilisational *Weltanschauung*.

Furthermore, the AK Party also needs to reproduce a parallel objectivity in the domestic political space in order to sustain its "centre-state" subject position in the international realm. This objectivity is the conservative-democratic "society," which claims to represent the metaphorical

totality of the Turkish society. Yet, the secular-nationalist opposition strives to transform Turkey's confrontation with the Assad regime into a new antagonism (around religious sectarianism)<sup>100</sup> in the domestic realm in order to recapture its lost hegemony, or at least block the expansion of the conservativedemocratic society. In addition, the Kurdish problem also dislocates the AK Party's conservative-democratic society, revealing its contingency by highlighting its partial character. If these dislocatory processes gain weight and the conservative hegemony enervates, Turkey will have trouble backing up its subject position at the global level. It may face a crisis of representation as a result if the objectivities do not correspond to each other.

And finally, from a post-structuralist perspective, Turkey's search for a new subjectivity and counter-hegemonic upsurge goes beyond interstate relations. The realm of international politics is merely one of the sectors in global political space, the global "social". Turkey's civilisational politics should also involve carving out alternative models of international political, economic and cultural life. For the time being, Turkey's challenge against the global centre is limited to the sector of international politics- achieving political autonomy vis-à-vis the global centre. In order for Turkey to pose a "real" civilisational challenge, it also has to sustain an economic and cultural autonomy that involves fixing the global political space in such a manner anchored in its unique civilisational Weltanschauung.

### Endnotes

- 1 "Davutoğlu: Turkiye, ABD'nin Ekonomik Ortağı da Olmak İstiyor", *Turkish Journal*, at http://www.turkishjournal.com/i.php?newsid=11479 [last visited 2 February 2012].
- 2 Alexander Wendt, "Collective Identity Formation and the International State", *American Political Science Review*, Vol. 88, No. 2 (June 1994), pp. 384-396.
- 3 See, Faruk Yalvaç, "Strategic Depth or Hegemonic Depth? A Critical Realist Analysis of Turkey's Position in the World System", *International Relations*, Vol. 26, No. 2 (June 2012), pp. 165-180.
- 4 See, Soner Çağaptay, "Is Turkey Leaving the West", at http://www.jukkarannila.fi/docs/ Turkki-arvio\_12.12.2010\_Is\_Turkey\_Leaving\_the\_West.pdf [last visited 27 November 2012]; Michael Rubin, "Turkey, From Ally to Enemy", at http://www.michaelrubin. org/7639/turkey-ally-enemy [last visited 27 November 2012].
- 5 See, Kerem Öktem, Ayşe Kadıoğlu and Mehmet Karlı (eds.), Another Empire? Decade of Turkey's Foreign Policy Under the Justice and Development Party, İstanbul, İstanbul Bilgi Üniversitesi Publishing, 2012.
- 6 For details of Turkey's new foreign policy doctrine, "strategic depth", see, Ahmet Davutoğlu, Stratejik Derinlik: Türkiye'nin Uluslararası Konumu, İstanbul: Küre Yayınları, 2001; Ahmet Davutoğlu, "Türkiye Merkez Ülke Olmalı", Radikal, 26 February, 2004.
- 7 See for example, Tarık Oğuzlu, "Middle Easternization of Turkey's Foreign Policy: Does Turkey Dissociate From the West?", *Turkish Studies*, Vol. 9, No. 1 (March 2008), pp. 3-20; İbrahim Kalın, "US-Turkey Relations Under Obama: Promise, Challenge and Opportunity in the 21st Century", *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, Vol. 12, No. 1 (March 2010), pp. 93-108; Ali Resul Usul and Mesut Özcan, "Understanding the "New" Turkish Foreign Policy: Changes Within Continuity, Is Turkey Departing From the West?", *USAK Yearbook of International Politics and Law*, No. 4 (2011), pp. 159-185.
- 8 For discussion of various "sociologies" and positions on the matrix of individualismstructuralism and materialism-idealism in IR, see, Alexander Wendt, *Social Theory of International Politics*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1999, pp. 23-29.
- 9 Jason Glynos and David Howarth, "Structure, Agency and Power in Political Analysis: Beyond Contextualised Self-Interpretations", *Political Studies Review*, Vol. 6, No. 2 (May 2008), pp. 161-162.
- 10 Ernesto Laclau and Chantal Mouffe, *Hegemony and Socialist Strategy*, New York and London, Verso, 1985, p. 115.
- 11 Ibid, p. 98.
- 12 See, Yannis Stavrakakis, Lacan and the Political, London and New York, Routledge, 1999.
- 13 Slavoj Zizek, "Beyond Discourse-Analysis", in Ernesto Laclau (ed.), *New Reflections on the Revolution of Our Time*, London, Verso, pp. 49-60.

.80

- 14 Ernesto Laclau, "New Reflections in the Revolution of Our Time", in Ernest Laclau (ed.), *New Reflections of the Revolution of Our Time*, p. 30.
- 15 David Campbell, "Poststructuralism", in Tim Dunne, Milja Kurki, and Steve Smith (eds.), International Relations Theory, Oxford and New York, Oxford University Press, 2010, p. 229.
- 16 Jenny Edkins, Nalini Persram and Veronique Pin-Fat, *Sovereignty and Subjectivity*, Colorado and London, Lynne Rienner Pub., 1999.
- 17 Richard Devetak, "Incomplete States: Theories and Practices of Statecraft", in John Macmillan and Andrew Linklater (eds.), *Boundaries in Question: New Directions in International Relations*, London and New York, Pinter Publishers, 1995, p. 20.
- 18 Richard K. Ashley, "Untying the Sovereign State: A Double Reading of Anarchy Problematique", *Millennium: Journal of International Studies*, Vol. 17, No. 2 (June 1988), pp. 227-262; R.B.J. Walker, *Inside/Outside: International Relations As Political Theory*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1993.
- 19 Devetak, "Incomplete States", p. 29.
- 20 See, David Campbell, *Writing Security: United States Foreign Policy and the Politics of Identity*, Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press, 1998.
- 21 Cynthia Weber, Simulating Sovereignty, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1995; Thomas J. Biersteker and Cynthia Weber (eds.), State Sovereignty as Social Construct, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- 22 For a similar argument, see, John W. Meyer, John Boli, George M. Thomas and Francisco O. Ramirez, "World Society and the Nation-State", *American Journal of Sociology*, Vol. 103, No. 1 (July 1997), pp. 144-181; Takis Fotopoulos, "The Global 'War' of the Transnational Elite", *Democracy & Nature*, Vol. 8, No. 2 (July 2002), pp. 201-240; William I. Robinson, "Gramsci and Globalisation: From Nation-State to Transnational Hegemony", *Critical Review of International Social and Political Philosophy*, Vol. 8, No. 4 (December 2005), pp. 559-574.
- 23 Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, "Açılış Konuşması", *Uluslararası Muhafazakârlık ve Demokrasi* Sempozyumu, Ankara, AK Parti Yayınları, 2004, p. 13.
- 24 "Erdoğan: Batı Artık Dünyanın Tek Merkezi Değildir", *Euronews*, at http://tr.euronews. com/2012/10/13/erdogan-bati-artik-dunyanin-tek-merkezi-degildir/ [last visited 3 November 2012].
- 25 The White House, "The National Security Strategy", at http://georgewbush-whitehouse. archives.gov/nsc/nss/2002/nss5.html [last visited 12 December 2012].
- 26 "Partnership for Progress and a Common Future with the Region of the Broader Middle East and North Africa", USA Today, at http://www.usatoday.com/news/world/sherpa.pdf [last visited 12 November 2012].
- 27 Cheryl Benard, *Civil Democratic Islam: Partners, Resources, and Strategies*, Santa Monica- CA, Arlington- VA, Pittsburgh- PA, RAND, 2003.

- 28 "Basbuğ: Ilımlı İslam Laik Değil", Radikal, 20 March 2004.
- 29 "Loğoğlu Reacts to Statement of Powell: Turkey is a Democratic and Secular Republic", *Anadolu Agency*, at http://www.hri.org/news/turkey/anadolu/2004/04-04-06.anadolu. html#23 [last visited 15 October 2012].
- 30 Baskın Oran (ed.), *Turkish Foreign Policy-1919-2006*, trans. Mustafa Akşin, Salt Lake City-UT, The University of Utah Press, 2010.
- 31 So it is completely different from the classical foreign policy discourse of Islamists in Turkey, see, İhsan D. Dağı, *Kimlik, Söylem ve Siyaset: Doğu-Batı Ayrımında Refah Partisi Geleneği*, Ankara, İmge Yayınevi, 1999.
- 32 Ahmet Davutoğlu, "Türkiye Merkez Ülke Olmalı".
- 33 On 11 December 2002, Erdoğan visited Washington and met George W. Bush to receive support for its "Islamic" government just before the EU's Copenhagen Summit of 2002. At the time he was banned from politics and therefore had no official title. But the Bush government treated him as if he was a prime minister. See, "Liderliğinizden Etkilendik", *Hürriyet*, 11 December 2002.
- 34 The crisis of representation refers to the situation of the lack of correspondence between the objectivities/identities in the domestic and international political. The non-correspondence prevents the emergence of an identity, or unity and completeness.
- 35 The Kemalist discourse also showed a sign of bifurcation between the Europhile Kemalists and the hardliners in the process of Turkey's democratic openings. See, Özlem Demirtaş Bagdonas, "The Clash of Kemalisms? Reflections on the Past and Present Politics of Kemalism in Turkish Political Discourse", *Turkish Studies*, Vol. 9, No. 1 (March 2008), pp. 99-114.
- 36 General Tuncer Kılınç, the Head of National Security Board in 2001, suggested in a symposium that Turkey had to look for an alternative to the EU, such as Iran and Russia. See, "Türkiye Yeni bir Arayışa Girmeli", *NTV-MSNBC*, at http://arsiv.ntvmsnbc.com/ news/139442.asp [last visited 23 December 2011].
- 37 İhsan D. Dağı, "Amerikan Karşıtlığı Neden?", Zaman, 23 February 2005.
- 38 "Dünya İstanbul'daki Tarihi Mitingi Konuşuyor", Milliyet, 30 April, 2007.
- 39 Aylin Güney, "Anti-Americanism in Turkey: Past and Present", *Middle Eastern Studies*, Vol. 44, No. 3 (May 2008), pp. 482-483.
- 40 "Türkiye'de ABD Karşıtlığı Artıyor", at http://haberpan.com/turkiyede-abd-karsitligiartiyor-haberi [last visited 8 May 2012].
- 41 For a classical example of this discourse, see, "Bahçeli: AK Parti Hükümeti Kullanılmak Isteniyor", *Radikal*, 8 December 2011.
- 42 For a typical example of this discourse, see, Kadri Gürsel, "Kayma Yok, Dağılma Var", *Milliyet*, 12 November 2009.

- 43 Dirk Nabers, "Filling the Void of Meaning: Identity Construction in U.S. Foreign Policy after September 11, 2001", *Foreign Policy Analysis*, Vol. 5, No. 2 (April 2009), pp. 191-214.
- 44 Murat Yetkin, "Üs Pazarlığının Perde Arkası", Radikal, 20 December 2012.
- 45 Ergun Özbudun and William Hale, *Islamism, Democracy and Liberalism in Turkey: The Case of the AKP*, London and New York, Routledge, 2010, p. 130.
- 46 "Türkiye'ye tehdit Kuzey Irak'tan", Sabah, 29 December 2002.
- 47 "MGK Ocak 2003 Toplantisi", at http://www.belgenet.com/mgk/mgk012003.html [last visited 14 May 2012].
- 48 "Yabancı Ülkelere Asker Gönderilmesi ve Yabancı Askerin Kabulü Konusundaki Izin Tezkeresi", at http://www.belgenet.com/yasa/izin\_250203.html [last visited 13 May 2012].
- 49 "Tüzmen: Barış Trenine Binmeli", Radikal, 11 January 2003.
- 50 "Irak'a İşbirliği Çağrısı", Radikal, 24 January 2003.
- 51 "ATA uçağının Taha Yasin Ramazan'ı Gizlice Türkiye'ye Getirmesi Gündeme Bomba Gibi Düştü", at http://www.habervitrini.com/haber/ata-ucaginin-taha-yasin-ramazani-gizlice-turkiyeye-getirmesi-gundeme-bomba-gibi-dustu--70640/ [last visited 20 December 2012].
- 52 "Gündem Tezkere", Hürriyet, 24 February 2003.
- 53 Özbudun and Hale, Islamism, Democracy and Liberalism in Turkey, p. 131.
- 54 Fikret Bila, "1 Mart Tezkeresiyle Ilgili Tartışma", Milliyet, 6 October 2007.
- 55 "Tezkere MGK'dan Sonraya Kaldı", Hürriyet, 28 February, 2003.
- 56 "Son Sözü Sezer Söyledi: MGK'dan Karar Beklemeyin", Milliyet, 1 March 2003.
- 57 "Arınç: Tezkere Reddedildi", Radikal, 1 March, 2003.
- 58 Özbudun and Hale, Islamism, Democracy and Liberalism in Turkey, p. 132.
- 59 "1 Mart Tezkeresinin Perde Arkası, Milliyet, 8 December 2010.
- 60 "Türkiye Afganistan'a Asker Gönderiyor", at http://bianet.org/bianet/bianet/5782-turkiyeafganistana-asker-gonderiyor [last visited 22 November 2012].
- 61 "Türk Birliği Afganistan'a Gidiyor", Hürriyet, 29 May 2001.
- 62 "1 Mart Tezkeresinin Perde Arkası", Milliyet, 8 December 2010.
- 63 "Türkler Ne Yaptı Dedin?", Vatan, 8 April 2004.
- 64 "ABD'nin 'Hata Yaptınız' Suçlamasına Hükümet ve Ordu Tepki Gösterdi", *Zaman*, 8 May 2003.
- 65 "Yabancı Ülkelere Asker Gönderilmesi ve Türk Hava Sahasının Yabancı Silahlı Kuvvetlerin Hava Unsurlarına Açılması Konusundaki Izin Tezkeresi", at http://www.belgenet.com/yasa/ izin\_190303.html [last visited 24 January 2013].

- 66 "İncirlik Yeniden Canlanıyor", Hürriyet, 20 June 2003.
- 67 "Irak'a Asker Gönderilmesi", at http://www.belgenet.com/yasa/izin\_061003.html (last visited 26 December 2012).
- 68 "Erdoğan: Askerlerimizin Bir Kısmı Serbest Bırakıldı", Hürriyet, 5 July 2003.
- 69 "Derhal Özür Dileyin", Hürriyet, 6 July 2003.
- 70 "Özkök: En Büyük Güven Bunalımı", Hürriyet, 7 July 2003.
- 71 "Çiçek: ABD, İkinci Yanlışı Yapmasın", Hürriyet, 8 July 2003.
- 72 "Pearson: Türk-Amerikan Görüşmeleri Olumlu", Hürriyet, 10 July 2003.
- 73 "Çuval Olayı, Tezkerenin Intikami", Haber5, 8 August 2008.
- 74 "ABD'den Felluce Tepkisi", Sabah, 30 November 2004.
- 75 "Türkiye Stratejik Ortak Mı?", Vatan, 12 June 2005.
- 76 Ibid.
- 77 "İncirlik Yeniden Canlanıyor", Hürriyet, 20 June 2003.
- 78 "Türkiye ve ABD 'Stratejik Ortak Vizyon'da Anlaştı" Haber Vitrini, at http://www. habervitrini.com/haber/turkiye-ve-abd-stratejik-ortak-vizyonda-anlasti-227815/ [last visited 28 May 2012].
- 79 Özdem Sanberk, "Türk-Amerikan Ortak Vizyon Belgesi", Radikal, 15 July 2006.
- 80 Ali H. Aslan, "Shared Vision Document' Period in US-Turkey Relations", *Today's Zaman*, 6 July 2006.
- 81 "ABD ile Yeni Stratejik Ortak Vizyon Belgesi Oluşturulacak", Hürriyet, 25 April 2006.
- 82 Aslan, "Shared Vision Document' Period in US-Turkey Relations".
- 83 Ibid.
- 84 "Tezkere Meclis'te Kabul Edildi", Sabah, 17 October 2007.
- 85 "Erdoğan-Bush Görüşmesi Sona Erdi", Sabah, 5 November 2007.
- 86 "Turk Iraq Raids 'Killed Hundreds", *BBC*, at http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/europe/7159940. stm [last visited 1 June 2012].
- 87 "Kara Harekati Başlatıldı", *CNN-TURK*, at http://www.cnnturk.com/2008/turkiye/02/22/ kara.harekati.baslatildi/430851.0/index.htm [last visited 1 June 2012].
- 88 "Turkey Withdraws Troops from Northern Iraq", *Reuters*, at http://www.reuters.com/ article/2008/02/29/us-turkey-iraq-idUSANK00037420080229 [last visited 1 June 2012].
- 89 "Bush-Gül Görüşmesi Gerçekleşti", CNN-TURK, at http://www.cnnturk.com/2008/ dunya/01/08/bush.gul.gorusmesi.gerceklesti/417536.0/index.html [last visited 3 June 2012].

183

- 90 Author's translation. "Obama'dan Türkiye'ye 'Model Ortaklık" (Obama Offers Turkey "Model Partnership"), *Euractive*, at http://www.euractiv.com.tr/3/article/obamadan-turkiyeye-model-ortaklik-005286 [last visited 3 June 2012].
- 91 "Davutoğlu: Türkiye, ABD'nin Ekonomik Ortağı da Olmak İstiyor", *Turkish Journal*, at http://www.turkishjournal.com/i.php?newsid=11479 [last visited 3 June 2012].
- 92 "Türkiye'nin Üyeliği Kabul Edildi", Hürriyet, 17 October 2008.
- 93 "NATO'da Rasmussen Krizi", Vatan, 4 April 2009.
- 94 See, "Sorularıyla ve Cevaplarıyla Demokratik Açılım Süreci", *AK Parti Tanıtım ve Medya Başkanlığı*, at http://www.akparti.org.tr/acilim220110.pdf [last visited 14 February 2013].
- 95 "Obama-Erdoğan Buluşmasından Mesajlar", *CNN-TURK*, at http://www.cnnturk. com/2009/dunya/12/07/obama.erdogan.bulusmasindan.mesajlar/554384.0/index.htm [last visited 5 June 2012].
- 96 "Türkiye "Hayır" Dedi", Sabah, 9 June 2010.
- 97 "Gordon: Türkiye Hala Stratejik Ortak", Yeni Şafak, 12 June 2010.
- 98 "Erdoğan: Obama ile Verimli bir Görüşme Yaptık" (We had a Fruitful Meeting with Obama), *TurkishNY*, 28 June, 2010. At http://www.turkishny.com/hot-news/50-hot-news/33410erdoan-obama-ile-verimli-gorumeler-yaptk (last visited 7 June 12).
- 99 "Erdoğan: Görüşme Olumlu Geçti", TRT Haber, at http://www.trt.net.tr/Haber/ HaberDetay.aspx?HaberKodu=785ea85c-3441-4dbc-9644-4594bf44b6b0 [last visited 7 June 2012].
- 100 See Ümit Özdağ, "Davutoğlu'nun Radikal Sünni Merkezli Ortadoğu Politikası", Internetajans, at http://www.internetajans.com/prof-dr-umit-ozdag/davutoglunun-radikalsunni-merkezli-orta-dogu-politikasi-kose-yazisi-3439y.html [last visited 28 November 2012]; "Kılıçdaroğlu: Savaşa Milletvekili Çocukları Gitsin", at http://www.kanalb.com/ haber.php?HaberNo=44715#.ULYe4eRFU00 [last visited 28 November 2012].

184

# Turkish Foreign Policy and the Kurdistan Regional Government

#### Marianna CHAROUNTAKI\*

#### Abstract

This paper examines the Kurdistan Region's increasing significance for regional politics, including its role in Turkish foreign policy. It also discusses Turkey's foreign policy towards the Kurdistan Regional Government (KRG) since its creation and describes the stages the relations Ankara and Erbil have undergone since the 1991 Gulf War. Four different phases of Turkey's foreign policy practice towards the KRG are pinpointed in this paper. Conclusions are also drawn concerning the KRG's increasing role in a possible transformed post-Assad political setting and what this means for the regional balance of power, especially if the Kurds of Syria succeed in achieving autonomy. Finally, the study's theoretical implications are also highlighted, considering its relevance in current international relations literature.

### Key Words

Turkish foreign policy, KRG, Kurds of Syria, PKK, Baghdad, Sunni-Shia divide.

### Introduction

This paper analyses Turkish foreign policy towards the Kurdistan Regional Government (KRG) and examines the overall importance of the Kurds of Iraq since the establishment of the first Kurdish de facto state entity in May 1992 in the aftermath of the Second Gulf War in 1991.1 A couple of decades earlier, no one could ever have imagined that we would be discussing Turkish foreign policy towards the Kurdistan Region or even a change in favour of the KRG, let alone the current transformation in the regional balance of power with the Arab Spring and the Syrian crisis which is currently in progress. The future and the role of Syria are highly important as they are key factors in the creation of the post-Assad environment in Syria, and subsequently the entire regional political setting. Considering the rise of sectarianism in the broader Middle Eastern region, it seems that future alliances will be framed by the Sunni-Shia discourse. Within this context, I will explain the growing importance of

<sup>\*</sup> Dr. Marianna Charountaki is a post-doctoral fellow at Reading University (UK). Her research interests range from international relations and foreign policy analysis to the international relations of the broader Middle East. She is the author of the book *The Kurds and US Foreign Policy: International Relations in the Middle East since 1945*, (London, Routledge, 2010).

Turkish relations with the Kurds of Iraq since the creation of the KRG in 1992.

The future and the role of Syria are highly important as they are key factors in the creation of the post-Assad environment in Syria, and subsequently the entire regional political setting.

The contribution of this research is not limited to its empirical findings through content analysis of reports and articles on similar subjects- as there are hardly any books addressing this case study- as well as newspapers and interviews with both Turkish and Kurdish political figures in both the Kurdistan Region and Turkey. Furthermore, the dearth of literature on relations between Turkey and the KRG is a very contemporary matter, and the subject's theoretical implications is also of great importance as it is situated within the broader puzzle of the interaction between state and non-state actors in international relations.

The main works on this particular topic that have been published so far concentrate on Turkish foreign policy towards northern Iraq seen through the prism of Turkey's Iraqi foreign policy perspective, Turkey's Kurdish perspectives,<sup>2</sup> or on Turkish-Iraqi relations in connection to the Kurds of Iraq.<sup>3</sup> Yet there are few up-to-date scholarly works on the bilateral relations between Turkey and KRG.<sup>4</sup>

Consequently, I will demonstrate the changes in this relationship, its regional effects as well as the influence of the KRG's and the PKK's (*Partiya Karkerên Kurdistanê*, the Kurdistan Workers Party) foreign policies on Turkey's foreign policy, and how these influences have formed the Turkish government's attitude towards the KRG in particular and the region in general. Finally, a theoretical reflection of the study's empirical findings will be also raised.

# The Genesis: The Origins of Turkish-KRG Relations

The formation of the KRG as the result of Iraqi withdrawal from the north on account of the "no-fly" zone that prevented Iraqi air forces from operating above the 36<sup>th</sup> parallel was an accidental outcome of the US, British, French and Turkish collective humanitarian plan to protect Iraq's Kurdish population. The US-backed UN Security Council (UNSC) Resolution 688 (5 April 1991) which called on Iraq to end the suppression of its Kurdish population, and Turgut Özal's support for the creation of the "Safe Haven" in April 1991 did not only aim at averting a second refugee crisis (following the "Anfal campaign" of 1988 and the Kurdish uprising of March 1991) on the Turkish and Iranian borders on the heels of Second Gulf War, but also to obtain US permission to operate in the north of Iraq and to pursue PKK rebels in exchange, a Turkish policy in place until today.<sup>5</sup>

Özal's Kurdish policy at that time aimed to restore Turkey's external relations as the way out of the country's isolated position and to increase Turkey's economic and cultural domination.

There is thus a certain irony in Turkish foreign policy having contributed to the renaissance of Iraq's Kurds through "Operation Provide Comfort" (renamed "Operation Poised Hammer" in 1997 and later "Operation Northern Watch"). The formation of the KRG not only sowed the seeds for the post-Saddam era, but also facilitated US plans for transforming the Middle East through the Greater Middle East Initiative in November 2003, and signalled the emergence of Iraq's Kurds as a regional equaliser in the democratic change which the Middle East is currently undergoing, especially since the KRG's empowerment after 2005.

This very first stage of Turkish-Kurdish relations, which came about as a result of Turkish support for the creation of the KRG in the early 1990s with the deployment of 100,000 troops along the Iraqi-Turkish border and the approval of the US's plans to attack Saddam from Turkey's İncirlik air base on 18 January 1991,6 along with the closure of the Kirkuk Yumurtalık pipeline between Turkey and Iraq on 8 August 1990, and the Turkish embargo on trade with Iraq reflect Turkish policies towards the Kurds of Iraq rather than towards the KRG as an entity, and hence were subsumed within Turkey's overall Iraqi policy.7

Likewise, Özal's Kurdish policy at that time aimed to restore Turkey's external relations as the way out of the country's isolated position and to increase Turkey's economic and cultural domination, which was founded on Özal's principle of "Turkism", which had the goal of preventing any negative impact on the agenda of Turkey's Kurds caused by Iraq's Kurdish claims, and on sustaining a strong US- Turkish partnership given the importance of Turkey's integration with the West, as well as to maintain the status quo for fear of the repercussions that potential regional imbalances might have on the Turkish economy and integrity. Turkish policies towards the Kurds of Iraq should also be examined within Özal's foreign policy objectives to control his country's borders with Iraq and to upgrade Turkey's regional role.<sup>8</sup> Thus Turkey's intervention in regional politics immediately after the Second Gulf War as a mediator in a search for a solution to Iraq's Kurdish refugee crisis resulted in the strengthening of the geostrategic importance of the state, which is at the crossroads of Asia, the Caucasus and Europe, especially in terms of US foreign policy in the post-Cold War system.

Thus the first phase of the relations between Turkey and the Kurds of Iraq has as its starting point Turkey's ad hoc policy of protecting the Kurdish north against Baghdad during the absence of a united Kurdish front in Iraq visà-vis inter and intra Kurdish conflicts that culminated in a four-year civil war between 1994 and 1998. This shows that we can hardly talk about a structured and institutionalised Turkish foreign policy towards the KRG, at least not until the unification agreement between the Kurdistan Democratic Party (KDP) and the Patriotic Union of Kurdistan (PUK) on 21 January 2006.

Ankara's determination through its unsuccessful reconciliation efforts in the "Ankara Process" in October 1996 to take on the role of the mediator in the KDP-PUK rivalry between May 1994-September 1998 over tax revenues, power, land and differing opinions as to the most effective policy to deal with Saddam, a process that ended in the "Washington Agreement" (17 September 1998) between Massoud Barzani and Jalal Talabani, further confirms this argument and also reveals "Ankara's fears that the PKK might have taken advantage of the vacuum of power".9 Similarly, Turkey's interest in maximising its regional influence and exerting control in the north, thereby endangering the political monopoly of the United States in the region and finally resolving Iraq's Kurdish issue for its own benefit, reveals the importance of the Kurdistan Region for Turkish foreign policy. This benefit could have been the annexation of the northern oil-rich regions of Iraq or a federation with the Turkmen and the Kurds in Iraq under Turkish auspices based on Özal's policy of "neo-Ottomanism".<sup>10</sup> Similarly, Turkey's first large attack against the PKK on 10 October 1992 was said to have been encouraged by "Saddam supplying the PKK with weapons" and by "the KDP and the PUK- Iraq's main Kurdish parties- fearing that Abdullah Öcalan intended to take control of the Kurdish Region in Iraq".11 However, this does not imply that all sides were not playing one against the other for the facilitation of their own foreign policy goals. Turkey's then policy towards Iraq's Kurds was identified by instant alliances in the same vein as prior to the 1990s when one Kurdish group was played

against the other, just as it was up to the end of the 1990s.

Indeed, Turkey's relations with KDP was encouraged by an alliance between Syria, Iran, the PUK and the PKK<sup>12</sup> against the KDP, which led to an Iraqi-KDP coalition (31 August 1996)<sup>13</sup> with a succession of Turkish operations, namely in 1992, 1995 and 14 May 1997 when Turkey stationed 50,000 troops in the north of Iraq against the Syrian-backed PKK.<sup>14</sup>

### The "PKK Factor" in Turkish Foreign Policy

Turkey's PKK confrontation policy, which has continued until the present time, demonstrates an unaltered Turkish strategy to eliminate the PKK's power on the one hand, and on the other to prevent the PKK from becoming a determining factor in the formulation of Turkish foreign policy, including its strategy towards the Kurds of Iraq, a position Turkey has held since the Özal era.

The emergence of the PKK from 1984 onwards as pivotal agent in the implementation of Turkey's Middle Eastern foreign policy was evident in the "Frontier Security and Cooperation Agreement" (February 1983) between Turkey and Iraq, which provided for operations against armed groups on

each other's territory as well as in a series of other agreements such as the "Border Security and Cooperation Agreement' (October 1984), and a "Security Protocol" between Ankara and Baghdad that allowed raids on the PKK encampments in northern Iraq. The capture of Abdullah Öcalan in Kenya, Nairobi, on 15 February 1999, directly after the "Washington Agreement" was agreed to, which was followed by Ankara's constant disregard of his plea from August 1999 onwards for a political solution to the Kurdish issue,<sup>15</sup> are indicative examples of the increasing importance that the PKK bears in Turkish politics in view of its growing strength in the aftermath of the Third Gulf War (2003) and its further empowerment since the eruption of the crisis in Syria.

Yet, the heart of Turkey's "PKK issue" today lies in the reluctance of the Turkish bureaucracy to find a political solution to the Kurdish issue unless the PKK lays down its arms, as well as the PKK's unwillingness to shift its policy from a militaristic approach towards the politicisation of its struggle unless constitutional guarantees are granted to the Kurds. In a statement regarding his commitment to a new round of talks with PKK, Turkish Prime Minister Recep Tayyip Erdoğan said "There is a military dimension, a security dimension which is separate and will continue... but beside this there is [also] a diplomatic, socio-economic and psychological dimension". Thus Ankara's Kurdish policy today appears trapped in a Catch-22 situation.<sup>16</sup>

Beyond any doubt, the AKP's (Adalet ve Kalkınma Partisi, the Justice and Development Party) rise to power in 2002 has opened a new page not only for Turkish politics but also for Ankara's Kurdish policies. The "Kurdish Initiative" in 2009 was followed by the Oslo talks the same year between the PKK and Turkey's National Intelligence Organisation (MIT, Milli Istihbarat Teskilatı) that "negotiated three protocols on how to settle the Kurdish cause in Turkey as well as the stages for a political solution" had a positive effect on the progress of Turkey's relations with the KRG, as will be discussed further.<sup>17</sup> Nonetheless, "the negotiations were cut suddenly during the 2011 June elections and the arrests of approximately 8,000 BDP [Partiya Aştî û Demokrasiyê, Peace and Democracy Party] members that followed" stifled any chance for a political solution henceforth.<sup>18</sup> The AKP seems to have a long way to go in its battle for Turkey's further reformation in view of the stalemate in current Kurdish-Turkish talks, and the institutionalisation of substantial changes still waiting to be fulfilled. Cross-border operations in Iraq and the government's intention to lift the immunity of nine BDP deputies

show the state's resistance to move on with the necessary structural changes so that a compromise can be achieved between both sides.<sup>19</sup> "Turkey's fears for a potential establishment of a *de facto* Kurdish state or the PKK's empowerment in the case of a settlement in Iraq's Kurdish cause"<sup>20</sup> has nowadays become an unambiguous reality, especially after the Turkish meddling in the Syrian crisis. Only when this is accepted can Ankara move forwards with the completion of its Europeanisation and democratisation processes.<sup>21</sup>

The Iraqi War in March 2003, following the 9/11 attacks, and the role of Iraq's Kurds as a strategic US ally for the implementation of the US policy of "regime change" in Baghdad, along with the KRG's stabilisation as a semiindependent state entity, found the Kurdish movement at large particularly active, while Turkey's policy on its own Kurdish issue appears connected to developments in the Kurdistan Region *vis-à-vis* the rising power of the KRG as influential regional actor.

### Turkey's Foreign Policy towards the KRG (2003-2007)

The aftermath of Saddam's overthrow marks the second stage in Ankara's relations with the KRG, a time identified by a deep crisis of confidence, the empowerment of the KRG, and the onset of its *de facto* independence that sowed the seeds for the third transformation of Turkey's relations with Iraq's Kurds into an official, direct and institutionalised relationship from 2008 onwards, unlike the occasional Turkish-KDP interactions of the past.

Turkey's refusal to ally with the United States; the "Sulaimaniya incident"22 on 4 July 2003, which has been described as the "worst crisis of confidence [between Turkey and the KRG]"23 by General Hilmi Özkök; Turkey's parliamentary approval on 17 October 2007 for a military strike against PKK rebels in Iraq (which took place on 2 December 2007); Kurdish demands for the "normalisation" of Kirkuk according to Article 140 (§2) via a referendum (initially planned for 15 November 2007); and later on Turkish threats on 27 April 2007 of a potential military intervention into the Kurdistan Region based on a so-called "midnight memorandum" not only reflected Turkey's domestic problems vis-à-vis the AKP's struggle to stabilise its power and control the country's military apparatus given an unsuccessful "electronic" coupamong other events- but also Ankara's fears of the further empowerment of the KRG in the event of the potential incorporation of the oil-rich region of Kirkuk immediately after the fall of Saddam and its desperate wish to keep the Kurdish issue in Turkey in check.

Indeed, a series of events that revealed the consolidation of the KRG's autonomous status and even further its independent foreign policy practice alarmed Ankara to the extent that Erdoğan declared in 2007 that;

> "I met with the Iraqi President and Prime Minister. I won't meet with any tribe leader... I won't meet with Barzani or someone else", and that the "KDP supports PKK".<sup>24</sup>

Turkish foreign policy's hostile attitude towards the KRG was stimulated by a US Congressional bill (FY2008, HR 1585, September 2007) that recognised Iraq's federal structure and the Kurdish region as legal entities, and the KRG's independent contracting of oil deals with foreign (including American) companies enshrined into its own Regional Petroleum Law, and ratified on 6 August 2007.

The discovery of new oil fields, such as Tawke, Taq-Taq, and the Barsarin-Sargelu-Alan-Mus (BSAM) reservoir, among others, have today extended the KRG's activities so that we can now speak of about 50 oil and gas contracts signed by the Kurdish government in addition to Baghdad's acceptance of settling oil payment disputes only recently with foreign companies working in the Kurdistan Region,<sup>25</sup> whereas the KRG's regional and international recognition- which does not necessarily pass through the UN- has been reflected in its constant interactions given the US president's first invitation to President Massoud Barzani on 25 October 2005, which are all indicators of the KRG's stable and independent regional role and Iraq's Kurds "self-existence" within international relations.<sup>26</sup>

# Turkey's Foreign Policy towards the KRG versus Baghdad: The Impact of Change

The year 2008 was a breakthrough and momentous time for Turkish-Kurdish relations given the Turkish government's official recognition of the KRG in deeds rather than in words.<sup>27</sup> Indeed, the first direct high level meeting (1/05/2008) between the KRG and Turkey was held in Baghdad on 1 May 2008, where KRG's Prime Minister Nechirvan Barzani and Turkey's Special Envoy for Iraq Murat Özçelik, together with then chief foreign policy adviser Ahmet Davutoğlu, decided to put aside their differences. Both sides discussed areas of cooperation in both economic and political fields, including an agreement to find a peaceful solution to the PKK issue.<sup>28</sup> Thereafter, the positive effect of Erdoğan's 2009 Kurdish Initiative on Turkish foreign policy towards the KRG was shown when Turkish Minister of Foreign Affairs Davutoğlu met with KRG President

Massoud Barzani on 31 October 2009 as well as in the first historic meeting of President Barzani with Turkey's prime minister on 4 June 2010. In turn, "PM Recep Tayyip Erdoğan became the first Turkish premier to visit [the Kurdistan Region]... [on March 2011] since Iraq was created"<sup>29</sup>; a series of regular visits then followed.<sup>30</sup>

Turkey, Iraq, the KRG, and the US also established a Trilateral Mechanism to develop cooperation with a view of eradicating the PKK in Iraqi territories.

"This change was not easy" and it took a while to happen as "Turkey might not have been ready to accept that Baghdad would not have full control of the area and was dealing only with Baghdad until 2003. Therefore there was no direct interaction [between Ankara and KRG] for a certain time". "At first, Turkey tried to deal directly with Baghdad through the establishment of consulates in Mosul and Basra [2008-2009]"31 and "the signing of 48 various agreements and MOUs (memoranda of understandings) in November 2009 pertaining to energy and other economic issues",32 as part of the effort to establish the High Level Strategic Cooperation Council in 2009, an initiative to expand further bilateral

relations. In 2008, Turkey, Iraq, the KRG, and the US also established a Trilateral Mechanism to develop cooperation with a view of eradicating the PKK in Iraqi territories.

A series of variables explain the shift in Turkish foreign policy in favour of the KRG which seems to override Turkish relations with Baghdad, especially after the US military withdrawal from Iraq in December 2011, which resulted in the fourth stage of their relationship.

### Turkey's Foreign Policy and the KRG Since 2008

The sectarian dispute in Baghdad between Shiite Iraqi Prime Minister Nouri Al-Maliki and the Sunni opposition from 2011 onwards has diminished Iraq's political role in the region while Al-Maliki's steady approach towards Tehran has probably made "Turkey realize that the Kurdistan Region is a safe place to deal with as part of Iraq because the people who control the borders in terms of trade and commerce were the Kurds" according to the head of the foreign relations of the KRG.<sup>33</sup> The intensification of the disputes between the central government and the KRG over varying issues including differences on how to run foreign policy,34 the management of the hydrocarbon resources in the north of the country,

and the legality of oil contracts awarded by the Kurdish government to major oil companies, such as ExxonMobil (confirmed in February 2012), Chevron, the English Gulf Keystone, Total of France, Gazprom of Russia, and Turkish Genel Energy, which Baghdad rejected as illegal, has brought Ankara closer to Erbil.35 In addition, "the doctrinal approach of Turkey's regional policy"36 based on a sectarian discourse vis-à-vis differences between Al-Maliki's Shiiteled government and Erdoğan's Sunni Islamic discourse remind us of the long lasting rivalry between the Ottoman and Safavids empires that seems to be coming to the forefront once again. Ankara's accusations that Al-Maliki monopolises power by suppressing Sunni Arabs and other groups while at the same time protecting Tariq Al-Hashemi, Iraq's Sunni vice president who was charged with terrorism in his own country on 19 November 2011, stands in comparison to Al-Maliki's allegations of Turkey's "hostile" regional policies and its direct interference in Iraqi affairs in view of Davutoğlu's official visit to Erbil and afterwards to Kirkuk on 1-2 August 2012 to discuss Syrian Kurdish affairs with Kurdish leaders, without prior notification to the Iraqi foreign minister, events which led to Devlet Bahceli (chair of Nationalist Movement Party) being denied a visa to visit Kirkuk by Baghdad.<sup>37</sup> All these developments

have brought Ankara closer to the KRG and point to the direction which Iraqi-Turkish relations are currently heading.

# The Role of the KRG in AKP's Foreign Policy Strategy

The current volatile political setting in the Middle East vis-à-vis the Arab Spring that has swept the Arab world and left few countries unaffected, including "the Kurdish issue which gave it a regional dimension because the Kurds are now collaborating more closely than before", <sup>38</sup> Turkey's policy of showing that it can play a key role in the formation of the post-Assad era through its meddling into the Syrian crisis and the worsening of Turkish-Iraqi relations from 2012 onwards counter to the exercise of KRG's de facto independence regarding various oil and gas contracts signed by the Kurdish government over Baghdad's objections not only raises the Kurdistan Region's importance as an energy hub for oil and gas imports to the Turkish markets, but also signifies Baghdad's gradual isolation, and the onset of a strategic partnership between the KRG and Ankara that runs in parallel with Turkey's Iraqi foreign policy.

Significant developments towards the strengthening of relations between Ankara and Erbil can be seen in the Turkish motto for "full social and economic integration with the KRG",<sup>39</sup> the Turkish request for Barzani's mediation for a peaceful solution to the Kurdish issue in Turkey during his visit to the US, which when combined with the Kurdish leader's meetings with Kurdish representatives from Syria who have recently gained control over Kurdish-populated cities along the Turkish border, as well as with leaders from the main Syrian opposition group (the Syrian National Council, the SNC, on 30 July 2012), plus the recent oil and gas pipeline deals signed in May 2012 between Ankara and the KRG have led to a direct exchange with Turkey for the first time with the aim to build a dedicated oil pipeline with the capacity to transmit 1 million barrels per day (bpd) of oil between KRG and Turkey by August 2013, along with an expansion of the existing Kirkuk-Ceyhan pipeline shipping crude oil from Basra by 2014.

Indeed, the Kurdistan Region is a major market for Turkish exports.<sup>40</sup> According to the Turkish Consul General in Erbil,

There are about five Turkish banks, 17 Turkish schools, 600 Turkish construction companies, [and] 17,000 Turkish citizens permanent residents in Erbil, direct flights are also operating daily between the KR and Turkey, a fact which has boosted tourism while the overall trade volume between Turkey and Iraq is about US\$12 billion, while more than 70% is with the KRG, let alone that more than half of the foreign companies registered in the KR are Turkish. Turkey enjoys massive economic benefits from a closer economic cooperation with the KRG whose current budget approaches US\$13 billion.<sup>41</sup>

The Turkish rapprochement with the KRG should be also examined within the scope of the AKP's governance. Davutoğlu's "Strategic Depth" doctrine that he developed in 2001 as regards the Turkish role in the Middle East is primarily based on Turkey's strategic interests in peace, stability, security, and prosperity in its neighbourhood, applied through tools of soft power, such as the economy. Undoubtedly, Turkey's influence has grown in the Middle East under the AKP's rule. Ankara's "Strategic Depth" policy "requires [Turkey] to engage with the countries with which [it] share[s] a common past and geography in a way that will promote... shared interests and create a mutually beneficial framework for cooperation and dialogue".<sup>42</sup> The strengthening of the economic ties between Ankara and the KRG has given rise to Turkish investments of about US \$16 billion dollars in the Kurdistan Region. The opening of the Turkish Consulate in Erbil in 2010, Ankara's realisation of the economic opportunities that a prosperous Kurdistan Region can offer, together with the role the KRG can play in the Kurdish issues of Turkey and Syria, is revealing of the importance of the KRG as a strategic regional player.

"Turkey realized that in order to have good relations with Baghdad you need

to have good relations with KRG. But having good relations with Baghdad does not necessarily mean that you have good relations with the KRG and Turkey has understood the importance of the KR being politically and economically strong", argues Falah Mustafa.43 The KRG's stability, given its oil wealth and the increased foreign investment, against the power struggle between Shia and Sunni Arab political factions in Baghdad, and ultimately the AKP's realisation that the KRG's foreign policy needs to be considered in the coming regional changes in which Ankara is heavily involved, including the need of KRG's cooperation in various regional crises, explain the expansion of the Turkish-KRG security and diplomatic relations and the interaction of strategic and economic interests.44

Davutoğlu's "Strategic Depth" doctrine that he developed in 2001 as regards the Turkish role in the Middle East is primarily based on Turkey's strategic stability, peace, interests in and prosperity in security, neighbourhood, applied its through tools of soft power.

Thus, Turkey's close cooperation with the KRG appears important as its

foreign policy seems to have been left with not many options, especially after its involvement in the Syrian crisis. The failure of Davutoğlu's "zero problems with the neighbours" policy, which aimed at "the transformation of our neighborhood, into a friendship and cooperation basin"45- a traditional goal of Turkish foreign policy- and a desire for an independent foreign policy detached from the US juggernaut given its split with regional strategic allies, i.e. Israel and Iran, as well as with Syria, has raised the Kurdish factor as a guarantor of the regional balance of power considering the Kurdish leadership's close cooperation with the rest of the Kurdish movements.<sup>46</sup>

The AKP's foreign policy that has favoured Erbil at the expense of Baghdad, combined with the latter's fear for the future of the country's oilrich disputed areas in a post-Assad settlement, is evident in the July 2011 Iraq's announcement of Defence Ministry of the formation of the Tigris Operational Command to be in charge of security issues in the Diyala, Kirkuk and Salahaddin governorates, which include most of the disputed areas.<sup>47</sup> Baghdad's worries were also highly reflected in the incident of the deployment of the Iraqi army forces on 23 July 2012 at the Rabia border between Syria and Iraq. On its side, KRG officials have also understood Turkey's importance "as protector of the region and a partner country (we) share

the same border with that constitutes the best bridge to build a mutually beneficiary relationship [through which] we can reach Europe *vis-à-vis* the current problematic status in Iran and Syria".<sup>48</sup>

Considering that Ankara's internal politics and its meddling in any regional crisis as part of its foreign policy has left the country with few substantial regional allies, there is a need for a Kurdish policy that runs in parallel with Turkey's Iraqi policy.

Currently, the settlement of Kirkuk's status and the PKK's resorting to violence are considered the chief sticking points in the development of "solid, robust and sincere KRG-Turkish relations" as described by the Turkish Consul General in Erbil.<sup>49</sup> Yet both sides have agreed to cooperate and "Turkey has understood that the KRG does not facilitate the PKK in the border-controlled areas".50 However, there are still voices in the Turkish opposition claiming that "the KRG does not do its utmost toward the eradication of the PKK"51 and that "the Kirkuk question with its Turkmen population are elements that can be factors of close ties or division".<sup>52</sup>

Turkey's foreign policy today has to deal with both internal and external open fronts. Internally, incidents such as CHP (Cumhuriyet Halk Partisi, the Republican People's Party) Deputy Mahmut Tanal's criminal complaint to the top prosecutor's office to close the AKP and open proceedings against the prime minister for interfering in the judiciary,53 and Metropoll's survey showing that 60% of Turkish citizens support Abdullah Gül's candidacy for the presidency and that 51% favour Gül compared to the 23% who prefer Erdoğan reveal domestic tensions and the struggle Erdoğan faces to maintain his power.<sup>54</sup> Also, the Syrian crisis has definitely created a vacuum of power that the PKK is currently filling. This means that any political settlement of the Kurdish issue in Turkey as a regulatory factor of Kurdish politics in Syria would be for the benefit of Turkish politics. The AKP's Kurdish Initiative in 2009, which constituted the basis of the Kurdish-Turkish dialogue, appears the only green light at the moment that could end the long period of Kurdish waiting.55 Only then could Turkey's foreign policy dogma of "peace at home, peace in the world" be achieved. "The idea that Kurdish unity has grown in the region and that President Barzani seeks to lead this process" is general among Turkish political circles. According to CHP's Deputy Chairman, "This tells us

that Turkey should take quicker steps and more consistent ones to resolve its Kurdish issue through democratic means [even though] a perfect solution that meets the needs of all sides does not exist".<sup>56</sup>

Considering that Ankara's internal politics and its meddling in any regional crisis as part of its foreign policy has left the country with few substantial regional allies, there is a need for a Kurdish policy that runs in parallel with Turkey's Iraqi policy. The Kurdistan Region is a bordering neighbour and thus important for Turkish security interests that require a stable Kurdish north for Ankara's economic progress, which is the main instrument of its soft power foreign policy, while the Kurdistan Region's increasing role in a transformed post-Assad political setting could potentially raise the KRG to the status of the only stable Sunni neighbouring ally for Ankara against Iran, Iraq and Syria, especially if the Kurds of Syria succeed in achieving autonomy and thus expand to the Mediterranean Sea.57

## Turkish-KRG Bilateral Relations in the Context of Regional Conflicts: Towards a Theoretical Framework

Turkish relations with the KRG were initiated at the beginning of the

post-Cold War period. The Turkish contribution to the creation of the first Kurdish de facto state entity as the first stage of the Turkish-Kurdish interactions were primarily ad hoc policies towards the Kurds of Iraq in the form of humanitarian aid rather than a structured Turkish policy towards the KRG as an entity. This was the case not only because of the lack of a united Kurdish front in Iraq given the inter and intra Kurdish conflicts, but also due to the intention of Turkish foreign policy to control the north of Iraq, to avert any major refugee crisis on the Iraqi-Turkish borders, to stifle Turkey's Kurdish movement's aspirations given the long-lasting struggle of the Kurds in Iraq for self-determination, and finally to find an opportunity to combat PKK rebels by exerting control in the north. In addition, Ankara's objectives favoured Iraq's territorial integrity and stability. Therefore Turkey's policy towards the Kurds of Iraq was subjugated to its Iraqi foreign policy, rather than being allowed to develop relations of mutual respect and interest with the KRG.

Davutoğlu's new and more open foreign policy facilitated this reorientation and resulted in the recognition of the KRG as a federal unit in Iraq.

The Turkish stance towards the Kurdistan Region remained unaltered throughout the 1990s. Turkey's intervention in solving Iraq's Kurdish crisis in 1998 shows its determination to take on a leading role in regional politics as is the case today, thereby preventing the PKK from taking advantage of a potential power vacuum and keeping at the same time both Iraq's Kurdish issue and its own Kurdish problem in check. Opportunistic alliances with the KDP against other Kurdish groups further explain Turkey's policy towards the Kurds of Iraq at that time.

The AKP's rise to power in 2002 and the consolidation of the Kurdish autonomous status in Iraq as an indispensable US ally- regardless of its non-state status- in its Iraqi policy of "regime change" altered the regional balance of power in the aftermath of the 2003 Iraqi War. The Iraqi War, the official recognition of the KRG in the 2005 Iraqi constitution, and the 2006 unification of the Kurds after the internal conflicts of the past obliged Turkish foreign policy to deal with the KRG as a stable and considerable regional player. Davutoğlu's new and more open foreign policy facilitated this re-orientation and resulted in the recognition of the KRG as a federal unit in Iraq. AKP's invitation to President Barzani to attend its fourth convention on 30 September 2012 is illuminating.

Initially though, Erdoğan's struggle to control the military and maintain his domestic power, together with an instant freeze in US-Turkish relations following the war, eroded relations between Ankara and Erbil. The increasing stabilisation of the KRG and the development of an independent foreign policy did not only raise fears on the Turkish side but also worsened relations to the extent that Turkey threatened the KRG with an intervention in 2007 following Kurdish claims for the settlement of the status of Kirkuk as provisioned by the Iraqi constitution. This second phase of Turkish foreign policy towards the KRG from 2003 to 2007, this time as a solid entity, was marked by Ankara's reluctance to recognise the new status of federal Iraq, and the Kurds were perceived as source of regional instability.

At the beginning of 2012, the US withdrawal from Iraq saw the expansion of relations between Turkey and the KRG into a strategic alliance as the fourth shift of their relations.

From 2008 to 2011, Turkey's relations with the KRG underwent a third rapid transformation. The traditional Turkish foreign policy goal of expanding its political influence regionally through the use of soft power as dictated by the country's economic interests opened up lines of communication which resulted in an official, direct and institutionalised relationship between Ankara and the KRG from 2008 onwards. Even more, this transformation into an interaction with political and economic dimensions as the third phase of their relations was extended dramatically in the aftermath of the US withdrawal from Iraq in December 2011.

At the beginning of 2012, the US withdrawal from Iraq saw the expansion of relations between Turkey and the KRG into a strategic alliance as the fourth shift of their relations.

There was a marked change in Erdoğan's discourse from his 2007 statement that "I met with the Iraqi President and Prime Minister. I won't meet with any tribe leader... I won't meet with Barzani or someone else"<sup>58</sup> versus his 2010 speech expressing his determination "That [we] will build a very solid bridge in bilateral relations between Iraq and Turkey and between the Kurdistan Region and Turkey especially. We [Erdoğan and Barzani] will be in touch. The two countries also engage in economic cooperation. We will act together on energy and infrastructure". This change is an example of the transformations that the regional political pattern is currently undergoing.59

Turkey's steps to build relations with the KRG were not only the result of the KRG's increasing power as a strategic US ally and that it is an oil-rich region. Turkey's realisation that Baghdad would not have full control of the KRG, the importance for Kurdish foreign policy of having a stable neighbouring country and for a link to Europe, combined with America's interest in encouraging the KRG to "continue improving its relationship and coordination with Turkey" as well as with Baghdad so that "Iraq can take its rightful place as a major oil-producing country"60 for the preservation of the regional status quo are among the factors that explain the Turkish-Kurdish rapprochement. The role of Iraq's Kurdish leadership in the negotiations for the political resolution of the Kurdish issue in both Syria and Turkey, not to mention its mediation in alleviating the PKK-Turkish conflict, combined with Erdoğan's preference for a Sunni leadership against Tehran and Syria, can all effectively explicate Turkish foreign policy's positive reorientation towards the KRG while showing its importance for Turkish politics.

Most importantly, Turkey's large energy demands and its need for the KRG's oil reserves; the failure of Davutoğlu's 'Strategic Depth' doctrine for an independent foreign policy with zero problems with the neighbours; the ambivalent political climate in Baghdad and the American interest in keeping Ankara and Erbil together as potential allies, apart from Israel, against a Shia axis given the undefined formation of the power relations in a post-Assad era constitute a series of considerable determinants that further show the implications of Turkish relations with the KRG on the regional balance of power.

The KRG is no longer a problem for Ankara and it is now a valuable regional ally in the upcoming transformed regional political setting.

What is noticeable today is the rise of a Turkish policy in favour of the KRG quite independent from Ankara's Iraqi policy. Undoubtedly, the KRG is no longer a problem for Ankara and it is now a valuable regional ally in the upcoming transformed regional political setting. Yet, the stability of Turkey's relations with the KRG will also be determined by a series of factors such as Turkey's internal balance of power; the public's acceptance of this relationship; the role of the KRG as a mediator in the PKK issue; the actual political resolution of Turkey's own Kurdish issue within a certain period of time; and finally whether a potential amelioration in the relations between Baghdad and Ankara

Turkish Foreign Policy and the KRG

might prove inversely proportional to the Turkish-Kurdish relationship.<sup>61</sup>

Traditionally, Turkey has wanted to maintain its regional power and further maximise its regional influence. Ankara seems to have realised that stable relations with the KRG are in its benefit, devoid of the taboos of the past when the Kurdistan Region was perceived as source of instability. Besides that, Erdoğan's decision to meddle in the Syrian crisis has further fired up the Kurdish issue in a sense that a potential overthrow of Assad could empower the Kurdish movement overall, strengthen the Sunni

front in the Middle East, and weaken Tehran's regime. Such developments in combination with Turkey's deteriorating relations with most

of the regional state powers make the Kurdistan Region politically and economically important for Turkey, so a strategic alliance with KRG appears imperative since the road to Baghdad seems to pass through there. Thus, the PKK's strengthening after the outbreak of the Syrian crisis, the rise of the KRG's importance as a stable regional ally, the American interest in keeping the regional *status quo* in its favour, Turkey's hostile relations with Israel and Syria as well as its antagonistic relations with Iran, the rising of the Kurds and the institutionalisation of their status are key factors in Turkish and US foreign policies against a Shia-led coalition in the region.

Finally, the interaction between Turkey and the KRG also has a theoretical dimension. Inadequate attention by the international relations discipline to the interaction between states and newly emergent non-state actors adds a conceptual reason for addressing this particular case study. This interaction clearly shows that non-state actors have an increasingly important and direct

Foreign policy no longer seems

to be among a state's privileges

as the very concept of power has

been expanded.

role in international relations (and not just on states' foreign policies), as seen by the impact of the KRG's foreign policy practices on this

interaction, but also on regional politics within the KRG's operations with state entities on regional and international levels since 1992.<sup>62</sup> Thus, foreign policy no longer seems to be among a state's privileges as the very concept of power has been expanded. The same can be also argued about non-state groups such as the PKK.

On this basis, I would argue that current theories are unable to explain the subject of this paper given their unilateral overemphasis either on the role of structural factors or on international actors, such as the states, at the expense of non-state actors in interpreting the function of the international system, and subsequently there is a satisfy scholarly demand for a coherent theory that takes into account not only the role of structures and agents in the formation of the foreign policy decisions, but also for a theory that elevates the relations between state and non-state actors in international relations.<sup>63</sup>

Whereas most international relations theories have been useful in explaining specific international phenomena and offering solutions to various problems that arose during the era of their emergence, their main inadequacy is the lack of consideration of the interaction between state and non-state actors as they argue in favour of the superiority of states while ignoring the dramatic role that non-state actors can play.<sup>64</sup> For instance, realists and liberals focus on state actors. the effect of the structures and national interests, while constructivists emphasise the role of ideas and how actors, in particular states, affect and are affected by the structures. Likewise, even though neoclassical realism can explain the interaction between the internal and the external that is seen in foreign policy making, still it is confined to state actors following the tradition of the earlier realist schools of thought.65 Similarly, both liberals, who overemphasise the role of non-state actors but are still limited to transnational corporations and international institutions of an economic nature, and neo-liberals appear to be restricted to structural explanations of the states' policies.

### Conclusion

Thus the existing paradigms cannot provide adequate explanatory an since framework the constitutive element of such frameworks is the state. They have also fallen into the same trap of either being constrained by particular premises and thus applying their ideas everywhere regardless of context, time or space and confining themselves to endless critiques.66 Indeed, critical theories and meta-theories have posed important challenges to mainstream international relations, but the often excessive zeal for contradicting orthodoxy and structural and state-centric explanations, meant they failed to transform International Relations into a coherent and applicable theory.67

On the other hand, while the literature on non-state actors has increased considerably in the past decade, most of it seems focused on accounts of their status rather than on their relations. Neither current literature nor the main schools of thought within the international relations seem to go far enough to be able to cover relations between states (such as, for instance, Turkey and nonstate actors such as the KRG or PKK) either empirically or theoretically. If and when they do so, their focus is confined to the role played by non-state actors and specifically to their increasing importance international relations, according in to scholarly narratives of their status and perspectives.<sup>68</sup> Thus, international relations remains constrained by the way they focus either on one or another agency, rather than viewing such interactions as a two-way process.<sup>69</sup> Thus far, the analyses of the interplay between state and non-state actors that exist today have either remained at a general level or have limited themselves to how states perceive and behave towards nonstate actors, or occasionally the other way around.70

I have therefore raised the need for a more general analysis instigated by the subject matter under scrutiny and to this end suggested a model that conceives of international relations as a complex field of multidimensional interrelations between and among actors at the local, sub-state, trans-state, state, regional and global spheres. In particular, it draws attention to the role-both direct and indirect-that is played by non-state

actors, though without a priori favouring either type of actor. The model also recognises the interactive importance of the material and the ideational in the mutual shaping of structures and agents in this multidimensional interactive set of dynamics. In my theoretical "map", then, I have used a conceptual "model", which could be further elaborated in detail in another paper that views international relations as "multidimensional interrelations", takes into account the triptych of IR, foreign policy and politics as parts of a unified whole, and stresses the need for international relations to move away from mere inter-state explanations whereas the role of structures (whether ideational or material) is central to the interplay between state and non-state entities (other than the economic actors overemphasised by the current literature) that are pursuing their own interests.71

The article has demonstrated thus on the one hand the impact that nonstate actors, such as the KRG, have on Turkey's foreign policy, and on the other, showed that states' foreign policy can also be affected by, and interacts with, non-state entities.

203

### Endnotes

- 1 In this article, the Iran–Iraq War (1980–88) is referred to as the First Gulf War; Saddam's invasion of Kuwait (1990–1991) is called the Second Gulf War; while the US invasion of Iraq (2003) is referred to as the Third Gulf War.
- 2 Mahmut Bali Aykan, "Turkey's Policy in Northern Iraq, 1991-95", *Middle Eastern Studies*, Vol. 32, No. 4 (October 1996), pp. 343-366. Turkey's Kurdish perspectives could be found in, Bill Park, "Turkey's Policy Towards Northern Iraq: Problems and Perspectives", *Adelphi Paper 374*, London, Routledge, International Institute for Strategic Studies, May 2005.
- 3 Philip Robins, "The Overlord State: Turkish Policy and the Kurdish Issue", International Affairs, Vol. 69, No. 4 (October 1993), pp. 657-676; Mesut Özcan, "Turkish Foreign Policy Towards Iraq in 2009", Perceptions: Journal of International Affairs, Vo. 14, No. 3-4 (Autumn-Winter 2010), pp. 113-132; Henri J. Barkey, Turkey and Iraq: The Perils (and Prospects) of Proximity, Special Report of the Iraq and its Neighbours Series, USIP, July 2005, at http:// www.usip.org/files/resources/sr141.pdf [last visited 12 February 2013].
- 4 The US perspective on Ankara-Erbil relations focused mainly on its economic dimension, which supports this paper's argument for the positive shift in Turkey's political attitude towards the KRG, has been recently completed by, Matthew J. Bryza, "Turkey's Dramatic Shift toward Iraqi Kurdistan: Politics before Peace Pipelines", *Turkish Policy Quarterly*, Vol. 11, No.2 (September 2012), pp. 53-61.
- 5 See, Marianna Charountaki, *The Kurds and US Foreign Policy: International Relations in the Middle East since 1945*, London, Routledge, 2010, p. 169.
- 6 Stephen F. Larrabee, "Turkey Rediscovers the Middle East", *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 86, No. 4 (July-August 2007), p. 104.
- 7 Charountaki, The Kurds and US Foreign Policy, p. 175.
- 8 Sedat Laçiner, "Turgut Özal Period in Turkish Foreign Policy: Özalism", at www. turkishweekly.net/article/333/turgut-ozal-period-in-turkish-foreign-policy-ozalism.html [last visited 22 January 2013]. Also see, Alan Makovsky, "The New Activism in Turkish Foreign Policy", *SAIS Review*, at http://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/ the-new-activism-in-turkish-foreign-policy, [last visited March 2013].
- 9 Interview by the researcher with CHP MP and head of CHP's Foreign Relations Osman Taney Korutürk, Istanbul, 29 April 2012.
- 10 Laçiner, "Turgut Özal Period in Turkish Foreign Policy".
- 11 Interview by the researcher with Special Envoy of Massoud Barzani Mohsin Dizayee, Salahaddin, 13 June 2007 in, Charountaki, *The Kurds and US Foreign Policy*, p. 178.
- 12 Najm Jarrah, "Iraqi Kurdistan: Peace Talks Fail", *Middle East International*, No. 509 (22 September 1995), p.8.

- 13 Lokman I. Meho and Michel Nehme, *The Kurdish Question in US Foreign Policy: A Documentary Sourcebook*, Westport, Conn., Praeger, 2004, p. 6.
- 14 Kerim Yildiz, The Kurds in Iraq: Past, Present and Future, London, Pluto Press, 2004, p. 80.
- 15 Declaration by Abdullah Öcalan, Imrali, Voice of Kurdistan- Magazine of the National Liberation Front of Kurdistan, 2 August 1999, p. 5.
- 16 "Turkish PM Signals Talks with PKK Possible", Hürriyet, 27 September 2012.
- 17 Interview by the researcher with Ahmed Deniz, Koma Civaken Kurdistan (Kurdistan Communities Union) Spokesman and Chief of Foreign Affairs, Qandil, 8 September 2012.
- 18 Ibid.
- 19 "Cross-border mandate in Parliament", Hürriyet, 1 October 2012.
- 20 The Turks feared that the Washington agreement represented the first step toward the establishment of an independent Kurdish state and would provide the PKK with the opportunity to become more active in Iraq, with more opportunities to penetrate into Turkey, in Mahmut Bali Aykan, "The Turkish–Syrian Crisis of October 1998: A Turkish View", *Middle East Policy*, Vol. 6, No. 4 (June 1999), p. 180.
- 21 See Marianna Charountaki, "The Kurdish Factor in Turkish Politics: Impediment or Facilitator to Turkey's European prospects?", in Almes Heshmati, Alan Dilani and Serman Baban (eds.), *Perspectives on Kurdistan's Economy and Society in Transition*, Nova Science Publishers, New York, 2012.
- 22 According to the Washington Times, "US forces caught eleven Turkish commandos and nineteen members of the Iraq Turkmen Front who were said to have attempted to assassinate Kirkuk's governor". See, "The US had Substantial Intelligence that the Turks Were in Activity Against the Local Leadership", *Washington Times*, 8 July 2003.
- 23 Nicholas Burns, "Detention Strains Already Tense US–Turkish Relations", *Christian Science Monitor*, 15 July 2003.
- 24 "Recep Tayyip Erdoğan: PM Barzani is a Tribe Leader, Supports PKK", *Hürriyet*, 6 August 2007.
- 25 John Lee, "KRG Expects Baghdad Oil Payment Next Week", *Iraq Business News*, 24 September 2012.
- 26 See, Charountaki, The Kurds and US Foreign Policy, p.234.
- 27 During the Fourth Congress of the ruling AKP (Ankara, 30 September 2012), Erdoğan's address to the KRG and the President of the KRG was a vague call to "his Kurdish brothers".
- 28 "Scenesetter for Nechirvan Barzani's Visit" at http://wikileaks.org/ cable/2008/05/08BAGHDAD1526.html [last visited October 2012]; "Turkish Delegation Meets Iraqi President, Kurdistan PM" at http://www.ekurd.net/mismas/articles/ misc2008/5/government1389.htm [last visited March 2013].

205

- 29 Interview by the researcher with Consul General of the Republic of Turkey Aydın Selcen, Erbil, May 2012.
- 30 For instance, President Barzani was received by Erdoğan on 19 April 2012, and by President Abdullah Gül and Minister of Foreign Affairs Ahmet Davutoğlu on 20 April 2012, during a two-day official visit to Turkey to hold talks on bilateral relations and regional developments. After that, Prime Minister Nechirvan Barzani also met with the Turkish Minister of Foreign Affairs on 4 June 2012 on the occasion of his participation in the International Economic Forum.
- 31 Interview by the researcher with Head of Foreign Relations in the Kurdistan Regional Government in Iraq Falah Mustafa Bakir, Erbil, May 2012.
- 32 Interview with Aydin Selcen.
- 33 Interview with Falah Mustafa.
- 34 "Baghdad's current policy is rather centralized, and reflects only Maliki's policy. For instance, we want Iraq to have a neutral policy towards Syria and Turkey", Interview by the researcher with Head of Foreign Relations at Kurdistan Democratic Party Hemen Hawrami, Erbil, 6 September 2012.
- 35 Iraq's Deputy Prime Minister Hussein al Shahristani stated that oil contracts signed by the KRG had to be rewritten in "Shahristani Retains Hard Line on KRG Oil Contracts", *Iraq Business News*, 12 October 2011.
- 36 Interview with Ahmed Deniz.
- 37 "Iraq Denies Visa Request for Turkish Opposition Leader's Kirkuk Visit", *Today's Zaman*, 15 August 2012.
- 38 Interview by the researcher with Member of the Foreign Relations Committee of the Turkish Grand National Assembly (TBMM) and Deputy Chairman of the CHP Dr. Osman Faruk Loğoğlu, Istanbul, 29 April 2012.
- 39 Interview with Aydın Selcen.
- 40 KR imported around US \$5.5 billion worth of goods from Turkey in 2011, making the province Turkey's eighth-biggest export destination in Khouri Al Riad, "Kurds and Turks: Business as usual- For Now", *Haaretz*, 29 July 2012.
- 41 Interview with Aydın Selcen.
- 42 Interview with Ahmet Davutoğlu, AUC Cairo Review, Egypt, 12 March 2012.
- 43 Interview with Falah Mustafa Bakir.
- 44 Interview with Aydin Selcen.
- 45 Interview with Ahmet Davutoğlu.
- 46 "I say that this policy has failed... as a policy it is not new... the development of trade and economic relations with our neighbours is a good thing (but) all of our problems with

our neighbours remain unresolved while new troubles constantly arise...its deteriorated relationship with Israel has disqualified Turkey from playing any meaningful role in the Middle East peace process", "Interview with Kemal Kılıçdaroğlu", *Turkish Policy Quarterly*, Vol. 9, No. 4 (11 March 2011), p. 27.

- 47 Bassem Francis, "KRG Oil Revenue Tops US \$2 Billion, Debate With Baghdad Drags On", *Al-Monitor*, 6 September 2012, at www.al-monitor.com/pulse/business/2012/09/iraqikurdish-oil-revenue-exceed.html [last visited 29 September 2012].
- 48 Interview with Falah Mustafa.
- 49 Interview with Aydın Selcen.
- 50 Interview with Hemen Hawrami.
- 51 Interview with Osman Taney Korutürk.
- 52 Interview with Dr. Osman Faruk Loğoğlu.
- 53 "CHP's Tanal Asks for AKP's Closure", Hürriyet, 25 September 2012.
- 54 "Majority of Turks favor Gül for president over Erdoğan", *Today's Zaman*, 25 September 2012.
- 55 See, Charountaki, Perspectives on Kurdistan's Economy and Society in Transition.
- 56 Interview with Dr. Osman Faruk Loğoğlu.
- 57 "The AKP government promotes the idea, envisioned by the West, of creating a Sunnite belt in the larger Middle East region and hopes for its leadership to create a strong front against the Shia, more precisely against Iran" in Osman Taney Korutürk, "Arab Revolution: Should We Still Call It 'Spring'"?, *Turkish Policy Quarterly*, Vol. 10, No. 4 (29 April 2012).
- 58 "Recep Tayyip Erdoğan", Hürriyet.
- 59 "Barzani, Erdoğan Find Common Ground Against Maliki Government", *Today's Zaman*, 20 April 2012.
- 60 "Scenesetter for Nechirvan Barzani's Visit"; Some Saudis fear that the U.S. wants Iraq to replace Saudi Arabia as its key oil-producing partner in the Middle East in Roy Gutman, "As U.S. Departs Iraq, it Leaves Two Allies That Aren't Speaking", *McClatchy Newspapers*, at http://www.mcclatchydc.com/2011/12/18/133219/as-us-departs-iraq-it-leaves-behind. html, [last visited 3 March 2013].
- 61 "If Turkey does not solve Kurdish Issue in Turkey, it cannot build relations based on mutual interest with KRG", Interview by the researcher with the coordinator of KJB (Koma Jinen Billind, Confederation of High Women)Fatima Dersim, Qandil, 8 September 2012.
- 62 See, Charountaki, The Kurds and US Foreign Policy, pp. 249-250.
- 63 Lisa Anderson, "A Comparativist's Perspective", *Polity Forum*, Vol. 29, No. 2 (Winter 1996), pp. 307, 310.



- 64 Jack Donnelly, *Realism and International Relations*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2000, p. 93.
- 65 See Charountaki, The Kurds and US Foreign Policy, p. 14.
- 66 Ibid, p. 250.
- 67 Ibid, p. 249.

208

- 68 Daphne Josselin, "Back to the Front Line; Trade Unions in a Global Age", in Daphne Josselin and William Wallace (eds.), *Non-State Actors in World Politics*, London and New York, Palgrave Macmillan, 2001.
- 69 See, Charountaki, The Kurds and US Foreign Policy, p. 247.
- 70 Josselin, "Back to the Front Line", pp. 4-5.
- 71 See, Charountaki, The Kurds and US Foreign Policy, p.253.

# Afghanistan: Human Cost of Armed Conflict since the Soviet Invasion

### Imtiyaz Gul KHAN\*

### Abstract

The Afghan wars present a good example of contemporary conflicts, often described as "complex political emergencies" (CPEs). These are the offshoots of diverse factors related to ethno-geographic, ethno-national. ethnoeconomic, ethno-religious and ethno-sectarian manifestations. In order to comprehend these conflicts in entirety, one needs to examine Afghanistan's historico-cultural and linguistic dynamics, socio-economic structure, religiotribal ideologies, and geo-strategic and geopolitical stereotypes. The aim of the article is to furnish a comprehensive record of the impact on the country's human capital from the Soviet occupation up to the US invasion. The US invasion in the post-9/11 environment, however, brought no let up to the miseries of the Afghan people. Importantly, the current Afghan conflict embodies horrendous consequences for the country's survival on the one hand, and regional and global security on the other. The article examines how civilians have increasingly borne the brunt of the US and NATO air war against the Taliban and other insurgent groups. It examines air strike and casualty data to analyse trends and identify problems that cause civilian casualties in US air operations.

In addition, the social and psychological effects and violations of human rights associated with assassinations are more devastating than a body count. Moreover, the lack of security, economic development, effective rule of law, and coordination of effort stand in the way of sustainable progress in the country. Against the failing socio-economic system, opium cultivation has developed as an alternative to country's poor economic base and quite limited sources of proper food, clothing, housing, and employment.

### Key Words

Al-Qaeda, Taliban, Shura, Durrani, Jihad, Afghan, Capitalist Bloc, villages.

### Pauperised Afghanistan: An Appraisal

Afghanistan has been strategically important since ancient times and it has played a vital role in regional, economic and cultural integration. Following a long history, it assumed the status of a nation-state under Ahmad Shah Abdali (Durrani).<sup>1</sup> It was he who ensured

<sup>\*</sup> Research Scholar at the Centre of Central Asian Studies, University of Kashmir, Hazratbal-Srinagar, and lecturer of History at the Department of Education, Government of Jammu and Kashmir.

homogenisation by welding together the divergent ethnic Afghan factions into a single centralised political system.<sup>2</sup> Its national character was first challenged by the British in the 19th century, which had the goal of increasing its imperial designs, checkmating Russia, and extending their sphere of influence into Central Asia. Nevertheless, the natives offered stubborn resistance, culminating in the three dreadful Anglo-Afghan Wars in the 19th and 20th century. In the process, however, the whole country experienced periods of killings, looting, plundering, and damage to traditional systems and structures. The three Anglo-Afghan Wars were quite catastrophic, bearing horrific "retribution" on the Afghans and their livelihoods in the cities, towns and whole countryside.<sup>3</sup> The British strived to reduce resistance by unleashing a reign of terror, execution, exploitation, resulting in a large amount of deaths.<sup>4</sup> The Afghans' sordid story did not end there, but instead continued with the Soviet occupation of Afghanistan in 1978. Since the development was neither strategically nor ideologically heartening to the capitalist bloc, the USA, in the garb of friendship and reconstruction, offered logistical support to the resistant Afghans. The US conveniently roped in Pakistan as a conduit for the arms and equipment supply, thereby assigning it the status of a "frontline state."5 Quite well thought-out strategies were woven to fulfil the purpose. These included the indoctrination of the Afghans in religious fundamentalism as an effective tool to fight against the Soviets. Frenzied by religion, these Afghans fought in the name of *jihad* and offered unprecedented resistance to the Soviets, just as they had earlier done against the English. But during this entire struggle, tens and thousands died. An equal number became homeless, maimed, and sick. In addition, wholesale destruction was caused to infrastructure, some older than two centuries, due to continued gun battles, bomb blasts, air strikes and missile attacks.

The three Anglo-Afghan Wars were quite catastrophic, bearing horrific "retribution" on the Afghans and their livelihoods in the cities, towns and whole countryside.

The destructiveness of modern war is widely understood, but the wars in Afghanistan have been uniquely and comprehensively destructive. For the last 30 years, the country has been marked by appalling episodes of violence, war and genocide. Given the long history of war in Afghanistan, one may reasonably conjecture that Afghans have no history but that of incessant conflict for power, regional hegemony, tribal and ideological supremacy and territorial possession, with horrendous effects on the human psyche, mental makeup and individual and collective behaviour.<sup>6</sup> The vast extent of the violence and suffering has been muffled by the stoicism of the Afghans as the threshold of pain individually and collectively is almost unbelievably high. At present, Afghans live in a fragile state of affairs impacted by endless armed conflicts and wars. Sounds of guns firing, bombs, helicopters, machine guns and rockets are a daily routine for them.7 Violence, destruction, expulsion, displacement, looting, and every other element of the litany of suffering have become the fate of the Afghans. Non-combatants, including women, children and the elderly, have suffered considerably.

Historically speaking, Afghanistan has been the victim of its history and geography: the region has been subjected to countless invasions and incursions.8 In the more than 30 years since the Soviet invasion of December 1979, it has been exposed to the impact of political and ideological forces that are far beyond the capacity of the bulk of its own people to control.9 The Soviet invasion made it a Cold War battleground, and the end of the Cold War and the collapse of the Soviet Union turned Afghanistan into a new theatre of competition, this time between regional actors determined that their competitors should not obtain a foothold in the shadows of the Hindu Kush. In the post-Soviet turmoil, there

was no end to the sorry state of Afghan affairs. The country soon plunged into a dreaded civil war following its failure to create a state, common national leadership, centralised army, and sound economy. Regional and sub-regional powers, especially Pakistan, private networks, smugglers, drug dealers and fundamentalists, used the failing state system for their own vested interest.<sup>10</sup> Consequently, the country further sank into anarchy, with a complete breakdown of law and order. Murder, looting, rape, and extortion were rampant. Unprecedented human casualties. irreparable damage to public and private property, and wholesale population displacement were other manifestations of the post-Soviet civil war. Dreaded weaponry was used by local potentates to gain power and to take precedence over one another. Under the circumstances, villages, towns and cities were ravaged, and their leftover socio-economic and politico-administrative structures were obliterated to the great suffering of the public at large.11 Men were arrested, humiliated, had their limbs amputated, and killed, and women were molested, tortured, and raped. Children were killed by bomb blasts, missile attacks, air strikes, gun battles, and so on, all of which had a profound impact on their health and mental development.<sup>12</sup> In consequence, the whole country was dotted with human skeletons, scattered here and there, which led to huge

humanitarian crises. Finally, in the post-9/11 environment, the US engineered a punishing Iraq-style embargo of warravaged Afghanistan at a time when many of its 20 million people were starving and homeless. People's sufferings and miseries have multiplied, and the US exercises its writ to deal with Afghanistan in the name of the "war against terror". However, under President Obama's new Afghan stabilisation strategy, the scale of the tragedy has further widened with the deployment of the additional NATO forces and the direct confrontation of the Pakistani army with the Taliban groups in Pakistan and the Pak-Afghan borders.

## The Human Cost of Armed Conflict in the Last 30 Years of Endless War

As discussed above, the Afghan wars and conflicts have caused enormous human suffering and migration over the years. The Soviet policy of subjugation and Sovietisation was based on physical extermination with a totalitarian ideology that intended to rupture Afghanistan's economic, social, cultural and religious legacy. The policy was conducted through the indiscriminate bombing of villages. The estimates of the physical damage suffice to prove the comprehensiveness of the destruction: tens and thousands of people killed, injured and rendered homeless in the process. To quote a report on the extent of the refugees:

"in Afghanistan virtually everyone is a victim."13 Consequently, the Afghan wars created the biggest refugee problem ever in the world. Virtually the whole population has been displaced from cities, towns and villages. In the end, more than 6 million civilians became refugees in neighbouring countries, requiring international agencies to pump in billions of dollars for their relief and rehabilitation. With the elimination of the Taliban, the refugee problem was thought to be over as more than 2-3 million had returned home by 2003.14 But it increased quickly thereafter. The tale of human deaths was no less pathetic. According to a report, the "Soviet-Afghan war has killed at least a million Afghans, maimed and disabled many more, [it] created an army of orphans and widows, turned half the population into internally displaced persons and refugees, including six million outside the country."15 One report indicates that 1.0 million people became disabled during the Soviet-Afghan war.<sup>16</sup> The migration and the human killings together kept the country's population always decreasing. The 1979 census estimated the country's pre-war population at 13.05 million, though other reports suggested it to be between 15-17 millions, including the nomadic population.<sup>17</sup> Noor Ahmed Khalidi calculated that 876,825 Afghans, constituting 7% of the total Afghan population, were killed during 10-year war (1978-1987).18 Martin Ewan and Marek Sliwinski estimate the figure at 1.25 million war deaths, or 9% of the pre-war population.<sup>19</sup> However, Siddieq Noorzoy presents an even higher figure of 1.71 million deaths for the same decade.<sup>20</sup> Other report says that the (1980-1990) decade of Afghan wars brought about marked demographic changes in Afghanistan. About 6.2 million Afghans, constituting 32% of the projected population, emigrated into refugee camps in Pakistan, Iran, and elsewhere, and more than 1.5 million

were killed, bringing the total to 7.7 millions, well over 40% of the total projected population in 1990. Of this total, over 5 million, or 47% of the rural population, were affected in the process. In this period 2.2 million from the rural areas migrated to the cities to escape Soviet bombing which added further to the miseries of Afghans.<sup>21</sup> Indeed, the magnitude and intensity of demographic damages during 1980-1990 has been unprecedented, which can be readily seen in Table 1.

	1977 population actual	1990 projected population	Total killed	Total emigration	Internal migration
Total	14.2	19.1	1.5	6.2	2.2
Urban	2.2	2.9	0.15	0.60	0.0
Rural	10.5	14.4	1.27	3.90	2.2
Nomads	1.5	1.8	0.08	1.72	N/A

Table 1: Demographic Damage due to Soviet War, 1980-1990 (in millions)

Reports suggest that from 1.5 million to more than 2 million war deaths have occurred in Afghanistan since 1978, with an average of 350 combat deaths per month in 1997.<sup>22</sup> This high level of mortality was accompanied by shocking and extensive war crimes and human rights violations. Human Rights Watch says that by 2000 some 1.5 million people had died as a direct result of the conflict<sup>23</sup> and some 2 million people had become permanently disabled.<sup>24</sup> Though the level of deaths reduced with Soviet withdrawal in 1989, it did not end. This is proved by the deaths that followed the ethnic cleansing with the fall of Mazari-Sharif and Bamiyan to the Taliban in August 1998.<sup>25</sup> Over 2,000 "civilians" were brutally and gruesomely massacred from the Hazara ethnic minority within three days. The Taliban's treatment of women was often horrific as they were tortured and raped.<sup>26</sup> The magnitude of the number of wounded was also on the rise due to the Afghan wars. To quote Rasul Baksh in 1994, "the proportion

of those incapacitated by the war is 31 per-thousand of the entire population of the country."27 Tens and thousands left due to the fear of the Taliban. This was particularly true of the ethnic minority groups on the Shomali Plains in the north of Kabul. Reportedly, some 180,000 civilians fled the country as "men were boiled or asphyxiated to death, wells were poisoned, land was mined, and traditional irrigation canals and dams were bombed" by the Taliban during their conflict with the Northern Alliance, particularly in 1999 and 2000.28 The immediate victims of this widespread uprooting were children, the elderly, and war widows. While Afghanistan has the highest number of refugees in 1990, with 6.2 million, it also has the highest number of internally displaced persons (IDPs) in the same period with 2 million. There was a substantial repartition of refugees after the fall of the Communist government in 1992, though 2.7 millions continued to remain refugees in Pakistan and Iran. The level of Afghan refugees was such that Pakistan had to close its borders with Afghanistan in 1994.29 More than 1.5 million IDP were registered in Afghanistan between 1992 and 1997 alone. By late 1998, approximately 3.7 million Afghans were reluctant to return to their war-ravaged country under the Taliban regime. During this period 2 million refugees lived in Pakistan, 1.5 million in Iran, and about 10,000 on

the border of Tajikistan.<sup>30</sup> In 1997-2000 the Taliban pushed into northern Afghanistan, and this together with the 2000 drought prompted several hundred thousand of Afghans to flee the country.<sup>31</sup> During the United States' bombing of Taliban strongholds in Afghanistan in 2001, tens of thousands of Afghan civilians also left the country as they had no food or shelter.<sup>32</sup>

### The Post-11 September Era

In the post-11 September era, the US declared a "war on terror" and launched an offensive in Afghanistan to punish the Taliban for harbouring and collaborating with the 9/11 attackers and to coerce the regime into bringing those involved to justice. Subsequently, it was aimed at toppling the Taliban regime and instituting a pro-US regime in Afghanistan, though the US finally ended the Taliban regime as an act of punishment.33 The operation began on 7 October 2001 with air strikes against selected military targets, and later expanded to political and infrastructures to weaken the Taliban war effort.<sup>34</sup> In that, the US and NATO forces killed up to 5,000 Afghan civilians- almost double the number of civilians killed in the World Trade Center and Pentagon attacks.<sup>35</sup> One report says that between 7 October 2001 and January 2002, at least 1,300 civilians were directly killed by the US-led aerial bombing campaign. In

addition, some 3,200 Afghans lost their life due to starvation, exposure, illness, and injury as a result of war and air strikes in that time. However, a 2002 analysis by the *Guardian* newspaper estimated a higher figure of 20,000 civilian deaths in 2001 as an indirect result of the US's air strikes and ground invasion.<sup>36</sup>

While Afghanistan has the highest number of refugees in 1990, with 6.2 million, it also has the highest number of internally displaced persons (IDPs) in the same period with 2 million.

Meanwhile, the massive US bombardment with the support of the regional powers resulted in the replacement of the Taliban regime with a new interim government after a United Nations' decision at a conference in Bonn, Germany in December 2001.<sup>37</sup> As a result a new Afghan government under Pashtun leader Hamid Karzai was set up on 5 December 2001.<sup>38</sup> However, the writ of President Karzai till date has been confined largely to Kabul proper. In the countryside, the regional power brokers (the warlords) and their provincial troops are restive,<sup>39</sup> and are bent on throwing Karzai's government out of power.<sup>40</sup> Most alarming has been the increasing ability in recent years of the Taliban to strike

back with greater vigour than before, thereby causing immense human losses and damage to infrastructure.<sup>41</sup> In 2006 alone, over 4,000 deaths were registered in Afghanistan, including those of the civilians and foreign soldiers. It is reported that some 769 Afghan civilians were directly killed by US- and NATOled actions in Afghanistan.<sup>42</sup> In addition, the southern part of Afghanistan around Helmand and Kandahar, the heartland of the Taliban, saw a great deal of fighting and damage to infrastructure in the same year. Moreover, suicide attacks have been on the rise despite constant US and Pakistan army strikes.43 In a wave of violence in 2006, Taliban-led militants carried out about 140 suicide attacks, more than five times the 2005 number, with another 35 suicide attacks in 2007.44 In 2007, the UN Assistance Mission to Afghanistan (UNAMA) estimated that some 629 Afghans were killed directly by US-led coalition and Afghan forces, and 700 Afghans died through insurgency-related actions.45

The US and NATO forces killed up to 5,000 Afghan civiliansalmost double the number of civilians killed in the World Trade Center and Pentagon attacks.

In the summer of 2008, the situation worsened to the extent that some 2,118

Afghans were killed by US- and NATOled military and anti-government forces in Afghanistan. About 1,160 civilians were killed in various areas by insurgentled attacks, accounting for 55% of the total deaths, while 828 were directly killed by international-led military forces, 39% of the 2008 total. The remaining 130 people, 6%, died as a result of crossfire or unexploded ordnance. Going into further detail, Afghan Rights Monitor, a Kabul-based rights watchdog, has an even higher figure of 3,917 deaths, 6,800 wounded, and around 120,000 displaced persons in the same period. The report further says that insurgents killed over 2,300 civilians, including 930 in suicide bombings, and that US- and NATO-led military operations killed over 1,620 civilians, with 520 civilians killed by Afghan military forces. Out of these, 680 Afghan civilians were killed in air strikes by US-led forces in various parts of Afghanistan.<sup>46</sup> However, on the security side over 530 Afghan soldiers and 1,100 Afghan policemen lost their lives. These figures are far higher than those from the UN and international military forces. In addition, a Taliban-led assault on a Kandahar prison in 2008, freed 1,200 inmates, including 350 Taliban members. Violence in Afghanistan was generally 40% higher in 2008 as compared to 2007. Ambushes, suicide attacks, and targeted assassinations rose sharply. NATO reports that the Taliban's presence was strongest in the Helmand,

Kandahar, Zabol, and Oruzgan provinces in southern Afghanistan, and is either significant or conspicuous in the Paktia, Khowst, Nangarhar, Konar, and Nuristan provinces in eastern Afghanistan.

The combination of light ground forces and overwhelming air power has become the dominant doctrine of war for the US in Afghanistan.

The year 2009 was again the most lethal year for Afghans in the US-led war that had been going on since September 2001, with over 2,412 civilians killed and 3,566 wounded.<sup>47</sup> Meanwhile, in 2010, the human cost of the conflict again grew and some 2,777 civilian deaths were recorded, an increase of 15% compared to the previous year, and over 102,658 individuals were displaced due to the conflict.48 The year 2011, brought yet another record number of civilian deaths as the violence intensified and security spiralled downward. The United Nations reported that over 3,021 Afghan civilians were killed, 4,507 wounded and many more displaced in 2011.<sup>49</sup> In the last three years, the armed conflict in Afghanistan has intensified, with daily fighting between the Taliban and other antigovernment insurgents against Afghan government forces and its international military supporters. The US, which operates in Afghanistan through its counter-insurgency forces in Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) and as part of the NATO-led International Security Assistance Force (ISAF), has increasingly relied on air power in counter-insurgency and counter-terrorism operations. The combination of light ground forces and overwhelming air power has become the dominant doctrine of war for the US in Afghanistan. The net result has been large numbers of civilian casualties. Moreover, the harm caused by air strikes is not limited to immediate civilian casualties, but includes significant destruction of civilian property, forced migration of civilians and the abandoning of their villages, thus further adding to the internally displaced population of Afghanistan. In every case investigated by Human Rights Watch where air strikes hit villages, many civilians left the village because of the damage done to their homes and of fear of further People from neighbouring strikes. villages also sometimes fled in fear of future strikes on their villages. They have also had significant political impact, outraging public opinion in Afghanistan and undermining public confidence in both the Afghan government and its international backers.

## Conclusion

In short, the direct effect of the Afghan wars on the population has been

stunning. More than 50% of population has been directly harmed by the war through death, injury, and displacement. There is hardly any Afghan family that has not been affected, and the effect has been invariably felt in the cities, towns and villages: houses, mosques, minarets, schools, hospitals, industrial structures, roads, bridges, orchards, and fields have all been damaged. Soviet tactics were designed to destroy the rural base of popular support for secessionism,50 and the attacks were directed at destroying facilities. agricultural areas. water and livestock. Violating the Geneva protocols, the Soviets used various nerve gases, mustard gases, and other chemical/biological weapons in several provinces.<sup>51</sup> Consequently, the massive bombings and the allied food shortages drove millions of peasants out of their villages. More than half of Afghanistan's 36,000 villages and hamlets<sup>52</sup> were turned into ghost towns, and millions of anti-personnel mines, especially the little "butterfly mines", fixed by the Soviets<sup>53</sup> maimed millions in the countryside.54 A few reports suggest that 20 to 25 people every day were either maimed or killed by landmines, and by 1996, some 20,000 civilians were killed and another 400,000 disabled as a result.55 Kabul has been the world's most heavily mined city and mines were fitted in houses, walls of buildings, roads and streets,56 leading to numerous deaths and displacements. The impact is markedly worse as most

of Afghanistan looks primitive, with farmers struggling to provide food for their families. Many of them try growing the opium poppy as it requires less water than most food crops and fetches good returns on the international market. This lucrative crop was enthusiastically promoted by the Taliban to re-energise their feeble economy.

Instead of a viable economic base, the country is characterised by illegal or quasi-legal activities related to narcotics, arms trafficking, and the smuggling of duty-free goods.

For most of the time the country and its people have been dependent on foreign aid for sustenance. However, most of the support has been in the form of military aid and relief for refugees. Little aid has come in for institutional re-building and reconstruction. A recent study by the American non-governmental agency Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE) and the Centre on International Cooperation (CIC) of New York University suggested that only 1% of Afghanistan's reconstruction needs have been met so far.57 The fact of the matter is that only one dollar is officially spent on "reconstruction" for every US \$10 spent on achieving US geo-political objectives.<sup>58</sup> Furthermore, "donor fatigue" is a significant problem

in Afghanistan, and the UN has been unable even to meet its relief targets. For example, the 1999 UN appeal for US \$112 million from the international community garnered only US \$29 million as of late June 1999, with a further US \$12 million pledged for relief efforts outside the appeal; previous appeals never met 75% of the targets.<sup>59</sup>

The wars have miserably affected the sustainable economic development of the country. Existing industries have been destroyed. In consequence, the most vibrant economic activities were the transit trade, opium growing, heroin manufacturing, and the smuggling of duty-free goods into Pakistan. The value of the transit trade was estimated at US \$2.5 billion in 1997, half of Afghanistan's gross domestic product (GDP) of US \$5 billion.<sup>60</sup> The Taliban regime in Herat earned US \$30,000 every day on customs duties prior to the closing of the border with Iran in early 1997.61 The overall annual value of Afghanistan's legal exports declined steadily during the 1990s to a value of well under US \$100 million, whereas the illegal narcotics industry grew to the extent that Afghanistan in 1999 produced 4,581 tons of opium, 75% of the world's total.62 As of today, the only significant domestically produced exports are narcotics and some timber and gemstones. Instead of a viable economic base, the country is characterised by illegal or quasi-legal activities related to narcotics, arms trafficking, and

the smuggling of duty-free goods.<sup>63</sup> However, little industrial infrastructure has survived as it has been blown up by mines and other unexploded ordnance. Although mine clearing has been under way for over a decade, there are still an estimated 10 million mines scattered throughout the country,64 a deterrent to traditional economic growth and repatriation of thousands of refugees. In addition, no Marshall Plan has been provided to rebuild Afghanistan, which has exposed the poor Afghan population death and starvation, though to economic development and human security is claimed to be the hallmark of the US-backed Karzai government in Afghanistan.

The Afghan transitional government under Karzai has questionable legitimacy among the people, is subject to coercion by better-armed entities, and is dependent on international forces in every way.

The overall security condition since September 2001 across the country has remained volatile with an increase in the number of suicide attacks, ambushes, and targeted assassinations. On the whole, "the security at present is out of control, governance is limited and development is slow as a sequel of intermittent bomb explosions, suicide attacks and military encounters."<sup>65</sup>

Consequently, the population as a whole is in a deplorable lot as regards their resources, psyche, education, healthcare, economy, social organisation, political culture, etc. Moreover, the agony and discomfort to the Afghan population, especially in southern and northern Afghanistan, is not yet over. The hugely expensive process of reconstruction has not yielded the desired results. It has correspondingly hampered institutional growth of the country, and badly impacted human security, healthcare, education, and public utilities. The spill over of Taliban actions has even reached Pakistan proper with bomb and suicide attacks killing tens and thousands and damaging invaluable property assets. To restrict the Taliban, the Pakistan government has geared up all its forces in the North West Frontier Province, Baluchistan, Waziristan, and other strong holds of the Taliban. Under a new Afghan stabilisation strategy, President Obama, among other things, has sent 30,000 extra troops to Afghanistan, reinforcing the 68,000 US and 40,000 allied forces already in the theatre<sup>66</sup> in order to tackle the mounting violence and to uproot Al-Qaeda, Taliban, and other militant safe havens, though it seems to be a billion dollar question if it will be successful. Moreover, the US has funnelled well over US \$10 billion in military aid to bolster Pakistan's counter-terrorism capabilities in the volatile border regions with Afghanistan.<sup>67</sup> In summary, the Afghan transitional government under

Karzai questionable has legitimacy the people, is subject to among coercion by better-armed entities, and is dependent on international forces in every way. Without security, there can be no reconstruction, and without reconstruction there can be no nationthus leaving Afghanistan building, susceptible to continued instability international and penetration by terrorism. The lack of security, economic development, effective rule of law, and coordination of effort stand in the way of the sustainable progress of the country.

The social and psychological effects and the violations of human rights associated with assassinations are more devastating than a body count.

The above discussion amply demonstrates that the decade-long war in Afghanistan since 11 September 2001 has caused the deaths of thousands of Afghan civilians from insurgents and foreign military actions, as well as the deaths of possibly tens of thousands of Afghan civilians indirectly as a consequence of displacement, starvation, disease, exposure, lack of medical care, crime, lawlessness, and the destruction of their homes, property, and personal assets. In addition, the social and psychological effects and the violations

assassinations are more devastating than a body count. An individual deciding to join a district shura, to campaign for a particular candidate, to take a job with a development organisation, or to speak freely about a new Taliban commander in the area often knows that their decision may have life or death consequences. Assassinations aim to deter individuals from exercising their basic human rights and freedom of expression, political participation, association, work and education. This suppression of individual rights also has political, economic, psychological and social consequences as it impedes governance and development Neither Afghan efforts. national international security nor military forces have been able to protect civilians from assassinations. In addition, the abductions of civilians increased by 83% compared to 2009, from 137 in 2009 to 251 in 2010. Added to this, insecurity, continuing violence and the pervasive atmosphere of intimidation and fear has caused a large displacement to urban centres. Those civilians who have stayed in conflict-affected areas, particularly women, children and the elderly, have seen their quality of life significantly deteriorate. Moreover, the civilian losses at present are a continuation of the extremely high civilian losses occurred during the Soviet-Afghan War in the 1980s, and the three periods of dreadful civil war from 1989-2001.

of human rights

associated with

## Endnotes

- 1 Anwar Raja, *The Tragedy of Afghanistan*, London, Verso, 1988, p. 7.
- 2 It was not until 1747 that long years of scheming, warfare and slaughter came to an end with the ascent of Ahmad Shah Durrani who welded most notorious tribes into one single confederacy. Thus most of the Afghanistan was governed by unbroken Durrani rule till the Soviet invasion of the country in 1979; Larry P. Goodson, *Afghanistan's Endless War: State Failure, Regional Politics, and the Rise of the Taliban*, Seattle and London, University of Washington Press, 2001, p. 26.
- 3 Sir Percy Sykes, A History of Afghanistan-Vol. 2, New Delhi, Macmillan, 1981, pp. 55-57.
- 4 In one of the intense battles during the Second Anglo-Afghan War some 5,000 Afghans suffered considerably, including women, and children; see, Martin Ewans, *Conflict in Afghanistan: Studies in Asymmetric Warfare*, London, Taylor and Francis Group, 2005, pp. 76, 83.
- 5 Maqsudul Hassan Nuri, "Peace in Afghanistan: The Problems and Prospects", *Perceptions: Journal of International Affairs*, Vol. 5, No. 4 (December 2000-February 2001), pp. 50-51.
- 6 Andre Velter, "Lifting the Veil", in Isabelle Delloye and Marjoljn de Jager (eds.), Women of Afghanistan, California, Ruminator Books, 2003, p. xi; "Afghanistan: Is There Hope for Peace", Hearings, Subcommittee on Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs of the Committee on Foreign Relations, United States Senate, 104<sup>th</sup> Congress, Second Session, Washington, US Government Printing Press, 1996, p. 27.
- 7 Based on interview with Afghan nationals in New Delhi on 30 January 2008.
- 8 Goodson, Afghanistan's Endless War, p. 23.
- 9 William Maley, "Afghanistan: An Historical and Geographical Appraisal", *International Review of the Red Cross*, Vol. 92, No. 880 (2010), p. 869.
- 10 Barnett Rubin, *The Fragmentation of Afghanistan*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, London, Yale University Press, 2002, p. x.
- 11 Stuart J.D. Schwartzstein, "Chemical Warfare in Afghanistan: An Independent Assessment", *World Affairs*, Vol. 145, Issue 3 (1982), p. 267.
- 12 Barnett Rubin, "A Blue Print for Afghanistan", *Current History*, Vol. 101, No. 654 (April 2002), p. 153.
- 13 UN High Commissioner for Refugees, Refugees, Vol. 2, No. 108 (1997), p. 7.
- 14 UN High Commissioner for Refugees, Refugees, Vol. 4, No. 133 (2003), p. 17.
- 15 Saif R. Samady, Education and Afghan Society in the Twentieth Century, Paris, UNESCO, 2001, p. 18; for somewhat lower estimates, see, Rubin, The Fragmentation of Afghanistan, p. 1.
- 16 Nake M. Jamrany, Soviet War Liabilities: Measuring Economic Damages in Afghanistan, University of Southern California, 1991; see also, "Afghanistan: Is There Hope for Peace", p. 172.
- 17 Ralph H. Magnus and Eden Naby, *Afghanistan: Mullah, Marx, and Mujahid*, Boulder, Westview Press, 2002, p. 9; Rubin, *The Fragmentation of Afghanistan*, p. 32.

- 18 Noor Ahmad Khalidi, "Afghanistan: Demographic Consequences of War, 1978-1987", *Central Asian Survey*, Vol. 10, No. 3 (1991), p. 106.
- 19 Ewans, *Conflict in Afghanistan*, p. 151; Marek Sliwinski, "Afghanistan: Decimation of a People", *Orbis*, Vol. 33, No. 1 (1989), pp. 39-56.
- 20 M. Siddieq Noorzoy, "Some Observations on an Assessment of the Population in Afghanistan", *Journal of the Writers Union of Free Afghanistan*, Vol. 3, No. 3 (1988), pp. 6-14.
- 21 Jamrany, "Soviet War Liabilities", in Afghanistan: Is There Hope for Peace, p. 173.
- 22 Goodson, Afghanistan's Endless War, p.93.
- 23 Human Rights Watch, "Fuelling Afghanistan's War", at http://www.hrw.org/legacy/ backgrounder/asia/afghanistan/afghbk.htm [last visited 20 January 2013].
- 24 ICRC, "People on War", *Country Report Afghanistan*, Greenberg Research, p. ii, at http:// www.icrc.org [last visited 12 December 2012].
- 25 Human Rights Watch, "Afghanistan: the Massacre in Mazar-i-Sharif", at http://www.hrw. org/reports/1998/11/01/afghanistan-massacre-mazar-i-sharif [last visited 22 January 2013].
- 26 Maliha Zulfacar, "The Pendulum of Gender Politics in Afghanistan", *Central Asian Survey*, Vol. 25, No. 1-2 (March- June 2006), p. 41.
- 27 Rais Rasul Baksh, War Without Winners, Karachi, Oxford Press, 1994, p. 20.
- 28 Ahmad Rashid, *Taliban: Militant Islam, Oil and Fundamentalism in Central Asia*, New Haven, Yale University Press, 2001, p. 55.
- 29 David H. Kuhns, "Doctors Without Borders", in Afghanistan: Is There Hope for Peace, p. 47.
- 30 Gayle Mertz, "Civil War in Afghanistan", Social Education, Vol. 65, No. 7 (2001), p. 429.
- 31 UN High Commissioner for Refugees, Refugees, Vol. 2, No. 108 (1997), pp. 3-10.
- 32 Mertz, "Civil War in Afghanistan", p. 429.
- 33 Carl Connetta, "Strange Victory: A Critical Appraisal of Operation Enduring Freedom and the Afghanistan War", *Project on Defense Alternatives Research Monograph 6*, 30 January 2002, pp. 7-8.
- 34 Andrew Koch, "USA's Strategy Takes Shape", *Jane's Defence Weekly*, Vol. 36, No. 16 (17 October 2001), p. 2.
- 35 On 9/11, a catastrophe occurred which signalled unprecedented transformations in world order. So far, the confirmed death toll appears to be just under 3,000.
- 36 Jonathan Steele, "Forgotten Victims", Guardian, 20 May 2002.
- 37 Nafeez Mosaddeq, *The War on Freedom: How and Why America Was Attacked*, California, Tree of Life Publications, 2002, p. 17.
- 38 Ewans, *Conflict in Afghanistan*, p. xxx.
- 39 A local cartel of Afghan governors-cum-warlords as well as Islamic radicals were looking to regroup for an assault on the United States and its allies. The border areas alongside Pakistan are the hotbed of these activities, notably around Pakistan's South and North Waziristan belts and the Chaman area; see, Syed Saleem Shahzad, "Afghanistan, Once More the Melting Pot", *Asia Times Online*, at http://www.atimes.com/atimes/Central\_Asia/EE01Ag03.html [last visited 29 January 2013].

- 40 Sharad Gupta, "Kabul the Sigh of the Prodigal", *The Sunday Indian*, 4-10 December 2006, pp. 24-27; Mondira Dutta (ed.), *Emerging Afghanistan in the Third Millennium*, New Delhi, Pentagon Press, 2009, p. 42.
- 41 Thomas H. Johnson, "Afghanistan's Post-Taliban Transition: The State of State-Building after War", *Central Asian Survey*, Vol. 25, Issue 1-2 (March-June 2006), p. 22.
- 42 Marc W. Herold, "The Matrix of Death: (Im)Precision of US Bombing and the (Under) Valuation of an Afghan Life", *Revolutionary Association of the Women of Afghanistan*, at http://www.rawa.org/temp/runews/2008/10/06/the-imprecision-ofus-bombing-and-theunder-valuation-of-an-afghan-life.html [last visited 18 February 2013].
- 43 Sami Yousafzai and Ron Moreau, "Face to Face with the Taliban's New Favourite Weapon in the Afghan War: Human Bombs", *News Week*, 14-21 May 2007, p. 38; Swapna Kona, "Afghanistan The Spring Offensive", *Institute of Peace and Conflict Studies*, No. 44 (April 2007), p. 1, at http://www.ipcs.org/pdf\_file/issue/1505221362IPCS-IssueBrief-No44.pdf [last visited 15 November 2012].
- 44 Yousafzai and Moreau, "Face to Face with the Taliban's New Favourite Weapon in the Afghan War", p. 38.
- 45 Darah Hansen, "Canadian Soldier killed in Afghan Blast", Vancouver Sun, 26 December 2008.
- 46 "Afghanistan: UNAMA Raps New Report by Rights Watchdog", IRIN News, at http:// www.irinnews.org/Report/82502/AFGHANISTAN-UNAMA-raps-new-report-byrights-watchdog [last visited 25 February 2013]; United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan, Afghanistan: Annual Report on Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict, 2009, at http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/docid/4b4ef6d52.html [last visited 12 January 2013]; Afghanistan Conflict Monitor, "Afghan Unrest killed 4,000 civilians in 2008", at http://www.conflictmonitors.org/countries/afghanistan/daily-briefing/archives/briefingdetails/!k/2009/1/21/afghan-unrest-killed-4000-civilians-in-2008-report [last visited 18 January 2013].
- 47 Dexeter Filkins, "09 Deadliest Year for Afghans", *New York Times*, 13 January 2010; United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan, *Afghanistan: Annual Report on Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict, 2009.*
- 48 United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan, Afghanistan: Annual Report on Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict 2010, p. i, at http://unama.unmissions.org/Portals/UNAMA/ human%20rights/March%20PoC%20Annual%20Report%20Final.pdf [last visited 10 January 2013].
- 49 Damien Pearse, "Afghan Civilians Death Toll Reaches High", Guardian, 4 February 2012.
- 50 The Soviets believed that all evil comes from the villages, so they decided to cut off the town from the countryside by destroying the villages surrounding the urban regions and forcing the inhabitants to flee. By reducing the number of inhabitants in the rural areas, they realised that there would be less shelter and support for the resistance; see, Syed Bahaouddin Majrooh and Syed Mohammad Yusuf Elmi, *The Sovietization of Afghanistan*, Peshawar, 1985, p. 152.
- 51 Jeffery J. Roberts, The Origins of Conflict in Afghanistan, Westport CT, Praeger, 2003, p. xi.
- 52 Jamrany, "Soviet War Liabilities", *in Afghanistan: Is There Hope for Peace*, p. 180. However, Ewan reports that there were some 35,000 villages; Ewan, *Conflict in Afghanistan*, pp. 132-

133; another Western scholar appropriately likened the country to 25,000 village states: Anthony Arnold, *The Soviet Invasion in Perspective*, Stanford CA, Hoover Institution Press, 1986, p. 97.

- 53 These mines, often shaped to appear as toys or other innocuous items, were spread by air and whirled down to earth like maple seeds, and have maimed thousands of curious children, adults, and livestock. It is reported that 50% of Afghanistan's total livestock (horses, cows, bulls, donkeys, goats, and lambs) have been decimated; Jamrany, "Soviet War Liabilities", *in Afghanistan: Is There Hope for Peace*, p. 180; Paul Overby, *Holy Blood: An Inside View of the Afghan War*, Westport CT, Praeger, 1993, p. 45; Roberts, *The Origins of Conflict in Afghanistan*, p. xvi.
- 54 Barnet R. Rubin, "The Fragmentation of Afghanistan", *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 68, No. 5 (Winter 1989-1990), pp. 150-168; Roberts, *The Origins of Conflict in Afghanistan*, p. xvi.
- 55 Kuhn, "Doctors Without Borders", p. 49.
- 56 Gary R. Shaye, "Save the Children", in Afghanistan: Is There Hope for Peace, p. 36.
- 57 "Rebuilding Afghanistan: A Little Less Talk, a Lot More Action", CARE International, at http://www.careusa.org/newsroom/specialreports/afghanistan/09302002\_policybrief.pdf [last visited 16 December 2012].
- 58 Herold, "The Matrix of Death".
- 59 Goodson, Afghanistan's Endless War, pp. 95-96.
- 60 Barnet R. Rubin, "The Political Economy of War and Peace in Afghanistan", *World Development*, Vol. 28, No. 10 (2000), p. 1795.
- 61 Goodson, Afghanistan's Endless War, p. 96.
- 62 Rubin, "The Political Economy of War and Peace in Afghanistan", p. 1796.
- 63 Ibid., p.1798.
- 64 Shaye, "Save the Children", *Afghanistan: Is There Hope for Peace*, p. 36; Goodson, *Afghanistan's Endless War*, p. 96.
- 65 Taimor Shah and Alissa Rubin, "A Suicide Attack Targets Police in Kandahar", *New York Times*, 5 February 2012.
- 66 Noor Ul Haq, "Post-withdrawal Scenario in Afghanistan", *IPRI Factfile*, 27 September 2011, p.2; "Afghan Attack Kills 8 CIA Men", *The Times of India*, 1 January 2010.
- 67 Rajat Pandit, "Why Does Pakistan Need to Fight F-16s to Fight Taliban", Sunday Times of India, 17 January 2010; A recent report prepared by the Centre for Strategic and International Studies estimated US \$20 billion in aid since 9/11; Malou Innocent, "U.S. Policy Towards Afghanistan and Pakistan", Cato Handbook for Policymakers, 7th Edition, CATO Institute, 2011, p. 532.

# The International Human Rights Movement - A History

### *By Aryeh Neier* Princeton/Oxford: Princeton University Press, 2012, 357 pages, ISBN: 9780691135151.

The history of international human rights law and the human rights movement has been an attractive topic for many authors writing in this field. Arych Neier's recent publication, The International Human Rights Movement -A History, stands out from the others, largely due to his background. Having been trained as a lawyer in America, Neier worked for many years as an executive director of Human Rights Watch. He was also the president of the Open Society Foundation and the national director of the American Civil Liberties Union. In addition to his administrative tasks, he teaches human rights at leading universities. His approach to the field utilizes a combination of legal knowledge and substantial experience.

The first chapter sets out the underlying theme of the book: "the driving force behind the protection of human rights worldwide, today and for roughly the past thirty-five years, has been the nongovernmental human rights movement" (p. 7). The author examines the campaigns of nongovernmental organizations and human rights activists for the adoption of major treaties, such as the 1997 Treaty to Ban Landmines and the 1998 Rome Statute. Throughout the book the author addresses the accomplishments of the human rights movement up until now, the issues at present, and the challenges in the upcoming years.

The author's personal observations are one of the book's strengths, particularly concerning the relationships between dominant countries during the Cold War. His informative depiction of the history of the human rights movement demonstrates that although many were the victims of persecution, the Cold War magnified the importance of citizen efforts to promote human rights.

The book has a total of 13 chapters, two of which them center on the leading human rights organizations in the world: Amnesty International and Human Rights Watch. Neier argues that the Cold War context played a crucial role in the establishment of Amnesty International in 1961. Great credit is given to Amnesty International due to its capacity to survive through the help of its supporters and its impact on human rights policies globally. As the founder of Human Rights Watch in the 1970s, the author notes that the new organization came into being because of the weak presence of Amnesty International in the United States, and it filled the gap of Amnesty's own narrow mandate in the field. Many other human rights organizations operating worldwide are discussed in another chapter. Neier lists only a few countries (including North Korea, Burma, Saudi Arabia, and Turkmenistan) where authorities do not tolerate the emergence of human rights organizations.

is not only nongovernmental It organizations that have pushed states to promote and protect human rights, but also international organizations and national and supranational judiciaries. To underline this fact, Neier pinpoints the influence of the European Union on human rights practices in countries that aspire to full membership. As the author notes, the rulings of the American Supreme Court, the European Court of Human Rights, and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights have played an important role in the application of human rights standards at the local level.

The establishment of a permanent International Criminal Court to prosecute and punish those accused of war crimes, crimes against humanity, and genocide is covered in detail in the section "Accountability". The author once more shares his personal experience concerning the efforts of some states to undermine the legitimacy and the authority of the International Criminal Court. Even though he is a strong defendant of the International Criminal Court, he expresses doubts about its future capability to carry-out investigations against the leaders of powerful countries.

Neier's book is about the tireless history of the human rights movement. The author carefully analyzes the role the movement has played in protecting the basic human rights of those accused of terror crimes in the aftermath of September 11, 2001, and the significant role of human rights activists during the Arab revolutions. Moreover, in the final pages of the book, the author points out future challenges that the movement will face in the coming decades.

All in all, one should not assume that the book is only about the development of the international human rights movement. Neier takes the opportunity to use his legal knowledge to comment on certain disputed concepts and subjects in international human rights law, such as "self-determination", "independence", "universal jurisdiction", "humanitarian intervention", "the responsibility to protect", "preventive detention", "enforcing second generation rights by courts", "the connection between developments and rights", "suspending *habeas corpus* when countering terrorism", and "the application of international humanitarian law to asymmetric conflicts".

I would like to conclude with my sole critical remark, which is that, although the title suggests that the book is about the international human rights movement, more than half of the information provided in each chapter concerns developments that took place in the United States. Even a quick look at the index pages demonstrates that the majority of the names of individuals, institutions, and cases that are listed have American affiliation. Nevertheless, this in no way undercuts the value of the work in contributing to the field of human rights.

### Olgun Akbulut,

Ph. D, Human Rights and Constitutional Law Scholar, Kadir Has University; Visiting fellow (2012-2013), Harvard Law School

# Küyerel Dönüşümler: Küreselleşme, Zihniyet, Siyaset (Glocal Transformations: Globalisation, Mentality, Politics)

*By Nurullah Ardıç and Sevinç Alkan Özcan (eds.)* İstanbul: Küre Yayınları, 2012, 253 pages, ISBN: 9786055383190.

Globalisation has become the central point of world politics. Developments in technology and communication have made it easier and faster for people to be in contact with each other and to engage in cultural interaction. Globalisation is often described as the interaction of people living in different regions of the world in the context of a social, economic and cultural circulation of goods, labour and services. It can thus be argued that the globalisation process has started to affect every field. However, the concept of globalisation has become cloudy because it has been used as an explanatory tool for incongruous processes. Conversely, academia has tried to define the globalisation process in order to prevent the concept from being used to explain everything. This book, *Küyerel Dönüşümler: Küreselleşme, Zihniyet, Siyaset (Glocal Transformations: Globalisation, Mentality, Politics*), edited by Nurullah Ardıç and Sevinç Alkan Özcan, develops new viewpoints on the globalisation process with an emphasis on its multi-dimensionality. The book analyses not only the effects of the globalisation process on countries, sectors, groups and individuals, but also reactions and arguments against it.

The book takes the concept of "glocal" to examine the interaction between global processes and local dynamics. The book consists of nine chapters, each a separate article that originally came from the symposium entitled "Globalisation" that was held by the Foundation for the Sciences and Arts' Center for Global Studies (KAM) in Istanbul in 2004. In the first chapter, "Globalisation and the Crisis of Individual and Civilisation Crisis", Ahmet Davutoğlu discusses globalisation from three perspectivesstoicism, cynicism and Epicureanism. Stoicism tries to legitimate the current international system by using the arguments of the "end of history", "clash of civilisations" and "new world order". Cynicism focuses on postmodern relativities, and Epicureanism looks maximise individual pleasure to instead of the normative happiness that is formulated as Mcworldism. In this context Davutoğlu calls for a new approach in the globalisation process which will connect globalosity pluralism, inter-civilisational and dialogue and intra-civilisational unity, metaphysics and moral happiness.

Kazım Baycar seeks place to globalisation in a historical frame in his chapter "To Globalise the History: Turkey's Position in the Context of Discussion of the Ottoman Empire and the Nation-State". He asks fundamental questions regarding globalisation: How do historians perceive the globalisation concept? When did globalisation start? What are the differences between current and past globalisation processes? And how can the Ottoman Empire's history in the context of globalisation be dealt with? He identifies two approaches to investigate the globalisation process: the historical and the actual approaches. According to the historical approach, the globalisation process dates back to very early in time and has had distinct characteristics at different times. The actual approach on the other hand claims that globalisation has consisted of two waves. The first wave ran from the mid-19th century to the First World War, and the second wave emerged with neo-liberal politics in the 1970s and lasted until the collapse of the Soviet bloc. Although both waves involved the mobility of goods, services and labour, the actual approach seems to be more economics based in its handling of the globalisation process. Baycar examines Ottoman history in the context of these two approaches and emphasises the economic perspective in particular.

Nurullah Ardıç, in the next chapter, "Turkey's Position in the context of Globalisation and Nation-State Discussions", discusses the relationship between globalisation and the nationstate and Turkey's position. Ardıç argues that globalisation has hindered the nation-state in some areas but in other areas it has strengthened it. According to Ardınç, Turkey has been affected by globalisation in social, economic, cultural and communication fields, and especially in the city of Istanbul. Mehmet Fatih Aysan also claims that it is useless to ignore the demographic and social elements by exclusively focusing on the economic challenges of globalisation to the welfare state. Aysan, in his chapter "Globalisation, Crisis and Welfare State", tells of health and other social security cuts and the problems that immigration poses on welfare states. In the globalisation process, these problems also reveal themselves in matters related to the state, the family and the market which will shape the future of welfare states.

Immigration is also one of the outcomes of globalisation, and Turkey is a country located in the immigration flows. Özge Aktaş analyses immigration and Turkey's role in global immigration in his chapter "1960-2000 Global Immigration and Turkey's Position in the Immigration Area". Aktaş sees global immigration databases as fundamental sources for quantitative analysis, and in this chapter, she examines the links between the historical continuity and changes in global immigration during the years of 1960 and 2000. Yunus Kaya and Ekrem Karakoç in their chapters look to answer the question of "does globalisation raise anti-immigrant sentiments?" Their findings show that unemployment especially triggers antiimmigration sentiments.

Sevinç Alkan Özcan researches the cultural dimension of globalisation in the context of the dissolution of the Soviet Union in the chapter "Globalisation and Nationalism: The Former Soviet Area", in which she examines the reform efforts of the Soviet Union and the nationalist movements. In the next chapter, "The Spectre of Subaltern Globalisation", Imtiaz Ahmad gives details about "globalisation form below" and "inverse globalisation". Ahmad focuses on transnational crime and the economics of the process. The internet is definitely the most important development of the 21st century as it facilitates the transmission of information and improves communication. Relying on this. Bünyamin Atıcı examines the effects of the internet in international cooperation in the chapter entitled "Internet as an Effect Area of Transnational Actors". The author emphasises that the internet has become a dominant element of international organisations such as the

UN, NATO, the EU, and Amnesty International.

Overall, the book presents useful viewpoints about globalisation in different fields. At the same time it gives new approaches in the study of the globalisation process. As such the book contributes to the existing literature and is therefore strongly recommended for readers and researchers.

### Ramazan Erdağ,

Assist. Prof. Dr., Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Department of International Relations

# Türkiye'de Militarist Devlet Söylemi (The Militarist State Discourse in Turkey)

### By Ali Balcı

Ankara: Kadim Yayınları, 2011, 168 pages, ISBN: 9789759000240.

Militarist State Discourse in Turkey by Ali Balcı is a survey of the period between 1960 and 1983 in Turkey, a period which encompasses three military coups. Utilizing Michel Foucault's concept of discourse, Balcı analyses the militaristic discourse that thoroughly dominated the state discourse between 1960 and 1983. The main argument of the study is that the militarist discourse dominated every sphere in Turkey, from the state apparatus to society and to the economy, at this time. Although the book can be read as part of the growing critical literature on civilian-military relations in today's Turkey, it differs from other studies by situating the militaristic discourse at the centre of its analysis.

The first part of the book defines the term "militarism" and sets the global context where this militarism spread, namely during the Cold War. "Militarisation" and "militarism" are used interchangeably to denote the intervention of the armed forces in politics and the prevalent militaryinspired practices in state institutions and society (pp. 20-1). Both terms are also accompanied by a "militarist discourse" which refers. rather ambiguously though, to a comprehensive set of discursive practices embodying the military effect(s) in politics and society. Therefore, Balci uses the term militarist discursive period (*militarist söylemsel* dönem) to refer to a specific time span

in the political history of Turkey when militarism, militarisation, and militarist discourses were not challenged by any notable civic oppositional discourse. The book also challenges the existing analyses of military takeovers in Turkey which view them either as inevitable results of an evolutionary political process or historical characteristics of Turkish society. The author argues that the militarist discourse of the period can only be understood by looking at concomitant conditions of the time and their fusion in Turkey and the world (p. 11; pp. 33-41).

The rivalry between the US and Russia and its ramifications on global politics set the historical ground for the emergence and spread of militarist discourse all over the world. Examples of military takeovers from Third World countries provide evidence for the comprehensive effects of this rivalry in the Cold War era (pp. 19-32). Therefore, the militarist discourse prevailing in Turkey in this period is contextualised in the global context of the Cold War. And the increased power of the military is not independent of global power relations of the time. Especially, the Truman Doctrine of 1947 and Turkey's entry in the NATO in 1952 were conducive to the proliferation and institutionalisation of the Turkish army in Turkish politics (p. 44). In this section of the book, an extensive body of literature is also

surveyed that shows this relationship. For example, the book quotes some examples from other studies to reveal the direct involvement of US intelligence in the formation of paramilitary groups in Turkey against the so-called threat of Communism as it did in other NATO countries (p. 45).

In the second part, which is the main body of the book, Balcı provides a thorough account of the historical incidents that led to the toppling of the Democrat Party, Turkey's ruling party in in the 1950s. This, indeed, is where the strengths and weaknesses of the book lie. In this section, Balci argues that the period under question poses an inconspicuously distinct character from other periods of modern Turkey as all dissident voices were silenced and all aspects of political and social life were militarised. Yet, at the same time, the author concedes that the very conditions that led to this period were also inseparable from the previous conditions. In support of his argument, the author takes on board a considerable amount of literature and examples from various texts that are critically analysed.

The foundation of the National Security Council and the OYAK Bank (the bank of the Turkish armed forces) are analysed to emphasise the political and economic aspects of militarisation. The legal adjustments that intensified the silence imposed by the army, for example

by banning any criticism of the Turkish Armed Forces, are duly exemplified. More significantly, what Balcı brings to the fore consistently is that the deferential attitude of the political parties of the time did not only contribute to the legitimacy of the presence of militarism, but also exacerbated it with their hostile stances towards the Communist movements of the day. This argument is vital because it challenges the image of political parties as subordinate entities and puts them under scrutiny as active agents of this silent period, which Feroz Ahmad famously termed "democracy of political tutelage" (cited on p. 75). The silence that cuts across boundaries within the trajectories of different political groups in Turkey, the leftists, rightists and Islamists, amounts to the internalisation of the army's role as the protector of the

country not only against foreign enemies but against the country itself (p. 56).

Balcı concludes that despite the fact that the predominance of the militarist discourse has diminished over time, it still remains a debilitating sub-category of the state discourse in Turkey. Without a doubt, this book is key to understanding today's Turkish politics in which the remnants of this military discourse are deeply ingrained in all aspects of life. And more importantly, the author's invariable emphasis on "silence" subtly illuminates the suppression imposed through the militarist discourse; however, this topic needs to be developed further as an analytical category.

> **Ibrahim Efe,** Lancaster University

## Afghanistan: A Cultural and Political History

### By Thomas Barfield

New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 2010, 389 pages, ISBN: 9780691154411.

Since the war against the Taliban and the intervention in Afghanistan after the September 11, 2001 attacks, the academic approach to studying the country has mainly centred on the fields of international politics and geostrategy studies, both of which have mainly looked at Afghanistan's role in the international system or its economic and strategic position. In a psychological environment shaped by the mainstream media's strong views, a

Book Reviews

reliable evaluation about Afghanistan has been limited, as evidenced by the proliferation of Orientalist articles. *Afghanistan: A Cultural and Political History*, written by Thomas Barfield, however, has a different perspective with a robust argument that makes it easy to understand the circumstances which have brought modern Afghanistan into existence.

Barfield, as an archaeologist and anthropologist, firstly addresses the issue of culture for an in-depth comprehension of Afghan people and politics. He questions the unique aspects of Afghan politics and the common myths pertaining to the country's political history. He challenges some deep-seated assessments attributed to Afghanistan, such as it being "ungovernable" or "the graveyard of empires", which do not always correspond to the realities of Afghan history. He points out that stable governments have been established in Afghanistan, especially during the period starting from the Mongol invasion in the 13th century to the collapse of Safavid Dynasty in the 18th century, or during the Durrani Empire, which lasted from 1747 to the Saur revolution two centuries later (p. 51; p. 225). His analysis examines long-term tends with a more historical perspective irrespective of short-term perspectives or daily changes. Undoubtedly the numerous trips he has taken to the region since the 1970s and

his 40 years of field experience have also played a role.

his In historical analysis on Afghanistan, Barfield analyses the tension between the asabiya (desert) and the umran (urban), and adapts it to Afghanistan brilliantly even though he is not a historian (pp. 82-84). The contribution of ibn Khaldun, whom he takes as a reference, in his comments that integrate the current conditions with a long-term historical perspective is clearly visible. It may be considered an appealing feature for Turkish readers. Additionally his approach, which stays clear of Orientalist clichés and focuses on the Turkish dynasties that mark the history of Afghanistan, offers a different perspective to Turkish readers and shows the deep-rooted ties between Turkey and Afghanistan, rediscovering the strong traditional character of Turkish politics and ruling.

While the tradition of Turkish rule in Afghanistan gradually disappeared after 1747 when the Pashtun-dominated dynasties took over, Barfield considers that development the embodiment of an unstable, non-permanent ruling attitude and an elusive political culture. This gives the impression that Barfield does not focus on Pashtun identity and policies in certain parts of the book. He also does not adequately use sources published in local languages which may be considered a shortcoming in his study. But for all that his book is a stimulating introduction for many people who are interested in Afghanistan's history and political culture due to the book's clear writing, interesting and thoughtprovoking examples and avoidance of clichés.

As he questions the clichés about Afghanistan Barfield firstly addresses the argument that "the country has never been occupied" and brings that into question, stating that Afghanistan was seized by many conquerors, including Chinggis Khan and Alexander the Great. Analysing the successful strategy which has resulted in Afghanistan being called "the graveyard of empires", Barfield argues that Afghanistan can be occupied but that it reacts to invaders with a strong "autoimmune disorder" and even if it were occupied it would make the country ungovernable. And he adds that this strategy, which functions efficiently against external conquerors, would harm the country when directed towards the Afghan people themselves as it is today (p. 255). However, the author states that despite a quite fragmented political-social identity which consists of diverse ethnic and religious groups, what secures the integrity of Afghanistan and the legitimacy of the government are the Afghan people's faith and traditions, and that civil war is considered *fitna* (sedition) in the country, and therefore the rulers

who have taken the lead in Afghanistan could build up their legitimacy easily. He emphasises that the Afghan people would even prefer a poor ruler instead of *fitma*. According to Barfield "the students of Western political science would note that this line of reasoning closely parallels that of Thomas Hobbes's Leviathan, in which he justified the need for absolute rulers" (pp. 73-74).

Furthermore. in pointing out that Afghanistan is a country full of paradoxes Barfield mentions that the Afghan people have learned how to turn any such paradox into an advantage. Commenting that it is necessary to know the strategies pursued by those dynasties that have successfully ruled Afghanistan, the author compares the attitudes pertaining to those regimes with the current Western perspective. Barfield compares Afghanistan to cheese, arguing that there are different perception about cheese in the East and West. He says that Westerners perceive Afghanistan as a quite smooth and standard American cheese, whereas the former Eastern dynasties, which had succeeded in ruling the country, especially the Turko-Persian ruling tradition, perceived the country as Swiss cheese with holes on it; in other words those regimes used to take for granted any gap where it was not possible to dominate in ruling the country. He suggests that the Turkish and Persian rulers were successful because they had

never thought of dominating the entire country except for certain trade routes and some important strategic corridors, or worried themselves about filling in every gap or directly ruling every area. The message he gives is as follows: "Ignore the holes, rule the cheese" (pp. 67-70). He argues that the Turko-Persian ruling pattern was more effective as such flexibility ensured that they governed by adopting different rules for different regions rather than trying to impose the same rules and laws on every region. He mentions a similar pattern was implemented in the region by the British who did not try to exercise control beyond the Hindu Kush Mountains even during the great imperial expansion in the Victorian period. According to Barfield the fact that it is not possible to capture and govern a large part of Afghanistan must be recognised.

Suggesting that contemporary Afghan history starts with the Durranis who established Pashtun dominance in 1747, the author underlines that the Pashtuns have long considered themselves a privileged ethnic group for this reason. However, the author argues that Afghanistan had been ruled by Turks, Mongolians or Persians for hundreds of years and there was more stable periods in the country prior to 1747 and the rise of the Pashtun dominance. Highlighting the strong historical ties between Afghanistan and the Central

Asia, the author states that in this

**Book Reviews** 

context the connection between Pakistan and Afghanistan was established on the basis of a common Pashtun identity, but that this Pashtun predominance remains insufficient to understanding the country on its own. Giving detailed information about the ethnic groups in Afghanistan (pp. 23-31), Barfield underlines that only the Turkish dynasties and the hierarchical Turko-Mongolian ruling traditions have demonstrated the capability of joining together the different tribes in a stable manner in the past. He says that such dynasties created an inherited hierarchy once established and the ruler would be faced with no representational or legitimacy issues despite the egalitarian lineage system in Bedouin or Pashtun tribes where each tribe could become the leader through power or influence rather than a certain descent. He argues that this egalitarian system is a quite unstable and troublesome system as the leader is forced to persuade the masses every day to make them follow him and everyone steps up as a chief with a desire to become the leader (pp. 78-82). He argues that the reason the Pashtun dynasties ruled over Afghanistan successfully for 230 years, from 1740 to 1978, was thanks to the Turko-Mongolian system, and that the Durranis founded a royal dynasty rather than a ruling pattern based upon an egalitarian assembly (Loja Jirga) after they had come into power in the early 18<sup>th</sup> century. He emphasises that after this system was removed by non-royalist communists in 1978, stability could never be regained and it was not possible to eliminate the disorder resulting from Pashtuns' traditional egalitarian system.

Remarking that Afghanistan is not a failed nation even if it is a failed state. Barfield addresses this issue in chapter five, saying there are four good reasons for this. Firstly, "the persistence of the old central Asian view of political order that never linked ethnicity with nationalism". Secondly, "each ethnic group in Afghanistan felt secure enough in its own region to cooperate with others as partners at the national level". Thirdly, "the negative consequences of disunion outweighed internal frictions" and fourthly, "Afghans had few illusions about the nature of state politics, and the compromises necessary to engage in them" (pp. 277-280). Today different groups in Afghanistan define the central government as "an arranged marriage, not a love match".

According to Barfield in addition to those components which would

facilitate the transformation process in Afghanistan the experiences that the Afghan people have had as refugees in recent history has given them diverse expectations, resulting in a country which is more integrated with the "Turko-Persian" identity thanks to the new access routes opening to the Central Asia. Furthermore, while Afghanistan has regained its geopolitical importance thanks to the strategic mineral resources that exist in the country. Although the transformation process is slow, Afghanistan will not disintegrate over ethnic identities like Yugoslavia (p. 252; p. 278). In this context Barfield's book can be considered as an interesting work about the latest developments and which questions Western clichés as well as a reminder of the shared ties between Turkey and Afghanistan. Additionally Barfield's comments on developments, which have a distinct humanitarian sensitivity as a result of him being an academic who has spent many years in the region, are praiseworthy.

Mert Gökırmak,

Assist. Prof. Dr., Uludağ University

23(

# No One's World: The West, the Rising Rest and the Coming Global Turn

### *By Charles A. Kupchan* New York: Oxford University Press, 2012, 258 pages, ISBN 9780199739394.

## The World America Made

### *By Robert Kagan* New York: Random House, 2012, 160 pages, ISBN 9780307961327.

There have been a number of volumes published in the last six months regarding world politics and heralding a multi-polar global order, such as Friedman and Mandelbaum's It Used to be Us: How America Fell Behind in the World It Invented and How We Can Come Back (2011) and Joseph Nye's The Future of Power (2011). The two volumes under review here, by Charles Kupchan (of the Council on Foreign Relations and a veteran of the Clinton White House) and Robert Kagan (senior fellow in Brookings Institute and top foreign policy advisor to Governor Mitt Romney), continue this theme. These are both works that claim to be coolheaded diagnoses, offering advice for the American government before 2012 elections.

In the past year the two authors have been duelling in US foreign policy journals articles where Kupchan has referred to Kagan as a neo-con (though not by name). The war of pens between Kupchan and Kagan was intensified when President Obama told the foreign policy press that his thinking has been influenced by Kagan's latest book. It is not often that a president praises his chief rival's foreign policy advisor just before an election.

Robert Kagan contends in the first chapter of *The World that America Made* that the US's primacy will remain robust, as long as it remains committed to its international military commitments and its share of global economic output remains unchanged. In the following chapters, Kagan argues that the American order is a fusion of the important and the desirable features of the current international world order. Kagan remarks that some of the

emerging powers that would challenge the US's primacy have made important advances, such as Brazil and Turkey plus with the usual suspects of China and India. Nations who are classified as "democracies with an attitude" in Kupchan's words (p. 141), such as India and Turkey (incidentally, he forgets to add Brazil to this list), are either strategic partners of the US or will not be able to realise their regional ambitions any time soon. He argues that "just because a nation is an attractive investment opportunity does not mean it is a rising great power" (p. 69). He speculates that the biggest threat to the US's hegemony is the loss of self-belief, which started in the days of President Wilson, in its primacy in global economics and politics, as historical comparisons to the Romans would show (pp. 81-82). To provide evidence that America is not in decline as a benevolent force in the world, but only in a temporary retreat, Kagan cites some significant examples of other such temporary retreats, especially during the Cold War by US allies. But again, although past successes in bouncing back from temporary hindrances do not guarantee future successes, Kagan declares that "the American system, for all its often stultifying qualities, has also shown a greater capacity to adapt and recover from difficulties than many other nations, including its geopolitical competitors" (p. 93).

Kagan in his final chapter concludes that the US cannot afford to be the "Greta Garbo" of nations, referring to the American self-perception of being the reluctant sheriff who only goes to war when someone else calls them to. While Kagan points out the inaccuracies of this self- perception, he also states that neither the US nor the rest of the world could afford to have American power recede. Kagan does not acknowledge any potential effects of a possible decline in power in the pillars of US power, Germany and the EU. And he is ready to gloss over the consequences of the West's diminishing clout because he thinks that most emerging nations will cast their lot in with the United States rather than challenge American hegemony. "Only the growth of China's economy," he writes, "can be said to have implications for American power in the future" (pp. 119-126). Kagan reassures Americans that even rising powers, such as China, will not attempt to challenge the US's hegemony and will align nicely with the US in important security and defence issues. Moreover, the US will only benefit from the strength of its new allies.

Unlike Kagan and the neoconservative brain trust to which he belongs, Charles Kupchan's volume neither celebrates nor bemoans the decline of the US's superpower status as he assesses the possibilities for power sharing and coexistence. He states that in a multi-polar world there will be striking diversity and that alternative conceptions of domestic and international order will compete and co-exist on the global stage. Kupchan advises that before long, the US should start focusing on managing the transition (p. 183).

Kupchan claims to peer from the lens of the *longue durée* (Ferdinand Braudel); however, he really does not have a longterm view in his book. In chapters one and two, Kupchan explains with broad strokes the rise and fall of the West as a product of its circumstances, looking at its readiness to countenance change and welcome a religious and political diversity that overturned the economic, political and ideological status quo. The rising Rest (as the first example of the rising Rest, the Ottoman Empire is given special attention), according to Kupchan, do not quite cut it.

The third chapter of the book is endemic of both the main strengths and the weaknesses of the book. Kupchan as a foreign policy analyst shines in the policy advice sections, but his whole civilisational analysis takes him into comparative politics territory, where he simply lacks the methodology and a systemic approach. His overreliance on public opinion polls is symptomatic of this.

Kupchan manages to give the global view and he picks through larger trends in the realist vein, a school of thought which acknowledges how power relations are shaped by interdependence. Though being comprehensive, his comparison of the rising powers lacks the focus and discipline of comparative politics. Kupchan, in more than one place, references Kagan's earlier work, Return to *History*, in which he wrote that a nation's form of government, not its civilisation, is the best predictor of its geopolitical alignment. Kupchan disagrees strongly with Kagan. He claims that a nation's geopolitical location and its strategic interests, its socioeconomic make up, its place in the international hierarchy, and its religious orientation are as important in shaping its foreign policy as its form of government (p. 144).

In the fourth and fifth chapters, Kupchan lists the potential rivals to the West's power and dismisses each of them for not having what it takes. Several references are made to Turkey and the Middle Eastern countries that experienced the Arab Spring. Turkey is characterised as a democracy with an attitude, along with Brazil and India, as Kupchan explains that recent developments in Turkey underscore yet another way in which Muslim countries are taking their own path to modernity. According to him, these rising stars, even if they share some of the West's liberal values, will clash over status and prestige with the West because they may feel it is their turn for a place in the sun. The Arab reawakening is referred to as the rising of the middle classes. He warns that religion and politics have become more intertwined and that Western observers should stop assuming that the spread of democracy would mean the spread of more Western values as the clamour for more democracy could mean standing up more to the US, Europe and Israel.

Chapters six and seven are the foreign policy advice chapters and are the strongest in the book. According to Kupchan, the transition to multi-polarity should be managed on two fronts: cohesion in the West, and consensus seeking between the West and the Rest. Team work between those sharing the same values such as the US and EU is advised. And, contrary to Kagan's view, this team should cooperate with the next world and have modest goals because the US has neither the economic means nor the political will to be the world hegemon any more (pp. 146-187).

Kupchan's final section is devoted to the rise of China. He adopts a historical comparison of the Sino-American struggle to the Monroe Doctrine when the UK let the US prevail in its immediate sphere of influence. Similar to the US in the 1890s, as China's naval strength grows, it will challenge the US in western Pacific. Yet, Kupchan thinks that the US should not totally accommodate Chinese ambitions as the UK mistakenly accommodated Germany preceding the First World War.

Kupchan advises the next president to embrace "progressive populism at home" and strategic restraint for US foreign policy, guided by a mix of containment and deterrence (p. 71). He acknowledges that the US's power is in decline, but rather than fight against it, he thinks the US should re-entrench strategically to let the rising powers shoulder their share of the burden. Kupchan's diagnosis about American politics is quite apt: a sluggish, ineffective response is fuelling support for partisan nationalist policies by intensifying popular discontent, and the collapse of the middle. His diagnosis about the EU and the European states is less accurate. While Kupchan bemoans the "renationalization of Europe" (p. 152), one could not help ask when was Europe ever de-/post-national? Most of the EU institutions and policy making has been intergovernmental. In order for European Union members to be able to act decisively in the conflicts their immediate Mediterranean in neighbourhood, they need to aggregate strength and overcome inward looking tendencies.

Both authors seem to miss two important developments on both sides of the Atlantic. When Kagan says the US decline is bunk and that the US cannot afford to let go of the hegemonic order that is set its image, Kagan as well as Kupchan overlook the rise of a new wave of isolationism in the US. How would the rise to power of the Tea Partiers and libertarians go hand in hand with protecting US supremacy in global politics? Similarly, when Kupchan advises Europeans to increase their collective means if they are to make credible their ambitions to become a more capable actor on the global stage, he seems to dismiss the debilitating effects of the deep structural and economic crisis Europe is in.

The key limitation of these works is that they are written for a specific audience, i.e. an American domestic audience, and aim to provide an overview of where things stand and what is to come. Despite its methodological short comings, Kupchan's book is a superior account of the challenges of multipolarity and provides a more realistic recipe for managing diversity for a new/ old team of American policy makers after the election. Yet, both volumes manage to give foreign policy analysts an update on which kind of thinking (academic and policy oriented) is reigning in the capitol of the world's current superpower.

> Deniz Bingöl, Ph.D., ACCENT Int.

## Arab Spring, Libyan Winter

### *By Vijay Prashad* Oakland: AK Press, 2012, 255 pages, ISBN: 9781849351126.

The wave of social and political change that has been blowing through the Middle East and North Africa regions has been identified by some as "the Arab Revolution", "the Arab Awakening" and by the author of this book, Vijay Prashad, as "the Arab Spring". The fruits of the Arab Spring have been seen as the initiatives taken by countries previously ruled by dictatorial regimes to build democratic systems and institutions following free and fair elections. Following the recent events in Libya that ended with the killing of the American ambassador, attention was brought once again to the hardships seen in political and social settings that are going through democratisation. The aim of Vijay Prashad's book, *Arab Spring, Libyan Winter*, is to examine the consequences of the Arab Spring, and to make predictions regarding Libya's future through describing the state of the country before the revolution and then after. The book is made up of two parts. The first part explores the Arab Spring in general, while the second identifies the transformation of the process in Libya.

The first part of the book argues that the Arab Spring was completely influenced by the inner dynamics of the different Arab countries, and that the changes were not either unprecedented or without motives. It emphasizes the importance of understanding the Arab Spring's underlying historical events and processes. In the introductory section, the author-who has explored Marxist literature on the organisational schemes and discipline of opposition parties and bodies-uses a "mole" metaphor to stress the necessity of movements within the Arab Spring of addressing public demands and organising effectively in order to become strong and successful revolutionary bodies.

The author uses a comparative analysis approach to examine the factors and dynamics that caused the Arab Spring to happen in Libya, as well as in Tunisia and Egypt, countries that have gone through the same path. The author stresses that the Egyptian and Tunisian cases are

different than the Libyan case due to the different nature of military involvement. When the protests and the unrest started in Egypt and Tunisia, the armed forces of these countries first took a step back, and then began moving in a parallel direction with the public. The author argues that in Libya the situation was very different since the armed forces loyal to Gaddafi were very cruel to the public (p. 18). This point is one to remember, especially in the case of the new Mohamed Mursi government in Egypt and the Egyptian military's continued desire to be involved in state matters, as well as its initiatives that are apparently trying to preserve the remnants of the guardianship regime.

A particularly interesting part of the book consists of Vijay Prashad's thoughts on how the revolution was "hijacked" by the West and how the West was involved in the revolution. Prashad, who is from South Asia, has differing views on this when compared to other authors. The author explores post-Arab Spring developments in the region and the inconsistent policies adopted by the Atlantic powers. The fact that NATO showed no desire to intervene in other countries influenced by the Arab Spring, such as Tunisia, Egypt, Bahrain and Yemen, while it wasted no time in intervening in Libya and stabilising the situation there, is also pointed out by the author. The reason for pointing out this particular fact is also the author's main thesis. The author argues that the Western countries intervened in Libya because they saw that a possible deterioration in the oil-trading relationships could be a risk for them. Accordingly with this line of thinking, the West hijacked this revolution through intervening in oilrich Libya.

Many separate sections examining primary causes and the dynamics of the Arab Spring are covered in the first part of the book. For example in the section titled "Bread", the economic factors of the events in North Africa are explored. The title is related to the economic systems of the region and looks at the "Bread Problem" through giving historical examples. "Bread Democracy", as Tunisian intellectual Larbi Sadiki defines it, led to uprisings against the governments of Tunisia and Egypt as a result of a decline in the bread subsidies to the people. Another perspective on the economic state of the public is that the oil revenues in Libya were actually causing starvation and inequality in the country. The argument is that the oil wealth in Libya did not reach the public. The author then looks at how the Arab world can use these oil resources to build and strengthen its own prosperity (pp. 24-25).

Another factor that triggered the Arab Spring is explored under the section titled "Dignity". The inequality created by having only a small minority getting

wealthier from oil revenues caused the majority to feel that they were second class citizens and not treated justly. These feelings increased people's longing for dignity and honour. In this section particular attention is brought to the fact that most of the slogans in the Arab world have been about honour and dignity. The role of Islamic groups previously held in check by dictatorial regimes is also discussed. These movements, after having been forcibly contained for many years, rose to prominence after the Arab Spring and have become important actors in the transition period, especially in Tunisia and Egypt. Classified by the author as "Allah Parties", these parties are being seen as a legitimate part of the political process and as parties that must have their own place in the system. However, the author has some concerns regarding the loyalty Islamic parties have to democracy, especially when forming democratic institutions and devising social policies (p. 43). As also illustrated in the first section of the book, and in the Egyptian and Tunisian cases, there has always been unrest among the people fuelled by anti-government sentiments. In fact, the author argues, the Arab Spring didn't just erupt after Bouazizi in Tunisia lit himself on fire. These unrests are not history in the making, but rather the continuation of a struggle in a region that has long been the playground for outside powers. In order for a real

spring to come to Tunisia and Egypt, the remnants of the military guardianship mechanisms must be completely removed from the governments.

The author draws attention to the attitude of the United States regarding the uprisings and pursuit of democracy in the Arab world. He focuses on the Egyptian case to say that the maltreatment of the public, the torture and the violations of human rights by the previous regime were completely ignored by the US government (p. 53). The author then goes on to explain the four major foreign policy questions that can shape the United States' outlook towards the Arab Spring. These concerns are: maintaining stability and the flow of oil to the United States, making sure the governments of these countries align with the United States against terrorism, ensuring that radical groups don't take a negative attitude towards Israel, and keeping Iran in check (pp. 57-58).

In the second part of the book, Libya's history, present situation and its future are discussed with a focus on the NATO intervention that came with the Arab Spring. Through a comprehensive research of relevant literature and statements made by interested parties, the author shows how the NATO intervention was encouraged and even called upon. The author doesn't relate the outbreak of uprisings in Libya to economic depression or social injustice but rather to the Gaddafi government's ruthlessly crushing any demands of democracy. Also, the author indicates that unlike in Egypt and Tunisia the people filling the squares in Libya were from various different socioeconomic classes. Here he reinforces his thesis about oil and its facilitating effect on a NATO intervention.

The author evaluates the uprising which began on 15 February 2011, and makes a particularly interesting point that the Western countries changed their attitudes towards the Arab Spring once the regimes in oil-producing countries were in danger. According to the author, Western countries went from approving of the changes brought about by the Arab Spring, to trying to modify the changes, and finally to directly intervening in the process and guiding the changes to fit their own interests. The author argues that in Libya the main goal of the Atlantic countries was to deflect all possible attention that could be brought on the Gulf countries to Libya, which US and Western interests didn't depend on as dearly. As a result the UN and NATO representatives wasted no time in classifying Gaddafi's acts against his people as genocide. These statements were highlighted in the international media (p. 164). The United Nations resolution on 19 March creating a no-fly zone was followed by air attacks by France

and the United States. At this point the author makes another point that is worth paying attention to when he argues that the debate the Atlantic nations went through between either allowing massacres or about intervening caused them to ignore any diplomatic efforts that could have resulted in a ceasefire and made Libya go straight to the winter without experiencing the spring. The author believes that this debate was to guise what the intervention really was-a move solely to protect Western interests.

In the conclusion the author stresses once again that after the Arab Spring nothing will be the same in the Arab world. He connects the roots of the Arab Spring to events that took place long ago, as well as to the oil hegemony the West wants to establish in the region. The author argues that the NATO intervention in Libya was conducted as a result of the oil and energy interests of

the West. This book is very important in understanding how the Arab Spring changed the political and social structures in Libya, a country where a government still can't be established. In the introduction the causes of the Arab Spring and its development are analysed, which connects to the second part of the book titled "Libyan Winter". In this second part statements from related parties are analysed and light is shed on the attempts to legitimate the NATO intervention in the eves of the international community. The book clearly shows that the Western powers got involved in the process and manipulated it out of its natural course in order to secure their own interests in the region. It is a vital resource to understand the past and present of the Arab Spring and the reaction of the international community.

### Selma Bardakçı,

Bahçeşehir University, Global Politics and International Relations

Articles submitted to the journal should be original contributions. If another version of the article is under consideration by another publication, or has been or will be published elsewhere, authors should clearly indicate this at the time of submission. Manuscripts should be submitted to perceptions@mfa.gov.tr

Submissions are accepted on a rolling basis.

A standard length for **PERCEPTIONS** articles is 6,000 to 8,000 words including endnotes. The manuscript should begin with an indented and italicised summary up to 150 words, which should describe the main arguments and conclusions, and 5-7 keywords, indicating to main themes of the manuscript. The author is also expected to give a brief biography in a footnote at the beginning of the article.

**PERCEPTIONS** also publishes reviews of new books or reports; 'book reviews' are usually around 700-1,500-words.

Names of the authors, places and the publishing houses are required to be written in their original forms. The styles of the references in endnotes should conform the following examples:

#### Books

John Smith, *The Book Title*, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100. John E. Smith (ed.), *The Book Title*, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, pp. 100-102. John Smith and Mary Jones, *The Book Title*, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100. Subsequent references should appear as: Smith, *The Book Title*, p. 100. In footnotes 'Ibid' should be used where possible, but it should not be used where the previous note contains more than one source.

#### Articles in Journals

John Smith, "Article Title", *Journal Name*, Vol. #, No. # (Month Year), p. #. Subsequent references should appear as: Smith, "Article Title", p. #.

#### Articles in Edited Books

John Smith, "Article Title", in Mary Jones (ed.), *Book Title*, New York, New York Publishing Company, 1999, p.100.

### **Official Papers**

Parliamentary Papers: Select Committee on Manufacturers (Parl. Papers, 1833, VI), 0.456. Subsequent references as:

SC on ... (PP, 1839, VII), 00.2347. Hansard (Commons), 4th ser. XXXVI, 641–2, 22 Aug. 1895.

#### Theses

For titles of published and unpublished theses use italics: John E. Smith, *Title of Thesis*, unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Name of the University, Year, Chapter #, p. #

#### **Internet References**

Center for Strategic Research of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "A Global Spring- Why NATO needs to go Global", at http://www.sam.gov.tr/perceptions/volume13/autumn/DustinDehEz.pdf [last visited 21 October 09]

#### **Images and Figures**

All diagrams, charts and graphs should be referred to as figures and consecutively numbered. Tables should be kept to a minimum and contain only essential data.

#### Numbers

Numbers under 10 should be spelled out.

Use numerical values (14, 233) to express numbers 10 and above.

Figures should be used to express numbers under 10 that are grouped for comparison with figures 10 and above: *The results showed that 2 out of 20 recipients disagreed with the proposal.* 

Use figures and the percentage sign to represent percentages: A significant majority, 62%, said they would support the fundraising campaign.

Use the word "percentage" when a number is not given: Researchers determined the percentage of rats...

Dates, ages, and money should be represented by figures: 2 weeks ago, She was a 2-year old, The workers were paid \$5 each.

Common fractions should be written out: One fifth of the respondents...

